A TWO WEIGHT LOCAL TB THEOREM FOR FRACTIONAL SINGULAR INTEGRALS AND REFINED CONSTANTS FOR THE AVERAGING HARDY OPERATOR

By

Michail Paparizos

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Mathematics — Doctor of Philosophy

2021

ABSTRACT

A TWO WEIGHT LOCAL TB THEOREM FOR FRACTIONAL SINGULAR INTEGRALS AND REFINED CONSTANTS FOR THE AVERAGING HARDY OPERATOR

By

Michail Paparizos

We obtain a local two weight Tb theorem with an energy side condition for higher dimensional fractional Calderón-Zygmund operators. Our proof follows the proof for the corresponding one-dimensional Tb theorem in [54], but facing a number of new difficulties, most of which arise from the failure of Hytönen's one-dimensional two weight A_2 inequality in higher dimensions. We provide a counterexample in two dimensions that shows why the analogue of Hytönen's one-dimensional result does not extend to higher dimensions. Thus, in order to obtain a local T_b theorem in higher dimensions, we use new arguments to control the difficult nearby form.

We also provide refined constants for strong (p, p) inequality of the averaging Hardy operator with respect to a probability measure as well as when two measures that satisfy a special weak type inequality are involved. We obtain these results as corollaries of a more general theorem for operators with the property

$$\mu\{x \in X : |Tf(x)| > \lambda\} \le \frac{c}{\lambda} \int_{\{|Tf| > \lambda\}} |f(x)| d\mu(x)$$

on a probability space (X, μ) .

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Being in graduate school is not an easy task. I think it would very difficult if had to be alone in this five-year journey. I want to thank everyone who has supported me in this long trip.

First and foremost, I want to thank my advisors Ignacio Uriarte-Tuero and Eric Sawyer for the fruitful discussions and edifying suggestions all these years. I also thank them for their patience and their support. I am very grateful to professor Gabor Francsics for his time and discussions about Radon and Lax-Phillips transforms. I also want to thank professors Alexander Volberg, Dapeng Zhan and Jeff Schenker.

I want to express my gratitude to Tsveta Sendova and Andy Krause for their contribution to become a better teacher. Their advice, trust and support are really appreciated and the time they spent to prepare me for job interview was highly valuable.

I also thank all my friends who played an important role in my life at Michigan State. First, I want to express my gratitude to Christos, without whom the PhD would be even harder, to my roommate Yiorgos with whom I have spent many hours cooking and talking about math, life, sports, movies, literature and politics, to Yiannis for the infinite discussions about everything, to Ana-Maria for the nice moments we had and her support, to Dimitris, Andriana, Ilias and Eleni, Christina, Alexandros (x2), Christiana, and Neofytos for the time we spent together. Finally, I thank Arman, Gora, Dan and Tim.

Last, I thank a lot my parents, who support me in every step I make and without them nothing would have happened.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES					
Chapter 1		Introduction			
1.1	Tb the	eorv			
	1.1.1	Weighted spaces			
	1.1.2	Th theorems 6			
	1.1.2				
Chapte	er 2	Hytönen's off-testing constant in higher dimensions is unbounded 9			
2.1	The C	One-Dimensional Construction			
	2.1.1	The Testing Constant is Unbounded			
	2.1.2	The \mathcal{A}_2 Condition $\ldots \ldots \ldots$			
	2.1.3	The Energy Constants $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}$ and $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}^*$			
2.2	The T	Wo Dimensional Construction			
	2.2.1	The \mathcal{A}_2 conditions. $\ldots \ldots \ldots$			
	2.2.2	Off-Testing Constant			
	2.2.3	The Energy Conditions			
2.3	The F	Riesz transform lemma 23			
Chapte	er 3	A two weight local Tb theorem for <i>n</i> -dimensional Fractional			
		Integrals			
	3.0.1	Introduction			
3.1	The lo	ocal Tb theorem and proof preliminaries $\ldots \ldots 31$			
	3.1.1	Standard fractional singular integrals			
		3.1.1.1 Defining the norm inequality			
	3.1.2	Weakly accretive functions			
	3.1.3	b-testing conditions			
	314	Poisson integrals and the Muckenhoupt conditions 33			
	0.1.1	$3.1.4.1$ Punctured 4^{α} conditions 35			
	315	Energy Conditions			
	3.1.0	The two weight level Th Theorem 38			
	3.1.0 2.1.7	Deduction to real bounded accepting families			
	0.1.7	Reduction to real bounded accretive families			
	3.1.8	Reverse Holder control of children			
		3.1.8.1 Control of averages over children			
		3.1.8.2 Control of averages in coronas			
	3.1.9	Three corona decompositions			
		3.1.9.1 The Calderón-Zygmund corona decomposition 60			
		3.1.9.2 The accretive/testing corona decomposition $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 62$			
		3.1.9.3 The energy corona decompositions			
	3.1.10	Iterated coronas and general stopping data			
	3.1.11	Reduction to good functions			
		3.1.11.1 Parameterizations of dyadic grids			

	3.1.12 Formulas			
	3.1.13 Monotonicity Lemma			
	3.1.13.1 The smaller Poisson integral			
	3.1.13.2 The Energy Lemma $\dots \dots \dots$			
	3.1.14 Organization of the proof			
3.2	Form splittings			
	3.2.1 The Hytönen-Martikainen decomposition and weak goodness 103			
	3.2.1.1 Good cubes with 'body' $\ldots \ldots \ldots$			
	3.2.1.2 Grid probability $\ldots \ldots 105$			
	$3.2.1.3$ Weak goodness \ldots			
3.3	Disjoint form			
	3.3.1 Long range form			
	3.3.2 Short range form			
3.4	Nearby form			
	3.4.1 The case of δ -separated cubes			
	3.4.2 The case of δ -close cubes			
	3.4.2.1 Return to the original testing functions			
	3.4.2.2 A finite iteration and a final random surgery			
3.5	Main below form			
	3.5.1 The canonical splitting and local below forms			
	3.5.2 Diagonal and far below forms			
	3.5.3 Intertwining Proposition			
	3.5.4 Paraproduct, neighbour and broken forms			
	3.5.4.1 The paraproduct form $\ldots \ldots 195$			
	3.5.4.2 The neighbour form $\ldots \ldots 197$			
3.6	The stopping form			
	3.6.1 The bound for the second sublinear inequality			
	3.6.2 The bound for the first sublinear inequality			
	3.6.3 bStraddling, Substraddling, Corona-Straddling Lemmas			
	3.6.4 The bottom/up stopping time argument of M. Lacey			
	3.6.5 The indented corona construction			
	3.6.5.1 Flat shifted coronas $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 245$			
	3.6.6 Size estimates $\ldots \ldots 247$			
3.7	Finishing the proof			
Chapte	er 4 Refined constants for the averaging Hardy operator			
4.1	Introduction			
4.2	Proof Of Theorem 4.1.4			
4.3	Applications			
4.4	Two Weights			
	4.4.1 A three-weight norm inequality $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 287$			
BIBLIOGRAPHY				

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.1: History	3
Figure 1.1.2: Theory development	8
Figure 2.2.1: The two measures	19
Figure 3.4.1: Nearby form	128

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Tb theory

Boundedness properties of Calderón-Zygmund singular integrals arise in the most critical cases of the study of virtually all partial differential equations, from Schrödinger operators in quantum mechanics to Navier-Stokes equations in fluid flow, as well as in the investigation of a number of topics in geometry and analysis. In particular, the study of boundedness of these operators from one weighted space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \sigma)$ to another $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \omega)$, not only extends the scope of application in many cases, but reveals the important properties of the kernels associated with the individual operators under consideration, often hidden without such investigation into two weight norm inequalities. The purpose of this monograph is to prove a general characterization regarding boundedness of Calderón-Zygmund singular integrals from $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \sigma)$ to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \omega)$, for locally finite positive Borel measures σ and ω , subject to some natural buffer conditions. This result, a so-called local two weight Tb theorem in \mathbb{R}^n , includes much, if not most, of the known theory on two weight L^2 -boundedness of singular integrals. We now digress to a brief history of that part of this theory that is relevant to our purpose here.

Given a Calderón-Zygmund kernel K(x, y) in Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n , a classical problem for some time was to identify optimal cancellation conditions on K so that there would exist an associated singular integral operator $Tf(x) \sim \int K(x,y) f(y) dy$ bounded on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. After a long history, involving contributions by many authors¹, this effort culminated in the decisive T1 theorem of David and Journé [10], in which boundedness of an operator T on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ associated to K, was characterized by

$$T\mathbf{1}, T^*\mathbf{1} \in BMO,$$

together with a weak boundedness property for some $\eta > 0$,

$$\left| \int_{Q} T\varphi\left(x\right) \psi\left(x\right) dx \right| \lesssim \sqrt{\|\varphi\|_{\infty} |Q| + \|\varphi\|_{Lip\eta} |Q|^{1+\frac{\eta}{n}}} \sqrt{\|\psi\|_{\infty} |Q| + \|\psi\|_{Lip\eta} |Q|^{1+\frac{\eta}{n}}},$$

for all $\varphi, \psi \in Lip\eta$ with $supp\varphi, supp\psi \subset Q$, and all cubes $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}$;

equivalently by two testing conditions taken uniformly over indicators of cubes,

$$\int_{Q} \left| T \mathbf{1}_{Q} \left(x \right) \right|^{2} dx \lesssim \left| Q \right| \text{ and } \int_{Q} \left| T^{*} \mathbf{1}_{Q} \left(x \right) \right|^{2} dx \lesssim \left| Q \right|, \quad \text{ all cubes } Q \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

The optimal cancellation conditions, which in the words of Stein were 'a rather direct consequence of' the T1 theorem, were given in [55, Theorem 4, page 306], involving integrals of the kernel over shells:

$$\begin{split} \int_{|x-x_0| < N} \left| \int_{\varepsilon < |x-y| < N} K^{\alpha} \left(x, y \right) dy \right|^2 dx &\leq \mathfrak{A}_{K^{\alpha}} \int_{|x_0 - y| < N} dy, \\ \text{for all } 0 < \varepsilon < N \text{ and } x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n, \end{split}$$

together with a dual inequality.

¹see e.g. [55, page 53] for references to the earlier work in this direction



Figure 1.1.1: History

We now come to a point of departure for two separate threads of further research on cancellation conditions. The first thread treats extensions of these testing conditions to the boundedness of Calderón-Zygmund operators on more general weighted spaces $L^2(w) \rightarrow L^2(w)$, and even from one weighted space to another, $L^2(\sigma) \rightarrow L^2(\omega)$. The second thread replaces the family of testing functions $\{\mathbf{1}_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ with families $\{b_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ more amenable to the boundedness of the operator at hand, subject of course to some sort of nondegeneracy conditions. Finally the two threads recombine in the theorem of this paper. See diagram above.

1.1.1 Weighted spaces

An obvious next step was to replace Lebesgue measure with a fixed A_2 weight w,

$$\sup_{\text{cubes } Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q w(x) \, dx \right) \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q \frac{1}{w(x)} dx \right) \lesssim 1 \,,$$

and ask when T is bounded on $L^2(w)$, i.e. satisfies the one weight norm inequality. For elliptic Calderón-Zygmund operators T, this question is reduced to the David Journé theorem using two results from decades ago, namely the 1956 Stein-Weiss interpolation with change of measures theorem [56], and the 1974 Coifman and Fefferman extension [7] of the one weight Hilbert transform inequality of Hunt, Muckenhoupt and Wheeden [20], to a large class of general Calderón-Zygmund operators T^2 . A motivating example, for the case of the conjugate function H on the unit circle, arose in the Helson-Szegö theorem that characterized the boundedness of H on $L^2(w)$ by the existence of bounded functions u and v on the circle with $||v||_{\infty} < \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $w = e^{u+Hv}$. The equivalence with the A_2 condition on w follows from the results just mentioned, and the question of a direct argument linking the Helson-Szegö condition to the A_2 condition has remained a tantalizing puzzle for decades since. See [55, pages 222-227] for this and other applications of one weight theory, such as to the Dirichlet problem for elliptic divergence form operators with bounded measurable coefficients.

However, for a pair of different measures (σ, ω) , the question is wide open in general, and we now focus our discussion on the main problem considered in this monograph, that of characterizing boundedness of a general Calderón-Zygmund operator T from one $L^2(\sigma)$ space to another $L^2(\omega)$ space, subject to natural buffer conditions on the weight pair (σ, ω) . First we note that for the primordial singular integral, namely the Hilbert transform H in dimension one, the two weight inequality was completely solved by establishing the NTV conjecture (of Nazarov-Treil-Volberg) in the two part paper [29];[26], see also [21] for the general case permitting common point masses, where it was shown that H is bounded from

²Indeed, if T is bounded on $L^2(w)$, then by duality it is also bounded on $L^2\left(\frac{1}{w}\right)$, and the Stein-Weiss interpolation theorem with change of measure shows that T is bounded on unweighted $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Conversely, if T is bounded on unweighted $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the proof in [7] shows that T is bounded on $L^2(w)$ using $w \in A_2$.

 $L^{2}(\sigma)$ to $L^{2}(\omega)$ if and only if the testing and one-tailed Muckenhoupt conditions hold, i.e.

$$\int_{I} |H(\mathbf{1}_{I}\sigma)|^{2} d\omega \lesssim \int_{I} d\sigma \text{ and } \int_{I} |H(\mathbf{1}_{I}\omega)|^{2} d\sigma \lesssim \int_{I} d\omega,$$
$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{|I|}{|I|^{2} + |x - c_{I}|^{2}} d\sigma(x)\right) \left(\frac{1}{|I|} \int_{I} d\omega\right) \lesssim 1, \text{ and its dual},$$

uniformly over all intervals $I \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. For α -fractional Riesz transforms in higher dimensions $n \geq 2$, it is known (except when $\alpha = n - 1$) that the two weight norm inequality with doubling measures is equivalent to the fractional one-tailed Muckenhoupt and T1 cube testing conditions, see [30, Theorem 1.4] and [51, Theorem 2.11]. Here a positive measure μ is doubling if

$$\int_{2Q} d\mu \lesssim \int_{Q} d\mu, \quad \text{all cubes } Q \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

However, these results rely on certain 'positivity' properties of the gradient of the kernel (which for the Hilbert transform kernel $\frac{1}{y-x}$ is simply $\frac{d}{dx}\frac{1}{y-x} > 0$ for $x \neq y$), something that is not available for general elliptic, or even strongly elliptic, fractional Calderón-Zygmund operators.

Then in [Saw] this T1 theorem was extended to arbitrary *smooth* Calderón-Zygmund operators and \mathcal{A}_2 measure pairs (σ, ω) with doubling comparable measures, where a pair of doubling measures σ and ω are *comparable* in the sense of Coifman and Fefferman [7], if the measures are mutually absolutely continuous, uniformly at all scales - i.e. there exist $0 < \beta, \gamma < 1$ such that

$$\frac{|E|_{\sigma}}{|Q|_{\sigma}} < \beta \Longrightarrow \frac{|E|_{\omega}}{|Q|_{\omega}} < \gamma \text{ for all Borel subsets } E \text{ of a cube } Q$$

1.1.2 Tb theorems

The T1 theorem of David and Journé [10], which characterized boundedness of a singular integral operator by testing over indicators $\mathbf{1}_Q$ of cubes Q, was extended to a Tb theorem by David, Journé and Semmes [11], in which the indicators $\mathbf{1}_Q$ were replaced by testing functions $b\mathbf{1}_Q$ for an accretive function b, i.e. $0 < c \leq Reb \leq |b| \leq C < \infty$, which could be chosen in a way that the verification of the b-testing conditions is easy, while verifying the 1-testing conditions could be more difficult.

Then, M. Christ [6] obtained a local Tb theorem for homogeneous spaces, in which the testing functions are $b_Q \mathbf{1}_Q$, where the accretive functions b_Q can be chosen to differ for each cube Q. Many authors, including G. David [8]; Nazarov, Treil and Volberg [38], [37]; Auscher, Hofmann, Muscalu, Tao and Thiele [3], Hytönen and Martikainen [24], and more recently Lacey and Martikainen [27], set about proving extensions of the local Tb theorem, for example to include a single upper doubling weight together with weaker upper bounds on the function b. But these extensions were modelled on the 'nondoubling' methods that arose in connection with upper doubling measures in the analytic capacity problem and were thus constrained to a single weight - a setting in which both the Muckenhoupt and energy conditions follow from the upper doubling condition. Good references for that are Mattila, Melnikov and Verdera [34], G. David [8], [9], X. Tolsa [57], and also Volberg [58]. Applications of the local Tb theorem included boundedness of layer potentials, see e.g. [1] and references there; and the Kato problem, see [19], [18] and [2].

More recently, E. Sawyer, C.Y. Shen and I. Uriarte-Tuero [54] obtained a general two weight Tb theorem for the Hilbert transform on the real line. In this dissertation, we extend [54] to higher dimensions. The main two weight local Tb theorem:

Theorem 1.1.1 (local Tb in higher dimensions). Let T^{α} denote a Calderón-Zygmund operator on \mathbb{R}^n , and let σ and ω be locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n that satisfy the energy and Muckenhoupt buffer conditions. Then T^{α}_{σ} , where $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f \equiv T^{\alpha}(f\sigma)$, is bounded from $L^2(\sigma)$ to $L^2(\omega)$ if and only if the **b**-testing and **b***-testing conditions

$$\int_{I} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{I}|^{2} d\omega \leq \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{2} |I|_{\sigma} \quad and \quad \int_{J} |T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} b_{J}^{*}|^{2} d\sigma \leq \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}^{*},*}\right)^{2} |J|_{\omega} \quad , \tag{1.1.1}$$

taken over two families of test functions $\{b_I\}_{I \in \mathcal{P}}$ and $\{b_J^*\}_{J \in \mathcal{P}}$, where b_I and b_J^* are only required to be nondegenerate in an average sense, and to be just slightly better than L^2 functions themselves, namely L^p for some p > 2.

The families of test functions $\{b_I\}_{I\in\mathcal{P}}$ and $\{b_J^*\}_{J\in\mathcal{P}}$ in the *Tb* theorem above are nondegenerate and slightly better than L^2 functions, but otherwise remain at the disposal of the reader. It is this flexibility in choosing families of test functions that distinguishes this characterization as compared to the corresponding *T*1 theorem. The *Tb* theorem here generalizes many of the one-weight *Tb* theorems, since in the upper doubling case, the Muckenhoupt \mathfrak{A}_2 condition and the energy condition easily follow from the upper doubling condition. Recall that in the one-weight case with doubling and upper doubling measures μ , there has been a long and sustained effort to relax the integrability conditions of the testing functions: see e.g. S. Hofmann [16] and Alfonseca, Auscher, Axelsson, Hofmann and Kim [1]. Subsequently, Hytönen- Martikainen [24] assumed *Tb* in $L^s(\mu)$ for some s > 2, and the one weight theorem with testing functions *b* in $L^2(\mu)$ was attained by Lacey-Martikainen [27], but their argument strongly uses methods not immediately available in the two weight setting.



Figure 1.1.2: Theory development

The previous diagram details the relevant history of two weight theory. Many important contributions are omitted, such as those dealing with L^p , L^q assumptions in the case of Lebesgue measure, see for example [17] and references there, and results for dyadic operators, see for example [3] and references there. As is evident from the diagram, Theorem 1.1.1 (and its precursor for n = 1) is the first local Tb theorem for two weights.

The next two chapters are also part of the dissertation of Christos Grigoriadis as they constitute joint work with him [13], [14].

Chapter 2

Hytönen's off-testing constant in higher dimensions is unbounded

A number of difficulties arise in generalizing to higher dimensions the work that was done in [54] for dimension n = 1. The main difficulty lies in the strictly-one dimensional nature of a fundamental inequality of Hytönen, namely that local testing, i.e. testing the integral of $|T_{\sigma} \mathbf{1}_Q|^2$ over the cube Q, together with the A_2 condition, imply full testing, meaning that $|T_{\sigma} \mathbf{1}_Q|^2$ is integrated over the entire space \mathbb{R}^n . For the proof of full testing, Hytönen uses an inequality for the Hardy operator that is true only in dimension n = 1 - in fact we prove that this property of the Hardy operator is not available in higher dimensions. Before stating the theorem we need to define the fractional energy and the off testing conditions.

Definition 2.0.1. We say that the pair (σ, ω) satisfies the energy (resp. dual energy) condition if

$$(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha})^{2} \equiv \sup_{Q=\dot{\cup}Q_{r}} \frac{1}{\sigma(Q)} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(Q_{r}, \mathbf{1}_{Q}\sigma\right)}{|Q_{r}|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{Q_{r}}^{\omega} \right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{Q_{r}}\omega\right)}^{2} < \infty$$

$$\left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha,*}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{Q=\dot{\cup}Q_{r}} \frac{1}{\omega(Q)} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(Q_{r},\mathbf{1}_{Q}\omega\right)}{|Q_{r}|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right) \left\|x-m_{Q_{r}}^{\sigma}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{Q_{r}}\sigma\right)}^{2} < \infty$$

where the supremum is taken over arbitrary decompositions of a cube Q using a pairwise

disjoint union of subcubes Q_r , where $P^{\alpha}(Q,\mu)$ is the standard Poisson integral and

$$m_I^{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{\mu(I)} \int x d\mu(x) = \left\langle \frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int x_1 d\mu(x), \dots, \frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int x_n d\mu(x) \right\rangle.$$

Definition 2.0.2. The off-testing constants $\mathcal{T}_{off,\alpha}$ and $\mathcal{R}_{j,off,\alpha}$ in \mathbb{R}^2 by

$$\mathcal{T}_{of\!f,\alpha}^2 = \sup_Q \frac{1}{\omega(Q)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus Q} \left(\int_Q \frac{1}{|x-y|^{2-\alpha}} d\omega(y) \right)^2 d\sigma(x)$$

$$\mathcal{R}_{m,off,\alpha}^2 = \sup_{Q} \frac{1}{\omega(Q)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus Q} \left(\int_{Q} \frac{t_m - x_m}{|x - t|^{3 - \alpha}} d\omega(t) \right)^2 d\sigma(x), \quad 1 \le m \le 2$$

for all cubes $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ whose sides are parallel to the axes.

Theorem 2.0.3. For $0 \le \alpha < 2$, there exists a pair of locally finite Borel measures σ, ω in \mathbb{R}^2 such that the fractional Muckenhoupt $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*}$ and the energy $\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha}, \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$ constants are finite but the off-testing constant $\mathcal{T}_{off,\alpha}$ is not.

Theorem 2.0.4. For $0 \leq \alpha < 2$, there exists a pair of locally finite Borel measures σ, ω in \mathbb{R}^2 such that the fractional Muckenhoupt $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha}, \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*}$ and the energy $\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha}, \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$ constants are finite but the off-testing constants $\mathcal{R}_{m,off,\alpha}$ are not.

We begin with the proof of Theorem 2.0.3. The proof of Theorem 2.0.4 will be very similar and we will only have to deal with the cancellation occurring in the kernel with Lemma 2.3.1 being useful.

Proof of Theorem 2.0.3. First we build two measures in \mathbb{R} , generalizing the work done in [28], and then they will be used for our two dimensional construction.

2.1 The One-Dimensional Construction

Given $0 \le \alpha < 2$, choose $\frac{1}{3} \le b < 1$ such that $\frac{1}{9} \le \left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{2-\alpha} \le \frac{1}{3}$. Let $s_0^{-1} = \left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{2-\alpha}$. Recall the middle-*b* Cantor set E_b and the Cantor measure $\ddot{\omega}$ on the closed interval $I_1^0 = [0, 1]$. At the *k*th generation in the construction, there is a collection $\{I_j^k\}_{j=1}^{2^k}$ of 2^k pairwise disjoint closed intervals of length $|I_j^k| = \left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k$. The Cantor set is defined by $E_b = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{j=1}^{2^k} I_j^k$ and the Cantor measure $\ddot{\omega}$ is the unique probability measure supported in E with the property that is equidistributed among the intervals $\{I_j^k\}_{j=1}^{2^k}$ at each scale *k*, i.e

$$\ddot{\omega}(I_j^k) = 2^{-k}, \quad k \ge 0, 1 \le j \le 2^k.$$

We denote the removed open middle *b*th of I_j^k by G_j^k and by \ddot{z}_j^k its center. Following closely [28], we define

$$\ddot{\sigma} = \sum_{k,j} s_j^k \delta_{\ddot{z}_j^k}$$

where the sequence of positive numbers s_j^k is chosen to satisfy $\frac{s_j^k \ddot{\omega}(I_j^k)}{|I_j^k|^{4-2\alpha}} = 1$, i.e.

$$s_j^k = \left(\frac{2}{s_0^2}\right)^k, \ k \ge 0, \ 1 \le j \le 2^k.$$

2.1.1 The Testing Constant is Unbounded

. Consider the following operator

$$\ddot{T}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{f(y)}{|x-y|^{2-\alpha}} dy$$

Note that

$$\ddot{T}\ddot{\omega}(\ddot{z}_{1}^{k}) = \int_{I_{1}^{0}} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(y)}{|\ddot{z}_{1}^{k} - y|^{2-\alpha}} \ge \int_{I_{1}^{k}} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(y)}{|\ddot{z}_{1}^{k} - y|^{2-\alpha}} \ge \frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_{1}^{k})}{\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}\right)^{2-\alpha}} \approx \left(\frac{s_{0}}{2}\right)^{k}$$

since $|\ddot{z}_1^k - y| \leq |\ddot{z}_1^k|$ for $y \in I_1^k$ and $\ddot{z}_1^k = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{1-b}{2})^k$. Similar inequalities hold for the rest of \ddot{z}_j^k . This implies that the following testing condition fails:

$$\int_{I_1^0} \left(\ddot{T}(\mathbf{1}_{I_1^0} \ddot{\omega})(x) \right)^2 d\ddot{\sigma}(y) \gtrsim \sum_{k=1}^\infty \sum_{j=1}^{2^k} s_j^k \cdot \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^{2k} = \sum_{k=1}^\infty \sum_{j=1}^{2^k} \frac{1}{2^k} = \infty$$
(2.1.1)

2.1.2 The $\ddot{\mathcal{A}}_2$ Condition

. Let us now define

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\frac{|I|}{(|I| + |x - x_I|)^2} \right)^{2-\alpha} d\mu(x)$$

and the following variant of the A_2^{α} condition:

$$\ddot{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{\alpha}(\ddot{\sigma},\ddot{\omega}) = \sup_{I} \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma}) \cdot \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega})$$

where the supremum is taken over all intervals in \mathbb{R} . We verify that $\ddot{\mathcal{A}}_2^{\alpha}$ is finite for the pair $(\ddot{\sigma}, \ddot{\omega})$. The starting point is the estimate

$$\ddot{\sigma}(I_r^\ell) = \sum_{(k,j): \ddot{z}_j^k \in I_r^\ell} s_j^k = \sum_{k=l}^\infty 2^{k-\ell} s_j^k = 2^{-\ell} \sum_{k=l}^\infty \left(\frac{4}{s_0^2}\right)^k \approx \left(\frac{2}{s_0^2}\right)^\ell = s_r^\ell$$

and from this, it immediately follows,

$$\frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_j^{\ell})\ddot{\omega}(I_j^{\ell})}{|I_j^{\ell}|^{4-2\alpha}} \approx \frac{s_j^{\ell}\ddot{\omega}(I_j^{\ell})}{|I_j^{\ell}|^{4-2\alpha}} = 1, \text{ for } \ell \ge 0, \ 1 \le j \le 2^{\ell}.$$
(2.1.2)

Now from the definition of $\ddot{\sigma}$ we get,

$$\begin{split} \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_{r}^{\ell},\ddot{\sigma}) &\leq \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \int_{I_{1}^{0}\setminus I_{r}^{\ell}} \left(\frac{|I_{r}^{\ell}|}{\left(|I_{r}^{\ell}| + |x - x_{I_{r}^{\ell}}|\right)^{2}} \right)^{2-\alpha} d\ddot{\sigma}(x) \quad (2.1.3) \\ &\leq \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \sum_{m=0}^{\ell} \sum_{k=m}^{\infty} \frac{2^{k-m}s_{j}^{k} |I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}}{\left(|I_{r}^{\ell}| + b\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{m}\right)^{4-2\alpha}} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \sum_{m=0}^{\ell} \frac{2^{-m}|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha} \left(\frac{4}{s_{0}^{2}}\right)^{m}}{\left(b\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{m-\ell}|I_{r}^{\ell}|\right)^{4-2\alpha}} \\ &= \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \frac{b^{2\alpha-4}}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} \left(\frac{1}{s_{0}^{2}}\right)^{\ell} \sum_{m=0}^{\ell} 2^{m} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \frac{s_{r}^{\ell}}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} \approx \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} \end{split}$$

and using the uniformity of $\ddot{\omega},$

$$\begin{split} \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_{r}^{\ell},\ddot{\omega}) &\leq \frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \int_{I_{1}^{0} \setminus I_{r}^{\ell}} \left(\frac{|I_{r}^{\ell}|}{\left(|I_{r}^{\ell}| + |x - x_{I_{r}^{\ell}}|\right)^{2}} \right)^{2-\alpha} d\ddot{\omega}(x) \quad (2.1.4) \\ &\leq \frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \frac{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha} \ddot{\omega}(I_{j_{k}}^{k})}{\left(|I_{r}^{\ell}| + b\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k-1}\right)^{4-2\alpha}} \\ &\leq \frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} + \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \frac{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha} \ddot{\omega}(I_{j_{k}}^{k})}{\left(b\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k-1-\ell} |I_{r}^{\ell}|\right)^{4-2\alpha}} \end{split}$$

$$\lesssim \quad \frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_r^\ell)}{|I_r^\ell|^{2-\alpha}} + \frac{2^{-\ell}}{|I_r^\ell|^{2-\alpha}} = 2\frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_r^\ell)}{|I_r^\ell|^{2-\alpha}},$$

where $I_{j_k}^k \subset I_t^{k-1}$, $I_r^\ell \subset I_t^{k-1}$ and $I_{j_k}^k \cap I_r^\ell = \emptyset$, and where all the implied constants in the above calculations depend only on α . From (2.1.3), (2.1.4) and (2.1.2), we see that

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_r^\ell, \ddot{\sigma})\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_r^\ell, \ddot{\omega}) \lesssim 1.$$

Let us now consider an interval $I \subset I_1^0$ and let A > 1 be fixed. Then, let k be the smallest integer such that $\ddot{z}_j^k \in AI$; if there is no such k, then $AI \subsetneq G_j^\ell$, for some ℓ . We have the following cases:

Case 1. Assume that $I \subset AI \subsetneqq G_j^k \subset I_j^k$. If $|x_I - \ddot{z}_j^k| \leq \operatorname{dist}(x_I, \partial G_j^k)$ then,

$$\begin{split} \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma})\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega}) &= |I|^{4-2\alpha} \int_{I_{1}^{0}} \frac{d\ddot{\sigma}(x)}{(|I|+|x-x_{I}|)^{4-2\alpha}} \int_{I_{1}^{0}} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(x)}{(|I|+|x-x_{I}|)^{4-2\alpha}} (2.1.5) \\ \lesssim & |I|^{4-2\alpha} \left(\frac{s_{j}^{k}}{|I|^{4-2\alpha}} + \frac{1}{|I_{j}^{k}|^{2-\alpha}} \int_{I_{1}^{0} \backslash G_{j}^{k}} \frac{|I_{j}^{k}|^{2-\alpha} d\ddot{\sigma}(x)}{(|I_{j}^{k}|+|x-x_{I_{j}^{k}}|)^{4-2\alpha}} \right) \frac{\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_{j}^{k},\ddot{\omega})}{|I_{j}^{k}|^{2-\alpha}} \\ \lesssim & \frac{|I|^{4-2\alpha}}{|I_{j}^{k}|^{2-\alpha}} \left(\frac{s_{j}^{k}}{|I|^{4-2\alpha}} + \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{j}^{k})}{|I_{j}^{k}|^{4-2\alpha}} \right) \frac{\ddot{\omega}(I_{j}^{k})}{|I_{j}^{k}|^{2-\alpha}} \lesssim \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{j}^{k})\ddot{\omega}(I_{j}^{k})}{|I_{j}^{k}|^{4-2\alpha}} \approx 1 \end{split}$$

where in the first inequality we used the fact that $|x - x_I| \approx |x - \ddot{z}_j^k| \gtrsim |I_j^k|$ when $x \notin G_j^k$, since x_I is "close" to the center of G_j^k , and for the second inequality we used (2.1.3) and (2.1.4).

If $|x_I - \ddot{z}_j^k| > \operatorname{dist}(x_I, \partial G_j^k)$, we can assume $b\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{m-1} \leq |I| \leq b\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^m$ for some m > k, since for m = k we have $|I| \approx |I_j^k|$, $|x - x_I| \gtrsim |x - x_{I_j^k}|$ for $x \notin G_j^k$ and we can repeat the proof of (2.1.5). Now let I_t^m be the *m*-th generation interval that is closer to I that touches the boundary of G_j^k . We have, using $|x_{I_t^m} - \ddot{z}_j^\ell| \lesssim |x_I - \ddot{z}_j^\ell|$, for all $\ell \ge 1, 1 \le j \le 2^\ell$,

 $\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma}) \lesssim \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_t^m,\ddot{\sigma})$ and $\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega}) \lesssim \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_t^m,\ddot{\omega})$, which imply

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma})\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega}) \lesssim 1$$

Case 2. Now assume $G_j^k \subset AI$. If $I_j^k \cap I = \emptyset$, then, using the minimality of $k, I \subset G_t^m$ for some m < k and we can repeat the proof of (2.1.5). If $I_j^k \cap I \neq \emptyset$ then $|I| \leq |I_j^k|$ since otherwise AI would contain \ddot{z}_t^{k-1} , contradicting the minimality of k if we fix A big enough depending only on α . Hence we have:

$$|G_j^k| + |x - \ddot{z}_j^k| \le |G_j^k| + |x_I - \ddot{z}_j^k| + |x - x_I| \le \left(A + \frac{A}{2}\right)|I| + |x - x_I|$$

which implies that

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma}) \lesssim \int_{I_1^0} \frac{|I|^{2-\alpha}}{\left(|G_j^k| + |x - \ddot{z}_j^k|\right)^{4-2\alpha}} d\ddot{\sigma}(x) \lesssim \frac{|I|^{2-\alpha}}{|I_j^k|^{2-\alpha}} \int_{I_1^0} \frac{|I_j^k|^{2-\alpha}}{\left(|I_j^k| + |x - \ddot{z}_j^k|\right)^{4-2\alpha}} d\ddot{\sigma}(x)$$

and similarly

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega}) \lesssim \frac{|I|^{2-\alpha}}{|I_t^k|^{2-\alpha}} \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_j^k,\ddot{\omega}) \leq \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I_j^k,\ddot{\omega}).$$

which implies

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma})\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega}) \lesssim 1$$

Case 3. If neither $G_j^k \cap AI \neq G_j^k$ nor $G_j^k \cap AI \neq AI$, note that $G_j^k \subset 3AI$ and we repeat again the proof of Case 2.

Thus, for any interval $I \subset I_1^0$, we have shown that $\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I, \ddot{\sigma})\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I, \ddot{\omega}) \lesssim 1$, which implies

$$\ddot{\mathcal{A}}_2^{\alpha}(\ddot{\sigma},\ddot{\omega}) < \infty. \tag{2.1.6}$$

2.1.3 The Energy Constants $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}$ and $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}^*$

Now define the following variant of the energy constants

$$\begin{aligned} \ddot{\mathcal{E}} &= \sup_{I=\bigcup I_r} \frac{1}{\ddot{\sigma}(I)} \sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\omega}(I_r) E(I_r, \ddot{\omega})^2 \ddot{\mathrm{P}}(I_r, \mathbf{1}_I \ddot{\sigma})^2 \\ \ddot{\mathcal{E}}^* &= \sup_{I=\bigcup I_r} \frac{1}{\ddot{\omega}(I)} \sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\sigma}(I_r) E(I_r, \ddot{\sigma})^2 \ddot{\mathrm{P}}(I_r, \mathbf{1}_I \ddot{\omega})^2 \end{aligned}$$

where the supremum is taken over the different intervals I and all the different decompositions of $I = \bigcup_{r \ge 1} I_r$, and

$$\ddot{\mathcal{P}}(I,\mu) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{|I|}{(|I| + |x - x_I|)^{3-\alpha}} d\mu(x),$$
$$E(I,\mu)^2 = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\mu(I)^2} \int_I \int_I \frac{(x - x')^2}{|I|^2} d\mu(x') d\mu(x) = \frac{1}{\mu(I)} \cdot \left\| x - m_I^{\mu} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbf{1}_I \mu)}^2 \le 1$$

We first show that $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}$ is bounded. We have

$$\begin{split} \ddot{\mathbf{P}}(I,\ddot{\sigma}) &= \int \frac{|I|}{\left(|I| + |x - x_I|\right)^{3-\alpha}} d\ddot{\sigma}(x) \lesssim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\ddot{\sigma}\left((2^n + 1)I\right)}{(2^n)|2^nI|^{2-\alpha}} \\ &\leq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \inf_{x \in I} M^{\alpha} \ddot{\sigma}(x) 2^{-n} \lesssim \inf_{x \in I} M^{\alpha} \ddot{\sigma}(x) \end{split}$$

where $M^{\alpha}\mu(x) = \sup_{I \ni x} \frac{1}{|I|^{2-\alpha}} \int_{I} d\mu$ and the implied constants depend only on α . Thus, given an interval $I = \bigcup_{r \ge 1} I_r$, we have:

$$\sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\omega}(I_r)\ddot{\mathsf{P}}^2(I_r,\mathbf{1}_I\ddot{\sigma}) \leq \sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\omega}(I_r)\inf_{x\in I} \left(M^{\alpha}\mathbf{1}_I\ddot{\sigma}\right)^2(x) \leq \int_I \left(M^{\alpha}\mathbf{1}_I\ddot{\sigma}\right)^2(x)d\ddot{\omega}(x)$$

and so we are left with estimating the right hand term of the above inequality. We will prove the inequality

$$\int_{I_r^\ell} \left(M^\alpha \mathbf{1}_{I_r^l} \ddot{\sigma} \right)^2 (x) d\ddot{\omega}(x) \le C \ddot{\sigma}(I_r^\ell).$$
(2.1.7)

where the constant C depends only on α . This will be enough, since for an interval I containing a point mass \ddot{z}_r^{ℓ} but no masses \ddot{z}_j^k for $k < \ell$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{I} \left(M^{\alpha} \ddot{\sigma} \right)^{2}(x) d\ddot{\omega}(x) &= \int_{I \cap I_{r}^{\ell}} \left(M^{\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{I \cap I_{r}^{\ell}} \ddot{\sigma} \right)^{2}(x) d\ddot{\omega}(x) &\leq \int_{I_{r}^{\ell}} \left(M^{\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{I_{r}^{\ell}} \ddot{\sigma} \right)^{2}(x) d\ddot{\omega}(x) \\ &\leq \ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell}) \approx \ddot{\sigma}(I) \end{split}$$

Since the measure $\ddot{\omega}$ is supported in the Cantor set \mathbf{E}_b , we can use the fact that for $x \in I_r^{\ell} \cap \mathbf{E}_b$,

$$M^{\alpha}(\mathbf{1}_{I_{r}^{\ell}}\ddot{\sigma})(x) \lesssim \sup_{(k,j):x \in I_{j}^{k}} \frac{1}{\left|I_{j}^{k}\right|^{2-\alpha}} \int_{I_{j}^{k} \cap I_{r}^{\ell}} \frac{d\ddot{\sigma}}{(k,j):x \in I_{j}^{k}} \sup_{s_{0}^{-k}} \frac{s_{0}^{-2(k \vee \ell)} 2^{k \vee \ell}}{s_{0}^{-k}} \approx \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I_{r}^{\ell})}{|I_{r}^{\ell}|^{2-\alpha}} \approx \left(\frac{2}{s_{0}}\right)^{\ell}$$

Fix m and let the approximations $\ddot{\omega}^{(m)}$ and $\ddot{\sigma}^{(m)}$ to the measures ω and $\ddot{\sigma}$ given by

$$d\ddot{\omega}^{(m)}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{2^m} 2^{-m} \frac{1}{|I_i^m|} \mathbf{1}_{I_i^m}(x) \, dx \text{ and } \ddot{\sigma}^{(m)} = \sum_{k < m} \sum_{j=1}^{2^k} s_j^k \delta_{z_j^k}.$$

For these approximations we have in the same way the estimate for $x \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{2^m} I_i^m$,

$$M^{\alpha}\left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{r}^{\ell}}\ddot{\sigma}^{(m)}\right)(x) \lesssim \sup_{(k,j):x \in I_{j}^{k}} \frac{1}{\left|I_{j}^{k}\right|^{2-\alpha}} \int_{I_{j}^{k} \cap I_{r}^{\ell}} d\ddot{\sigma} \approx \sup_{(k,j):x \in I_{j}^{k}} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{s_{0}}\right)^{k \vee \ell} \left(\frac{2}{s_{0}}\right)^{k \vee \ell}}{\left(\frac{1}{s_{0}}\right)^{k}} \leq C\left(\frac{2}{s_{0}}\right)^{\ell}$$

Thus for each $m \ge n \ge \ell$ we have

Now since $\ddot{\omega}^m$ converges weakly to $\ddot{\omega}$ and using the fact that M^{α} is lower semi-continuous we get:

$$\int_{I_r^{\ell}} M^{\alpha} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_r^{\ell}} \ddot{\sigma}^{(n)} \right)^2 d\ddot{\omega} \leq \liminf_{m \to \infty} \int_{I_r^{\ell}} M^{\alpha} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_r^{\ell}} \ddot{\sigma}^{(n)} \right)^2 d\ddot{\omega}^{(m)} \leq C \ddot{\sigma}(I_r^{\ell})$$

Now, taking $n \to \infty$, by monotone convergence we get (2.1.7). This proves

$$\sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\omega}(I_r)\ddot{\mathsf{P}}^2(I_r, \mathbf{1}_I\ddot{\sigma}) \leq C\ddot{\sigma}(I)$$
(2.1.8)

which in turn implies $\ddot{\mathcal{E}} < \infty$ as $E(I_r, \ddot{\omega}) \leq 1$.

Finally, we show that the dual energy constant $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}^*$ is finite. Let us show that for $I \subset I_1^0$

$$\ddot{\sigma}(I)E(I,\ddot{\sigma})^{2}\ddot{\mathsf{P}}(I,\ddot{\omega})^{2} \lesssim \ddot{\omega}(I).$$
(2.1.9)

as if we let $\{I_r : r \ge 1\}$ be any partition of I, (2.1.9) gives

$$\sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\sigma}(I_r) E(I_r, \ddot{\sigma})^2 \ddot{\mathsf{P}}(I_r, \ddot{\omega})^2 \lesssim \sum_{r\geq 1} \ddot{\omega}(I_r) = \ddot{\omega}(I) \; .$$

Now let us establish (2.1.9). We can assume that $E(I, \ddot{\sigma}) \neq 0$. Let k be the smallest integer for which there is a r with $\ddot{z}_r^k \in I$. And let n be the smallest integer so that for some

s we have $\ddot{z}_s^{k+n} \in I$ and $\ddot{z}_s^{k+n} \neq \ddot{z}_r^k$. We have that

$$\begin{split} E(I, \ddot{\sigma})^2 &= \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\ddot{\sigma}(I)^2} \int_I \int_I \frac{|x - x'|^2}{|I|^2} d\ddot{\sigma}(x) d\ddot{\sigma}(x') \\ &= \frac{1}{\ddot{\sigma}(I)^2} \left[\ddot{\sigma}(\ddot{z}_r^k) \int_I \frac{|x - \ddot{z}_r^k|^2}{|I|^2} d\ddot{\sigma}(x) + \int_I \int_{I \setminus \{\ddot{z}_r^k\}} \frac{|x - x'|^2}{|I|^2} d\ddot{\sigma}(x) d\ddot{\sigma}(x') \right] \\ &\lesssim \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(\ddot{z}_r^k) \ddot{\sigma}(I \setminus \{\ddot{z}_r^k\})}{\ddot{\sigma}(I)^2} + \frac{\ddot{\sigma}(I \setminus \{\ddot{z}_r^k\})}{\ddot{\sigma}(I)} \lesssim \left(\frac{2}{s_0^2}\right)^n \end{split}$$

Finally, $\ddot{\sigma}(I) \approx \left(\frac{2}{s_0^2}\right)^k$, $\ddot{\omega}(I) \approx 2^{-k-n}$, and $\ddot{\mathsf{P}}(I, \ddot{\omega}) \approx \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^k$, which proves (2.1.9).

2.2 The Two Dimensional Construction

It is time now to define the two dimensional measures that prove the statement of Theorem 2.0.3. For any set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ let

$$\omega(E) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \ddot{\omega}_n(E)$$

where $\ddot{\omega}_0(E) = \ddot{\omega}(E_x \cap I_1^0)$, E_x the projection of E on the x-axis, and $\ddot{\omega}_n$ are copies of $\ddot{\omega}_0$ at the intervals $[a_n, a_n + 1] \times \{0\}$ with $k_n = a_{n+1} - (a_n + 1)$ to be determined later. In the same way, let

$$\sigma(E) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \ddot{\sigma}_n(E)$$

where $\ddot{\sigma}_0(E) = \ddot{\sigma}([E \cap (I_1^0 \times \{\gamma_0\})]_x)$, and $\ddot{\sigma}_n$ are copies of $\ddot{\sigma}_0$ at the intervals $[a_n, a_n+1] \times \{\gamma_n\}$, where the height γ_n will be determined later. Check Figure 2.2.1.



Figure 2.2.1: The two measures

2.2.1 The A_2 conditions.

We will now prove that both \mathcal{A}_2^{α} and $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*}$ constants are bounded. Let Q be a cube in \mathbb{R}^2 , $J_0^n = [a_n, a_n + 1] \times \{0\}$ and $J_{\gamma_n}^n = [a_n, a_n + 1] \times \{\gamma_n\}$. We take cases for Q. If Q intersects only one of the intervals J_0^n , say J_0^0 for convenience, and $(Q \cap J_0^0)_x =: J_0$ we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mathbf{1}_{Q}c\sigma)\frac{\omega(Q)}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}}} &\lesssim \quad \ddot{\mathcal{P}}(J_{0},\ddot{\sigma})\frac{\ddot{\omega}(J_{0})}{|J_{0}|^{2-\alpha}} + \mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mathbf{1}_{(J^{1}_{\gamma_{1}})}c\sigma)\frac{\ddot{\omega}(I^{0}_{1})}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}}} \\ &\leq \quad \ddot{\mathcal{A}}^{\alpha}_{2}(\ddot{\sigma},\ddot{\omega}) + C < \infty \end{aligned}$$

using (2.1.6) and taking k_n large enough so that the second summand is bounded independently of the interval $(k_n = 4^{2n \cdot \max\{(2-\alpha)^{-1},1\}}$ would do here). If Q intersects more than one of the intervals J_0^n , it is easy to see, using that Q is very big (since it intersects more than one of the intervals) and that k_n is also large, that:

$$\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q, \mathbf{1}_{Q^{c}}\sigma) \frac{\omega(Q)}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{2}}} \lesssim 1$$

which of course shows that \mathcal{A}_2^{α} is bounded. Essentially using the same calculations we see that $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*}$ is bounded as well.

2.2.2 Off-Testing Constant

Let us now check that the off-testing constant is not bounded. Choose the cube $Q_n = [a_n, a_n + 1] \times [0, -1]$. Then,

$$\frac{1}{\omega(Q_n)} \int_{Q_n^c} \left[\int_{Q_n} \frac{d\omega(y)}{|x-y|^{2-\alpha}} \right]^2 d\sigma(x) \ge \frac{1}{\ddot{\omega}(I_1^0)} \int_{I_1^0} \left[\int_{I_1^0} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(y_1)}{\sqrt{(x_1-y_1)^2 + \gamma_n^2}^{2-\alpha}} \right]^2 d\ddot{\sigma}(x_1)$$

for $x = (x_1, x_2)$ and $y = (y_1, y_2)$. Taking γ_n such that the last expression on the display above equals n (note that this is feasible, since for $\gamma_n = 0$, (2.1.1) gives infinity in the latter expression above) we have

$$\mathcal{T}_{\textit{off},\alpha}^2 \geq \frac{1}{\omega(Q_n)} \int_{Q_n^c} \left[\int_{Q_n} \frac{d\omega(y)}{|x-y|^{2-\alpha}} \right]^2 d\sigma(x) \geq n$$

and by letting $n \to \infty$ we obtain that the off-testing constant is not bounded.

2.2.3 The Energy Conditions

. For the energy condition \mathcal{E}_2^{α} first, let Q be a cube and $Q = \bigcup Q_r$, where $\{Q_r\}_{r=1}^{\infty}$ is a decomposition of Q. Then we have

$$\frac{1}{\sigma(Q)}\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(Q_{r},\mathbf{1}_{Q}\sigma\right)}{|Q_{r}|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right)^{2} \left\|x-m_{Q_{r}}^{\omega}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{Q_{r}}\omega\right)}^{2} \leq \frac{2}{\sigma(Q)}\sum_{r=1}^{\infty}\omega(Q_{r})\left(\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(Q_{r},\mathbf{1}_{Q}\sigma\right)\right)^{2}$$

Assume that Q intersects m intervals of the form J_0^n . Then we have $m - 2 \lesssim \sigma(Q) \lesssim m$. The case m = 1 is exactly the same as the one dimensional analog for $\ddot{\mathcal{E}}$. Assume m = 2. Now we need to take cases for Q_r :

(i) Let Q^1 be the set of cubes Q_r that intersect only one of the intervals J_0^n . Then we have, following the proof of (2.1.8), that

$$\sum_{Q_r \in Q^1} \omega(Q_r) \left(\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q_r, \mathbf{1}_Q \sigma \right) \right)^2 \le C \sigma(Q)$$

(ii) If Q_r intersects both of the intervals J_0^n then this Q_r is unique since the family $\{Q_r\}_{r\in\mathbb{N}}$ forms a decomposition of Q. Therefore we have:

$$\omega(Q_r) \left(\mathcal{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q_r, \mathbf{1}_Q \sigma \right) \right)^2 \lesssim \frac{\omega(Q_r) \sigma(Q)}{|Q_r|^{2-\alpha}} \sigma(Q) \lesssim \sigma(Q)$$

using the fact that $|Q_r| \gtrsim 4^2$ since it intersect two of the intervals J_0^n and $\omega(Q_r) \lesssim 2, \sigma(Q) \lesssim 2$.

For $m \geq 3$, again we take cases for Q_r :

(i) If Q_r intersects only one J_0^n we again have, following the proof of (2.1.8), that

$$\sum_{Q_r \in Q^1} \omega(Q_r) \left(\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q_r, \mathbf{1}_Q \sigma \right) \right)^2 \le C \sigma(Q)$$

(ii) If Q_r intersects more than one of the intervals J_0^n , the last one being $J_0^{n_0}$ we have

$$\omega(Q_r) \left(\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q_r, \mathbf{1}_Q \sigma \right) \right)^2 \lesssim \frac{\omega(Q_r) \sigma(Q_r^-)^2}{|Q_r|^{2-\alpha}} + \omega(Q_r) \sum_{k=1}^m \frac{1}{4^{2k} |Q_r|^{2-\alpha}} \lesssim 2$$

where Q_r^- contains all the intervals J_0^n such that $n \le n_0$. Again in the last inequality we use the fact that Q_r is very big since it intersects at least two intervals J_0^n . Now since Q_r form a decomposition of Q we can have at most m-1 of these.

Combining the above cases, we obtain

$$\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \omega(Q_r) \left(\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q_r, \mathbf{1}_Q \sigma \right) \right)^2 \le C \sigma(Q) + 2m - 2 \le 2C \sigma(Q)$$

and that proves the energy condition is bounded.

The dual energy $\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$ can also be proved bounded with the same calculations as in the energy condition following the proof of (2.1.9) instead of (2.1.8) as in the first case above. This completes the proof of the Theorem 2.0.3.

2.3 The Riesz transform lemma

To obtain the same result for the Riesz transforms, we need to deal with the fact that the kernel is not positive. This prevents us from placing the masses for $\ddot{\sigma}$ at the center of the intervals G_j^k , as we did in the proof of Theorem 2.0.3. Since otherwise, if the point-mass $\ddot{\sigma}$ is located at the center of G_j^k , it would result in the cancellation of much of the mass not letting us deduce that the off testing condition for the Riesz transform is unbounded. The following lemma, whose proof follows closely the work in [28] but with a two dimensional twist, helps us overcome this problem, showing that, while not being able to place the point masses in the middle of G_j^k , we can place them far from the boundary. This enables us to show that the $\ddot{\mathcal{A}}_2$ condition is bounded, like in the proof of Theorem 2.0.3. First we need to define the operator

$$\ddot{R}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{(x-y)f(y)}{|x-y|^{3-\alpha}} dy$$

Lemma 2.3.1. For $k \ge 1$, $1 \le j \le 2^k$, write $G_j^k = (a_j^k, b_j^k)$. Then there exists 0 < c < 1

that depends only on α such that

$$\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{j}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right)\approx\left(\frac{s_{0}}{2}\right)^{k}$$

where $\ddot{\omega}$ is the measure defined above.

Proof. Fix k. We have

$$\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{1}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right) \leq \ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{j}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right) \leq \ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{2k}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right)$$

from monotonicity. So it is enough to prove the following:

$$\left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^k \lesssim \ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_1^k + c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b\right) \le \ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{2k}^k + c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b\right) \lesssim \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^k$$

We start with right hand inequality. Following the definitions of $\ddot{R}, \ddot{\omega}$ we get

$$\begin{split} \ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{2^{k}}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right) &\leq \int_{\left[0,a_{2^{k}}^{k}\right]} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(y)}{\left(a_{2^{k}}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b-y\right)^{2-\alpha}} \\ &\leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \frac{2^{-\ell}}{\left(a_{2^{k}}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b-\left[1-\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{\ell-1}\left(\frac{1+b}{2}\right)\right]\right)^{2-\alpha}} \\ &\approx \frac{2^{-k}}{c^{2-\alpha}s_{0}^{-k}} +\sum_{\ell=1}^{k-1} \frac{2^{-\ell}}{s_{0}^{-\ell}\left[\frac{1+b}{2}+\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k-\ell+1}\left[cb-\frac{1+b}{2}\right]\right]^{2-\alpha}} \\ &\leq \frac{2^{-k}}{c^{2-\alpha}s_{0}^{-k}} +\sum_{\ell=1}^{k-1} \frac{2^{-\ell}}{s_{0}^{-\ell}\left[\frac{1+b}{2}-\frac{1+b}{2}\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k-\ell+1}\right]^{2-\alpha}} \end{split}$$

since $a_{2k}^k = 1 - \left(\frac{1+b}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k$. The square bracket inside the last fraction is minimized for

 $\ell = k - 1$ and we get the inequality

$$\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_{2^{k}}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right) \lesssim \frac{2^{-k}}{c^{2-\alpha}s_{0}^{-k}} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k-1}\left(\frac{s_{0}}{2}\right)^{\ell} \lesssim \frac{1}{c^{2-\alpha}}\left(\frac{s_{0}}{2}\right)^{k}$$

where the implied constants depend again only on α . We should note here that the summand with $\ell = k$ is the dominant one in the above inequality.

Now we consider the left hand inequality. We have that $\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\left(a_1^k + c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b\right)$ equals

$$\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\mathbf{1}_{I_{1}^{k+1}}\left(a_{1}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right)+\sum_{\ell=1}^{k+1}\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}\mathbf{1}_{I_{2}^{\ell}}\left(a_{1}^{k}+c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{k}b\right)$$
(2.3.1)

and following the argument for the previous inequality we see that

$$\left|\sum_{\ell=1}^{k+1} \ddot{R}\ddot{\omega} \mathbf{1}_{I_2^{\ell}} \left(a_1^k + c \left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b \right) \right| \le A \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^k$$

where A depends only on α but not on c. The first summand of (2.3.1) gives

$$\int_{I_1^{k+1}} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(y)}{\left(a_1^k + c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b - y\right)^{2-\alpha}} \geq \sum_{\ell=k+1}^{\infty} \frac{2^{-\ell-1}}{\left(\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^\ell + c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b\right)^{2-\alpha}}$$

$$\approx \frac{s_0^k}{2^k} \sum_{\ell=k+1}^{\infty} \frac{2^{-\ell+k-1}}{\left(\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{\ell-k} + cb\right)^{2-\alpha}} \\ = \frac{s_0^k}{2^k} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{2^{-\ell-1}}{\left(\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^{\ell} + cb\right)^{2-\alpha}}.$$

Choosing c small enough not depending on k (since the last sum does not depend on k), we

obtain

 $E \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ by

$$\int_{I_1^{k+1}} \frac{d\ddot{\omega}(y)}{\left(a_1^k + c\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k b - y\right)^{2-\alpha}} \ge C_1 \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^k$$

with $C_1 > 2A$ and we conclude our lemma.

Proof of Theorem 2.0.4. Set $\dot{z}_j^k = a_j^k + cb\left(\frac{1-b}{2}\right)^k$ and define the measure $\dot{\sigma} = \sum_{k,j} s_j^k \delta_{\dot{z}_j^k}$ where $s_j^k = \left(\frac{2}{s_0^2}\right)^k$ as before. Following verbatim the calculations of Theorem 2.0.3, one can show that $\ddot{\mathcal{A}}_2(\dot{\sigma}, \ddot{\omega}) < \infty$. Now define the measures ω and σ , as before, for any measurable set

$$\omega(E) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \ddot{\omega}_n(E) \text{ and } \sigma(E) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \dot{\sigma}_n(E)$$

where $\dot{\sigma}_0(E) = \dot{\sigma}([E \cap (I_1^0 \times \{\gamma_0\})]_x)$, and $\dot{\sigma}_n$ are copies of $\dot{\sigma}_0$ at the intervals $[a_n, a_n+1] \times \{\gamma_n\}$, and where the height γ_n will be determined later. Again, as before, it is easy to see that both \mathcal{A}_2^{α} and $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*}$ and both \mathcal{E}_2^{α} and $\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$ are bounded. Let us now finish the proof by showing that the off-testing constant for the Riesz transforms are unbounded. From Lemma 2.3.1 we have $\ddot{R}\ddot{\omega}(\dot{z}_j^k) \gtrsim \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^k$ which implies

$$\int_{I_1^0} \left(\ddot{R}(\mathbf{1}_{I_1^0} \ddot{\omega})(x) \right)^2 d\dot{\sigma}(y) \gtrsim \sum_{k=1}^\infty \sum_{j=1}^{2^k} s_j^k \cdot \left(\frac{s_0}{2}\right)^{2k} = \sum_{k=1}^\infty \sum_{j=1}^{2^k} \frac{1}{2^k} = \infty.$$
(2.3.2)

Now choose the cube $Q_n = [a_n, a_n + 1] \times [0, -1]$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{1,off,\alpha}^2 &\geq \frac{1}{\omega(Q_n)} \int_{Q_n^c} \left[\int_{Q_n} \frac{(x_1 - y_1) d\omega(y)}{|x - y|^{3 - \alpha}} \right]^2 d\sigma(x) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{\omega(Q_n)} \int_{I_1^0} \left[\int_{I_1^0} \frac{(x_1 - y_1) d\ddot{\omega}(y_1)}{\sqrt{(x_1 - y_1)^2 + \gamma_n^2}} \right]^2 d\dot{\sigma}(x_1) = \frac{n}{\omega(Q_n)} \end{aligned}$$

by choosing the height γ_n so that $\int_{I_1^0} \left[\int_{I_1^0} \frac{(x_1 - y_1) d\ddot{\omega}(y_1)}{\sqrt{(x_1 - y_1)^2 + \gamma_n^2}} \right]^2 d\dot{\sigma}(x_1) = n$ by (2.3.2). Letting $n \to \infty$, we see that the off-testing constant is unbounded.

Chapter 3

A two weight local Tb theorem for *n*-dimensional Fractional Integrals

3.0.1 Introduction

With full testing in hand, we obtain a number of properties that greatly simplify matters but we do not have this tool as we have shown in the previous chapter. Here are the main challenges encountered in passing from the one-dimensional setting to the higher dimensional analog.

1. The nearby form. The main difficulty in proving the Tb theorem in dimensions n > 1 arises in treating the nearby form in this chapter. Full testing is used repeatedly everywhere in this chapter, and a demanding technical approach involving random surgery and averaging, is needed throughout this chapter. In particular, to obtain estimates over adjacent cubes, we decomposed one of the cubes into a smaller rectangle that is separated from the other cube by a halo. The separated part is estimated by the Muckenhoupt's A_2 condition, while the halo is estimated by applying probability over grids. A typical example is the following: Let I be a cube in the grid associated to the function f and J a cube in the grid associated to the function g. Let also b_I, b_J^* be the testing functions used in the theorem for these cubes.

We would like to estimate $\int T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_I \mathbf{1}_{I \setminus J} \right) b_J^* \mathbf{1}_J d\omega$. The domains of integration inside the operator and inside the integral are adjacent. In dimension n = 1 we could use Hytönen's result. Now we instead argue by splitting the integral as follows:

$$\left| \int T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I \setminus J} \right) b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{J} d\omega \right| \leq \left| \int T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I \setminus (1+\delta)J} \right) b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{J} d\omega \right| + \left| \int T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{(I \setminus J) \cap (1+\delta)J} \right) b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{J} d\omega \right|.$$

The first term on the right hand side, where the domains inside the operator and the integral are disjoint with positive distance, is bounded by a constant multiple, depending on δ and n, times the A_2 constant. Using averaging over grids, the second term on the right hand side is bounded by $\delta \mathfrak{N}_T \alpha$ where the small δ gain comes from the fact that $|(I \setminus J) \cap (1 + \delta)J|^{\frac{1}{n}} \approx \delta |I|$ where $|\cdot|$ denotes the Lebesque measure of the cube.

2. Splitting forms. Here we begin with a pair of smooth compactly supported functions (f, g) and we would like to decompose the functions into their Haar expansions. However, when we select a grid G for f, the support of f may not be contained in any of the dyadic cubes in the grid G, with a similar problem when selecting a grid H for g. To deal with this, we follow NTV by adding and subtracting certain averages for these terms, resulting in four integrals to be controlled by our hypotheses. In the one dimensional setting, full testing was used to eliminate three out of the four such integrals that appear after decomposing the functions in sums of martingale differences. Here in this paper, the argument was adjusted to avoid using full testing by averaging over the two grids G and H associated with f and g.

3. Pointwise Lower Bound Property (PLBP). In [54] for n = 1, the *PLBP* was used to control terms involving certain 'modified dual martingale differences' in which a factor b_Q had been removed. Moreover, it was proved there that, without loss of generality, the *p*-weakly accretive families of testing functions b_Q and b_Q^* for $Q \in \mathcal{P}$ could be assumed to satisfy the *pointwise lower bound property*, written *PLBP*:

$$|b_Q(x)| \ge c_1 > 0$$
 for $Q \in \mathcal{P}$ and σ -a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}$,

for some positive constant c_1 . However, this reduction to assuming *PLBP* depended heavily on Hytönen's \mathcal{A}_2 characterization for supports on disjoint intervals, something that is unavailable in higher dimensions as the following theorem shows:

To circumvent this difficulty we used an observation (that goes back to Hytönen and Martikainen) that under the additional assumption that the *breaking cubes* Q, those for which there is a dyadic child Q' of Q with $b_{Q'} \neq \mathbf{1}_{Q'}b_Q$, satisfy an appropriate Carleson measure condition.

4. Indented corona. In Section 3.6 (dealing with the stopping form) we construct an 'indented corona'. In dimension n = 1 this construction simply reduces to consideration of the 'left and right ends' of the intervals. In the absence of 'right and left ends' in higher dimensions, this simple construction is replaced by a more intricate tower of Carleson cubes.
3.1 The local *Tb* theorem and proof preliminaries

3.1.1 Standard fractional singular integrals

Let $0 \leq \alpha < n$. We define a standard α -fractional CZ kernel $K^{\alpha}(x, y)$ to be a real-valued function defined on $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfying the following fractional size and smoothness conditions of order $1 + \delta$ for some $\delta > 0$: For $x \neq y$,

$$|K^{\alpha}(x,y)| \leq C_{CZ} |x-y|^{\alpha-n}$$

$$|\nabla K^{\alpha}(x,y)| \leq C_{CZ} |x-y|^{\alpha-n-1}$$

$$|\nabla K^{\alpha}(x,y) - \nabla K^{\alpha}(x',y)| \leq C_{CZ} \left(\frac{|x-x'|}{|x-y|}\right)^{\delta} |x-y|^{\alpha-n-1}, \quad \frac{|x-x'|}{|x-y|} \leq \frac{1}{2},$$
(3.1.1)

and the last inequality also holds for the adjoint kernel in which x and y are interchanged. We note that a more general definition of kernel has only order of smoothness $\delta > 0$, rather than $1+\delta$, but the use of the Monotonicity and Energy Lemmas in arguments below involves first order Taylor approximations to the kernel functions $K^{\alpha}(\cdot, y)$.

3.1.1.1 Defining the norm inequality

We now turn to a precise definition of the weighted norm inequality

$$\left\|T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}, \qquad f \in L^{2}(\sigma).$$

$$(3.1.2)$$

For this we introduce a family $\left\{\eta_{\delta,R}^{\alpha}\right\}_{0<\delta< R<\infty}$ of nonnegative functions on $[0,\infty)$ so that the truncated kernels $K_{\delta,R}^{\alpha}(x,y) = \eta_{\delta,R}^{\alpha}(|x-y|) K^{\alpha}(x,y)$ are bounded with compact support for fixed x or y. Then the truncated operators

$$T^{\alpha}_{\sigma,\delta,R}f(x) \equiv \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} K^{\alpha}_{\delta,R}(x,y) f(y) \, d\sigma(y), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{3.1.3}$$

are pointwise well-defined, and we will refer to the pair $\left(K^{\alpha}, \left\{\eta_{\delta,R}^{\alpha}\right\}_{0<\delta< R<\infty}\right)$ as an α fractional singular integral operator, which we typically denote by T^{α} , suppressing the dependence on the truncations.

Definition 3.1.1. We say that an α -fractional singular integral operator T^{α} satisfies the norm inequality (3.1.2) provided

$$\left\| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma,\delta,R} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}, \qquad f \in L^{2}\left(\sigma\right), 0 < \delta < R < \infty.$$

It turns out that, in the presence of the Muckenhoupt conditions (3.1.7) below, the norm inequality (3.1.2) is essentially independent of the choice of truncations used, and this is explained in some detail in [52]. Thus, as in [52], we are free to use the tangent line truncations described there throughout the proofs of our results.

3.1.2 Weakly accretive functions

Denote by \mathcal{P} the collection of cubes in \mathbb{R}^n . Note that we include an L^p upper bound in our definition of '*p*-weakly accretive family' of functions.

Definition 3.1.2. Let $p \ge 2$ and let μ be a locally finite positive Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n . We say that a family $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ of functions indexed by \mathcal{P} is a p-weakly μ -accretive family

of functions on \mathbb{R}^n if for $Q \in \mathcal{P}$,

$$\operatorname{supp} b_Q \subset Q$$

$$0 < c_{\mathbf{b}} \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_Q b_Q d\mu \leq \left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_Q \left|b_Q\right|^p d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} < \infty.$$
(3.1.4)

3.1.3 b-testing conditions

Suppose σ and ω are locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n . The **b**-testing conditions for T^{α} and **b**^{*}-testing conditions for the dual $T^{\alpha,*}$ are given by

$$\int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega \leq \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} \right)^{2} |Q|_{\sigma} , \quad \text{for all cubes } Q, \quad (3.1.5)$$

$$\int_{Q} \left| T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} b_{Q}^{*} \right|^{2} d\sigma \leq \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \right)^{2} |Q|_{\omega} , \quad \text{for all cubes } Q.$$

3.1.4 Poisson integrals and the Muckenhoupt conditions

Let μ be a locally finite positive Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^n , and suppose Q is a cube in \mathbb{R}^n . Recall that $|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}} = \ell(Q)$ for a cube Q. The two α -fractional Poisson integrals of μ on a cube Q are given by the following expressions:

$$P^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \equiv \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\left(|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |x - x_{Q}|\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} d\mu(x),$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \equiv \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\left(|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |x - x_{Q}|\right)^{2}}\right)^{n-\alpha} d\mu(x),$$

where $|x - x_Q|$ denotes distance between x and the center x_Q of Q and |Q| denotes the Lebesgue measure of the cube Q. We refer to P^{α} as the *standard* Poisson integral and to \mathcal{P}^{α} as the *reproducing* Poisson integral. Note that these two kernels satisfy for all cubes Q and positive measures μ ,

$$0 \leq \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \leq C\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu), \quad n-1 \leq \alpha < n,$$

$$0 \leq \mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \leq C\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu), \quad 0 \leq \alpha < n-1.$$

We now define the one-tailed constant with holes \mathcal{A}_2^{α} using the reproducing Poisson kernel \mathcal{P}^{α} . On the other hand, the standard Poisson integral P^{α} arises naturally throughout the proof of the Tb theorem in estimating oscillation of the fractional singular integral T^{α} , and in the definition of the energy conditions below.

Definition 3.1.3. Suppose σ and ω are locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n . The one-tailed constants \mathcal{A}_2^{α} and $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*}$ with holes for the weight pair (σ, ω) are given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha} \equiv \sup_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \mathcal{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q, \mathbf{1}_{Q} c \sigma \right) \frac{|Q|_{\omega}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} < \infty,$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha,*} \equiv \sup_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \mathcal{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q, \mathbf{1}_{Q} c \omega \right) \frac{|Q|_{\sigma}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} < \infty.$$

Note that these definitions are the conditions with 'holes' introduced by Hytönen [22] the supports of the measures $\mathbf{1}_{Q^c\sigma}$ and $\mathbf{1}_{Q^c\omega}$ in the definition of \mathcal{A}_2^{α} are disjoint, and so any common point masses of σ and ω do not appear simultaneously in the factors of any of the products $\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}\left(Q, \mathbf{1}_{Q^c\sigma}\right) \frac{|Q|_{\omega}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}$. Recall, the definition of the classical Muckenhoupt condition

$$A_2^{\alpha} = \sup_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \frac{|Q|_{\omega}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \frac{|Q|_{\sigma}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}$$

but it will find no use in the two weight setting with common point masses permitted.

Initially, these definitions of Muckenhoupt type were given in the following 'one weight' case, $d\omega(x) = w(x) dx$ and $d\sigma(x) = \frac{1}{w(x)} dx$, where $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha} \left(\lambda w, (\lambda w)^{-1} \right) = \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha} \left(w, w^{-1} \right)$ is homogeneous of degree 0. Of course the two weight version is homogeneous of degree 2 in the weight pair, $\mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha} (\lambda \sigma, \lambda \omega) = \lambda^2 \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha} (\sigma, \omega)$, while all of the other conditions we consider in connection with two weight norm inequalities, including the operator norm $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} (\sigma, \omega)$ itself, are homogeneous of degree 1 in the weight pair. This awkwardness regarding the homogeneity of Muckenhoupt conditions could be rectified by simply taking the square root of \mathcal{A}_2^{α} and renaming it, but the current definition is so entrenched in the literature, in particular in connection with the A_2 conjecture, that we will leave it as is.

3.1.4.1 Punctured A_2^{α} conditions

The classical A_2^{α} characteristic fails to be finite when the measures σ and ω have a common point mass - simply let Q in the sup above shrink to a common mass point. But there is a substitute that is quite similar in character that is motivated by the fact that for large cubes Q, the sup above is problematic only if just *one* of the measures is *mostly* a point mass when restricted to Q.

Given an at most countable set $\mathfrak{P} = \{p_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ in \mathbb{R}^n , a cube $Q \in \mathcal{P}$, and a positive locally finite Borel measure μ , define

$$\mu(Q,\mathfrak{P}) \equiv |Q|_{\mu} - \sup\left\{\mu(p_k) : p_k \in Q \cap \mathfrak{P}\right\},\tag{3.1.6}$$

where the supremum is actually achieved since $\sum_{p_k \in Q \cap \mathfrak{P}} \mu(p_k) < \infty$ as μ is locally finite. The quantity $\mu(Q, \mathfrak{P})$ is simply the $\tilde{\mu}$ measure of Q where $\tilde{\mu}$ is the measure μ with its largest point mass from \mathfrak{P} in Q removed. Given a locally finite positive measure pair (σ, ω) , let $\mathfrak{P}_{(\sigma,\omega)} = \{p_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be the at most countable set of common point masses of σ and ω . Then the weighted norm inequality (3.1.2) typically implies finiteness of the following *punctured* Muckenhoupt conditions:

$$A_{2}^{\alpha,punct}(\sigma,\omega) \equiv \sup_{Q\in\mathcal{P}} \frac{\omega\left(Q,\mathfrak{P}_{(\sigma,\omega)}\right)}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \frac{|Q|_{\sigma}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}},$$
$$A_{2}^{\alpha,*,punct}(\sigma,\omega) \equiv \sup_{Q\in\mathcal{P}} \frac{|Q|_{\omega}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \frac{\sigma\left(Q,\mathfrak{P}_{(\sigma,\omega)}\right)}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}.$$

In particular, all of the above Muckenhoupt conditions \mathcal{A}_{2}^{α} , $\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha,*}$, $\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha,punct}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha,*,punct}$ are necessary for boundedness of an elliptic α -fractional singular integral T_{σ}^{α} from $L^{2}(\sigma)$ to $L^{2}(\omega)$. It is convenient to define

$$\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha} \equiv \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha} + \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*} + \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,punct} + \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha,*,punct} .$$
(3.1.7)

3.1.5 Energy Conditions

Here is the definition of the strong energy conditions, which we sometimes refer to simply as the energy conditions. Let

$$m_I^{\mu} \equiv \frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int x d\mu(x) = \left\langle \frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int x_1 d\mu(x), \dots, \frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int x_n d\mu(x) \right\rangle$$

be the average of x with respect to the measure μ , which we often abbreviate to m_I when the measure μ is understood.

Definition 3.1.4. Let $0 \leq \alpha < n$. Suppose σ and ω are locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n . Then the strong energy constant \mathcal{E}_2^{α} is defined by

$$(\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha})^2 \equiv \sup_{I=\dot{\cup}I_r} \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(I_r, \mathbf{1}_I \sigma\right)}{|I_r|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \left\| x - m_{I_r}^{\omega} \right\|_{L^2\left(\mathbf{1}_{I_r}\omega\right)}^2 , \qquad (3.1.8)$$

where the supremum is taken over arbitrary decompositions of a cube I using a pairwise disjoint union of subcubes I_r . Similarly, we define the dual strong energy constant $\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$ by switching the roles of σ and ω :

$$\left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha,*}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{I=\dot{\cup}I_{r}} \frac{1}{|I|_{\omega}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{P^{\alpha}\left(I_{r},\mathbf{1}_{I}\omega\right)}{|I_{r}|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \left\|x-m_{I_{r}}^{\sigma}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{r}}\sigma\right)}^{2}$$
(3.1.9)

These energy conditions are necessary for boundedness of elliptic and gradient elliptic operators, including the Hilbert transform (but not for for certain elliptic singular operators that fail to be gradient elliptic) - see [53] and [54]. It is convenient to define

$$\mathfrak{E}_2^{\alpha} \equiv \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha} + \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$$

as well as

$$\mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \equiv \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} . \qquad (3.1.10)$$

3.1.6 The two weight local *Tb* Theorem

Here we derive a local Tb theorem based in part on the *proof* of the T1 theorem in [48], and in part on the *proof* of a one weight Tb theorem in Hytönen and Martikainen [24]. Recall from [53] that an α -fractional singular integral T^{α} with kernel K^{α} is said to be *elliptic* if $|K^{\alpha}(x,y)| \geq c |x-y|^{\alpha-1}$ and *gradient elliptic* if the kernel $K^{\alpha}(x,y)$ satisfies

$$|\nabla K^{\alpha}(x,y)| \ge c |x-y|^{\alpha-n-1}$$
. (3.1.11)

The Hilbert transform kernel $K(x, y) = \frac{1}{y-x}$ satisfies (3.1.11) with $\alpha = 0$, n = 1. In dimension n = 1 the Muckenhoupt conditions are necessary for norm boundedness of elliptic operators by results in [28], [22] and [51], and the energy conditions are necessary for norm boundedness of gradient elliptic operators by results in [53]. Moreover, in dimension n =1, Hytönen [22, Corollary 3.10] proves that full testing is controlled by testing and the Muckenhoupt conditions for the Hilbert transform, and this is easily extended to $0 \le \alpha < 1$:

$$\mathfrak{FT}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} \lesssim \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \sqrt{\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \sqrt{\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha,*}} \text{ and } \mathfrak{FT}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \lesssim \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \sqrt{\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\alpha,*}}.$$

Theorem 3.1.5. Suppose that σ and ω are locally finite positive Borel measures on Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose that T^{α} is a standard α -fractional singular integral operator on \mathbb{R}^n , and set $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f = T^{\alpha}(f\sigma)$ for any smooth truncation of T^{α}_{σ} , so that T^{α}_{σ} is apriori bounded from $L^2(\sigma)$ to $L^2(\omega)$. Assume the Muckenhoupt and energy conditions hold, i.e. $\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}_2, \mathcal{A}^{\alpha,*}_2, \mathcal{A}^{\alpha$

 $L^{2}\left(\sigma\right)$ to $L^{2}\left(\omega\right)$ with operator norm $\mathfrak{N}_{T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}}$, i.e.

$$\left\|T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}, \qquad f \in L^{2}(\sigma),$$

uniformly in smooth truncations of T^{α} if and only if the **b**-testing conditions for T^{α} and the **b**^{*}-testing conditions for the dual $T^{\alpha,*}$ both hold. Moreover, we have

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} .$$

Remark 3.1.6. In the special case that $\sigma = \omega = \mu$, the classical Muckenhoupt A_2^{α} condition is

$$\sup_{Q\in\mathcal{P}}\frac{|Q|_{\mu}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}\frac{|Q|_{\mu}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}<\infty,$$

which is the upper doubling measure condition with exponent $n - \alpha$, i.e.

$$|Q|_{\mu} \leq C\ell (Q)^{n-\alpha}, \quad \text{for all cubes } Q,$$

which of course prohibits point masses in μ . Both Poisson integrals are then bounded,

$$P^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\left(2^{k} |Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \left|2^{k}Q\right|_{\mu} \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\left(2^{k} |Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \left(2^{k}\ell(Q)\right)^{n-\alpha} = 2$$
$$\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\left(2^{k} |Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}\right)^{2}}\right)^{n-\alpha} \left|2^{k}Q\right|_{\mu} \lesssim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\left(2^{k} |Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}\right)^{2}}\right)^{n-\alpha} \left(2^{k}\ell(Q)\right)^{n-\alpha} = C_{\alpha}$$

and it follows easily that the equal weight pair (μ,μ) satisfies not only the Muckenhoupt \mathfrak{A}_2^{α}

condition, but also the strong energy condition \mathfrak{E}_2^{α} :

$$\sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(I_{r}, \mathbf{1}_{I}\sigma\right)}{|I_{r}|} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{I_{r}}^{\omega} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \leq C \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left\| \frac{x - m_{I_{r}}^{\omega}}{|I_{r}|} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}$$
$$\leq C \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} |I_{r}|_{\omega} \leq C |I|_{\omega} = C |I|_{\sigma},$$

since $\omega = \sigma$. Thus Theorem 3.1.5, when restricted to a single weight $\sigma = \omega$, recovers a slightly weaker, due to our assumption that p > 2, version of the one weight theorem of Lacey and Martikainen [27, Theorem 1.1] for dimension n = 1. On the other hand, the possibility of a two weight theorem for a 2-weakly μ -accretive family is highly problematic, as one of the key proof strategies used in [27] in the one weight case is a reduction to testing over f and g with controlled L^{∞} norm, a strategy that appears to be unavailable in the two weight setting.

In order to prove Theorem 3.1.5, it is convenient to establish some improved properties for our *p*-weakly μ -accretive family, and also necessary to establish some improved energy conditions related to the families of testing functions **b** and **b**^{*}. We turn to these matters in the next two subsections.

3.1.7 Reduction to real bounded accretive families

We begin by noting that if b_Q satisfies (3.1.4) with $\mu = \sigma$, and satisfies a given b-testing condition for a weight pair (σ, ω) , then Reb_Q satisfies

$$\left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}}\int_{Q}\left|Reb_{Q}\right|^{p}d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)$$

and the given **b**-testing condition for (σ, ω) with Reb_Q in place of b_Q .

Thus we may assume throughout the proof of Theorem 3.1.5 that our *p*-weakly μ -accretive families $\mathbf{b} \equiv \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ and $\mathbf{b}^* \equiv \{b_Q^*\}_{Q \in \mathcal{G}}$ consist of **real-valued** functions.

Next we show that the assumption of testing conditions for a fractional integral T^{α} and p-weakly μ -accretive testing functions $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ and $\mathbf{b}^* = \{b_Q^*\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ with p > 2 can always be replaced with real-valued ∞ -weakly μ -accretive testing functions, thus reducing the Tb theorem for the case p > 2 to the case when $p = \infty$. We now proceed to develop a precise statement. We extend (3.1.4) to 2 by

$$\sup b_Q \subset Q , \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P}, \tag{3.1.12}$$

$$1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_Q b_Q d\mu \leq \begin{cases} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_Q |b_Q|^p d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}}(p) < \infty & \text{for } 2 < p < \infty \\ \|b_Q\|_{L^{\infty}(\mu)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}}(\infty) < \infty & \text{for } p = \infty \end{cases}$$

Proposition 3.1.7. Let $0 \le \alpha < 1$, and let σ and ω be locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n , and let T^{α} be a standard α -fractional elliptic and gradient elliptic singular integral operator on \mathbb{R}^n . Set $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f = T^{\alpha}(f\sigma)$ for any smooth truncation of T^{α}_{σ} , so that T^{α}_{σ} is apriori bounded from $L^2(\sigma)$ to $L^2(\omega)$. Finally, define the sequence of positive extended real numbers

$$\{p_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty} = \left\{\frac{2}{1-\left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^m}\right\}_{m=0}^{\infty} = \left\{\infty, 6, \frac{18}{5}, \frac{162}{65}, \ldots\right\}.$$

Suppose that the following statement is true:

 $(\mathcal{S}_{\infty}) \text{ If } \mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \text{ is an } \infty \text{-weakly } \sigma \text{-accretive family of functions on } \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and if } \mathbf{b}^* = \{b_Q^*\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \text{ is an } \infty \text{-weakly } \omega \text{-accretive family of functions on } \mathbb{R}^n, \text{ then the operator} \}$

norm $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}}$ of T^{α}_{σ} from $L^{2}(\sigma)$ to $L^{2}(\omega)$, i.e. the best constant in

$$\left\|T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}, \qquad f \in L^{2}(\sigma),$$

uniformly in smooth truncations of T^{α} , satisfies

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(\infty \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(\infty \right) \right) \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right)$$

where $C_{\mathbf{b}}(\infty)$, $C_{\mathbf{b}^*}(\infty)$ are the accretivity constants in (3.1.12), and the constants implied by \leq depend on α and the constant C_{CZ} in (3.1.1). Then for each $m \geq 0$, the following statements hold:

 $(\mathcal{S}_m) \text{ Let } p \in (p_{m+1}, p_m]. \text{ If } \mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \text{ is a p-weakly } \sigma \text{-accretive family of functions on } \mathbb{R}^n, \text{ and if } \mathbf{b}^* = \{b_Q^*\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}} \text{ is a p-weakly } \omega \text{-accretive family of functions on } \mathbb{R}^n, \text{ then } \text{ the operator norm } \mathfrak{N}_{T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}} \text{ of } T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \text{ from } L^2(\sigma) \text{ to } L^2(\omega), \text{ uniformly in smooth truncations } \text{ of } T^{\alpha}, \text{ satisfies}$

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(p \right) \right)^{3^{m+1}} \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right) \;,$$

where $C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)$, $C_{\mathbf{b}^*}(p)$ are the accretivity constants in (3.1.4), and the constants implied by \leq depend on p, α , and the constant C_{CZ} in (3.1.1).

Proof of Proposition 3.1.7. We will prove it by induction. We first prove (S_0) . So fix $p \in (p_1, p_0) = (6, \infty)$, and let $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ be a *p*-weakly σ -accretive family of functions on \mathbb{R}^n , and let $\mathbf{b}^* = \{b_Q^*\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ be a *p*-weakly ω -accretive family of functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$

(to be chosen differently at various points in the argument below) and define

$$\lambda = \lambda\left(\varepsilon\right) = \left(\frac{p}{p-2}C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{p}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}$$
(3.1.13)

and a new collection of test functions,

$$\widehat{b}_Q \equiv 2b_Q \left(\mathbf{1}_{\left\{ \left| b_Q \right| \le \lambda \right\}} + \frac{\lambda}{\left| b_Q \right|} \mathbf{1}_{\left\{ \left| b_Q \right| > \lambda \right\}} \right), \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P},$$
(3.1.14)

We compute

$$\begin{split} \int_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right|>\lambda\right\}} & b_{Q}\right|^{2} d\sigma = \int_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right|>\lambda\right\}} \left[\int_{0}^{\left|b_{Q}\right|} 2t dt\right] d\sigma \\ & = \int_{\left\{\left(x,t\right)\in\mathbb{R}^{n}\times(0,\infty):\max\{t,\lambda\}<\left|b_{Q}(x)\right|\right\}} 2t dt d\sigma\left(x\right) \\ & = \int_{0}^{\lambda} \int_{\left\{x\in\mathbb{R}^{n}:\lambda<\left|b_{Q}(x)\right|\right\}} d\sigma\left(x\right) 2t dt + \int_{\lambda}^{\infty} \int_{\left\{x\in\mathbb{R}^{n}:t<\left|b_{Q}(x)\right|\right\}} d\sigma\left(x\right) 2t dt \\ & = \lambda^{2} \left|\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right|>\lambda\right\}\right|_{\sigma} + \int_{\lambda}^{\infty} \left|\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right|>t\right\}\right|_{\sigma} 2t dt, \end{split}$$

and hence

$$\begin{split} \int_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right|>\lambda\right\}}\left|b_{Q}\right|^{2}d\sigma &\leq \lambda^{2}\frac{1}{\lambda^{p}}\left(\int\left|b_{Q}\right|^{p}d\sigma\right)+\int_{\lambda}^{\infty}\frac{1}{t^{p}}\left(\int\left|b_{Q}\right|^{p}d\sigma\right)2tdt (3.1.15)\right.\\ &\leq \left\{\lambda^{2-p}+\int_{\lambda}^{\infty}2t^{1-p}dt\right\}C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{p}|Q|_{\sigma}\\ &= \frac{p}{p-2}\lambda^{2-p}C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{p}|Q|_{\sigma}=\varepsilon\left|Q\right|_{\sigma}, \end{split}$$

by (3.1.13). Thus we have the lower bound,

$$(3.1.16)$$

$$\left|\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \widehat{b}_{Q} d\sigma\right| = 2 \left|\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma - \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} b_{Q} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{|b_{Q}|}\right) \mathbf{1}_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right| > \lambda\right\}} d\sigma\right|$$

$$\geq 2 \left|\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma\right| - 2 \left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} |b_{Q}|^{2} \mathbf{1}_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right| > \lambda\right\}} d\sigma\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\geq 2 - 2 \left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \varepsilon |Q|_{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = 2 - 2\sqrt{\varepsilon} \ge 1 > 0, \quad Q \in \mathcal{P}.$$

For an upper bound we have

$$\left\|\widehat{b}_{Q}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq 2\lambda = 2\lambda\left(\varepsilon\right) = 2\left(\frac{p}{p-2}C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{p}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}},$$

which altogether shows that

$$C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}}(\infty) \leq 2\left(\frac{p}{p-2}C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)^{p}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} = 2\left(\frac{p}{p-2}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)^{\frac{p}{p-2}}\varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{p-2}}$$
(3.1.17)

if we choose $0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{4}$. Similarly we have

$$C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}^{*}}(\infty) \leq 2\left(\frac{p}{p-2}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}(p)^{p}\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{*}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} = 2\left(\frac{p}{p-2}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}(p)^{\frac{p}{p-2}}(\varepsilon^{*})^{-\frac{1}{p-2}}$$

for $0 < \varepsilon^* \leq \frac{1}{4}$. Moreover, we also have, using (3.1.15),

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \widehat{b}_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} &\leq 2 \sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} + 2 \sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{\left\{ \left| b_{Q} \right| > \lambda \right\}} \left(\frac{\lambda}{\left| b_{Q} \right|} - 1 \right) b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} \\ &\leq 2 \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} \sqrt{\left| Q \right|_{\sigma}} + 2 \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \sqrt{\int_{\left\{ \left| b_{Q} \right| > \lambda \right\}} \left| b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma} \\ &\leq 2 \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} + \sqrt{\varepsilon} \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \right\} \sqrt{\left| Q \right|_{\sigma}} , \quad \text{for all cubes } Q, \end{split}$$

which shows that

$$\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}} \leq 2\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + 2\sqrt{\varepsilon}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} . \qquad (3.1.18)$$

Now we apply the fact that (\mathcal{S}_{∞}) holds to obtain

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \left(C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}}\left(\infty\right) + C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}^{*}}\left(\infty\right) \right) \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha},*}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\}$$

and take $\varepsilon = \varepsilon^*$ to conclude, using (3.1.17) and (3.1.18), that

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim C_{implied} \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \left(p \right) \right)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{p-2}} \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\} (3.1.19)$$
$$+ C_{implied} \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \left(p \right) \right)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p-2}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}$$

Now we choose

$$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{\Gamma} \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^*} \left(p \right) \right)^{-\frac{p}{p-2}} \frac{1}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p-2}}$$

with $\Gamma = (2C_{implied})^4$, which satisfies $\Gamma \ge 1$, so that the final term on the right satisfies

$$C_{implied}\left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)+C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(p\right)\right)^{\frac{p}{p-2}} \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p-2}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \leq C_{implied} \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}$$

where we have used $\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p-2} \ge \frac{1}{4}$ for p > 6. This term can then be absorbed into the left hand side of (3.1.19) to obtain

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(p \right) \right)^{\frac{p}{p-2} \left\{ 1 + \frac{1}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p-2}} \right\}} \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\}$$

Since

$$\frac{p}{p-2}\left\{1+\frac{\frac{1}{p-2}}{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p-2}}\right\} = \left(1+\frac{2}{p-2}\right)\left(1+\frac{2}{p-4}\right) \le 3 \text{ for } p > 6,$$

we get

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim (C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(p\right))^{3} \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\},$$

which completes the proof of (\mathcal{S}_0) .

We now show that (S_p) holds for all $p \in (p_{m+1}, p_m]$. So fix $m \ge 1$, $p \in (p_{m+1}, p_m]$, and suppose that $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ is a *p*-weakly σ -accretive family of functions on \mathbb{R}^n and that $\mathbf{b}^* = \{b_Q^*\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ is a *p*-weakly ω -accretive family of functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Note that the sequence $\{p_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty} = \left\{\frac{2}{1-\left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^m}\right\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$ satisfies the recursion relation

$$p_{m+1} = \frac{6}{1 + \frac{4}{p_m}}$$
, equivalently, $p_m = \frac{4}{\frac{6}{p_{m+1}} - 1}$, $m \ge 0$

Choose $q \in (p_m, p_{m-1}]$ so that

$$p > \frac{6}{1 + \frac{4}{q}} = \frac{6q}{q + 4}$$
, i.e. $q < \frac{4}{\frac{6}{p} - 1} = \frac{4p}{6 - p}$, (3.1.20)

which can be done since $p > p_{m+1} = \frac{2}{1-\left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{m+1}}$ is equivalent to $p_m = \frac{2}{1-\left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^m} < \frac{4}{\frac{6}{p}-1}$, which leaves room to choose q satisfying $p_m < q < \frac{4}{\frac{6}{p}-1}$.

Now let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ (to be fixed later), define $\lambda = \lambda(\varepsilon)$ as in (3.1.13), and define \hat{b}_Q as in (3.1.14). Recall from (3.1.15) and (3.1.16) that we then have

$$\int_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right|>\lambda\right\}}\left|b_{Q}\right|^{2}d\sigma\leq\varepsilon\left|Q\right|_{\sigma} \text{ and } \left|\frac{1}{\left|Q\right|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q}\widehat{b}_{Q}d\sigma\right|\geq1, \quad Q\in\mathcal{P},$$

if we choose $0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{4}$. We of course have the previous upper bound

$$\left\|\widehat{b}_{Q}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq 2\lambda = 2\lambda\left(\varepsilon\right) = 2\left(\frac{p}{p-2}C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{p}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}$$

and while this turned out to be sufficient in the case m = 0, we must do better than $O\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}$ in the case $m \ge 1$. In fact we compute the L^q norm instead, recalling that q > p and using Chebysev's inequality,

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_{Q} \left|\widehat{b}_{Q}\right|^{q} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} &= 2\left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_{Q} \left|b_{Q}\left(\mathbf{1}_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right| \leq \lambda\right\}} + \frac{\lambda}{\left|b_{Q}\right|} \mathbf{1}_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right| > \lambda\right\}}\right)\right|^{q} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &= 2\left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_{\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right| \leq \lambda\right\}} \left[\int_{0}^{\left|b_{Q}\right|} qt^{q-1} dt\right] d\sigma + \frac{\lambda^{q} \left|\left\{\left|b_{Q}\right| > \lambda\right\}\right|_{\mu}}{|Q|_{\mu}}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right] \\ &\leq 2\left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_{0}^{\lambda} \left[\int_{\left\{t < \left|b_{Q}\right| \leq \lambda\right\}} d\sigma\right] qt^{q-1} dt + C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)^{p} \lambda^{q-p}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq 2\left(\frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_{0}^{\lambda} \left[\frac{1}{t^{p}} \int \left|b_{Q}\right|^{p} d\sigma\right] qt^{q-1} dt + C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)^{p} \lambda^{q-p}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq 2C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)^{\frac{p}{q}} \left(\int_{0}^{\lambda} qt^{q-p-1} dt + \lambda^{q-p}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &= 2C_{\mathbf{b}}(p)^{\frac{p}{q}} \left(\frac{2q-p}{q-p} \lambda^{q-p}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \end{split}$$

which shows that $C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}}\left(q\right)$ satisfies the estimate

$$\begin{split} C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}}\left(q\right) &\leq & 2C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{\frac{p}{q}} \left(\frac{2q-p}{q-p}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \left[\left(\frac{p}{p-2}C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{p}\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} \right]^{1-\frac{p}{q}} \\ &\lesssim & C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{\frac{p}{q}\left(\frac{q-2}{p-2}\right)} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}} \lesssim C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}}, \end{split}$$

a significant improvement over the bound $O\left(\varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{p-2}}\right)$. Here we have used that if $p > \frac{6q}{q+4}$, then

$$\frac{p}{q}\left(\frac{q-2}{p-2}\right) < \frac{\frac{6q}{q-4}}{\frac{6q}{q-4}-2}\frac{q-2}{q} < \frac{3}{2}$$

as the function $x \mapsto \frac{x}{x-2}$ is decreasing when x > 2. Moreover, from (3.1.18) we also have

$$\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{\hat{b}}} \leq 2\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + 2\sqrt{\varepsilon}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} .$$

We can do the same for the dual testing functions $\mathbf{b}^* = \left\{ b_Q^* \right\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ and then altogether, provided $0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{4}$, we have both

$$\begin{split} 1 &\leq \left| \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \widehat{b}_{Q} d\sigma \right| \leq \left\| \widehat{b}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{q}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}}, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P} \ , \\ \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}} &\leq 2 \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} + 2 \sqrt{\varepsilon} \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \ , \end{split}$$

as well as

$$\begin{split} 1 &\leq \left| \frac{1}{|Q|_{\omega}} \int_{Q} \widehat{b^{*}}_{Q} d\omega \right| \leq \left\| \widehat{b^{*}}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{q}(\omega)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}} (p)^{\frac{3}{2}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}}, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P} \ , \\ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}^{*}}} \leq 2 \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + 2 \sqrt{\varepsilon} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \end{split}$$

We now use these estimates, together with the fact that (\mathcal{S}_{m-1}) holds, to obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{N}_{T} & \alpha \lesssim \left(C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}} \left(q \right) + C_{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}^{*}} \left(q \right) \right)^{3^{n}} \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\widehat{\mathbf{b}}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\} \\ & \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \left(p \right) \right)^{\frac{3}{2}3^{n}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1 - \frac{p}{q}}{p - 2}} \left\{ \left[\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} + \sqrt{\varepsilon} \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \right] + \left[\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\varepsilon} \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \right] + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\} \\ & \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \left(p \right) \right)^{\frac{3}{2}3^{n}} \left(\varepsilon^{-\frac{1 - \frac{p}{q}}{p - 2}} \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\} + \sqrt{\varepsilon} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1 - \frac{p}{q}}{p - 2}} \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \right) \end{split}$$

We can absorb the term $(C_{\mathbf{b}}(p) + C_{\mathbf{b}^*}(p))^{\frac{3}{2}3^n} \sqrt{\varepsilon} \varepsilon^{-\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}$ into the left hand side as before, by choosing

$$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{\Gamma} \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \left(p \right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \left(p \right) \right)^{\left(\frac{\frac{3}{2} 3^{n}}{\frac{1 - \frac{p}{q}}{p - 2} - \frac{1}{2}} \right)}$$

with Γ sufficiently large, depending only on the implied constant, since (3.1.20) gives $\frac{\frac{6}{p}-1}{2} < \frac{2}{q}$, and hence

$$\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1 - \frac{p}{q}}{p - 2} = \frac{p\left(1 + \frac{2}{q}\right) - 4}{2p - 4} > \frac{p\left(1 + \frac{\frac{6}{p} - 1}{2}\right) - 4}{2p - 4} = \frac{1}{4}.$$
(3.1.21)

Thus,

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(p\right) \right)^{\frac{3}{2}3^{n}(1+1)} \left\{ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha},*}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \right\}.$$

Here we have used that (3.1.21) implies $\frac{\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}}{\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2}} < 4\frac{1-\frac{p}{q}}{p-2} \le 1.$ So we finally have

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\left(p\right) + C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}\left(p\right)\right)^{3^{n+1}} \left\{\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha}\right\},\$$

which completes the proof of Proposition 3.1.7.

Thus we may assume for the proof of Theorem 3.1.5 given below that $p = \infty$ and that the testing functions are real-valued and satisfy

$$\operatorname{supp} b_Q \subset Q , \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P}, \qquad (3.1.22)$$

$$1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_Q b_Q d\mu \leq \left\| b_Q \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mu)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}}(\infty) < \infty, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P} .$$

3.1.8 Reverse Hölder control of children

Here we begin to further reduce the proof of Theorem 3.1.5 to the case of bounded real testing functions $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ having reverse Hölder control

$$\left|\frac{1}{|Q'|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q'} b_Q d\sigma\right| \ge c \left\|\mathbf{1}_{Q'} b_Q\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} > 0, \tag{3.1.23}$$

for all children $Q' \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)$ with $|Q'|_{\sigma} > 0$ and $Q \in \mathcal{P}$.

3.1.8.1 Control of averages over children

Lemma 3.1.8. Suppose that σ and ω are locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n . Assume that T^{α} is a standard α -fractional elliptic and gradient elliptic singular integral operator on \mathbb{R}^n , and set $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f = T^{\alpha}(f\sigma)$ for any smooth truncation of T^{α}_{σ} , so that T^{α}_{σ} is apriori bounded from $L^2(\sigma)$ to $L^2(\omega)$. Let $Q \in \mathcal{P}$ and let $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}(Q)$ be the best constant in the local inequality

$$\sqrt{\int_{Q'} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{Q} f \right) \right|^{2} d\omega} \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| f \right|^{2} d\sigma} , \qquad f \in L^{2} \left(\mathbf{1}_{Q} \sigma \right)$$

Suppose that b_Q is a real-valued function supported in Q such that

$$\begin{split} &1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q} b_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} \ ,\\ &\sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} \leq \mathfrak{T}^{b_{Q}}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} \ . \end{split}$$

Then for every $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2^{n+1}C_{\mathbf{b}}^3}$, there exists a real-valued function \tilde{b}_Q supported in Q such that

$$(1). \ 1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \widetilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq 2 \left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \right) C_{\mathbf{b}} ,$$

$$(2). \ \sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} \leq \left[\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{b_{Q}} (Q) + 2C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\frac{3}{4}} \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} (Q) \right] \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} ,$$

$$(3). \ 0 < \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq \frac{16C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\delta} \left| \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \widetilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma \right| , \qquad Q_{i} \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)$$

Proof. Let $0 < \delta < 1$ and fix $Q \in \mathcal{P}$. By assumption we have

$$1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q} b_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}}.$$

Let Q_i be the children of Q. We now define \tilde{b}_Q . First we note that the inequality

$$\left|\frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} b_Q d\sigma\right| < \frac{\delta}{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \left\|\mathbf{1}_{Q_i} b_Q\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)}$$
(3.1.24)

cannot hold for all Q_i , since otherwise we obtain the contradiction

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{2^{n}} \left| \int_{Q_{i}} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| < \frac{\delta}{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \sum_{i=1}^{2^{n}} |Q_{i}|_{\sigma} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} b_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \\ &\leq \frac{\delta}{C_{\mathbf{b}}} |Q|_{\sigma} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q} b_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \le \delta \left| \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| < \left| \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| \end{aligned}$$

If (3.1.24) holds for none of the Q_i , then we simply define $\tilde{b}_Q = b_Q$, and trivially all the conclusions of the Lemma 3.1.8 hold. If (3.1.24) holds for at least one of the children, say Q_{i_0} , then we define \tilde{b}_Q differently according to how large the $L^1(\sigma)$ -average $\frac{1}{|Q_{i_0}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i_0}} |b_Q| d\sigma$ is. In this case, define \tilde{G} to be the set of indices for which (3.1.24) holds and G the set of indices for which (3.1.24) fails. We define

$$\widetilde{b}_{Q} \equiv \sum_{i \in G} b_{Q} \mathbf{1}_{Q} + \sum_{i \in G_{0}} \delta \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} + \sum_{i \in G_{+}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| \, d\sigma \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}}$$

$$+ \sum_{i \in B_{-}} \left(p_{i} - n_{i} \left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta} \right) \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} + \sum_{i \in B_{+}} \left(\left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta} \right) p_{i} - n_{i} \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}}$$

where

$$\begin{split} G_{0} &\equiv \left\{ i \in \tilde{G} : \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| \, d\sigma = 0 \right\} \\ G_{+} &\equiv \left\{ i \in \tilde{G} : 0 < \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| \, d\sigma \le \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} \right\}, \\ B_{-} &\equiv \left\{ i \in \tilde{G} : \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| \, d\sigma > \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} \text{ and } \int_{Q_{i}} n_{i}d\sigma > \int_{Q_{i}} p_{i}d\sigma \right\}, \\ B_{+} &\equiv \left\{ i \in \tilde{G} : \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| \, d\sigma > \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} \text{ and } \int_{Q_{i}} p_{i}d\sigma \ge \int_{Q_{i}} n_{i}d\sigma \right\}. \end{split}$$

and p_i, n_i are the positive and negative parts of b_Q respectively on Q_i , i.e.

$$\mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}}(x) b_{Q}(x) = p_{i}(x) - n_{i}(x),$$

$$\mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}}(x) |b_{Q}(x)| = p_{i}(x) + n_{i}(x),$$

Now let us check the conclusions of the Lemma 3.1.8. For (1) we have

$$1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \tilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma + \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sum_{i \in B_{-}} \int_{Q_{i}} n_{i} \sqrt{C_{b} \delta} d\sigma - \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sum_{i \in B_{+}} \int_{Q_{i}} p_{i} \sqrt{C_{b} \delta} d\sigma$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \tilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma + \sqrt{C_{b} \delta} C_{b} \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sum_{i \in B_{-}} |Q_{i}|_{\sigma} \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \tilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma + C_{b}^{\frac{3}{2}} \sqrt{\delta}$$

and choosing δ small enough we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \widetilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)},$$

which in turn is bounded by

$$\sup_{Q_i \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_i} \widetilde{b}_{Q_i} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \le 2 \left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \right) C_{\mathbf{b}}$$

by taking the different cases on Q_i :

(a) For
$$i \in G_0$$
, $\left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_i} \widetilde{b}_{Q_i} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \delta$,

(b) For
$$i \in G_+$$
, $\left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_i} \widetilde{b}_{Q_i} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}}$,

(c) For
$$i \in B_{-} \cup B_{+}$$
, $\left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} \widetilde{b}_{Q_{i}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 2(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}})C_{\mathbf{b}}$.

This completes the proof for (1).

For (2), we have from Minkowski's inequality

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} &\leq \sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right) \right|^{2} d\omega} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{b_{Q}} \left(Q \right) + \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma} \\ &= \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{b_{Q}} \left(Q \right) + \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sum_{Q_{i} \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma} \end{split}$$

and this last term is bounded by:

$$\left(\sum_{i\in G} + \sum_{i\in G_0} + \sum_{i\in G_+} + \sum_{i\in B_-} + \sum_{i\in B_+}\right)\sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q_i}\left|\widetilde{b}_Q - b_Q\right|^2}d\sigma$$

and since we have:

(a) for $i\in G,$ $\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q_{i}}\left|\widetilde{b}_{Q}-b_{Q}\right|^{2}d\sigma=0$

(b) for $i \in G_0$,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma &\leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \left(\int_{Q_{i}} \delta^{2} d\sigma + \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}|^{2} d\sigma \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \left(\delta^{2} |Q_{i}|_{\sigma} + C_{\mathbf{b}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| d\sigma \right) = \delta^{2} \frac{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \end{aligned}$$

by the accretivity of b_Q and the definition of G_0 .

(c) for $i \in G_+$,

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega &= \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| \left(\frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| b_{Q} \right| d\sigma \right) - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma \\ &\leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \left(\int_{Q_{i}} \left| \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| b_{Q} \right| d\sigma \right|^{2} d\sigma + \int_{Q_{i}} \left| b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \left(\int_{Q_{i}} C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta d\sigma + C_{\mathbf{b}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| b_{Q} \right| d\sigma \right) \\ &\leq \left(C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta + C_{\mathbf{b}} \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta} \right) \frac{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \leq 2C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \delta^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}}{|Q|_{\sigma}}. \end{split}$$

(d) for
$$i \in B_-$$
,

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma &= \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta n_{i}|^{2} \, d\sigma = C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |n_{i}|^{2} \, d\sigma \\ &\leq C_{\mathbf{b}}^{3} \delta \frac{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}}{|Q|_{\sigma}}. \end{split}$$

(e) and for $i \in B_+$, the same estimate as in the previous case,

we obtain

$$\sqrt{\frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right|^{2} d\omega} \leq \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{b_{Q}} \left(Q \right) + 2 \cdot 2^{n} C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\frac{3}{4}} \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \ .$$

where the dimensional constant comes from

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{|Q|\sigma}} \sum_{i=1}^{2^n} \sqrt{|Q_i|\sigma} \le 2^n.$$

Now we are left with verifying (3). Note that

(a) for $i \in G$, the inequality (3.1.24) does not hold and as $\widetilde{b}_Q = b_Q$ there, immediately we

obtain

$$\left\|\mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}}\widetilde{b}_{Q}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq \left|\frac{C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\delta}\int_{Q_{i}}\widetilde{b}_{Q}d\sigma\right|$$

(b) for
$$i \in G_0 \cup G_+$$
,
$$\frac{\left\|\mathbf{1}_{Q_i} \tilde{b}_Q\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)}}{\left|\frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} \tilde{b}_Q d\sigma\right|} = 1 < \frac{C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\delta}$$

(c) for $i \in B_{-}$,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\left\|\mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}}\tilde{b}_{Q}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)}}{\left|\frac{1}{\left|Q_{i}\right|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q_{i}}\tilde{b}_{Q}d\sigma\right|} &\leq \frac{\left(1+\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta}\right)C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\left|\frac{1}{\left|Q_{i}\right|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q_{i}}\left[p_{i}-n_{i}\left(1+\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta}\right)\right]d\sigma\right|} \\ &\leq \frac{\left(1+\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta}\right)C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\left|\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta}\frac{1}{\left|Q_{i}\right|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q_{i}}n_{i}d\sigma\right|} \\ &\leq \frac{2\left(1+\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta}\right)C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta}\frac{1}{\left|Q_{i}\right|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q_{i}}\left|b_{Q}\right|d\sigma} \\ &\leq \frac{4C_{\mathbf{b}}}{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} = \frac{4}{\delta} \;, \end{split}$$

as, by taking $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{4C_{\mathbf{b}}^3}$, we have $1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} < 2$.

(d) and for $i \in B_+$ similarly as in the previous case.

In order to obtain the inequalities for \tilde{b}_Q in the conclusion of Lemma 3.1.8, we simply multiply the above function \tilde{b}_Q by a factor of 2.

Finally, if $|b_Q| \ge c_1 > 0$, we easily see that $|\tilde{b}_Q| \ge |b_Q| \ge c_1 > 0$ as well. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.1.8.

3.1.8.2 Control of averages in coronas

Let \mathcal{D}_Q be the grid of dyadic subcubes of Q. In the construction of the triple corona below, we will need to repeat the construction in the previous subsubsection for a subdecomposition $\{Q_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of dyadic subcubes $Q_i \in \mathcal{D}_Q$ of a cube Q. Define the corona corresponding to the subdecomposition $\{Q_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ by

$$\mathcal{C}_Q \equiv \mathcal{D}_Q \backslash \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{D}_{Q_i}$$

Lemma 3.1.9. Suppose that σ and ω are locally finite positive Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n . Assume that T^{α} is a standard α -fractional elliptic and gradient elliptic singular integral operator on \mathbb{R}^n , and set $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f = T^{\alpha}(f\sigma)$ for any smooth truncation of T^{α}_{σ} , so that T^{α}_{σ} is a priori bounded from $L^2(\sigma)$ to $L^2(\omega)$. Let $Q \in \mathcal{P}$ and let $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}(Q)$ be the best constant in the local inequality

$$\sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{Q} f \right) \right|^{2} d\omega} \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \sqrt{\int_{Q} \left| f \right|^{2} d\sigma} , \qquad f \in L^{2} \left(\mathbf{1}_{Q} \sigma \right).$$

Let $\{Q_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{D}_Q$ be a collection of pairwise disjoint dyadic subcubes of Q. Suppose that b_Q is a real-valued function supported in Q such that

$$1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q'|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q'} b_Q d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q'} b_Q \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} , \qquad Q' \in \mathcal{C}_Q ,$$
$$\sqrt{\int_Q \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_Q \right|^2 d\omega} \leq \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{b_Q} (Q) \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} .$$

Then for every $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{4C_{\mathbf{b}}^3}$, there exists a real-valued function \widetilde{b}_Q supported in Q such that

$$\begin{split} &1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q'|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q'} \widetilde{b}_Q d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q'} \widetilde{b}_Q \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq 2 \left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \right) C_{\mathbf{b}} , \qquad Q' \in \mathcal{C}_Q , \\ &\sqrt{\int_Q \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \widetilde{b}_Q \right|^2 d\omega} \leq \left[2 \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{b_Q} \left(Q \right) + 4 C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(Q \right) \right] \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} , \\ &0 < \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_i} \widetilde{b}_Q \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq \frac{16 C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\delta} \left| \frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} \widetilde{b}_Q d\sigma \right| , \qquad 1 \leq i < \infty. \end{split}$$

Moreover, if $|b_Q| \ge c_1 > 0$, then we may take $|\tilde{b}_Q| \ge c_1$ as well.

The additional gain in the lemma is in the final line that controls the degeneracy of b_Q at the 'bottom' of the corona C_Q by establishing a reverse Hölder control. Note that if we combine this control with the accretivity control in the corona C_Q , namely

$$\left\|\mathbf{1}_{Q'}\widetilde{b}_{Q}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq 2\left(1+\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}}\right)C_{\mathbf{b}} \leq 2\left(1+\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}}\right)C_{\mathbf{b}}\frac{1}{|Q'|_{\sigma}}\int_{Q'}\widetilde{b}_{Q}d\sigma,$$

we obtain reverse Hölder control throughout the entire collection $C_Q \cup \{Q_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$:

$$\left\|\mathbf{1}_{I}\widetilde{b}_{Q'}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\delta,\mathbf{b}}\left|\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}}\int_{I}\widetilde{b}_{Q'}d\sigma\right|, \qquad I \in \mathfrak{C}\left(Q'\right), Q' \in \mathcal{C}_{Q}.$$

This has the crucial consequence that the martingale and dual martingale differences $\triangle_{Q'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$ and $\Box_{Q'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$ associated with these functions as defined in (3.1.38), satisfy

$$\left| \triangle_{Q'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} h \right|, \left| \Box_{Q'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} h \right| \le C_{\delta, \mathbf{b}} \sum_{I \in \mathfrak{C}(Q')} \left(\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_{I} |h| \, d\sigma + \frac{1}{|Q'|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q'} |h| \, d\sigma \right) \mathbf{1}_{I} \,. \tag{3.1.25}$$

However, the defect in this lemma is that we lose the weak testing condition for \tilde{b}_Q in the corona even if we had assumed it at the outset for b_Q .

Proof. The proof of Lemma 3.1.9 is similar to that of the Lemma 3.1.8. Indeed, we define

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{b}_{Q} &\equiv \sum_{i \in G_{0}} \delta \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} + \sum_{i \in G_{+}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} |b_{Q}| \, d\sigma \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} \\ &+ \sum_{i \in B_{-}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left[p_{i} - n_{i} \left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta} \right) \right] d\sigma \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} \\ &+ \sum_{i \in B_{+}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \left[\left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} \delta} \right) p_{i} - n_{i} \right] d\sigma \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} \\ &+ b_{Q} \mathbf{1}_{Q \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} Q_{i}} , \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} G_0 &\equiv \left\{ i: \frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} \left| b_Q \right| d\sigma = 0 \right\}, \\ G_+ &\equiv \left\{ i: 0 < \frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} \left| b_Q \right| d\sigma \le \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} \right\}, \\ B_- &\equiv \left\{ i: \frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} \left| b_Q \right| d\sigma > \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} \text{ and } \int_{Q_i} n_i d\sigma > \int_{Q_i} p_i d\sigma \right\}, \\ B_+ &\equiv \left\{ i: \frac{1}{|Q_i|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_i} \left| b_Q \right| d\sigma > \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}\delta} \text{ and } \int_{Q_i} p_i d\sigma \ge \int_{Q_i} n_i d\sigma \right\}. \end{split}$$

and p_i , n_i the positive and negative parts of b_Q on each Q_i . The proof of Lemma 3.1.8 can be applied verbatim. We emphasise only that when estimating the testing condition, we need the bound

$$\int_{Q} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma \leq C\left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\right) \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |Q_{i}|_{\sigma} \leq C\left(C_{\mathbf{b}}\right) \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} |Q|_{\sigma}.$$

Remark 3.1.10. The estimate $\int_{Q} \left| \widetilde{b}_{Q} - b_{Q} \right|^{2} d\sigma \leq C(C_{\mathbf{b}}) \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} |Q_{i}|_{\sigma}$ in the last line of the above proof is of course too large in general to be dominated by a fixed multiple of $|Q'|_{\sigma}$

for $Q' \in C_Q$, and this is the reason we have no control of weak testing for \tilde{b}_Q in the rest of the corona even if we assume weak testing for b_Q in the corona C_Q . This defect is addressed in the next subsection below.

3.1.9 Three corona decompositions

We will use multiple corona constructions, namely a Calderón-Zygmund decomposition, an accretive/testing decomposition, and an energy decomposition, in order to reduce matters to the stopping form, which is treated in Section 3.6 by adapting the bottom/up stopping time and recursion of M. Lacey in [26]. We will then iterate these corona decompositions into a single corona decomposition, which we refer to as the *triple corona*. More precisely, we iterate the first generation of common stopping times with an infusion of the reverse Hölder condition on children, followed by another iteration of the first generation of weak testing stopping times. Recall that we must show the bilinear inequality

$$\left| \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} f \right) g d\omega \right| \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}, \quad f \in L^{2}\left(\sigma\right) \text{ and } g \in L^{2}\left(\omega\right).$$

3.1.9.1 The Calderón-Zygmund corona decomposition

In this section, we introduce the Calderón-Zygmund stopping times \mathcal{F} for a function $\phi \in L^2(\mu)$ relative to a cube S_0 and a positive constant $C_0 \geq 4$. Let $\mathcal{F} = \{F\}_{F \in \mathcal{F}}$ be the collection of Calderón-Zygmund stopping cubes for ϕ defined so that $F \subset S_0, S_0 \in \mathcal{F}$, and

for all $F \in \mathcal{F}$ with $F \subsetneqq S_0$ we have

$$\frac{1}{|F|_{\mu}} \int_{F} |\phi| \, d\mu > C_{0} \frac{1}{|\pi_{\mathcal{F}}F|_{\mu}} \int_{F} |\phi| \, d\mu;$$

$$\frac{1}{|F'|_{\mu}} \int_{F'} |\phi| \, d\mu \leq C_{0} \frac{1}{|\pi_{\mathcal{F}}F|_{\mu}} \int_{F} |\phi| \, d\mu \quad \text{for } F \subsetneqq F' \subset \pi_{\mathcal{F}}F.$$

We denote by $\pi_{\mathcal{F}}F$ be the smallest member of \mathcal{F} that *strictly* contains F. For a cube $I \in \mathcal{D}$ let $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}I$ be the \mathcal{D} -parent of I in the grid \mathcal{D} . For $F, F' \in \mathcal{F}$, we say that F' is an \mathcal{F} -child of Fif $\pi_{\mathcal{F}}(F') = F$ (it could be that $F = \pi_{\mathcal{D}}F'$), and we denote by $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F)$ the set of \mathcal{F} -children of F. We call $\pi_{\mathcal{F}}(F')$ the \mathcal{F} -parent of $F' \in \mathcal{F}$.

To achieve the construction above we use the following definition.

Definition 3.1.11. Let $C_0 \ge 4$. Given a dyadic grid \mathcal{D} and a cube $S_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, define $\mathcal{S}(S_0)$ to be the maximal \mathcal{D} -subcubes $I \subset S_0$ such that

$$\frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int_{I} |\phi| \, d\mu > C_0 \frac{1}{|S_0|_{\mu}} \int_{S_0} |\phi| \, d\mu \, \, ,$$

and then define the Calderón-Zygmund stopping cubes of S_0 to be the collection

$$\mathcal{F} = \{S_0\} \cup \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{S}_m$$

where $S_0 = S(S_0)$ and $S_{m+1} = \bigcup_{S \in S_m} S(S)$ for $m \ge 0$.

Define the corona of F by

$$\mathcal{C}_{F} \equiv \left\{ F' \in \mathcal{D} : F \supset F' \supseteq H \text{ for some } H \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \right\}.$$

The stopping cubes \mathcal{F} above satisfy a Carleson condition:

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}: \ F \subset \Omega} |F|_{\mu} \le C \, |\Omega|_{\mu} \ , \quad \text{ for all open sets } \Omega.$$

Indeed,

$$\sum_{F' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F)} |F'|_{\mu} \leq \sum_{F' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F)} \frac{\int_{F'} |\phi| \, d\mu}{C_0 \frac{1}{|F|_{\mu}} \int_F |\phi| \, d\mu} \leq \frac{1}{C_0} |F|,$$

and standard arguments now complete the proof of the Carleson condition.

We emphasize that accretive functions b play no role in the Calderón-Zygmund corona decomposition.

3.1.9.2 The accretive/testing corona decomposition

We use a corona construction modelled after that of Hytönen and Martikainen [24], that delivers a *weak corona testing condition* that coincides with the testing condition itself **only** at the tops of the coronas. This corona decomposition is developed to optimize the choice of a new family of real valued testing functions $\{\hat{b}_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ taken from the vector $\mathbf{b} \equiv \{b_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$ so that we have

- 1. the telescoping property at our disposal in each accretive corona,
- 2. a weak corona testing condition remains in force for the new testing functions \hat{b}_Q that coincides with the testing condition at the tops of the coronas,
- 3. the tops of the coronas, i.e. the stopping cubes, enjoy a Carleson condition.

We will henceforth refer to the old family as the *original* family, and denote it by $\left\{b_Q^{orig}\right\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$. The original family will reappear later in helping to estimate the nearby form. Let σ and ω be locally finite Borel measures on \mathbb{R}^n . We assume that the vector of 'testing functions' $\mathbf{b} \equiv \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a ∞ -weakly σ -accretive family, i.e. for $Q \in \mathcal{D}$

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{supp} b_Q \subset Q, \\ & 0 < c_{\mathbf{b}} \leq \frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_Q b_Q d\sigma \leq \big| \big| b_Q \big| \big|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} < \infty \end{split}$$

and also that $\mathbf{b}^* \equiv \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a ∞ -weakly ω -accretive family, and we assume in addition the testing conditions

$$\int_{Q} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\mathbf{1}_{Q} b_{Q} \right) \right|^{2} d\omega \leq \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} \right)^{2} |Q|_{\sigma} , \quad \text{for all cubes } Q,$$
$$\int_{Q} \left| T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} \left(\mathbf{1}_{Q} b_{Q}^{*} \right) \right|^{2} d\sigma \leq \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \right)^{2} |Q|_{\omega} , \quad \text{for all cubes } Q.$$

Definition 3.1.12. Given a cube S_0 , define $\mathcal{S}(S_0)$ to be the maximal subcubes $I \subset S_0$ such that satisfy one of the following

(a).
$$\left| \frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}} \int_{I} b_{S_{0}} d\sigma \right| < \gamma, \text{ or}$$

(b). $\int_{I} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{S_{0}} \right) \right|^{2} d\omega > \Gamma \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} \right)^{2} |I|_{\sigma}$

where the positive constants γ, Γ satisfy $0 < \gamma < 1 < \Gamma < \infty$. Then define the **b**-accretive stopping cubes of S_0 to be the collection

$$\mathcal{F} = \{S_0\} \cup \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{S}_m$$

where $S_0 = S(S_0)$ and $S_{m+1} = \bigcup_{S \in S_m} S(S)$ for $m \ge 0$.

For $\varepsilon > 0$ chosen small enough depending on p > 2, the **b**-accretive stopping cubes satisfy

a σ -Carleson condition relative to the measure σ , and the new testing functions $\left\{\widetilde{b}_Q\right\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}}$, defined by $\widetilde{b}_S = \mathbf{1}_S b_{S_0}$ for $S \in \mathcal{C}_{S_0}$, satisfy *weak* testing inequalities. The following lemma is essentially in [24], but we include a proof for completeness.

Lemma 3.1.13. For γ small enough and Γ large enough, we have the following:

(1). For every open set Ω we have we have the inequality,

$$\sum_{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset \Omega} |S|_{\sigma} \le C \, |\Omega|_{\sigma} \quad . \tag{3.1.26}$$

(2). For every cube $S \in \mathcal{C}_{S_0}$ we have the weak corona testing inequality,

$$\int_{S} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{S_0} \right|^2 d\omega \le C \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} \right)^2 |S|_{\sigma} \quad . \tag{3.1.27}$$

Proof. Inequality (3.1.27) is immediate from the definition of \mathcal{F} in the definition 3.1.12. We now address the Carleson condition (3.1.26). A standard argument reduces matters to the case where Ω is a cube $Q \in \mathcal{F}$ with $|Q|_{\sigma} > 0$. It suffices to consider each of the two stopping criteria separately. We first address the stopping condition $\left|\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_{I} b_{S_0} d\sigma\right| < \gamma$. Throughout this proof we will denote the union of these children $\mathcal{S}(Q)$ of Q by $E(Q) \equiv \bigcup_{S \in \mathcal{S}(Q)} S$. Then we have

$$\left| \int_{E(Q)} b_Q d\sigma \right| \le \sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}(Q)} \left| \int_S b_Q d\sigma \right| < \gamma \sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}(Q)} |S|_{\sigma} \le \gamma |Q|_{\sigma} ,$$

which together with our hypotheses on b_Q gives

$$\begin{split} |Q|_{\sigma} &\leq \left| \int_{Q} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| \leq \left| \int_{E(Q)} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| + \left| \int_{Q \setminus E(Q)} b_{Q} d\sigma \right| \\ &\leq \gamma |Q|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{\int_{Q \setminus E(Q)} |b_{Q}|^{2} d\sigma} \sqrt{|Q \setminus E(Q)|_{\sigma}} \\ &\leq \gamma |Q|_{\sigma} + C_{\mathbf{b}} \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|Q \setminus E(Q)|_{\sigma}}. \end{split}$$

Rearranging the inequality yields

$$(1 - \gamma) |Q|_{\sigma} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|Q \setminus E(Q)|_{\sigma}}$$

or

$$\frac{\left(1-\gamma\right)^{2}}{C_{\mathbf{b}}^{2}}\left|Q\right|_{\sigma} \leq \left|Q \setminus E\left(Q\right)\right|_{\sigma} ,$$

which in turn gives

$$\begin{split} \sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}(Q)} |S|_{\sigma} &= |E(Q)| = |Q|_{\sigma} - |Q \setminus E(Q)|_{\sigma} \\ &\leq |Q|_{\sigma} - \frac{(1-\gamma)^2}{C_{\mathbf{b}}^2} |Q|_{\sigma} = \left(1 - \frac{(1-\gamma)^2}{C_{\mathbf{b}}^2}\right) |Q|_{\sigma} \equiv \beta |Q|_{\sigma} \ , \end{split}$$

where $0 < \beta < 1$ since $1 \le C_{\mathbf{b}}$. If we now iterate this inequality, we obtain for each $k \ge 1$,

$$\sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset Q \\ \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{(k)}(S) = Q}} |S|_{\sigma} = \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset Q \\ \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{(k-1)}(S) = Q}} \sum_{\substack{S' \in \mathcal{S}(S) \\ \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{(k-1)}(S) = Q}} |S'|_{\sigma} \leq \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset Q \\ \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{(k-1)}(S) = Q}} \beta^{k-1} |S|_{\sigma} \leq \beta^{k} |Q|_{\sigma}$$

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset Q \\ \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{(1)}(S) = Q}} \beta^{k-1} |S|_{\sigma} \leq \beta^{k} |Q|_{\sigma}$$

Finally then

$$\sum_{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset Q} |S|_{\sigma} \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F}: \ S \subset Q \\ \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{(k)}(S) = Q}} |S|_{\sigma} \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \beta^k |Q|_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{1-\beta} |Q|_{\sigma} = \frac{C_{\mathbf{b}}^2}{\left(1-\gamma\right)^2} |Q|_{\sigma} \,.$$

Now we turn to the second stopping criterion $\int_{I} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{S_0} \right) \right|^2 d\omega > \Gamma \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} \right)^2 |I|_{\sigma}$. We have

$$\sum_{S \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(S_0)} |S|_{\sigma} \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}}\right)^2} \sum_{S \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(S_0)} \int_{S} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{S_0} \right) \right|^2 d\omega$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}}\right)^2} \int_{S_0} \left| T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{S_0} \right) \right|^2 d\omega \leq \frac{1}{\Gamma} |S_0|_{\sigma}.$$

Iterating this inequality gives

$$\sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F} \\ S \subset S_0}} |S|_{\sigma} \le \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\Gamma^k} |S_0|_{\sigma} = \frac{\Gamma}{\Gamma - 1} |S_0|_{\sigma},$$
and then

$$\sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F} \\ S \subseteq \Omega}} |S|_{\sigma} = \sum_{\substack{\text{maximal } S_0 \in \mathcal{F} \\ S_0 \subseteq \Omega}} \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathcal{F} \\ S \subseteq S_0}} |S|_{\sigma} \le \frac{\Gamma}{\Gamma - 1} \sum_{\substack{\text{maximal } S_0 \in \mathcal{F} \\ S_0 \subseteq \Omega}} |S_0|_{\sigma} = \frac{\Gamma}{\Gamma - 1} |\Omega|_{\sigma} .$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 3.1.13.

3.1.9.3 The energy corona decompositions

Given a weight pair (σ, ω) , we construct an energy corona decomposition for σ and an energy corona decomposition for ω , that uniformize estimates (c.f. [38], [28], [48] and [49]). In order to define these constructions, we recall that the energy condition constant \mathcal{E}_2^{α} is given by

$$(\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha})^2 \equiv \sup_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{P} \\ Q = \bigcup J_r}} \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J_r, \mathbf{1}_Q \sigma \right)}{|J_r|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \left\| x - m_{J_r} \right\|_{L^2 \left(\mathbf{1}_{J_r} \omega \right)}^2,$$

where $\dot{\cup}J_r$ is an arbitrary subdecomposition of Q into cubes $J_r \in \mathcal{P}$ and interchanging the roles of σ and ω we have the constant $\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$. Also recall that $\mathfrak{E}_2^{\alpha} = \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha} + \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha,*}$. In the next definition we restrict the cubes Q to a dyadic grid \mathcal{D} , but keep the subcubes J_r unrestricted.

Definition 3.1.14. Given a dyadic grid \mathcal{D} and a cube $S_0 \in \mathcal{D}$, define $\mathcal{S}(S_0)$ to be the maximal \mathcal{D} -subcubes $I \subset S_0$ such that

$$\sup_{I\supset\dot{\cup}J_{r}}\sum_{r=1}^{\infty}\left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J_{r},\mathbf{1}_{I}\sigma\right)}{|J_{r}|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2}\left\|x-m_{J_{r}}\right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J_{r}}\omega\right)}^{2}\geq C_{en}\left[\left(\mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha}\right)^{2}+\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}\right]\left|I\right|_{\sigma},\qquad(3.1.28)$$

where the cubes $J_r \in \mathcal{P}$ are pairwise disjoint in I, \mathfrak{E}_2^{α} is the energy condition constant, and C_{en} is a sufficiently large positive constant depending only on α . Then define the σ -energy

stopping cubes of S_0 to be the collection

$$\mathcal{F} = \{S_0\} \cup \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{S}_m$$

where $S_0 = S(S_0)$ and $S_{m+1} = \bigcup_{S \in S_m} S(S)$ for $m \ge 0$.

We now claim that from the energy condition $\mathfrak{E}_2^{\alpha} < \infty$, we obtain the σ -Carleson estimate,

$$\sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}: \ S \subset I} |S|_{\sigma} \le 2 |I|_{\sigma}, \qquad I \in \mathcal{D}.$$
(3.1.29)

Indeed, for any $S_1 \in \mathcal{F}$ we have

$$\sum_{S \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(S_1)} |S|_{\sigma} \leq \frac{1}{C_{en} \left(\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha} + \left(\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha}\right)^2\right)} \sum_{S \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(S_1)} \sup_{S \supset \bigcup J_r} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}(J_r, \mathbf{1}_S \sigma)}{|J_r|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^2 \|x - m_{J_r}\|_{L^2(\mathbf{1}_{J_r}\omega)}^2$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{C_{en} \left(\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha}\right)^2} \left(\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha}\right)^2 |S_1|_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{C_{en}} |S_1|_{\sigma} \quad ,$$

upon noting that the union of the subdecompositions $\dot{\cup}J_r \subset S$ over $S \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(S_1)$ is a subdecomposition of S_1 , and the proof of the Carleson estimate is now finished by iteration in the standard way.

Finally, we record the reason for introducing energy stopping times. If

$$\mathbf{X}_{\alpha} \left(\mathcal{C}_{S} \right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{S}} \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \sup_{I \supset \bigcup J_{r}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J_{r}, \mathbf{1}_{I} \sigma \right)}{|J_{r}|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{J_{r}} \right\|_{L^{2} \left(\mathbf{1}_{J_{r}} \omega \right)}^{2}$$
(3.1.30)

is (the square of) the α -stopping energy of the weight pair (σ, ω) with respect to the corona

 \mathcal{C}_S , then we have the stopping energy bounds

$$\mathbf{X}_{\alpha}\left(\mathcal{C}_{S}\right) \leq \sqrt{C_{en}}\sqrt{\left(\mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha}\right)^{2} + \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}, \qquad S \in \mathcal{F},$$

$$(3.1.31)$$

where \mathfrak{A}_2^{α} and the energy constant \mathfrak{E}_2^{α} are controlled by the assumptions in Theorem 3.1.5.

3.1.10 Iterated coronas and general stopping data

We will use a construction that permits *iteration* of the above three corona decompositions by combining Definitions 3.1.11, 3.1.12 and 3.1.14 into a single stopping condition. However, there is one remaining difficulty with the triple corona constructed in this way, namely if a stopping cube $I \in \mathcal{A}$ is a child of a cube Q in the corona \mathcal{C}_A , then the modulus of the average $\left|\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_I b_Q d\sigma\right|$ of b_Q on I may be far smaller than the sup norm of $|b_Q|$ on the child I, indeed it may be that $\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_I b_Q d\sigma = 0$. This of course destroys any reasonable estimation of the martingale and dual martingale differences $\triangle_Q^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$ and $\Box_Q^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$ used in the proof of Theorem 3.1.5, and so we will use Lemma 3.1.9 on the function b_A to obtain a new function \tilde{b}_A for which this problem is circumvented at the 'bottom' of the corona, i.e. for those $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$. We then refer to the stopping times $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ as 'shadow' stopping times since we have lost control of the weak testing condition relative to the new function \tilde{b}_A . Thus we must redo the weak testing stopping times for the new function \tilde{b}_A , but also stopping if we hit one of the shadow stopping times. Here are the details.

Definition 3.1.15. Let $C_0 \ge 4$, $0 < \gamma < 1$ and $1 < \Gamma < \infty$. Suppose that $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ is an ∞ -weakly σ -accretive family on \mathbb{R}^n . Given a dyadic grid \mathcal{D} and a cube $Q \in \mathcal{D}$, define the collection of 'shadow' stopping times $\mathcal{S}_{shadow}(Q)$ to be the maximal \mathcal{D} -subcubes $I \subset Q$ such that one of the following holds: *(a)*.

$$\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_{I} |f| \, d\sigma > C_0 \frac{1}{|Q|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q} |f| \, d\sigma \ ,$$

(b).

$$\left|\frac{1}{|I|_{\mu}}\int_{I}b_{Q}d\sigma\right| < \gamma \ or \ \int_{I}\left|T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{Q}\right)\right|^{2}d\omega > \Gamma\left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{2}|I|_{\sigma} \ ,$$

(c).

$$\sup_{I\supset \bigcup J_r} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J_r,\sigma\right)}{|J_r|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \left\| x - m_{J_r} \right\|_{L^2\left(\mathbf{1}_{J_r}\omega\right)}^2 \ge C_{en} \left[\left(\mathfrak{E}_2^{\alpha}\right)^2 + \mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha} \right] \ |I|_{\sigma} \ .$$

Now we apply Lemma 3.1.9 to the function b_Q with $S_{shadow}(Q) \equiv \{Q_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ to obtain a new function \tilde{b}_Q satisfying the properties

$$\begin{split} \sup \widetilde{b}_{Q} \subset Q , \qquad (3.1.32) \\ 1 \leq \frac{1}{|Q'|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q'} \widetilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q'} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq 2 \left(1 + \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \right) C_{\mathbf{b}} , \qquad Q' \in \mathcal{C}_{Q} , \\ \sqrt{\int_{Q} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{Q}|^{2} d\omega} \leq \left[2 \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}}(Q) + 4 C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \delta^{\frac{1}{4}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}(Q) \right] \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} , \\ \left\| \mathbf{1}_{Q_{i}} \widetilde{b}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq \frac{16 C_{\mathbf{b}}}{\delta} \left| \frac{1}{|Q_{i}|_{\sigma}} \int_{Q_{i}} \widetilde{b}_{Q} d\sigma \right| , \qquad 1 \leq i < \infty. \end{split}$$

Note that each of the functions $\tilde{b}_{Q'} \equiv \mathbf{1}_{Q'}\tilde{b}_Q$, for $Q' \in \mathcal{C}_Q$, now satisfies the crucial reverse Hölder property

$$\left\|\mathbf{1}_{I}\widetilde{b}_{Q'}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\sigma)} \leq C_{\delta,\mathbf{b}}\left|\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}}\int_{I}\widetilde{b}_{Q'}d\sigma\right|, \quad \text{for all } I \in \mathfrak{C}\left(Q'\right), \ Q' \in \mathcal{C}_{Q}.$$

Indeed, if I equals one of the Q_i then the reverse Hölder condition in the last line of (3.1.32) applies, while if $I \in C_Q$ then the accretivity in the second line of (3.1.32) applies. Since we have lost the weak testing condition in the corona for this new function b_Q , the next step is to run again the weak testing construction of stopping times, but this time starting with the new function \tilde{b}_Q , and also stopping if we hit one of the 'shadow' stopping times Q_i . Here is the new stopping criterion.

Definition 3.1.16. Let $C_0 \ge 4$ and $1 < \Gamma < \infty$. Let $S_{shadow}(Q) \equiv \{Q_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ be as in Definition 3.1.15. Define $S_{iterated}(Q)$ to be the maximal \mathcal{D} -subcubes $I \subset Q$ such that either

$$\int_{I} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\widetilde{b}_{Q} \right) \right|^{2} d\omega > \Gamma \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\widetilde{\mathbf{b}}}_{T^{\alpha}} \right)^{2} |I|_{\sigma} ,$$

or

$$I = Q_i \text{ for some } 1 \leq i < \infty.$$

Thus for each cube Q we have now constructed *iterated stopping children* $S_{iterated}(Q)$ by first constructing shadow stopping times $S_{shadow}(Q)$ using one step of the triple corona construction, then modifying the testing function to have reverse Hölder controlled children, and finally running again the weak testing stopping time construction to get $S_{iterated}(Q)$. These iterated stopping times $S_{iterated}(Q)$ have control of CZ averages of f and energy control of σ and ω , simply because these controls were achieved in the shadow construction, and were unaffected by either the application of Lemma 3.1.9 or the rerunning of the weak testing stopping criterion for \tilde{b}_Q . And of course we now have weak testing within the corona determined by Q and $S_{iterated}(Q)$, and we also have the crucial reverse Hölder condition on all the children of cubes in the corona. With all of this in hand, here then is the definition of the construction of iterated coronas.

Definition 3.1.17. Let $C_0 \ge 4$, $0 < \gamma < 1$ and $1 < \Gamma < \infty$. Suppose that $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{P}}$ is

an ∞ -weakly σ -accretive family on \mathbb{R}^n . Given a dyadic grid \mathcal{D} and a cube S_0 in \mathcal{D} , define the iterated stopping cubes of S_0 to be the collection

$$\mathcal{F} = \{S_0\} \cup \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{S}_m$$

where $S_0 = S_{iterated}(S_0)$ and $S_{m+1} = \bigcup_{S \in S_m} S_{iterated}(S)$ for $m \ge 0$, and where $S_{iterated}(Q)$ is defined in Definition 3.1.16.

It is useful to append to the notion of stopping times S in the above σ -iterated coronal decomposition a positive constant A_0 and an additional structure α_S called stopping bounds for a function f. We will refer to the resulting triple $(A_0, \mathcal{F}, \alpha_F)$ as constituting stopping data for f. If \mathcal{F} is a grid, we define $F' \prec F$ if $F' \subsetneq F$ and $F', F \in \mathcal{F}$. Recall that $\pi_{\mathcal{F}}F'$ is the smallest $F \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $F' \prec F$.

Suppose we are given a positive constant $A_0 \ge 4$, a subset \mathcal{F} of the dyadic grid \mathcal{D} (called the stopping times), and a corresponding sequence $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}} \equiv \{\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)\}_{F \in \mathcal{F}}$ of nonnegative numbers $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \ge 0$ (called the stopping bounds). Let $(\mathcal{F}, \prec, \pi_{\mathcal{F}})$ be the tree structure on \mathcal{F} inherited from \mathcal{D} , and for each $F \in \mathcal{F}$ denote by $\mathcal{C}_F = \{I \in \mathcal{D} : \pi_{\mathcal{F}}I = F\}$ the corona associated with F:

$$\mathcal{C}_F = \{ I \in \mathcal{D} : I \subset F \text{ and } I \not\subset F' \text{ for any } F' \prec F \}.$$

Definition 3.1.18. We say the triple $(A_0, \mathcal{F}, \alpha_{\mathcal{F}})$ constitutes stopping data for a function $f \in L^1_{loc}(\sigma)$ if

- (1). $E_{I}^{\sigma}|f| \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)$ for all $I \in \mathcal{C}_{F}$ and $F \in \mathcal{F}$,
- (2). $\sum_{F' \prec F} |F'|_{\sigma} \leq A_0 |F|_{\sigma}$ for all $F \in \mathcal{F}$,

(3).
$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}} (F)^2 |F|_{\sigma} \leq A_0^2 ||f||_{L^2(\sigma)}^2$$
,

(4).
$$\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F')$$
 whenever $F', F \in \mathcal{F}$ with $F' \subset F$.

Property (1) says that $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)$ bounds the averages of f in the corona \mathcal{C}_F , and property (2) says that the cubes at the tops of the coronas satisfy a Carleson condition relative to the weight σ . Note that a standard 'maximal cube' argument extends the Carleson condition in property (2) to the inequality

$$\sum_{F' \in \mathcal{F}: \ F' \subset A} |F'|_{\sigma} \le A_0 |A|_{\sigma} \text{ for all open sets } A \subset \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(3.1.33)

Property (3) is the quasi-orthogonality condition that says the sequence of functions

 $\{\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \mathbf{1}_{F}\}_{F \in \mathcal{F}}$ is in the vector-valued space $L^{2}(\ell^{2}; \sigma)$ with control and is often referred to as a Carleson embedding theorem, and property (4) says that the control on stopping data is nondecreasing on the stopping tree \mathcal{F} . We emphasize that we are *not* assuming in this definition the stronger property that there is C > 1 such that $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F') > C\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)$ whenever $F', F \in \mathcal{F}$ with $F' \subsetneq F$. Instead, the properties (2) and (3) substitute for this lack. Of course the stronger property *does* hold for the familiar *Calderón-Zygmund* stopping data determined by the following requirements for C > 1,

$$E_{F'}^{\sigma}|f| > CE_{F}^{\sigma}|f|$$
 whenever $F', F \in \mathcal{F}$ with $F' \subsetneq F$,

$$E_I^{\sigma}|f| \le C E_F^{\sigma}|f| \text{ for } I \in \mathcal{C}_F,$$

which are themselves sufficiently strong to automatically force properties (2) and (3) with $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) = \mathbb{E}_F^{\sigma} |f|.$ We have the following useful consequence of (2) and (3) that says the sequence

 $\{\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \mathbf{1}_F\}_{F \in \mathcal{F}}$ has a *quasi-orthogonal* property relative to f with a constant C'_0 depending only on C_0 :

$$\left\|\sum_{F\in\mathcal{F}}\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)\,\mathbf{1}_{F}\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \leq C_{0}^{\prime}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}.$$
(3.1.34)

Proposition 3.1.19. Let $f \in L^2(\sigma)$, let \mathcal{F} be as in Definition 3.1.17, and define stopping data $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}$ by $\alpha_F = \frac{1}{|F|_{\sigma}} \int_F |f| d\sigma$. Then there is $A_0 \geq 4$, depending only on the constant C_0 in Definition 3.1.11, such that the triple $(A_0, \mathcal{F}, \alpha_{\mathcal{F}})$ constitutes stopping data for the function f.

Proof. This is an easy exercise using (3.1.26) and (3.1.29), and is left for the reader.

3.1.11 Reduction to good functions

We begin with a specification of the various parameters that will arise during the proof, as well as the extension of goodness introduced in [24].

Definition 3.1.20. The parameters \mathbf{r} , τ and ρ will be fixed below to satisfy

$$\tau > \mathbf{r} \text{ and } \rho > \mathbf{r} + \tau,$$

where \mathbf{r} is the goodness parameter fixed in (3.2.16).

Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ to be chosen later. Define J to be $\varepsilon - good$ in a cube K if

$$d(J, skelK) > 2|J|^{\varepsilon}|K|^{1-\varepsilon}$$

where the skeleton $skel K \equiv \bigcup_{K' \in \mathfrak{C}(K)} \partial K'$ of a cube K consists of the boundaries of all the children K' of K. Define $\mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ to consist of those $J \in \mathcal{G}$ such that J is good in every supercube $K \in \mathcal{D}$ that lies at least k levels above J. We also define J to be $\varepsilon - good$ in a cube K and beyond if $J \in \mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ where $k = \log_2 \frac{\ell(K)}{\ell(J)}$. We can now say that $J \in \mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ if and only if J is $\varepsilon - good$ in $\pi^k J$ and beyond. As the goodness parameter ε will eventually be fixed throughout the proof, we sometimes suppress it, and simply say "J is good in a cube K and beyond" instead of "J is $\varepsilon - good$ in a cube K and beyond".

As pointed out on page 14 of [24] by Hytönen and Martikainen, there are subtle difficulties associated in using dual martingale decompositions of functions which depend on the entire dyadic grid, rather than on just the local cube in the grid. We will proceed at first in the spirit of [24]. The goodness that we will infuse below into the main 'below' form $B_{\subseteq \rho}(f,g)$ will be the Hytönen-Martikainen 'weak' goodness: every pair $(I,J) \in \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{G}$ that arises in the form $B_{\subseteq \rho}(f,g)$ will satisfy $J \in \mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ where $\ell(I) = 2^k \ell(J)$.

It is important to use *two* independent random grids, one for each function f and g simultaneously, as this is necessary in order to apply probabilistic methods to the dual martingale averages $\Box_I^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}$ that depend, not only on I, but also on the underlying grid in which I lives. The proof methods for functional energy from [49] and [48] relied heavily on the use of a single grid, and this must now be modified to accomodate two independent grids.

3.1.11.1 Parameterizations of dyadic grids

It is important to use two independent grids, one for each function f and g simultaneously, as it is necessary in order to apply probabilistic methods to the dual martingale averages $\Box_I^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}$ that depend not only on I but also on the underlying grid in which I lives.

Now we recall the construction from the paper [52]. We momentarily fix a large positive

integer $M \in \mathbb{N}$, and consider the tiling of \mathbb{R}^n by the family of cubes $\mathbb{D}_M \equiv \left\{ I_\alpha^M \right\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}}$ having side length 2^{-M} and given by $I_\alpha^M \equiv I_0^M + \alpha \cdot 2^{-M}$ where $I_0^M = \left[0, 2^{-M} \right)$. A dyadic grid \mathcal{D} built on \mathbb{D}_M is defined to be a family of cubes \mathcal{D} satisfying:

- 1. Each $I \in \mathcal{D}$ has side length $2^{-\ell}$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ with $\ell \leq M$, and I is a union of $2^{n(M-\ell)}$ cubes from the tiling \mathbb{D}_M ,
- 2. For $\ell \leq M$, the collection \mathcal{D}_{ℓ} of cubes in \mathcal{D} having side length $2^{-\ell}$ forms a pairwise disjoint decomposition of the space \mathbb{R}^n ,
- 3. Given $I \in \mathcal{D}_i$ and $J \in \mathcal{D}_j$ with $j \leq i \leq M$, it is the case that either $I \cap J = \emptyset$ or $I \subset J$.

We now momentarily fix a *negative* integer $N \in -\mathbb{N}$, and restrict the above grids to cubes of side length at most 2^{-N} :

$$\mathcal{D}^N \equiv \left\{ I \in \mathcal{D} : \text{side length of } I \text{ is at most } 2^{-N} \right\}.$$

We refer to such grids \mathcal{D}^N as a (truncated) dyadic grid \mathcal{D} built on \mathbb{D}_M of size 2^{-N} . There are now two traditional means of constructing probability measures on collections of such dyadic grids, namely parameterization by choice of parent, and parameterization by translation.

Construction #1: Consider first the special case of dimension n = 1. For any

$$\beta = \{\beta_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_M^N} \in \omega_m^N \equiv \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{Z}_M^N},$$

where $\mathbb{Z}_M^N \equiv \{\ell \in \mathbb{Z} : N \leq \ell \leq M\}$, define the dyadic grid \mathcal{D}_β built on \mathbb{D}_m of size 2^{-N} by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\beta} = \left\{ 2^{-\ell} \left([0,1) + k + \sum_{i: \ \ell < i \le M} 2^{-i+\ell} \beta_i \right) \right\}_{N \le \ell \le M, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}}$$
(3.1.35)

Place the uniform probability measure ρ_M^N on the finite index space $\omega_M^N = \{0, 1\}^{\mathbb{Z}_M^N}$, namely that which charges each $\beta \in \omega_M^N$ equally. This construction is then extended to Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n by taking products in the usual way and using the product index space $\Omega_M^N \equiv$ $(\omega_M^N)^n$ and the uniform product probability measure $\mu_M^N = \rho_M^N \times \ldots \times \rho_M^N$.

Construction #2: Momentarily fix a (truncated) dyadic grid \mathcal{D} built on \mathbb{D}_M of size 2^{-N} . For any

$$\gamma \in \Gamma_M^N \equiv \left\{ 2^{-M} \mathbb{Z}_+^n : |\gamma_i| < 2^{-N} \right\},\,$$

where $\mathbb{Z}_{+}^{n} = (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})^{n}$, define the dyadic grid \mathcal{D}^{γ} built on \mathbb{D}_{m} of size 2^{-N} by

$$\mathcal{D}^{\gamma} \equiv \mathcal{D} + \gamma$$

Place the uniform probability measure ν_M^N on the finite index set Γ_M^N , namely that which charges each multiindex γ in Γ_M^N equally.

The two probability spaces $\left(\left\{\mathcal{D}_{\beta}\right\}_{\beta\in\Omega_{M}^{N}},\mu_{M}^{N}\right)$ and $\left(\left\{\mathcal{D}^{\gamma}\right\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma_{M}^{N}},\nu_{M}^{N}\right)$ are isomorphic since both collections $\left\{\mathcal{D}_{\beta}\right\}_{\beta\in\Omega_{M}^{N}}$ and $\left\{\mathcal{D}^{\gamma}\right\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma_{M}^{N}}$ describe the set \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} of **all** (truncated) dyadic grids \mathcal{D}^{γ} built on \mathbb{D}_{m} of size 2^{-N} , and since both measures μ_{M}^{N} and ν_{M}^{N} are the uniform measure on this space. The first construction may be thought of as being *parameterized by scales* - each component β_{i} in $\beta = \left\{\beta_{i}\right\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}_{M}^{N}} \in \omega_{M}^{N}$ amounting to a choice of the two possible tilings at level *i* that respect the choice of tiling at the level below - and since any grid in \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} is determined by a choice of scales , we see that $\left\{\mathcal{D}_{\beta}\right\}_{\beta\in\Omega_{M}^{N}} = \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N}$. The second construction may be thought of as being *parameterized by translation* - each $\gamma \in \Gamma_{M}^{N}$ amounting to a choice of translation of the grid \mathcal{D} fixed in construction #2 - and since any grid in \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} is determined by any of the cubes at the top level, i.e. with side length 2^{-N} , we see that $\{\mathcal{D}^{\gamma}\}_{\gamma\in\Gamma_{M}^{N}} = \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N}$ as well, since every cube at the top level in \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} has the form $Q + \gamma$ for some $\gamma \in \Gamma_{M}^{N}$ and $Q \in \mathcal{D}$ at the top level in \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} (i.e. every cube at the top level in \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} is a union of small cubes in \mathbb{D}_{m} , and so must be a translate of some $Q \in \mathcal{D}$ by an amount 2^{-M} times an element of \mathbb{Z}_{+}). Note also that in all dimensions, $\#\Omega_{M}^{N} = \#\Gamma_{M}^{N} = 2^{n(M-N)}$. We will use $\mathbf{E}_{\Omega_{M}^{N}}$ to denote expectation with respect to this common probability measure on \mathbf{A}_{M}^{N} .

Notation 3.1.21. For purposes of notation and clarity, we now suppress all reference to Mand N in our families of grids, and in the notations Ω and Γ for the parameter sets, and we use P_{Ω} and E_{Ω} to denote probability and expectation with respect to families of grids, and instead proceed as if all grids considered are unrestricted. The careful reader can supply the modifications necessary to handle the assumptions made above on the grids \mathcal{D} and the functions f and g regarding M and N.

3.1.12 Formulas

We need the following formulas defined on Appendix A of [54].

$$\mathbb{E}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \equiv \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x)\frac{1}{\int_{Q}b_{Q}d\mu}\int_{Q}fb_{Q}d\mu, \quad Q \in \mathcal{P} , \qquad (3.1.36)$$
$$\mathbb{F}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \equiv \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x)b_{Q}(x)\frac{1}{\int_{Q}b_{Q}d\mu}\int_{Q}fd\mu, \quad Q \in \mathcal{P} ,$$

$$\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \equiv \mathbf{1}_{Q}(x) \frac{1}{\int_{Q} b_{Q} d\mu} \int_{Q} f d\mu, \qquad Q \in \mathcal{P} .$$
(3.1.37)

and

$$\Delta_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \equiv \left(\sum_{Q'\in\mathfrak{C}(Q)} \mathbb{E}_{Q'}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x)\right) - \mathbb{E}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) = \sum_{Q'\in\mathfrak{C}(Q)} \mathbf{1}_{Q'}(x) \left(\mathbb{E}_{Q'}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) - \mathbb{E}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x)\right) \quad (3.1.38)$$

$$\Box_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \equiv \left(\sum_{Q'\in\mathfrak{C}(Q)} \mathbb{F}_{Q'}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x)\right) - \mathbb{F}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) = \sum_{Q'\in\mathfrak{C}(Q)} \mathbf{1}_{Q'}(x) \left(\mathbb{F}_{Q'}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x) - \mathbb{F}_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f(x)\right)$$

We also need

$$\nabla_{Q}^{\mu} f \equiv \sum_{\substack{Q' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(Q)}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q'|_{\mu}} \int_{Q'} |f| \, d\mu \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q'}, \qquad (3.1.39)$$

$$\widehat{\nabla}_{Q}^{\mu} f \equiv \sum_{\substack{Q' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(Q)}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q'|_{\mu}} \int_{Q'} |f| \, d\mu + \frac{1}{|Q|_{\mu}} \int_{Q} |f| \, d\mu \right) \mathbf{1}_{Q'}, \qquad \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}}} \left\| \widehat{\nabla}_{Q}^{\mu} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} . \qquad (3.1.40)$$

and

$$\Box_Q^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f = \left[\sum_{Q' \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)} \mathbb{F}_{Q'}^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f \right] - \mathbb{F}_Q^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} f = \sum_{Q' \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)} \mathbb{F}_{Q'}^{\mu,bQ} f - \mathbb{F}_Q^{\mu,bQ} f, \quad (3.1.41)$$

$$\mathbb{F}_Q^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f = \mathbf{1}_Q \frac{b_{\pi Q}}{\int_Q b_{\pi Q} d\mu} \int_Q f d\mu, \qquad (3.1.42)$$

$$\Box_Q^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} = \Box_Q^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \Box_Q^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}} + \Box_{Q,brok}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} \text{ and } \Box_Q^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} = \Box_Q^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}} + \Box_{Q,brok}^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$$
(3.1.43)

$$\Box_{Q,brok}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f = \sum_{\substack{Q' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(Q) \\ Q,brok}} \mathbb{F}_{Q'}^{\mu,b}f - \mathbb{F}_{Q'}^{\mu,b}f f,$$

$$\left| \Box_{Q,brok}^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f \right| \lesssim \left| \widehat{\nabla}_{Q}^{\mu}f \right|, \qquad (3.1.44)$$

with similar equalities and inequalities for \triangle and \mathbb{E} . Here $\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(Q)$ denotes the set of broken children, i.e. those $Q' \in \mathfrak{C}(Q)$ for which $b_{Q'} \neq \mathbf{1}_{Q'}b_Q$, and more generally and typically, $\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(Q) = \mathfrak{C}(Q) \cap \mathcal{A}$ where \mathcal{A} is a collection of stopping cubes that includes the broken children and satisfies a σ -Carleson condition and πQ is the dyadic father of Q.

Define another modified dual martingale difference by

$$\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \equiv \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f - \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f = \left(\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) - \mathbb{F}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f, \qquad (3.1.45)$$

where we have removed the averages over broken children from $\Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$, but left the average over I intact. On any child I' of I, the function $\Box_I^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f$ is thus a constant multiple of b_I , and so we have

$$\begin{split} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f &= b_{I}\sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'}E_{I'}^{\sigma}\left(\frac{1}{b_{I}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) = b_{I}\sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'}E_{I'}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right); \quad (3.1.46)\\ \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f &\equiv \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'}E_{I'}^{\sigma}\left(\frac{1}{b_{I}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right),\\ &= \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'}\left[\frac{1}{\int_{I'}b_{I}d\mu}\int_{I'}fd\mu - \frac{1}{\int_{I}b_{I}d\mu}\int_{I}fd\mu\right] - \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'}\left[\frac{1}{\int_{I}b_{I}d\mu}\int_{I}fd\mu\right]$$

Thus for $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$ we have

$$\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f = b_{A} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I)} \mathbf{1}_{I'} E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) = b_{A} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f, \qquad (3.1.47)$$

where the averages $E_{I'}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right)$ satisfy the following telescoping property for all $K \in (\mathcal{C}_A \setminus \{A\}) \cup \left(\bigcup_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_A(A)} A'\right)$ and $L \in \mathcal{C}_A$ with $K \subset L$:

$$\sum_{I: \ \pi K \subset I \subset L} E_{I_K}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_I^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}} f \right) = \begin{cases} -E_L^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_L^{\sigma} f & \text{if } K \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}} (A) \\ E_K^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_K^{\sigma} f - E_L^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_L^{\sigma} f & \text{if } K \in \mathcal{C}_A \end{cases}, \quad (3.1.48)$$

where $\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{K}^{\sigma}$ is defined in (3.1.37) above.

Finally, in analogy with the broken differences $\triangle_{Q,brok}^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$ and $\Box_{Q,brok}^{\mu,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$ introduced above, we define

$$\triangle_{I,brok}^{\mu,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \equiv \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{E}_{I'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \text{ and } \Box_{I,brok}^{\mu,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \equiv \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{E}_{I'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f , \qquad (3.1.49)$$

so that

$$\Delta_I^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} = \Delta_I^{\mu,\flat,\mathbf{b}} + \Delta_{I,brok}^{\mu,\flat,\mathbf{b}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Box_I^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} = \Box_I^{\mu,\flat,\mathbf{b}} + \Box_{I,brok}^{\mu,\flat,\mathbf{b}} \quad . \tag{3.1.50}$$

These modified differences and the identities (3.1.47) and (3.1.48) play a useful role in the analysis of the nearby and paraproduct forms.

Lemma 3.1.22. For dyadic cubes R and Q we have

$$\Delta_R^{\mu,b} \Delta_Q^{\mu,b} = \begin{cases} \Delta_Q^{\mu,b} & \text{if } R = Q \\ 0 & \text{if } R \neq Q \end{cases}$$

For the reader's convenience we now collect the various martingale and probability estimates that will be used in the proof that follows. First we summarize the martingale identities and estimates that we will use in our proof. Suppose μ is a positive locally finite Borel measure, and that **b** is a ∞ -weakly μ -controlled accretive family. Then,

Martingale identities: Both of the following identities hold pointwise μ -almost every-

where, as well as in the sense of strong convergence in $L^{2}\left(\mu\right)$:

$$\begin{split} f &= \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}, \ \ell(I) \geq 2^{-N}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f + \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f, \\ f &= \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}, \ \ell(I) \geq 2^{-N}} \triangle_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f + \mathbb{E}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f. \end{split}$$

Frame estimates: Both of the following frame estimates hold:

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} \approx \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left\{ \left\| \Box_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} \right\}$$

$$\approx \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left\{ \left\| \bigtriangleup_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{Q}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} \right\}$$

$$(3.1.51)$$

Weak upper Riesz estimates: Define the pseudoprojections,

$$\Psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f \equiv \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \Box_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f, \qquad (3.1.52)$$
$$\left(\Psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}\right)^{*}f \equiv \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \left(\Box_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}\right)^{*}f = \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \triangle_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f.$$

We have the 'upper Riesz' inequalities for pseudoprojections $\Psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}$ and $\left(\Psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}\right)^*$:

$$\left\|\Psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} \leq C \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \left\|\Box_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} + \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \left\|\widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2}, \quad (3.1.53)$$
$$\left\|\left(\Psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}\right)^{*}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} \leq C \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \left\|\Delta_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} + \sum_{I\in\mathcal{B}} \left\|\left(\widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}\right)^{*}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2},$$

for all $f \in L^2(\mu)$ and all subsets \mathcal{B} of the grid \mathcal{D} . Here the positive constant C and depends only on the accretivity constants, and is *independent* of the subset \mathcal{B} and the testing family **b**. The Haar martingale differences $\Delta_Q^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}$ are independent of both the testing families and the grid, while the Carleson averaging operators \bigtriangledown_Q^{μ} depend on the grid only through the choice of broken children of Q.

3.1.13 Monotonicity Lemma

As in virtually all proofs of a two weight T1 theorem (see e.g. [26], [29], [49] and/or [48]), the key to starting an estimate for any of the forms we consider below, is the Monotonicity Lemma and the Energy Lemma, to which we now turn. In dimension n = 1 ([29], [26]) the Haar functions have opposite sign on their children, and this was exploited in a simple but powerful monotonicity argument. In higher dimensions, this simple argument no longer holds and that Monotonicity Lemma is replaced with the Lacey-Wick formulation of the Monotonicity Lemma (see [30], and also [48]) involving the smaller Poisson operator. As the martingale differences with test functions b_Q here are no longer of one sign on children, we will adapt the Lacey-Wick formulation of the Monotonicity Lemma to the operator T^{α} and the dual martingale differences $\left\{ \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} \right\}_{J \in \mathcal{G}}$, bearing in mind that the operators $\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ are no longer projections, which results in only a one-sided estimate with additional terms on the right hand side. It is here that we need the crucial property that the Range of $\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ is orthogonal to constants, $\int \left(\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} \Psi \right) d\sigma = \int \left(\triangle_J^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}^*} 1 \right) \Psi d\omega = \int (0) \Psi d\omega = 0$.

We will also need the smaller Poisson integral used in the Lacey-Wick formulation of the Monotonicity Lemma,

$$\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mu\right) \equiv \int \frac{|J|^{\frac{1+\delta}{n}}}{\left(|J|+|y-c_{J}|\right)^{n+1+\delta-\alpha}} d\mu\left(y\right),$$

which is discussed in more detail below.

Lemma 3.1.23 (Monotonicity Lemma). Suppose that I and J are cubes in \mathbb{R}^n such that

 $J \subset \gamma J \subset I$ for some $\gamma > 1$, and that μ is a signed measure on \mathbb{R}^n supported outside I. Let $0 < \delta < 1$ and let $\Psi \in L^2(\omega)$. Finally suppose that T^{α} is a standard fractional singular integral on \mathbb{R}^n with $0 \le \alpha < 1$, and suppose that \mathbf{b}^* is an ∞ -weakly μ -controlled accretive family on \mathbb{R}^n . Then we have the estimate

$$\left|\left\langle T^{\alpha}\mu, \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi\right\rangle_{\omega}\right| \lesssim C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}C_{CZ} \Phi^{\alpha}\left(J, |\mu|\right) \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar},$$
(3.1.54)

where

$$\Phi^{\alpha}(J,|\mu|) \equiv \frac{P^{\alpha}(J,|\mu|)}{|J|} \left\| \triangle_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} + \frac{P^{\alpha}_{1+\delta}(J,|\mu|)}{|J|} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)},$$

$$\left\| \triangle_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet2} \equiv \left\| \triangle_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| x - z \right| \right)^{2},$$

$$\left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bullet2} \equiv \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} + \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| \Psi \right| \right]^{2}.$$

All of the implied constants above depend only on $\gamma > 1$, $0 < \delta < 1$ and $0 < \alpha < 1$.

Using
$$\nabla_J^{\omega} h = \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |h| \right) \mathbf{1}_{J'}$$
 defined in (3.1.39), we can rewrite the expressions
 $\left\| \triangle_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$ and $\left\| \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} \Psi \right\|_{L^2(\mu)}^{\bigstar 2}$ as
 $\left\| \triangle_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \equiv \left\| \triangle_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 + \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \nabla_J^{\omega} (x - z) \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2,$

$$\begin{aligned} \| & \bigtriangleup J \quad x \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \quad = \quad \| \bigtriangleup J \quad x \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} + \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \| \lor J (x - z) \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ \| & \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bigstar 2} \quad \equiv \quad \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{J}^{\omega} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. Using $\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} = \Box_J^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^*} \Box_J^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^*} + \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^*}$, we write

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha} \mu, \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| &= \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha} \mu, \left(\Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} + \Box_{J, brok}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \right) \Psi \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\leq \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha} \mu, \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| + \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha} \mu, \Box_{J, brok}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\equiv \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\left\langle 1, \Box_J^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^*} h \right\rangle_{\omega} = 0$, we use $m_J = \frac{1}{|J|_{\omega}} \int_J x d\omega(x)$ to obtain

$$T^{\alpha}\mu(x) - T^{\alpha}\mu(m_J) = \int \left[(K^{\alpha})(x,y) - (K^{\alpha})(m_J,y) \right] d\mu(y)$$
$$= \int \left[\nabla (K^{\alpha})^T \left(\theta(x,m_J), y \right) \cdot (x-m_J) \right] d\mu(y)$$

for some $\theta\left(x,m_{J}\right)\in J$ to obtain

$$I = \left| \int \left[T^{\alpha} \mu \left(x \right) - T^{\alpha} \mu \left(m_{J} \right) \right] \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \left(x \right) d\omega \left(x \right) \right|$$

$$= \left| \int \left\{ \int \nabla (K^{\alpha})^{T} \left(\theta \left(x, m_{J} \right) \right) d\mu \left(y \right) \right\} \cdot \left(x - m_{J} \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \left(x \right) d\omega \left(x \right) \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \int \left\{ \int \nabla (K^{\alpha})^{T} \left(m_{J}, y \right) d\mu \left(y \right) \right\} \cdot \left(x - m_{J} \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \left(x \right) d\omega \left(x \right) \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int \left\{ \int \left[\nabla (K^{\alpha})^{T} \left(\theta \left(x, m_{J} \right), y \right) - \nabla (K^{\alpha})^{T} \left(m_{J}, y \right) \right] d\mu \left(y \right) \right\}$$

$$\cdot \left(x - m_{J} \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \left(x \right) d\omega \left(x \right) \right|$$

$$\equiv I_{1} + I_{2}$$

Now we estimate

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I}_{1} &= \left\| \left[\int \nabla(K^{\alpha}) \left(m_{J}, y\right) d\mu\left(y\right) \right]^{T} \cdot \int \left(x - m_{J}\right) \ \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi\left(x\right) d\omega\left(x\right) \right\| \\ &\leq n \int \int \left| \nabla(K^{\alpha}) \left(m_{J}, y\right) \right| d|\mu|\left(y\right) \ \left| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right| \ \left| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi\left(x\right) \right| \ d\omega\left(x\right) \\ &\lesssim n \cdot C_{CZ} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J, |\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \ \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

and

$$I_{2} \lesssim C_{CZ} \frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J,|\mu|)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \int |x - m_{J}| \left| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi(x) \right| d\omega(x)$$

$$\lesssim C_{CZ} \frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J,|\mu|)}{|J|} \sqrt{\int_{J} |x - m_{J}|^{2} d\omega(x)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Box_{J}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

$$\lesssim C_{CZ} \frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J,|\mu|)}{|J|} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}.$$

For term II we fix $z \in \overline{J}$ for the moment. Then since

$$\left\langle 1, \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} h \right\rangle_{\omega} = \left\langle 1, \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} h - \Box_J^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^*} h \right\rangle_{\omega} = 0$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{II} &= \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha} \mu, \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &= \left| \int \left\{ \int \nabla (K^{\alpha})^{T} \left(\theta \left(x, z \right), y \right) d\mu \left(y \right) \right\} \cdot \left(x - z \right) \ \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \left(x \right) d\omega \left(x \right) \right| \\ &\leq C_{CZ} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, |\mu| \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \int |x - z| \cdot \left| \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \left(x \right) \right| d\omega \left(x \right) \\ &\leq C_{CZ} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, |\mu| \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \int_{J'} |x - z| \cdot \mathbf{1}_{J'} E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| \Psi \right| d\omega \left(x \right) \end{aligned}$$

having used the reverse Hölder control of children (3.1.23) to obtain

$$\left| \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} \Psi \right| = \left| \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(JQ)} \left(\mathbb{F}_{J'}^{\omega,b_{J'}} - \mathbb{F}_{J'}^{\omega,b_{J}} \right) \Psi \right| \lesssim \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \mathbf{1}_{J'} E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| \Psi \right|,$$

and since

$$\int_{J'} |x-z| \cdot \mathbf{1}_{J'} E_{J'}^{\omega} |\Psi| \, d\omega(x) = \int_{J'} \frac{|x-z|}{\sqrt{|J'|\omega}} \frac{\mathbf{1}_{J'} \int_{J'} |\Psi| d\omega(x)}{\sqrt{|J'|\omega}} d\omega(x)$$

we get

$$\mathrm{II} \leq C_{CZ} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,|\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \sqrt{\sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x-z|\right)^{2}} \sqrt{\sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} |\Psi|\right]^{2}}.$$

Combining the estimates for terms I and II, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha} \mu, \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim & C_{CZ} \frac{P^{\alpha}\left(J, |\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ & + & C_{CZ} \frac{P^{\alpha}_{1+\delta}\left(J, |\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega\right)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \pi, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ & + & C_{CZ} \frac{P^{\alpha}\left(J, |\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \inf_{z \in \overline{J}} \sqrt{\sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| x - z_{2} \right| \right)^{2}} \sqrt{\sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| \Psi \right| \right]^{2}} \end{split}$$

and then noting that the infimum over $z \in \mathbb{R}$ is achieved for $z \in \overline{J}$, and using the triangle inequality on $\Box_J^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^*} = \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} - \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\pi,\mathbf{b}^*}$ we get (3.1.54). \Box

The right hand side of (3.1.54) in the Monotonicity Lemma will be typically estimated

in what follows using the frame inequalities for any cube K,

$$\sum_{J \subset K} \left\| \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} \Psi \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\star 2} \lesssim \left\| \Psi \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 ,$$
$$\sum_{J \subset K} \left\| \Delta_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \lesssim \int_K |x - m_K|^2 \, d\omega \, (x) ,$$

together with these inequalities for the square function expressions. To see the last one, write $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and note that for $J \subset K$,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} = \int_{J} \left| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right|^{2} d\omega &= \int_{J} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x_{i} \right|^{2} d\omega \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{K} |x_{i} - m_{Ki}|^{2} d\omega = ||x - m_{k}||_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{K}\omega)}^{2} \end{split}$$

using the one-variable result from [54].

Lemma 3.1.24. For any cube K we have

$$\sum_{J \subset K} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} |\Psi|(x) \right]^2 \lesssim \int_{K} |\Psi(x)|^2 d\omega(x), \quad (3.1.55)$$

and
$$\sum_{J \subset K} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x-z| \right)^2 \lesssim \int_{K} |x-m_K|^2 d\omega(x).$$

Proof. The first inequality in (3.1.55) is just the Carleson embedding theorem since the cubes $\{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J) : J \subset K\}$ satisfy an ω -Carleson condition, and the second inequality in (3.1.55) follows by choosing $z = m_K$ to obtain

$$\inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x-z| \right)^2 \leq \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x-m_K| \right)^2,$$

and then applying the Carleson embedding theorem again:

$$\sum_{J\subset K} \sum_{J'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x-m_K| \right)^2 \lesssim \int_K |x-m_K|^2 d\omega(x).$$

3.1.13.1 The smaller Poisson integral

The expressions

$$\inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J, |\mu|\right)}{|J|} \left\| x - z \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star}$$

are typically easier to sum due to the small Poisson operator $P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J, |\mu|)$. To illustrate, we show here one way in which we can exploit the additional decay in the Poisson integral $P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}$. Suppose that J is good in I with $\ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)$ (see Definition 3.2.5 below for 'goodness'). We then compute

$$\frac{\Pr_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \int_{A\setminus I} \frac{|J|^{\frac{\delta}{n}}}{|y-c_{J}|^{n+1+\delta-\alpha}} d\sigma\left(y\right) \\
\leq \int_{A\setminus I} \left(\frac{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(c_{J},I^{c}\right)}\right)^{\delta} \frac{1}{|y-c_{J}|^{n+1-\alpha}} d\sigma\left(y\right) \\
\lesssim \left(\frac{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(c_{J},I^{c}\right)}\right)^{\delta} \frac{\Pr^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}},$$

and use the goodness inequality,

dist
$$(c_J, I^c) \ge 2\ell (I)^{1-\varepsilon} \ell (J)^{\varepsilon} \ge 2 \cdot 2^{s(1-\varepsilon)} \ell (J)$$
,

to conclude that

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right) \lesssim 2^{-s\delta(1-\varepsilon)}\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \tag{3.1.56}$$

Now we can estimate

$$\sum_{\substack{J \subset K: \ J \text{ good in } K}} \inf_{\substack{z \in \mathbb{R} \\ |J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}} \frac{\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} |\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J^{\omega}}\right)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

$$\leq \sqrt{\sum_{\substack{J \subset K \\ J \text{ good in } K}} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} |\mu|\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J^{\omega}}\right)}^{2} \sqrt{\sum_{\substack{J \subset K \\ J \text{ good in } K}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar^{2}}}$$

where

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{J \subset K: \ J \text{ good in } K} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} | \mu |\right)}{|J|} \right)^{2} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &= \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{J \subset K: \ J \text{ good in } K} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} | \mu |\right)}{|J|} \right)^{2} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{J \subset K: \ J \text{ good in } K} \left(2^{-s\delta(1-\varepsilon)} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} \sigma \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{J \subset K: \ J \text{ good in } K} 2^{-2s\delta(1-\varepsilon)} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{K}\omega)}^{2} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{K^{c}} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \|x - z\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{K}\omega)}^{2} , \end{split}$$

and where we have used (3.5.10), which gives in particular

$$\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(J,\mu\mathbf{1}_{Ic}) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell(J)}{\ell(I)}\right)^{1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha)} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(I,\mu\mathbf{1}_{Ic}).$$

for $J \subset I$ and $d(J,\partial I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}$. We will use such arguments repeatedly in the sequel.

Armed with the Monotonicity Lemma and the lower frame inequality

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \left\| \Box_I^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\mu)}^{\star 2} \lesssim \left\| g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 ,$$

we can obtain a b^* -analogue of the Energy Lemma as in [49] and/or [48].

3.1.13.2 The Energy Lemma

Suppose now we are given a subset \mathcal{H} of the dyadic grid \mathcal{G} . Due to the failure of both martingale and dual martingale pseudoprojections $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x$ and $\mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g$ (see below for definition) to satisfy inequalities of the form $\left\|\mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g\right\|_{L^2(\omega)} \lesssim \|g\|_{L^2(\omega)}$ when the children 'break', it is convenient to define the 'square function norms' $\left\|\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x\right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$ and $\left\|\mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g\right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$ of the pseudoprojections

$$\mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x = \sum_{J\in\mathcal{H}} \bigtriangleup_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x \text{ and } \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g = \sum_{J\in\mathcal{H}} \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g ,$$

by

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} &\equiv \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \\ &= \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x - z| \right)^{2} \\ \\ \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} &\equiv \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \\ &= \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} |g| \right]^{2} \end{split}$$

for any subset $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{G}$. The average $E_J^{\omega} |x - z|$ above is taken with respect to the variable x, i.e. $E_J^{\omega} |x - z| = \frac{1}{|J|_{\omega}} \int |x - z| d\omega(x)$, and it is important that the infimum $\inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}}$ is taken inside the sum $\sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}}$.

Note that we are defining here square function expressions related to pseudoprojections, which depend not only on the functions $Q_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x$ and $P_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g$, but also on the particular representations $\sum_{J\in\mathcal{H}} \Delta_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x$ and $\sum_{J\in\mathcal{H}} \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g$. This slight abuse of notation should not cause confusion, and it provides a useful way of bookkeeping the sums of squares of norms of martingale and dual martingale differences $\|\Delta_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}x\|^2_{L^2(\omega)}$ and $\|\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g\|^2_{L^2(\omega)}$, along with the norms of the associated Carleson square function expressions

$$\sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \left\| \nabla_J^{\omega} (x - z) \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 = \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \left| J' \right|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} |x - z| \right)^2$$
$$\sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \nabla_J^{\omega} \Psi \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 = \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \left| J' \right|_{\omega} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} |\Psi| \right]^2.$$

Note also that the upper weak Riesz inequalities yield the inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} &\lesssim \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \leq \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\mathbf{A}^{2}} \\ \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} &\lesssim \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \leq \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\mathbf{A}^{2}} \end{aligned}$$

We will exclusively use $\left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$ in connection with energy terms, and use $\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}^*} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2}$ and $\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$ in connection with functions $f \in L^2(\sigma)$ and $g \in L^2(\omega)$. Finally, note that $\mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} x = \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} (x-m)$ for any constant m. Recall that

$$\Phi^{\alpha}(J,\nu) \equiv \frac{P^{\alpha}(J,\nu)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \triangle_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} + \frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J,\nu)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}$$

Lemma 3.1.25 (Energy Lemma). Let J be a cube in \mathcal{G} . Let Ψ_J be an $L^2(\omega)$ function supported in J with vanishing ω -mean, and let $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{G}$ be such that $J' \subset J$ for every $J' \in \mathcal{H}$. Let ν be a positive measure supported in $\mathbb{R}\setminus\gamma J$ with $\gamma > 1$, and for each $J' \in \mathcal{H}$, let $d\nu_{J'} = \varphi_{J'}d\nu$ with $|\varphi_{J'}| \leq 1$. Suppose that \mathbf{b}^* is an ∞ -weakly μ -controlled accretive family on \mathbb{R}^n . Let T^{α} be a standard α -fractional singular integral operator with $0 \leq \alpha < 1$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}\left(\nu_{J'}\right), \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| &\lesssim C_{\gamma} \sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \Phi^{\alpha}\left(J',\nu\right) \left\| \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\lesssim C_{\gamma} \sqrt{\sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \Phi^{\alpha}\left(J',\nu\right)^{2}} \sqrt{\sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left\| \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bigstar^{2}}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\frac{P^{\alpha}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} + \frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \right) \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bigstar} \end{aligned}$$

and in particular the 'energy' estimate

$$|\langle T^{\alpha} \varphi \nu, \Psi_{J} \rangle_{\omega}|$$

$$\leq C_{\gamma} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \nu \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} + \frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha} \left(J, \nu \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \right) \left\| \sum_{J' \subset J} \Box_{J'}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bigstar}$$

where
$$\left\|\sum_{J'\subset J} \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} \Psi_J \right\|_{L^2(\mu)}^{\star} \lesssim \|\Psi_J\|_{L^2(\mu)}$$
, and the 'pivotal' bound
 $\left|\langle T^{\alpha}\left(\varphi\nu\right),\Psi_J\rangle_{\omega}\right| \lesssim C_{\gamma} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,|\nu|\right) \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \|\Psi_J\|_{L^2(\omega)}$,

for any function φ with $|\varphi| \leq 1$.

Proof. Using the Monotonicity Lemma 3.1.23, followed by $|\nu_{J'}| \leq \nu$, the Poisson equivalence

$$\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J',\nu\right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}, \qquad J' \subset J \subset \gamma J, \quad \mathrm{supp}\nu \cap \gamma J = \emptyset, \tag{3.1.57}$$

and the weak frame inequalities for dual martingale differences, we have

$$\begin{split} & \left| \sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}\left(\nu_{J'}\right), \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \lesssim \sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \Phi^{\alpha}\left(J', |\mu|\right) \left\| \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{\bigstar} \\ & \lesssim \left(\sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J',\nu\right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left\| \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & + \left(\sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}_{1+\delta}\left(J', |\mu|\right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{J'} \right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J'\omega}\right)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{J'\in\mathcal{H}} \left\| \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}\Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \lesssim \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \mathbf{Q}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{H}}x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \frac{1}{\gamma^{\delta'}} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}_{1+\delta'}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J\omega})}^{2} \left\| \Psi_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{split}$$

The last inequality follows from the following calculation using Haar projections \triangle_K^{ω} :

$$\begin{split} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{H}} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J',\nu)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J'}\|_{L^{2}(1_{J'}\omega)}^{2} \tag{3.1.58} \\ &= \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{H}} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J',\nu)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \sum_{J'' \subset J'} \left\| \triangle_{J''}^{\omega} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \\ &= \sum_{J'' \subset J} \left\{ \sum_{J': \ J'' \subset J' \subset J} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J',\nu)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \right\} \left\| \triangle_{J''}^{\omega} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{\gamma^{2\delta'}} \sum_{J'' \subset J} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}(J'',\nu)}{|J''|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| \triangle_{J''}^{\omega} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\gamma^{2\delta'}} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}(J,\nu)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \sum_{J'' \subset J} \left\| \triangle_{J''}^{\omega} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} , \end{split}$$

which in turn follows from (recalling $\delta = 2\delta'$ and $|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |y - c_{J'}| \approx |J|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |y - c_J|$ and $\frac{|J|}{|J| + |y - c_J|} \leq \frac{1}{\gamma}$ for $y \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \gamma J$)

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{J':\ J''\subset J'\subset J} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J',\nu\right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} = \\ &\sum_{J':\ J''\subset J'\subset J} |J'|^{\frac{2\delta}{n}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\gamma J} \frac{1}{\left(|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |y - c_{J'}|\right)^{n+1+\delta-\alpha}} d\nu\left(y\right)\right)^{2} \\ &\lesssim &\sum_{J':\ J''\subset J'\subset J} \frac{1}{\gamma^{2\delta'}} \frac{|J'|^{\frac{2\delta}{n}}}{|J|^{\frac{2\delta}{n}}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus\gamma J} \frac{|J|^{\frac{\delta'}{n}}}{\left(|J|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |y - c_{J'}|\right)^{n+1+\delta'-\alpha}} d\nu\left(y\right)\right)^{2} \\ &= &\frac{1}{\gamma^{2\delta'}} \left(\sum_{J':\ J''\subset J'\subset J} \frac{|J'|^{\frac{2\delta}{n}}}{|J|^{\frac{2\delta}{n}}} \right) \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \lesssim \frac{1}{\gamma^{2\delta'}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}\left(J,\nu\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2}. \end{split}$$

Finally we obtain the 'energy' estimate from the equality

$$\Psi_J = \sum_{J' \subset J} \Box_{J'}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} \Psi_J , \quad \text{(since } \Psi_J \text{ has vanishing } \omega \text{-mean)},$$

and we obtain the 'pivotal' bound from the inequality

$$\sum_{J''\subset J} \left\| \triangle_{J''}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \lesssim \left\| (x-m_J) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbf{1}_J\omega)}^2 \le |J|^2 |J|_{\omega} .$$

3.1.14 Organization of the proof

We adapt the proof of the main theorem in [51], but beginning instead with the decomposition of Hytönen and Martikainen [24], to obtain the norm inequality

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \lesssim \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}_{2}^{\alpha}$$

under the *apriori* assumption $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} < \infty$, which is achieved by considering one of the truncations $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma,\delta,R}$ defined in (3.1.3) above. This will be carried out in the next four sections of this paper. In the next section we consider the various form splittings and reduce matters to the *disjoint* form, the *nearby* form and the *main below* form. Then these latter three forms are taken up in the subsequent three sections, using material from the appendices.

A major source of difficulty will arise in the infusion of goodness for the cubes J into the below form where the sum is taken over all pairs (I, J) such that $\ell(J) \leq \ell(I)$. We will infuse goodness in a weak way pioneered by Hytönen and Martikainen in a one weight setting. This weak form of goodness is then exploited in all subsequent constructions by typically replacing J by J^{\bigstar} in defining relations, where J^{\bigstar} is the smallest cube K for which J is good w.r.t. K and beyond.

Another source of difficulty arises in the treatment of the nearby form in the setting of two weights. The one weight proofs in [24] and [27] relied strongly on a property peculiar to the one weight setting - namely the fact already pointed out in Remark 3.1.6 above that both of the Poisson integrals are bounded, namely $P^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \leq 1$ and $\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}(Q,\mu) \leq 1$. We will circumvent this difficulty by combining a recursive energy argument with the full testing conditions assumed for the *original* testing functions b_Q^{orig} , before these conditions were suppressed by corona constructions that delivered only weak testing conditions for the new testing functions b_Q .

Of particular importance will be a result proved in Appendice A of [14] that follows from known work with some new twists. We show that the functional energy for an arbitrary pair of grids is controlled by the Muckenhoupt and energy side conditions. The somewhat lengthy proof of this latter assertion is similar to the corresponding proof in the T1 setting - see e.g. [51] - but requires a different decomposition of the stopping cubes into 'Whitney cubes' in order to accomodate the weaker notion of goodness used here.

3.2 Form splittings

Notation 3.2.1. Fix grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} . We will use \mathcal{D} to denote the grid associated with $f \in L^2(\sigma)$, and we will use \mathcal{G} to denote the grid associated with $g \in L^2(\omega)$.

Now we turn to the probability estimates for martingale differences and halos that we will use. Recall that given $\overrightarrow{\lambda} = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n), 0 < \lambda_i < \frac{1}{2}$ for all $1 \le i \le n$, the λ -halo of J is

defined to be

$$\partial_{\overrightarrow{\lambda}} J \equiv \left(1 + \overrightarrow{\lambda}\right) J \setminus \left(1 - \overrightarrow{\lambda}\right) J.$$

Suppose μ is a positive locally finite Borel measure, and that **b** is a *p*-weakly μ -controlled accretive family for some p > 2. Then the following probability estimate holds.

Bad cube probability estimates. Suppose that \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} are independent random dyadic grids. With $\Psi_{\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}^*}g \equiv \sum_{J\in\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}} \Box_{J}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}^*}g$ equal to the pseudoprojection of g onto k-bad \mathcal{G} -cubes, we have

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\left(\left\|\Psi_{\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2}\right) \lesssim \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\left(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}}\left[\left\|\Box_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2}+\left\|\nabla_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\mu}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2}\right]\right) \\ \leq Ce^{-k\varepsilon}\left\|g\right\|_{L^{2}(\mu)}^{2}, \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where the first inequality is the 'weak upper half Riesz' inequality from Appendix A of [54] for the pseudoprojection $\Psi_{\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}}^{\mu,\mathbf{b}^*}$, and the second inequality is proved using the frame inequality in (3.2.10) below.

Halo probability estimates. Suppose that \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} are independent random grids. Using the *parameterization by translations* of grids and taking the average over certain translates $\tau + \mathcal{D}$ of the grid \mathcal{D} we have

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}: \ \ell(I') \approx \ell(J')} \int_{J' \cap \partial_{\delta} I'} d\omega \lesssim \delta \int_{J'} d\omega, \quad J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J), J \in \mathcal{G}, \quad (3.2.2)$$

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J') \approx \ell(I')} \int_{I' \cap \partial_{\delta} J'} d\sigma \lesssim \delta \int_{I'} d\sigma, \quad I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I), I \in \mathcal{D},$$

and where the expectations $E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}$ and $E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}$ are taken over grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} respectively. Indeed, it is geometrically evident that for any fixed pair of side lengths $\ell_1 \approx \ell_2$, the average of the measure $|J' \cap \partial_{\delta} I'|_{\omega}$ of the set $J' \cap \partial_{\delta} I'$, as a cube $I' \in \mathcal{D}$ with side length $\ell(I') = \ell_1$ is translated across a cube $J' \in \mathcal{G}$ of side length $\ell(J') = \ell_2$, is at most $C |J'|_{\omega}$. Using this observation it is now easy to see that (3.2.2) holds.

In the σ -iterated corona construction we redefined the family $\mathbf{b} = \{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}}$ so that the new functions b_Q^{new} are given in terms of the original functions b_Q^{orig} by $b_Q^{new} = \mathbf{1}_Q b_A^{orig}$ for $Q \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\sigma}$, and of course we then dropped the superscript *new*. We continue to refer to the triple stopping cubes A as 'breaking' cubes even if b_A happens to equal $\mathbf{1}_A b_{\pi A}$. The results of Appendix A of [54] apply with this more inclusive definition of 'breaking' cubes, and the associated definition of 'broken' children, since only the Carleson condition on stopping cubes is relevant here.

This and Proposition 3.1.19 give us the *triple corona decomposition* of $f = \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \mathsf{P}^{\sigma}_{\mathcal{C}_A} f$, where the pseudoprojection $\mathsf{P}^{\sigma}_{\mathcal{C}_A}$ is defined as:

$$\mathsf{P}^{\sigma}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}f = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \Box^{\mu,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f$$

We now record the main facts proved above for the triple corona.

Lemma 3.2.2. Let $f \in L^2(\sigma)$. We have

$$f = \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \mathsf{P}^{\sigma}_{\mathcal{C}_A} f$$

both in the sense of norm convergence in $L^2(\sigma)$ and pointwise σ -a.e. The corona tops \mathcal{A} and stopping bounds $\{\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)\}_{A \in \mathcal{A}}$ satisfy properties (1), (2), (3) and (4) in Definition 3.1.18, hence constitute stopping data for f. Moreover, $\mathbf{b} = \{b_I\}_{I \in \mathcal{D}}$ is a ∞ -weakly σ -controlled accretive family on \mathcal{D} with corona tops $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{D}$, where $b_I = \mathbf{1}_I b_A$ for all $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$, and the weak corona forward testing condition holds uniformly in coronas, i.e.

$$\frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_{I} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A}|^{2} \, d\sigma \leq C, \qquad I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\sigma}$$

Similar statements hold for $g \in L^2(\omega)$.

We have defined corona decompositions of f and g in the σ -iterated triple corona construction above, but in order to start these corona decompositions for f and g respectively within the dyadic grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} , we need to first restrict f and g to be supported in a large common cube Q_{∞} . Then we cover Q_{∞} with 2^n pairwise disjoint cubes $I_{\infty} \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\ell(I_{\infty}) = \ell(Q_{\infty})$, and similarly cover Q_{∞} with 2^n pairwise disjoint cubes $J_{\infty} \in \mathcal{G}$ with $\ell(J_{\infty}) = \ell(Q_{\infty})$. We can now use the broken martingale decompositions, together with random surgery, to reduce matters to consideration of the four forms

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J \subset J_{\infty}} \int \left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g d\omega,$$

with I_{∞} and J_{∞} as above, and where we can then use the cubes I_{∞} and J_{∞} as the starting cubes in our corona constructions below. Indeed, the identities in [24, Lemma 3.5]), give

$$f = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}, \ \ell(I) \ge 2^{-N}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f + \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f,$$
$$g = \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J \subset J_{\infty}, \ \ell(J) \ge 2^{-N}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g + \mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g,$$

which can then be used to write the bilinear form $\int (T_{\sigma}f) g d\omega$ as a sum of the forms

$$\sum_{\substack{2^{n+1}\text{pairs}\\(I_{\infty},J_{\infty})}} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}\\I \subset I_{\infty}}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}\\J \subset J_{\infty}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega + \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}\\I \subset I_{\infty}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega + \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}\\I \subset I_{\infty}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega + \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \right\}$$
(3.2.3)

taken over the 2^{n+1} pairs of cubes (I_{∞}, J_{∞}) above. The second, third and fourth sums in (3.2.3) can be controlled using testing and random surgery. For example, for the second sum we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) \mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \right| &\leq \left| \int_{I_{\infty} \cap J_{\infty}} \left(\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} \left(\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) d\sigma \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{I_{\infty} \cap ((1+\delta)J_{\infty} \setminus J_{\infty})} \left(\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} \left(\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) d\sigma \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{I_{\infty} \setminus (1+\delta)J_{\infty}} \left(\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} \left(\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) d\sigma \right| \\ &\equiv A_{1} + A_{2} + A_{3} \end{aligned}$$

So we are left with bounding A_1, A_2, A_3 . We have

$$A_{1} \leq \left(\int_{I_{\infty}} \left| \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right|^{2} d\sigma \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{J_{\infty}} \left| T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} \left(\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|^{2} d\sigma \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

and since $\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g = b_{J_{\infty}}^* \frac{E_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega}g}{E_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega}b_{J_{\infty}}^*}$ is $b_{J_{\infty}}^*$ times an 'accretive' average of g on J_{∞} , we get

$$\begin{aligned} A_{1} &\leq \left\| \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ I \subset I_{\infty}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left(\int_{J_{\infty}} \left| T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} (\mathbf{1}_{J_{\infty}} b_{J_{\infty}}^{*}) \right|^{2} d\sigma \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |E_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega} g| \cdot \frac{1}{c_{\mathbf{b}}^{*} |J_{\infty}|_{\omega}} \\ &\lesssim \ \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha, *}}^{\mathbf{b}^{*}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{aligned}$$

where in the last inequality we used the frame estimates (3.1.51) and the dual testing condition on $b_{J_{\infty}}^*$.

For A_2 we use expectation on the grid \mathcal{G} .

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{G}}A_{2} &\leq \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{G}}\int_{I_{\infty}\cap[(1+\delta)J_{\infty}\setminus J_{\infty}]} \left|\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}:\ I\subset I_{\infty}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right| \left|T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*}\left(\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right)\right| d\sigma \\ &\leq \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{G}}\left(\int_{I_{\infty}\cap[(1+\delta)J_{\infty}\setminus J_{\infty}]}\left|\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}:\ I\subset I_{\infty}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right|^{2}d\sigma\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int\left|T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*}\left(\mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right)\right|^{2}d\sigma\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \left(\mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{G}}\int_{I_{\infty}\cap[(1+\delta)J_{\infty}\setminus J_{\infty}]}\left|\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}:\ I\subset I_{\infty}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right|^{2}d\sigma\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\int|g|^{2}d\omega\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \left(C\delta\int_{I_{\infty}}\left|\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}:\ I\subset I_{\infty}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right|^{2}d\sigma\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\int|g|^{2}d\omega\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{C\delta\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}}\left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}\left\|g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

Finally for A_3 we use lemma 3.4.3 since $dist(I_{\infty} \setminus (1 + \delta)J_{\infty}, J_{\infty}) \approx \delta \ell(J_{\infty})$ to get

$$A_3 \lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \delta^{\alpha-n} \left\| f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}.$$
Altogether we get

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \left| \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D} \\ I \subset I_{\infty}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) \mathbb{F}_{J_{\infty}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \right| \lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \delta^{\alpha - n} + \delta \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \right) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

Similarly we deal with the third and fourth sum of (3.2.3). We are left to deal with the first sum in (3.2.3).

3.2.1 The Hytönen-Martikainen decomposition and weak goodness

Now we turn to the various splittings of forms, beginning with the two weight analogue of the decomposition of Hytönen and Martikainen [24]. Let **b** (respectively **b**^{*}) be a ∞ weakly σ -controlled (respectively ω -controlled) accretive family. Fix the stopping data \mathcal{A} and $\{\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)\}_{A \in \mathcal{A}}$ and dual martingale differences $\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$ constructed above with the triple iterated coronas, as well as the corresponding data for g. We are left with the estimation of the bilinear form $\int (T_{\sigma}f) gd\omega$ to that of the sum

$$\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}}\sum_{J\in\mathcal{G}}\int\left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f\right)\Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}gd\omega,$$

We split the form $\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f,g\rangle_{\omega}$ into the sum of two essentially symmetric forms by cube size,

$$\int (T_{\sigma}f) g d\omega = \left\{ \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ J \in \mathcal{G} \\ \ell(J) \le \ell(I)}} + \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ J \in \mathcal{G} \\ \ell(J) > \ell(I)}} \right\} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega, \quad (3.2.4)$$
$$\equiv \Theta(f, g) + \Theta^{*}(f, g)$$

and focus on the first sum,

$$\Theta\left(f,g\right) = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq \ell(I)} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f, \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}_{J} \right\rangle_{\omega},$$

since the second sum is handled dually, but is easier due to the missing diagonal. Before introducing goodness into the sum, we follow [24] and split the form $\Theta(f, g)$ into 3 pieces:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \\ \equiv} + \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) \geq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \\ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \\ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \\ end{trace} \right\} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &\equiv \Theta_{1}\left(f,g\right) + \Theta_{2}\left(f,g\right) + \Theta_{3}\left(f,g\right) \ , \end{split}$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ will be chosen to satisfy $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1-\alpha}$ later. Now the disjoint form $\Theta_1(f,g)$ can be handled by 'long-range' and 'short-range' arguments which we give in a section below, and the nearby form $\Theta_3(f,g)$ will be handled using surgery methods and a new recursive argument involving energy conditions and the 'original' testing functions discarded in the corona construction. The remaining form $\Theta_2(f,g)$ will be treated further in this section after introducing weak goodness.

3.2.1.1 Good cubes with 'body'

. We begin with the weaker extension of goodness introduced in [24], except that we will make it a bit stronger by replacing the skeleton '*skelK*' of a cube K, as used in [24], by a larger collection of points '*bodyK*', which we call the dyadic body of K. This modification will prove useful in establishing the Straddling Lemma in the treatment of the stopping form in Section 3.6 below. Let \mathcal{P} denote the collection of all cubes in \mathbb{R}^n . The content of the next four definitions is inspired by, or sometimes identical with, that already appearing in the work of Nazarov, Treil and Volberg in [36] and [38].

Definition 3.2.3. Given a dyadic cube $K \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we define W(K) to be the Whitney cubes in K. Namely, $S \in W(K)$ if:

- $3S \subset K$.
- $S' \cap S \neq \emptyset$ and $3S' \subset K$ imply $S' \subset S$.

Definition 3.2.4. We define the dyadic body 'bodyK' of a dyadic cube $K \in \mathbb{R}^n$ by

$$bodyK = \bigcup_{S \in W(K)} \partial S$$

where ∂S is the boundary of S.

Definition 3.2.5. Let $0 < \epsilon < 1$. For dyadic cubes $J, K \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\ell(J) \leq \ell(K)$ we define J to be ϵ -good in K if

$$\operatorname{dist}(J, bodyK) > 2\ell(J)^{\epsilon}\ell(K)^{1-\epsilon}$$
(3.2.5)

and we say it is ϵ -bad in K if (3.2.5) fails.

Definition 3.2.6. Let \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} be two dyadic grids in \mathbb{R}^n . Define $\mathcal{G}_{(k,\epsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ to consist of those cubes $J \in \mathcal{G}$ such that J is ϵ -good inside every cube $K \in \mathcal{D}$ with $K \cap J \neq \emptyset$ and $\ell(K) \geq 2^k \ell(J)$.

3.2.1.2 Grid probability

As pointed out on page 14 of [24] by Hytönen and Martikainen, there are subtle difficulties associated in using dual martingale decompositions of functions which depend on the entire dyadic grid, rather than on just the local cube in the grid. We will proceed at first in the spirit of [24], and the goodness that we will infuse below into the main 'below' form $\mathsf{B}_{\subseteq \mathbf{r}}(f,g)$ will be the Hytönen-Martikainen 'weak' version of NTV goodness, but using the body 'bodyI' of a cube rather than its skeleton 'skelI': every pair $(I,J) \in \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{G}$ that arises in the form $\mathsf{B}_{\subseteq \mathbf{r}}(f,g)$ will satisfy $J \in \mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ where $\ell(I) = 2^k \ell(J)$.

Now we return to the martingale differences $\Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$ and $\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ with controlled families \mathbf{b} and \mathbf{b}^* in \mathbb{R}^n . When we want to emphasize that the grid in use is \mathcal{D} or \mathcal{G} , we will denote the martingale difference by $\Box_{I,\mathcal{D}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$, and similarly for $\Box_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$. Recall Definition 3.2.5 for the meaning of when an cube J is ε -bad with respect to another cube K.

Definition 3.2.7. We say that $J \in \mathcal{P}$ is k-bad in a grid \mathcal{D} if there is a cube $K \in \mathcal{D}$ with $\ell(K) = 2^k \ell(J)$ such that J is ε -bad with respect to K (context should eliminate any ambiguity between the different use of k-bad when $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and ε -bad when $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$).

Following [54] we know that in one dimension for an interval J and grids \mathcal{D}_0

$$\boldsymbol{P}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}_{0}}\left(\mathcal{D}_{0}: J \text{ is } k\text{-bad in } \mathcal{D}_{0}\right) \equiv \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\{\mathcal{D}_{0}: J \text{ is } k\text{-bad in } \mathcal{D}_{0}\}} d\mu_{\Omega}\left(\mathcal{D}_{0}\right) \leq C\varepsilon k 2^{-\varepsilon k}.$$
 (3.2.6)

Thus we conclude:

$$\boldsymbol{P}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}_{0}}\left(\mathcal{D}_{0}: J \text{ is } k\text{-}good \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_{0}\right) \geq 1 - C\varepsilon k2^{-\varepsilon k}.$$
(3.2.7)

Now for a cube J to be good in our *n*-dimensional setting, it needs to be good in each side. So, we conclude that

$$\boldsymbol{P}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\left(\mathcal{D}: J \text{ is } k\text{-}good \text{ in } \mathcal{D}\right) \ge (1 - C\varepsilon k 2^{-\varepsilon k})^n.$$
(3.2.8)

and therefore a cube is bad with probability bounded by:

$$\boldsymbol{P}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\left(\mathcal{D}: J \text{ is } k\text{-bad in } \mathcal{D}\right) \leq 1 - (1 - C\varepsilon k 2^{-\varepsilon k})^{n}.$$
(3.2.9)

Then we obtain from (3.2.9), using the lower frame inequality, the expectation estimate

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}_{k-bad}} \left[\left\| \Box_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right] d\mu_{\Omega}\left(\mathcal{D}\right) \\ &= \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \left[\left\| \Box_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right] \int_{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\{\mathcal{D}: \ J \ \text{is } k-bad \ \text{in } \mathcal{D}\}} d\mu_{\Omega}\left(\mathcal{D}\right) \\ &\leq \left(1 - (1 - C\varepsilon k2^{-\varepsilon k})^{n}\right) \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \left[\left\| \Box_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right] \\ &\leq \left(1 - (1 - C\varepsilon k2^{-\varepsilon k})^{n}\right) \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \,, \end{split}$$

where $\bigtriangledown_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}$ denotes the 'broken' Carleson averaging operator in (3.1.39) that depends on the broken children in the grid \mathcal{G} . Altogether then it follows easily that

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\left(\sum_{\boldsymbol{J}\in\bigcup_{\ell=k}^{\infty}\mathcal{G}_{\ell-bad}^{\mathcal{D}}}\left[\left\|\Box_{\boldsymbol{J},\mathcal{G}}^{\boldsymbol{\omega},\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\boldsymbol{\omega})}^{2}+\left\|\bigtriangledown_{\boldsymbol{J},\mathcal{G}}^{\boldsymbol{\omega}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\boldsymbol{\omega})}^{2}\right]\right)\leq(1-(1-C\varepsilon k2^{-\varepsilon k})^{n})\|g\|_{L^{2}(\boldsymbol{\omega})}^{2}$$

$$(3.2.10)$$

for some large positive constant C.

From such inequalities summed for $k \ge \mathbf{r}$, it can be concluded as in [38] that there is an absolute choice of \mathbf{r} depending on $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$ so that the following holds. Let $T : L^2(\sigma) \rightarrow L^2(\omega)$ be a bounded linear operator. We then have the following traditional inequality for two random grids in the case that **b** is an ∞ -weakly μ -controlled accretive family:

$$\|T\| \leq 2 \sup_{\|f\|} \sup_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sup_{l \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\omega)}} \mathbb{E}_{\Omega} \mathbb{E}_{\Omega'} \left| \left\langle \sum_{I,J \in \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{r}-good}} T\left(\Box_{I,\mathcal{D}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) f, \Box_{J,\mathcal{D}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|. \quad (3.2.11)$$

However, this traditional method of introducing goodness is flawed here in the general setting of dual martingale differences, since these differences are no longer orthogonal projections, and as emphasized in [24], we cannot simply add back in bad cubes whenever we want telescoping identities to hold - but these are needed in order to control the right hand side of (3.2.11). In fact, in the analysis of the form $\Theta(f,g)$ above, it is necessary to have goodness for the cubes J and telescoping for the cubes I. On the other hand, in the analysis of the form $\Theta^*(f,g)$ above, it is necessary to have just the opposite - namely goodness for the cubes I and telescoping for the cubes J.

Thus, because in this unfortunate set of circumstances we can no longer 'add back in' bad cubes to achieve telescoping, we are prevented from introducing goodness in the *full* sum (3.2.4) over all I and J, prior to splitting according to side lengths of I and J. Thus the infusion of goodness must come *after* the splitting by side length, but one must work much harder to introduce goodness directly into the form $\Theta(f,g)$ *after* we have restricted the sum to cubes J that have smaller side length than I. This is accomplished in the next subsubsection using the *weaker form of NTV goodness* introduced by Hytönen and Martikainen in [24] (that permits certain additional pairs (I, J) in the good forms where $\ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I)$ and yet J is *bad* in the traditional sense), and that will prevail later in the treatment of the far below forms $\mathsf{T}^1_{farbelow}(f,g)$, and of the local forms $\mathsf{B}^A_{\subseteq_{\mathbf{r}}}(f,g)$ (see Subsection 3.7) where the need for using the 'body' of a cube will become apparent in dealing with the stopping form, and also in the treatment of the functional energy in Appendix B of [54].

3.2.1.3 Weak goodness

Let \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} be dyadic grids. It remains to estimate the form $\Theta_2(f,g)$ which, following [24], we will split into a 'bad' part and a 'good' part. For this we introduce our main definition associated with the above modification of the weak goodness of Hytönen and Martikainen, namely the definition of the cube $R^{\mathbf{F}}$ in a grid \mathcal{D} , given an arbitrary cube $R \in \mathcal{P}$.

Definition 3.2.8. Let \mathcal{D} be a dyadic grid. Given $R \in \mathcal{P}$, let $R^{\mathbf{H}}$ be the smallest (if any such exist) \mathcal{D} -dyadic supercube Q of R such that R is good inside all \mathcal{D} -dyadic supercubes K of Q. Of course $R^{\mathbf{H}}$ will not exist if there is no \mathcal{D} -dyadic cube Q containing R in which R is good. For cubes $R, Q \in \mathcal{P}$ let $\kappa(Q, R) = \log_2 \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(R)}$. For $R \in \mathcal{P}$ for which $R^{\mathbf{H}}$ exists, let $\kappa(R) \equiv \kappa(R^{\mathbf{H}}, R)$.

Note that we typically suppress the dependence of $R^{\mathbf{F}}$ on the grid \mathcal{D} , since the grid is usually understood from context. If $R^{\mathbf{F}}$ exists, we thus have that R is good inside all \mathcal{D} -dyadic supercubes K of R with $\ell(K) \geq \ell(R^{\mathbf{F}})$. Note in particular the monotonicity property for $J', J \in \mathcal{P}$:

$$J' \subset J \Longrightarrow (J')^{\mathbf{H}} \subset J^{\mathbf{H}}.$$

Here now is the decomposition:

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{2}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J^{\mathbf{A}} \varsubsetneq I, \ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \\ &+ \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J^{\mathbf{A}} \subsetneq I, \ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \\ &\equiv \Theta_{2}^{bad}\left(f,g\right) + \Theta_{2}^{good}\left(f,g\right) \ , \end{split}$$

and where if J^{\bigstar} fails to exist, we assume by convention that $J^{\bigstar} \not\subseteq I$, i.e. J^{\bigstar} is not strictly contained in I, so that the pair (I, J) is then included in the bad form $\Theta_2^{bad}(f, g)$. We will in fact estimate a larger quantity corresponding to the bad form, namely

$$\Theta_{2}^{bad\natural}(f,g) \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J^{\mathbf{A}} \not\subseteq I, \ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \right|$$
(3.2.12)

with absolute value signs *inside* the sum.

Remark 3.2.9. We now make some general comments on where we now stand and where we are going.

- In the first sum Θ₂^{bad} (f, g) above, we are roughly keeping the pairs of cubes (I, J) such that J is bad with respect to some 'nearby' cube having side length larger than that of I.
- 2. We have defined energy and dual energy conditions that are independent of the testing families (because the definition of $\mathsf{E}(J,\omega) = \mathbb{E}_J^{\omega,x} \mathbb{E}_J^{\omega,x'} \left(\left| \frac{x-x'}{\ell(J)} \right|^2 \right)$ does not involve

pseudoprojections $\Box_{J,\mathcal{D}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$), but the functional energy condition defined below does involve the dual martingale pseudoprojections $\Box_{J,\mathcal{D}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$.

- 3. Using the notion of weak goodness above, we will be able to eliminate all pairs of cubes with J bad in I, which then permits control of the short range form in Section 3.3 and the neighbour form in Section 3.5 provided 0 < ε < 1/(n+1-α). Defining shifted coronas in terms of J^{*} will then allow existing arguments to prove the Intertwining Proposition and obtain control of the functional energy in Appendix B of [54], as well as permitting control of the stopping form in Section 3.6, but all of this with some new twists, for example the introduction of a top/down 'indented corona' in the analysis of the stopping form.
- 4. The nearby form $\Theta_3(f,g)$ is handled in Section 3.4 using the energy condition assumption along with the original testing functions b_Q^{orig} discarded during the construction of the testing/accretive corona.

These remarks will become clear in this and the following sections. Recall that we earlier defined in Definition 3.2.6, the set $\mathcal{G}_{k-good}^{\mathcal{D}} = \mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ to consist of those $J \in \mathcal{G}$ such that J is $\varepsilon - good$ inside every cube $K \in \mathcal{D}$ with $K \cap J \neq \emptyset$ that lies at least k levels 'above' J, i.e. $\ell(K) \geq 2^k \ell(J)$. We now define an analogous notion of $\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}^{\mathcal{D}}$.

Definition 3.2.10. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Define the set $\mathcal{G}_{k-bad}^{\mathcal{D}} = \mathcal{G}_{(k,\varepsilon)-bad}^{\mathcal{D}}$ to consist of all $J \in \mathcal{G}$ such that there is a \mathcal{D} -cube K with sidelength $\ell(K) = 2^k \ell(J)$ for which J is ε – bad with respect to K.

Note that for grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} , the complement of $\mathcal{G}_{k-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ is the union of $\mathcal{G}_{\ell-bad}^{\mathcal{D}}$ for $\ell \geq k$,

i.e.

$$\mathcal{G} \setminus \mathcal{G}_{k-good}^{\mathcal{D}} = \bigcup_{\ell \ge k} \mathcal{G}_{\ell-bad}^{\mathcal{D}} .$$

Now assume $\varepsilon > 0$. We then have the following important property, namely for all cubes R, and all $k \ge \mathbf{r}$ (where the goodness parameter \mathbf{r} will be fixed given $\varepsilon > 0$ in (3.2.16) below):

$$\#\left\{Q:\kappa\left(Q,R\right)=k \text{ and } d\left(R,Q\right)\leq 2\ell\left(R\right)^{\varepsilon}\ell\left(Q\right)^{1-\varepsilon}\right\}\lesssim 1.$$
(3.2.13)

As in [24], set

$$\mathcal{G}_{bad,n}^{\mathcal{D}} \equiv \{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J \text{ is } \varepsilon - bad \text{ with respect to some } K \in \mathcal{D} \text{ with } \ell(K) \ge n \}.$$

We will now use the set equality

$$\left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J^{\mathbf{P}} \not\subset I, \ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I), \ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \right\}$$
(3.2.14)
=
$$\left\{ R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,\ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}} : \mathbf{r} \leq \kappa(Q,R) < \kappa(R), \ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon} \ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon} \right\},$$

which the careful reader can prove by painstakingly verifying both containments.

Assuming only that **b** is 2-weakly μ -controlled accretive, and following the proof in [24], we use (3.2.14) to show that for any fixed grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} , and any bounded linear operator T^{α}_{σ} we have the following inequality for the form $\Theta_2^{bad\natural,strict}(f,g)$, defined to be $\Theta_2^{bad\natural}(f,g)$ as in (3.2.12) with the pairs (I, J) removed when $J^{\mathbf{A}} = I$. We use $\varepsilon_{Q,R} = \pm 1$ to obtain

$$\begin{split} \Theta_{2}^{bad \natural, strict}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad, \ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}}: \mathbf{r} \leq \kappa(Q, R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{Q, \mathcal{D}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{R, \mathcal{G}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle \right| \\ &= \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D} \\ R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad, \ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}}: \mathbf{r} \leq \kappa(Q, R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \varepsilon_{Q, R} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{Q, \mathcal{D}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{R, \mathcal{G}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle \\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D} \\ Q \in \mathcal{D}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{Q, \mathcal{D}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad, \ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}}: \mathbf{r} \leq \kappa(Q, R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \varepsilon_{Q, R} \Box_{R, \mathcal{G}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle \right| \end{split}$$

$$\leq \Re_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left\| \Box_{Q,\mathcal{D}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,\ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}}: \mathbf{r} \leq \kappa(Q,R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \varepsilon_{Q,R} \Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ \leq \Re_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left\| \Box_{Q,\mathcal{D}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sum_{k=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} \left\| \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,\ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}}: k=\kappa(Q,R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \varepsilon_{Q,R} \Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

,

by Minkowski's inequality, and we continue with

$$\leq 2\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{k=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \left\| \Box_{Q,\mathcal{D}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \\ \left(\sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D} \\ R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,\ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}} : \ k = \kappa(Q,R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \le 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left(\left\| \Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \lesssim \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \| f \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sum_{k=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,2^{k}\ell(R)}^{\mathcal{D}}} \left(\left\| \Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where $\bigtriangledown_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}$ denotes the 'broken' Carleson averaging operator in (3.1.39) that depends on the grid \mathcal{G} , and

1. the penultimate inequality uses Cauchy-Schwarz in Q and the weak upper Riesz inequalities (3.1.53) for $\sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,\ell(Q)}^{\mathcal{D}}: \ k = \kappa(Q,R) < \kappa(R) \\ d(R,Q) \leq 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon}\ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \varepsilon_{Q,R} = 1$, and again for the sum when $\varepsilon_{Q,R} = -1$. However, we note that since

 $\varepsilon_{Q,R} = 1$, and again for the sum when $\varepsilon_{Q,R} = -1$. However, we note that since the sum in R is pigeonholed by $k = \kappa (Q, R)$, the R's are pairwise disjoint cubes and the pseudoprojections $\Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g$ are pairwise orthogonal. Thus we could instead apply Cauchy-Schwarz first in R, and then in Q as was done in [24], but we must still apply weak upper Riesz inequalities as above.

2. and the final inequality uses the frame inequality (3.1.51) together with (3.2.13), namely the fact that there are at most C cubes Q such that $\kappa(Q, R) \ge \mathbf{r}$ is fixed and $d(R, Q) \le 2\ell(R)^{\varepsilon} \ell(Q)^{1-\varepsilon}$. Now it is easy to verify that we have the same inequality for the pairs (J^{\bigstar}, J) that were removed, and then we take grid expectations and use the probability estimate (3.2.10) to obtain for $\varepsilon' = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon$ that $\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\left(\Theta_{2}^{bad\natural}(f,g)\right)$ is bounded by

$$(3.2.15)$$

$$\leq E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sum_{k=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,2^{k}\ell(R)}^{\mathcal{D}}} \left(\left\| \Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sum_{k=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} \left(E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{R \in \mathcal{G}_{bad,2^{k}\ell(R)}^{\mathcal{D}}} \left(\left\| \Box_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \bigtriangledown_{R,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim 2^{-\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon'\mathbf{r}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sum_{k=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} \left((1 - (C_{1}2^{-\varepsilon k})^{n}) \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq C_{good} 2^{-\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon\mathbf{r}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}.$$

Clearly we can now fix **r** sufficiently large depending on $\varepsilon > 0$ so that

$$C_{good} 2^{-\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon \mathbf{r}} < \frac{1}{100},$$
 (3.2.16)

and then the final term above, namely $C_{good}2^{-\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon\mathbf{r}}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$, can be absorbed at the end of the proof in Subsection 3.7. Note that (3.2.16) fixes our choice of the parameter \mathbf{r} for any given $\varepsilon > 0$. Later we will choose $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2} \leq \frac{1}{n+1-\alpha}$. It is this type of weak goodness that we will exploit in the local forms $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset\mathbf{r}}(f,g)$ treated below in Section 3.5. We are now left with the following 'good' form to control:

$$\Theta_{2}^{good}\left(f,g\right) = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \not\models \subseteq I: \ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) \leq 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega.$$

The first thing we observe regarding this form is that the cubes J which arise in the sum for $\Theta_2^{good}(f,g)$ must lie entirely inside I since $J \subset J^{\bigstar} \subsetneq I$. Then in the remainder of the paper, we proceed to analyze

$$\Theta_2^{good}\left(f,g\right) = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneqq I: \ \ell(J) \le 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I)} \int \left(T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_I^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f\right) \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g d\omega, \tag{3.2.17}$$

in the same way we analyzed the below term $\mathsf{B}_{\subseteq_{\mathbf{r}}}(f,g)$ in [48]; namely, by implementing the canonical corona splitting and the decomposition into paraproduct, neighbour and stopping forms, but now with an additional broken form. We have (κ, ε) -goodness available for all the cubes $J \in \mathcal{G}$ arising in the form $\Theta_2^{good}(f,g)$, and moreover, the cubes $I \in \mathcal{D}$ arising in the form $\Theta_2^{good}(f,g)$ for a fixed J are tree-connected, so that telescoping identities hold for these cubes I. This will prove decisive in the following three sections of the paper.

The forms $\Theta_1(f,g)$ and $\Theta_3(f,g)$ are analogous to the disjoint and nearby forms $\mathsf{B}_{\cap}(f,g)$ and $\mathsf{B}_{/}(f,g)$ in [48] respectively. In the next two sections, we control the disjoint form $\Theta_1(f,g)$ in essentially the same way that the disjoint form $\mathsf{B}_{\cap}(f,g)$ was treated in [48] and in earlier papers of many authors beginning with Nazarov, Treil and Volberg (see e.g. [58]), and we control the nearby form $\Theta_3(f,g)$ using the probabilistic surgery of Hytönen and Martikainen building on that of NTV, together with a new deterministic surgery involving the energy condition and the original testing functions. But first we recall, in the following subsection, the characterization of boundedness of one-dimensional forms supported on disjoint cubes [22].

3.3 Disjoint form

Here we control the disjoint form $\Theta_1(f,g)$ by further decomposing it as follows:

$$\Theta_{1}(f,g) = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \int \left(T_{\sigma} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) > \max(\ell(I), 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}) \ \ell(I) \geq d(J,I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} } } + \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} } } \right\} \int \!\!\!\! \left(T_{\sigma} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \\ &\equiv \Theta_{1}^{long} \left(f, g \right) + \Theta_{1}^{short} \left(f, g \right), \end{split}$$

where $\Theta_1^{long}(f,g)$ is a 'long range' form in which J is far from I, and where $\Theta_1^{short}(f,g)$ is a short range form. It should be noted that the goodness plays no role in treating the disjoint form.

3.3.1 Long range form

Lemma 3.3.1. We have

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \le \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) > \ell(I)}} \left| \int \left(T_{\sigma} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \right| \lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

Proof. Since J and I are separated by at least $\max \{\ell(J), \ell(I)\}$, we have the inequality

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \left| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right| \sigma \right) &\approx \int_{I} \frac{\ell \left(J \right)}{\left| y - c_{J} \right|^{n+1-\alpha}} \left| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \left(y \right) \right| d\sigma \left(y \right) \\ &\lesssim \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \frac{\ell \left(J \right) \sqrt{\left| I \right|_{\sigma}}}{d \left(I, J \right)^{n+1-\alpha}}, \end{split}$$

since $\int_{I} \left| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f(y) \right| d\sigma(y) \leq \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}}$. Thus if A(f,g) denotes the left hand side of the conclusion of Lemma 3.3.1, we have using first the Energy Lemma,

$$\begin{split} A\left(f,g\right) &\lesssim \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J : \ell(J) \leq \ell(I) \\ d(I,J) \geq \ell(I)}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \frac{\ell\left(J\right)}{d\left(I,J\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \\ &\equiv \sum_{(I,J) \in \mathcal{P}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} A\left(I,J\right); \\ &\text{with } A\left(I,J\right) \equiv \frac{\ell\left(J\right)}{d\left(I,J\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}}; \\ &\text{ and } \mathcal{P} \equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{G} : \ell\left(J\right) \leq \ell\left(I\right) \text{ and } d\left(I,J\right) \geq \ell\left(I\right) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Now let $\mathcal{D}_N \equiv \left\{ K \in \mathcal{D} : \ell(K) = 2^N \right\}$ for each $N \in \mathbb{Z}$. For $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $s \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, we further decompose A(f,g) by pigeonholing the sidelengths of I and J by 2^N and 2^{N-s} respectively:

$$\begin{split} A\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} A_{N}^{s}\left(f,g\right); \\ A_{N}^{s}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{(I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{N}^{s}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} A\left(I,J\right) \\ \text{where } \mathcal{P}_{N}^{s} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{D}_{N} \times \mathcal{G}_{N-s} : d\left(I,J\right) \geq \ell\left(I\right) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Now let $\mathsf{P}_{M}^{\sigma} = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{D}_{M}} \Box_{K}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}$ denote the dual martingale pseudoprojection onto $\operatorname{Span}\left\{ \Box_{K}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} \right\}_{K \in \mathcal{D}_{M}}$. Since the cubes K in \mathcal{D}_{M} are pairwise disjoint, the pseudoprojections $\Box_{K}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} \text{ are mutually orthogonal, which means that } \left\|\mathsf{P}_{M}^{\sigma}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} = \sum_{K\in\mathcal{D}_{M}}\left\|\Box_{K}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}.$ We claim that

$$\left|A_{N}^{s}\left(f,g\right)\right| \leq C2^{-s}\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{N}^{\sigma}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{N-s}^{\omega}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}, \quad \text{for } s \geq 0 \text{ and } N \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(3.3.1)

With this proved, we can then obtain

$$\begin{split} A(f,g) &= \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} A_{N}^{s}(f,g) = \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} A_{N}^{s}(f,g) \\ &\leq C \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} 2^{-s} \sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{N}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{N-s}^{\omega} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\leq C \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} 2^{-s} \left(\sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{N}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{N-s}^{\omega} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq C \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} 2^{-s} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} = C \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}. \end{split}$$

To prove (3.3.1), we pigeonhole the distance between I and J:

$$\begin{split} A_{N}^{s}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(f,g\right);\\ A_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}_{N,\ell}^{s}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} A\left(I,J\right)\\ \text{where } \mathcal{P}_{N,\ell}^{s} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J)\in\mathcal{D}_{N}\times\mathcal{G}_{N-s}: d\left(I,J\right)\approx 2^{N+\ell} \right\}. \end{split}$$

If we define $\mathcal{H}\left(A_{N,\ell}^{s}\right)$ to be the bilinear form on $\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}$ with matrix $[A(I,J)]_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}_{N,\ell}^{s}}$, then it remains to show that the norm $\left\|\mathcal{H}\left(A_{N,\ell}^{s}\right)\right\|_{\ell^{2}\to\ell^{2}}$ of $\mathcal{H}\left(A_{N,\ell}^{s}\right)$ on the sequence space ℓ^{2} is bounded by $C2^{-s-\ell}\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}$. In turn, this is equivalent to showing that the norm $\left\|\mathcal{H}\left(B_{N,\ell}^{s}\right)\right\|_{\ell^{2}\to\ell^{2}}$ of the bilinear form $\mathcal{H}\left(B_{N,\ell}^{s}\right) \equiv \mathcal{H}\left(A_{N,\ell}^{s}\right)^{tr}\mathcal{H}\left(A_{N,\ell}^{s}\right)$ on the sequence space ℓ^2 is bounded by $C^2 2^{-2s-2\ell} \mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}$. Here $\mathcal{H}\left(B_{N,\ell}^s\right)$ is the quadratic form with matrix kernel $\left[B_{N,\ell}^s\left(J,J'\right)\right]_{J,J'\in\mathcal{D}_{N-s}}$ having entries:

$$B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right) \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}_{N}: \ d(I,J) \approx d(I,J') \approx 2^{N+\ell}} A\left(I,J\right) A\left(I,J'\right), \quad \text{for } J,J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s}.$$

We are reduced to showing the bilinear form inequality,

$$\left\| \mathcal{H}\left(B_{N,\ell}^{s}\right) \right\|_{\ell^{2} \to \ell^{2}} \leq C 2^{-2s-2\ell} \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha} \quad \text{for } s \geq 0, \ \ell \geq 0 \text{ and } N \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

We begin by computing $B_{N,\ell}^{s}(J, J')$:

$$B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right) = \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}_{N} \\ d(I,J) \approx d\left(I,J\right)^{n+1-\alpha}}} \frac{\ell\left(J\right)}{d\left(I,J\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}} \frac{\ell\left(J'\right)}{d\left(I,J'\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}_{N} \\ d(I,J) \approx d\left(I,J\right)^{n+1-\alpha}}} \frac{|I|_{\sigma}}{d\left(I,J'\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \cdot \ell\left(J\right)\ell\left(J'\right) \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}.$$
$$d(I,J) \approx d\left(I,J'\right) \approx 2^{N+\ell}$$

Now we show that

$$\left\| B_{N,\ell}^s \right\|_{\ell^2 \to \ell^2} \lesssim 2^{-2s - 2\ell} \mathfrak{A}_2^\alpha , \qquad (3.3.2)$$

by applying the proof of Schur's lemma. Fix $\ell \geq 0$ and $s \geq 0$. Choose the Schur function $\beta(K) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|K|_{\omega}}}$. Fix $J \in \mathcal{D}_{N-s}$. We now group those $I \in \mathcal{D}_N$ with $d(I, J) \approx 2^{N+\ell}$ into finitely many groups $G_1, ..., G_C$ for which the union of the I in each group is contained in a cube of side length roughly $\frac{1}{100}2^{N+\ell}$, and we set $I_k^* \equiv \bigcup_{I \in G_k} I$ for $1 \leq k \leq C$ (note that I_k^* is not a cube). We then have

$$\sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ d(J',J) \leq \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}}} \frac{\beta(J)}{\beta(J')} B_{N,\ell}^{s} (J,J') + \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ d(J',J) > \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}}} \frac{\beta(J)}{\beta(J')} B_{N,\ell}^{s} (J,J') + \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ d(J',J) > \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}}} \frac{\beta(J)}{\beta(J')} B_{N,\ell}^{s} (J,J')$$

$$\equiv A + B,$$

where

$$\begin{split} A &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ d\left(J,J'\right) \leq \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}}} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}_{N} \\ d(I,J) \approx 2^{N+\ell}}} |I|_{\sigma} \right\} \frac{2^{2(N-s)}}{2^{2(\ell+N)(n+1-\alpha)}} |J'|_{\omega} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ d\left(J,J'\right) \leq \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}}} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{C} |I_{k}^{*}|_{\sigma} \right\} \frac{2^{2(N-s)}}{2^{2(\ell+N)(n+1-\alpha)}} |J'|_{\omega} \\ &= \frac{2^{2(N-s)}}{2^{2(\ell+N)(n+1-\alpha)}} \sum_{k=1}^{C} \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{G}_{N-s} \\ d\left(J,J'\right) \leq \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}}} |I_{k}^{*}|_{\sigma} |J'|_{\omega} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-2s-2\ell} \sum_{k=1}^{C} \frac{|I_{k}^{*}|_{\sigma}}{2^{(\ell+N)(n-\alpha)}} \frac{\left|\frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}J\right|_{\omega}}{2^{(\ell+N)(n-\alpha)}} \lesssim 2^{-2s-2\ell} \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}, \end{split}$$

since I_k^* is contained in a cube \tilde{I}_k^* such that $|I_k^*| \approx |\tilde{I}_k^*|$, with an implied constant depending only on dimension, and \tilde{I}_k^* , $\frac{1}{100}2^{N+\ell+2}J$ are well separated. If we let Q_k be the smallest cube containing the set

$$E_k \equiv \bigcup_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{D}_{N-s}: \ d\left(I_k^*, J'\right) \approx 2^{N+\ell} \\ d\left(J, J'\right) > \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}} J'$$

we then have

$$\begin{split} B &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{D}_{N-s} \\ d\left(J,J'\right) > \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}_{N} \\ d\left(I,J'\right) \approx d(I,J) \approx 2^{N+\ell}}} |I|_{\sigma} \right\} \frac{2^{2(N-s)}}{2^{2(\ell+N)(n+1-\alpha)}} |J'|_{\omega} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathcal{D}_{N-s} \\ d\left(J,J'\right) > \frac{1}{100} 2^{N+\ell+2}} \left\{ \sum_{k: \ d\left(I_{k}^{*},J'\right) \approx 2^{N+\ell}} |I_{k}^{*}|_{\sigma} \right\} \frac{2^{2(N-s)}}{2^{2(\ell+N)(n+1-\alpha)}} |J'|_{\omega} \\ &\lesssim \frac{2^{2(N-s)}}{2^{2(\ell+N)(n+1-\alpha)}} \sum_{k=1}^{C} |I_{k}^{*}|_{\sigma} |E_{k}|_{\omega} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-2s-2\ell} \sum_{k=1}^{C} \frac{|I_{k}^{*}|_{\sigma}}{2^{(\ell+N)(n-\alpha)}} \frac{|Q_{k}|_{\omega}}{2^{(\ell+N)(n-\alpha)}} \lesssim 2^{-2s-2\ell} \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}, \end{split}$$

since I_k^* is contained in a cube \tilde{I}_k^* such that $|I_k^*| \approx |\tilde{I}_k^*|$, with an implied constant depending only on dimension, and \tilde{I}_k^* , $\frac{1}{100}2^{N+\ell+2}J$ are well separated. Thus we can now apply Schur's

argument with $\sum_{J}\left(a_{J}\right)^{2}=\sum_{J'}\left(b_{J'}\right)^{2}=1$ to obtain

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{J,J'\in\mathcal{G}_{N-s}} a_{J}b_{J'}B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right) = \sum_{J,J'\in\mathcal{G}_{N-s}} a_{J}\beta\left(J\right)b_{J'}\beta\left(J'\right)\frac{B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right)}{\beta\left(J\right)\beta\left(J'\right)}\\ &\leq \sum_{J} \left(a_{J}\beta\left(J\right)\right)^{2}\sum_{J'} \frac{B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right)}{\beta\left(J\right)\beta\left(J'\right)} + \sum_{J'} \left(b_{J'}\beta\left(J'\right)\right)^{2}\sum_{J} \frac{B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right)}{\beta\left(J\right)\beta\left(J'\right)}\\ &= \sum_{J} \left(a_{J}\right)^{2} \left\{\sum_{J'} \frac{\beta\left(J\right)}{\beta\left(J'\right)}B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right)\right\} + \sum_{J'} \left(b_{J'}\right)^{2} \left\{\sum_{J} \frac{\beta\left(J'\right)}{\beta\left(J\right)}B_{N,\ell}^{s}\left(J,J'\right)\right\}\\ &\lesssim 2^{-2s-2\ell}A_{2}^{\alpha}\left(\sum_{J} \left(a_{J}\right)^{2} + \sum_{J'} \left(b_{J'}\right)^{2}\right) = 2^{1-2s-2\ell}\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of (3.3.2). We can now sum in ℓ to get (3.3.1) and we are done. This completes our proof of the long range estimate

$$\mathcal{A}\left(f,g\right) \lesssim \sqrt{A_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} .$$

3.3.2 Short range form

The form $\Theta_{1}^{short}\left(f,g\right)$ is handled by the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3.2. We have

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \le 2^{-\rho} \ell(I) \\ \ell(I) \ge d(J,I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \int \left(T_{\sigma} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g d\omega \right| \lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

Proof. The pairs (I, J) that occur in the sum above satisfy $J \subset 4I \setminus I$, so we consider

$$\mathcal{P} \equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{G} : \ell(J) \le 2^{-\rho} \ell(I), \ell(I) \ge d(J,I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}, J \subset 4I \setminus I \right\}$$

For $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$, the 'pivotal' estimate from the Energy Lemma 3.1.25 gives

$$\left|\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f\right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g\right\rangle_{\omega}\right| \lesssim \left\|\Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \mathcal{P}^{\alpha}\left(J, \left|\bigtriangleup^{\sigma}_{I}f\right|\sigma\right)\sqrt{|J|_{\omega}}$$

Now we pigeonhole the lengths of I and J and the distance between them by defining

$$\mathcal{P}_{N,d}^{s} \equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : \ell(I) = 2^{N}, \ \ell(J) = 2^{N-s}, \ 2^{d-1} \le d(I,J) \le 2^{d}, \ J \subset 4I \setminus I \right\}.$$

Note that the closest a cube J can come to I is determined by:

$$2^{d} \ge 2\ell (I)^{1-\varepsilon} \ell (J)^{\varepsilon} = 2^{1+N(1-\varepsilon)} 2^{(N-s)\varepsilon} = 2^{1+N-\varepsilon s};$$

which implies $N - \varepsilon s + 1 \le d \le N$.

Thus we have

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim & \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} \left\| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \left| \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right| \sigma \right) \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \\ = & \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{N\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{d=N-\varepsilon s+1}^{N} \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}^{s}_{N,d}} \left\| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \left| \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right| \sigma \right) \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}}. \end{split}$$

Now we use

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \left| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right| \sigma \right) &= \int_{I} \frac{\ell \left(J \right)}{\left(\ell \left(J \right) + \left| y - c_{J} \right| \right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \left| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \left(y \right) \right| d\sigma \left(y \right) \\ &\lesssim \frac{2^{N-s}}{2^{d(n+1-\alpha)}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}} \end{aligned}$$

and apply Cauchy-Schwarz in J and use $J \subset 4I \backslash I$ to get

$$\begin{split} \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim & \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{N\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{d=N-\varepsilon s-1}^{N} \sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}_{N}} \frac{2^{N-s}2^{N(n-\alpha)}}{2^{d(n+1-\alpha)}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \frac{\sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|4I\setminus I|_{\omega}}}{2^{N(n-\alpha)}} \cdot \\ & \cdot \sqrt{\sum_{J\in\mathcal{G}_{N-s}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}} \\ \lesssim & (1+\varepsilon s) \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \sum_{N\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{2^{N-s}2^{N(n-\alpha)}}{2^{(N-\varepsilon s)(n+1-\alpha)}} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}_{N}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sqrt{\sum_{J\in\mathcal{G}_{N-s}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}} \\ \lesssim & (1+\varepsilon s) \sum_{s=\rho}^{\infty} 2^{-s[1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha)]} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \| g \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \right\|_{S^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

where in the third line above we have used $\sum_{d=N-\varepsilon s-1}^{N} 1 \lesssim 1+\varepsilon s$, and in the last line $\frac{2^{N-s}2^{N(n-\alpha)}}{2^{(N-\varepsilon s)(n+1-\alpha)}} = 2^{-s[1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha)]}$ followed by Cauchy-Schwarz in I and N, using that we have bounded overlap, depending only on dimension and the goodness constant in the quadruples of I for $I \in \mathcal{D}_N$. More precisely, if we define $f_k \equiv \Psi_{\mathcal{D}_k}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}_k} \Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f$ and

 $g_k \equiv \Psi_{\mathcal{G}_k}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}^*} g = \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}_k} \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g$, then we have the quasi-orthogonality inequality

$$\sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \|f_N\|_{L^2(\sigma)} \|g_{N-s}\|_{L^2(\omega)} \leq \left(\sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \|f_N\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{N \in \mathbb{Z}} \|g_{N-s}\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2(\sigma)} \|g\|_{L^2(\omega)}.$$

We have assumed that

$$0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1-\alpha} \tag{3.3.3}$$

in the calculations above, and this completes the proof of Lemma 3.3.2. $\hfill \Box$

3.4 Nearby form

We dominate the nearby form $\Theta_3(f,g)$ by

$$|\Theta_3(f,g)| \le \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ 2^{-\mathbf{r}n} |I| < |J| \le |I| \\ d(J,I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \int \left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_I f \right) \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}_J g d\omega \right|,$$

and prove the following proposition that controls the expectation, over two independent grids, of the nearby form $\Theta_3(f,g)$. It should be noted that weak goodness plays no role in treating the nearby form. Note also that in various steps we will use a small $\delta > 0$. In all those different instances δ is free of any dependence. Our goal is the following proposition.

Proposition 3.4.1. Suppose T^{α} is a standard fractional singular integral with $0 \leq \alpha < n$. Let $\theta \in (0,1)$ be sufficiently small depending only on α, n . Then there is a constant C_{θ} such that for $f \in L^{2}(\sigma)$ and $g \in L^{2}(\omega)$, and dual martingale differences $\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$ and $\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}$ with ∞ -weakly accretive families of test functions ${\bf b}$ and ${\bf b}^*$, we have

$$E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ 2^{-\mathbf{r}n} |I| < |J| \le |I| \\ d(J,I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$$

$$(3.4.1)$$

$$\lesssim \left(C_{\theta} \mathcal{N} \mathcal{T} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha} + \sqrt{\theta} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \right) \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} .$$

The following diagram is a sketch of the proof of proposition (3.4.1).



Figure 3.4.1: Nearby form

Before we proceed any further let us mention that we will repeatedly use the inequality

$$\left\|\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \lesssim \left\|\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star}$$
(3.4.2)

Lemma 3.4.2. For $f \in L^2(\sigma)$ and $I \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ we have $\left\| \widehat{\Box}_I^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)} \lesssim \left\| \Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^{\star}$.

Proof. Let $I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \cap \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$. Since $I' \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$, from the corona construction we have

$$\left|\frac{1}{|I'|_{\sigma}}\int_{I'}b_Ad\sigma\right| > \gamma. \tag{3.4.3}$$

Now let $\{I'_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ be the collection of maximal subcubes S of I' such that

$$\left|\frac{1}{|S|_{\sigma}}\int_{S}b_{A}d\sigma\right| < \gamma^{2}.$$

Let $E = \bigcup_{j} I'_{j}$. We then have

$$\left|\int_{E} b_{A} d\sigma\right| \leq \sum_{j} \left|\int_{I'_{j}} b_{A} d\sigma\right| < \gamma^{2} \sum_{j} \left|I'_{j}\right|_{\sigma} \leq \gamma^{2} \left|I'\right|_{\sigma}$$

which together with (3.4.3) gives

$$\begin{split} \gamma \left| I' \right|_{\sigma} &< \left| \int_{I'} b_A d\sigma \right| = \left| \int_E b_A d\sigma \right| + \left| \int_{I' \setminus E} b_A d\sigma \right| \\ &\leq \gamma^2 \left| I' \right|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{\int_{I' \setminus E} |b_A|^2 \, d\sigma} \sqrt{|I' \setminus E|_{\sigma}} \\ &\leq \gamma^2 \left| I' \right|_{\sigma} + C_{\mathbf{b}} \left| I' \setminus E \right|_{\sigma}, \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we used the ∞ -accretivity of b_A . Rearranging the inequality

yields successively

$$\gamma (1 - \gamma) |I'|_{\sigma} \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} |I' \setminus E|_{\sigma};$$

$$\frac{\gamma (1 - \gamma)}{C_{\mathbf{b}}} |I'|_{\sigma} \leq |I' \setminus E|_{\sigma},$$

which in turn gives

$$\sum_{j} \left| I_{j}^{\prime} \right|_{\sigma} = \left| I^{\prime} \right|_{\sigma} - \left| I^{\prime} \setminus E \right|_{\sigma}$$

$$\leq \left| I^{\prime} \right|_{\sigma} - \frac{\gamma \left(1 - \gamma \right)}{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \left| I^{\prime} \right|_{\sigma} = \left(1 - \frac{\gamma \left(1 - \gamma \right)}{C_{\mathbf{b}}} \right) \left| I^{\prime} \right|_{\sigma} \equiv \beta \left| I^{\prime} \right|_{\sigma}$$

$$(3.4.4)$$

where $0 < \beta < 1$ since $1 \le C_{\mathbf{b}}$. This implies

$$\left|I'\right|_{\sigma} \le \frac{1}{1-\beta} \left|I' \setminus E\right|_{\sigma}$$

Having that in hand and the fact that $\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f$ is constant on I', say $\mathbf{1}_{I'}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f = c_{I'}$ we can now calculate:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{I'} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} &= \int_{I'} \left| \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|^{2} d\sigma = \left| I' \right|_{\sigma} \left| c_{I'} \right|^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{|I' \setminus E|_{\sigma}} \int_{I' \setminus E} |b_{A}|^{2} d\sigma}{\gamma^{4}} \left| I' \right|_{\sigma} \left| c_{I'} \right|^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{\gamma^{4}} \frac{|I'|_{\sigma}}{|I' \setminus E|_{\sigma}} \int_{I' \setminus E} |b_{A}|^{2} \left| c_{I'} \right|^{2} d\sigma \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\gamma^{4}} \frac{|I'|_{\sigma}}{|I' \setminus E|_{\sigma}} \int_{I'} \left| b_{A} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|^{2} d\sigma \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\gamma^{4}} \frac{1}{1-\beta} \int_{I'} \left| b_{A} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|^{2} d\sigma, \end{split}$$

and thus for $I' \in \mathcal{C}_A$ we obtain

$$\int_{I'} \left| \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|^2 d\sigma \lesssim \int_{I'} \left| b_A \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|^2 d\sigma,$$

which in turn gives, after summing over all $I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \cap C_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$,

$$\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \cap C_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{I'} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \lesssim \left\| \mathbf{1}_{I} b_{A} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \le \left\| b_{A} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}.$$

Now if $I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \cap \mathcal{A}$, from the definition of $\widehat{\nabla}_{Q}^{\mu} f$ in (3.1.39),

$$\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \cap \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{I'} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \lesssim \left\| \widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} .$$

Now we are ready to prove (3.4.2). As $b_A = b_I$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} &= \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I)\cap C_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \left\|\mathbf{1}_{I'}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I)\cap\mathcal{A}} \left\|\mathbf{1}_{I'}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \left\|b_{I}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \left\|\widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\sigma}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} &\lesssim \left\| b_{I} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} + \left\| \widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} = \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} + \left\| \widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \\ &\leq \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} + \left\| \Box_{I,broken}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} + \left\| \widehat{\nabla}_{I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \lesssim \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}. \end{split}$$

Now from quasiorthogonality and (3.4.2) we get,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} |J'|_{\omega} \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|^{2} &\lesssim \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \left\| \widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \lesssim \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \left(\left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \nabla_{J}^{\omega} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right) \lesssim \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \end{split}$$

We also need the following lemma, that controls the above inner product for cubes of positive distance.

Lemma 3.4.3. Given the ∞ -weakly accretive families of test functions **b** and **b**^{*} and cubes $Q, R \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, we have

$$|\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}(b_Q \mathbf{1}_Q), b^*_R \mathbf{1}_{R \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \rangle_{\omega}| \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_2} \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|R|_{\omega}}$$
(3.4.5)

where the implied constant depends on the accretivity constants of the families \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}^* and the dimension n.

Proof. We have that $\left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_Q \mathbf{1}_Q \right), b^*_R \mathbf{1}_{R \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$

$$\leq \int_{R \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{Q} \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right) \right| \left| b^{*}_{R} \right| d\omega$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{R \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{Q} \mathbf{1}_{Q} \right) \right|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{R \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left| b^{*}_{R} \right|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left(\int_{Q} |x-y|^{\alpha-n} \left| b_{Q} \left(y \right) \right| d\sigma \left(y \right) \right)^{2} d\omega \left(x \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{R} \left| b^{*}_{R} \right|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left(\int_Q \left(\delta \left| x - c_Q \right| \right)^{\alpha - n} \left| b_Q \left(y \right) \right| d\sigma \left(y \right) \right)^2 d\omega \left(x \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|R|_{\omega}}$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{\alpha - n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left| x - c_Q \right|^{2(\alpha - n)} d\omega \left(x \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_Q \left| b_Q \left(y \right) \right| d\sigma \left(y \right) \right) \sqrt{|R|_{\omega}}$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{\alpha - n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left| x - c_Q \right|^{2(\alpha - n)} d\omega \left(x \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |Q|_{\sigma} \sqrt{|R|_{\omega}}$$

$$\le \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|Q|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|R|_{\omega}}$$

since

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \! \left| \begin{array}{c} x - c_Q \\ (1+\delta)Q \end{array} \right|^{2(\alpha-n)} d\omega \left(x \right) \right) |Q|_{\sigma} &= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus (1+\delta)Q} \left(\frac{|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{|x - c_Q|^2} \right)^{n-\alpha} d\omega \left(x \right) \right) \frac{|Q|_{\sigma}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \\ &\lesssim \quad \mathcal{P}^{\alpha} \left(Q, \omega \right) \frac{|Q|_{\sigma}}{|Q|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \leq \mathcal{A}_2^{\alpha, *}. \end{split}$$

As usual, we continue to write the independent grids for f and g as \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} respectively. Write the dual martingale averages $\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$ and $\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g$ as linear combinations

$$\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f = b_{I}\sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'} \ E_{I'}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) + \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)}b_{I'} \ \mathbf{1}_{I'}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma,b_{I'}}f - b_{I}\sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)}\mathbf{1}_{I'}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I}^{\sigma,b_{I}}f,$$
$$\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g = b_{J}^{*}\sum_{J'\in\mathfrak{C}_{nat}(J)}\mathbf{1}_{J'} \ E_{J'}^{\omega}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right) + \sum_{J'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)}b_{J'}^{*} \ \mathbf{1}_{J'}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{J'}^{\omega,b^{*}}f = b_{J}^{*}\sum_{J'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)}\mathbf{1}_{J'}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g,$$

of the appropriate function b times the indicators of their children, denoted I' and J' respectively. We will regroup the terms as needed below.

On the natural child I', the expression $\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f = \frac{1}{b_{I}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$ simply denotes the dual martingale average with b_{I} removed, so that we need not assume $|b_{I}|$ is bounded below in order

to make sense of $\frac{1}{b_I} \Box_I^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f$. Similar comments apply to the expressions $\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_I} f = \frac{1}{b_{I'}} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_I} f$ and $\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I}^{\sigma, b_I} f = \frac{1}{b_I} \mathbb{F}_{I}^{\sigma, b_I} f$. Now if we set

$$\mathcal{N}(I) = \{ J \in \mathcal{G} : 2^{-\mathbf{r}n} | I | < |J| \le |I|, d(J, I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \}$$

for the cubes or similar size to I, the left hand side of (3.4.1) is bounded by

$$\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II} \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ (1+\delta)I \cap J = \emptyset}} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$$

$$+ \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ (1+\delta)I \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$$

$$(3.4.6)$$

When working in higher dimensions, run the proof pretending you have Hytönen's estimate (which is of course not true due to the result in chapter 2). Then wherever we were supposed to use Hytönen, we use the delta separation trick. The δ -separated part is easily seen to be bounded by the Muckenhoupt conditions, and the δ -close part will get a $\sqrt{\delta}$ estimate. But δ can be chosen at the end, is independent of everything else (it is the Hytönen-delta, not related to anything else in the proof). So, provided the proof only deals with finite estimates and finitely many constructions (like the Cantor set construction, that only does finitely many iterations), those $\sqrt{\delta}$ terms will be absorbable at the end. Here are the details:

3.4.1 The case of δ -separated cubes.

In this subsection we are estimating \mathbf{I} in (3.4.6) by using Lemma 3.4.3.

Definition 3.4.4. We say that the cubes J and I are δ -separated, where $\delta > 0$, if $J \cap (1 + \delta)$

 $\delta)I=\emptyset.$

For the first sum in (3.4.6) we have, following the proof of Lemma 3.4.3, the satisfactory estimate

$$\left|\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f\right),\Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g\right\rangle_{\omega}\right| \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n}\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \left\|\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\|\Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}.$$

Indeed,

$$\begin{split} & \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \leq & \int_{J \setminus (1+\delta)I} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \right| \left| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right| d\omega \\ \leq & \left(\int_{J \setminus (1+\delta)I} \left| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \right|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{J} \left| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \lesssim & \delta^{\alpha-n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus (1+\delta)I} |x - c_{I}|^{2(\alpha-n)} d\omega (x) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{I} \left| \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right| d\sigma (y) \right) \left\| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ \lesssim & \delta^{\alpha-n} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus (1+\delta)I} |x - c_{I}|^{2(\alpha-n)} d\omega (x) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}} \left\| \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ \leq & \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \left\| \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

So combining all the above we get for the δ -separated cubes that

$$(3.4.7)$$

$$\mathbf{I} \leq \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ (1+\delta)I \cap J = \emptyset}} \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

$$\leq \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left(\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ (1+\delta)I \cap J = \emptyset}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ (1+\delta)I \cap J = \emptyset}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} ||f||_{L^{2}(\sigma)} ||g||_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

where the implied constant in the last line depends only on the goodness parameter \mathbf{r} and the finite repetition of I and J in each sum respectively.

3.4.2 The case of δ -close cubes.

Now we turn to the second sum in (3.4.6) which we will bound by using random surgery and expectation.

Definition 3.4.5. We say that the cubes J and I are δ -close, if $J \cap (1+\delta)I \neq \emptyset$.

We have

$$\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$+ \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}}_{I, brok} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J, brok} g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$+ \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J, brok} g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$+ \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}}_{I, brok} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J, brok} g \right\rangle_{\omega} .$$

$$(3.4.8)$$

The estimation of the latter three inner products, i.e. those in which a broken operator $\Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,b,\mathbf{b}}$ or $\Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,b,\mathbf{b}^*}$ arises, is simpler, but still requires the use of random surgery in order to avoid the full testing condition that was available in one dimension. Indeed, recall that

$$\begin{split} & \Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \;\;=\;\; \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f = \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(E_{I'}^{\sigma}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right) b_{I'} \\ & \Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^*}g \;\;=\;\; \sum_{J'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \mathbb{F}_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g = \sum_{J'\in\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g \right) b_{J'}^* \end{split}$$

so that if at least one broken difference appears in the inner product, as is the case for the latter three inner products in (3.4.8), we need to use random surgery to get the necessary bound. For example, the fourth term satisfies

$$\left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I,brok} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| = \left| \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(E^{\sigma}_{I'} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I'} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{I'}, \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$$

and since

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{I'}, \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} &= \left\langle \mathbf{1}_{I' \cap J} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{I'}, \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle \mathbf{1}_{J \setminus (1+\delta)I'} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{I'}, \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &+ \left\langle \mathbf{1}_{(J \setminus I') \cap (1+\delta)I'} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{I'}, \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &\equiv A(f,g) + B(f,g) + C(f,g) \end{split}$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) A(f, g) \right| \\ \leq & C_{\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}^*} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right| \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ \leq & \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} \left\| \nabla_{I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left(\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(\left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \left\| \Box_{J, brok}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \lesssim & \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \end{aligned}$$

Next by Lemma 3.4.3,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) B(f, g) \right| &\leq \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right| \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ &\leq \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{aligned}$$
Finally, using Cauchy-Schwarz, the norm inequality and accretivity we get

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ I \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \left| \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) C(f, g) \right| \\ &\leq C_{\mathbf{b}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ I \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right| \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \cdot \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\sum_{\substack{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J) \\ I \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right]^{2} \left| \left((J \setminus I') \cap (1 + \delta) I' \right) \cap J' \right|_{\omega} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq C_{\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{r}, n} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} ||f||_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \cdot \\ &\quad \cdot \left(\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ I \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} \left[E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right]^{2} \left| \left((J \setminus I') \cap (1 + \delta) I' \right) \cap J' \right|_{\omega} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Now, it is geometrically evident that for the Lebesque measure we have

$$\left|\left((J\backslash I')\cap(1+\delta)I'\right)\cap J'\right|\lesssim\delta|J'|.$$

Taking averages over the grid \mathcal{D} we get the same inequality for the ω measure:

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\Big|\Big((J\backslash I')\cap(1+\delta)I'\Big)\cap J'\Big|_{\omega}\lesssim\delta\,\big|J'\big|_{\omega}\,.$$

Thus, if we fix J', there are only finitely many I' involved that contribute (are non-zero), and then the expectation in \mathcal{D} can "go through" the sum in I' to get the estimate

$$E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ I \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \left| \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \left(E_{I'}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I'}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) C(f, g) \right| \le C_{\mathbf{b}, \mathbf{r}, n} \sqrt{\delta} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} ||f||_{L^{2}(\sigma)} ||g||_{L^{2}(\omega)}.$$

The constant $C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{r},n}$ depends on the accretivity constant of the family **b**, the dimension nand the *finite* repetition of the intervals J' appearing in the sum.

The third term in (3.4.8) is handled similarly if we change to $\left\langle \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*}\left(\Box_{J,brok}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right)\right\rangle_{\sigma}$, the dual operator. For the second term in (3.4.8) the proof is somewhat different: it does not use probability, it is easier because the terms involving g can be estimated as the terms involving f in the proof just done for the fourth term, and then using Carleson estimates. So combining the above we get the following

Thus it remains to consider the first inner product $\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right), \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^*}_{J}g \right\rangle_{\omega}$ on the right hand side of (3.4.9), which we call the problematic term, and write it as

$$P(I,J) \equiv \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right), \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}*}_{J}g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$= \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I), J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I'} \Box^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right), \mathbf{1}_{J'} \Box^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}*}_{J}g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$= \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I), J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} E^{\sigma}_{I'} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I}f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I'}b_{I} \right), \mathbf{1}_{J'}b^{*}_{J} \right\rangle_{\omega} E^{\omega}_{J'} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}*}_{J}g \right) (3.4.10)$$

It now remains to show that

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}}\sum_{J\in\mathcal{N}(I)}|P(I,J)| \lesssim \left(C_{\theta}\mathcal{N}\mathcal{T}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} + \sqrt{\theta}\mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha}\right)\|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}\|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}.$$
 (3.4.11)

Suppose now that $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$ for $A \in \mathcal{A}$, and that $J \in \mathcal{C}_B$ for $B \in \mathcal{B}$. Then the inner product in the third line of (3.4.10) becomes

$$\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{I'}\right), b_{J}^{*}\mathbf{1}_{J'}\right\rangle_{\omega} = \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{I'}\right), b_{B}^{*}\mathbf{1}_{J'}\right\rangle_{\omega} ,$$

and we will write this inner product in either form, depending on context. We also introduce the following notation:

$$P_{(I,J)}(E,F) \equiv \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{E}), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{F} \right\rangle_{\omega}, \quad \text{for any sets } E \text{ and } F,$$

so that

$$P\left(I,J\right) = \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I) \text{ and } J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f\right) P_{\left(I,J\right)}\left(I',J'\right) E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g\right).$$

The first thing we do is reduce matters to showing inequality (3.4.11) in the case that $P_{(I,J)}(I',J')$ is replaced by

$$P_{(I,J)}\left(I'\cap J',I'\cap J'\right)$$

in the terms P(I, J) appearing in (3.4.11). To see this, write $\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_I \mathbf{1}_{I'} \right), b^*_J \mathbf{1}_{J'} \rangle_{\omega}$ as

$$\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{I'\setminus J'}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{J'}\right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{I'\cap J'}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{J'\setminus I'}\right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{I'\cap J'}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{I'\cap J'}\right\rangle_{\omega}$$

 Set

$$\mathbf{I} = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I' \setminus J'} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{J'} \right\rangle_{\omega}$$
$$\mathbf{II} = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I' \cap J'} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{J' \setminus I'} \right\rangle_{\omega} \text{ and } \mathbf{III} = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I' \cap J'} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{I' \cap J'} \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

For the first one, we have

$$\mathbf{I} \leq \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I' \setminus (1+\delta)J'} \right), b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{J'} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| + \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{(I' \setminus J') \cap (1+\delta)J'} \right), b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{J'} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \equiv \mathbf{I}_{1} + \mathbf{I}_{2}$$

Using Lemma 3.4.3, $I_1 \leq \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$ and for I_2 we need to use random surgery. Summing all the terms for I_2 and using Lemma 3.4.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} &\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{N}(I)} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I)} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| \left(\int_{(I' \setminus J') \cap (1+\delta)J'} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot (3.4.12) \\ &\cdot \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right| \left(\int_{JJ'} |b_{J}|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{N}(I)} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I)} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| \cdot \left((I' \setminus J') \cap (1+\delta)J' \right|_{\sigma}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \left| |J'|_{\omega}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \left(\sum_{I} \left[E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right]^{2} \left| (I' \setminus J') \cap (1+\delta)J' \right|_{\sigma}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] E_{\Omega}^{\sigma} \left(\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right|^{2} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right|^{2} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{n,\mathbf{r}} ||g||_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left(\sum_{I} \sum_{I'} \left[E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right]^{2} \delta |I'|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{n,\mathbf{r}} \sqrt{\delta} ||f||_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left(\sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}} \left[E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I'}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right]^{2} \delta |I'|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we get the bound for II.

We are left then with III where we are integrating over $I' \cap J'$. We have to overcome two difficulties at this step. First, $I' \cap J'$ is not necessarily a cube, so we cannot apply any of the testing conditions available. Second, $I' \cap J'$, even if it is a cube, does not need to belong in either of the grids \mathcal{D} or \mathcal{G} . We would like to split $I' \cap J'$ in smaller cubes of the grid \mathcal{G} . The problem is that the boundary of $I' \cap J'$ does not necessarily align with the grid \mathcal{G} . To deal with this, we cut a slice around $I' \cap J'$ so that what is left inside can be split in cubes of the grid \mathcal{G} . This small slice will be bounded using once again random surgery. While for the remaining cubes, we will use a more involved random surgery technique along with the \mathcal{A}_2 and testing condition.

Here are the details: Let $\eta_0 = 2^{-m}$ for m large enough. For any cube L we define the $\overrightarrow{\eta_1}$ -halo for $\overrightarrow{\eta_1} = (\eta_1^1, \dots, \eta_1^n)$ by

$$\partial_{\overrightarrow{\eta_1}}L = (1 + \overrightarrow{\eta_1})L - (1 - \overrightarrow{\eta_1})L$$

where $(1 + \overrightarrow{\eta_1})L$ means a dilation of each coordinate of L according to the corresponding coordinates of $1 + \overrightarrow{\eta_1}$. Choose the coordinates of $\overrightarrow{\eta_1}$ such that $\frac{\eta_0}{2} \leq \eta_1^i < \eta_0$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$ and such that if

$$I' \cap J' = \left[\left(I' \setminus \partial_{\overrightarrow{\eta_1}} I' \right) \cap J' \right] \stackrel{\cdot}{\cup} \left[\left(\partial_{\overrightarrow{\eta_1}} I' \cap I' \right) \cap J' \right] \equiv M \stackrel{\cdot}{\cup} L \tag{3.4.13}$$

then M consists of $B \leq 2^{n \cdot m}$ cubes $K_s \in \mathcal{G}$ with $\ell(K_s) \geq 2^{-m-1}\ell(J')$. Note that either M or L might be empty depending on where J' is located, but this is not a problem. Thus

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{I' \cap J'} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{I' \cap J'} \right\rangle_{\omega} = & \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{M} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{L} \right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{L} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{M} \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ & + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{L} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{L} \right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{M} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{M} \right\rangle_{\omega} \end{split}$$

The first two can be estimated using Lemma 3.4.3 and a random surgery. It is important to mention here that the averages will be taken on the grid \mathcal{D} , so that we do not have common

intersection among the different translations of the halo. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{M}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{L}\right\rangle_{\omega} &= \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{M}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{L\setminus(1+\delta)M}\right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{M}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{L\cap(1+\delta)M}\right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &\equiv \mathbf{A}_{1} + \mathbf{A}_{2} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{L}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{M}\right\rangle_{\omega} &= \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{L}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{M\setminus(1+\delta)L}\right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{L}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{M\cap(1+\delta)L}\right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &\equiv \mathbf{A}_{3} + \mathbf{A}_{4} \end{split}$$

The first terms on the right hand side of both displays, A_1 and A_3 , are bounded, by applying the proof of Lemma 3.4.3 for M and L and using the fact that M consists of $B \leq 2^{nm}$ cubes. The bound is a constant multiple of $2^n \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$, which when plugged into the left hand side of (3.4.11) we get by using Cauchy-Schwarz that

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{N}(I)} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}} f \right) \left| (\mathbf{A}_{1} + \mathbf{A}_{3}) \right| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|$$
(3.4.14)
$$\approx \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{N}(I)} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}} \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|$$
$$\approx \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} ||f||_{L^{2}(\sigma)} ||g||_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

For A_2 (and similarly for A_4), we have

by noting that $(1 + \delta)M \cap L$ is a halo of width δ , much smaller than η_0 (so as to get the estimate by $\sqrt{\delta}$, not $\sqrt{\eta_0}$). Although an estimate of $\sqrt{\eta_0}$ is easy to obtain (as L already has width η_0) and is sufficient for the purposes of this term, the estimate of $\sqrt{\delta}$ will be crucially used later in (3.4.19) to kill the B term. Note also that we can take the averages over all directions, so that we avoid common intersection along the different translations. Notice that L, M are "moving" together. This is not a problem since by "moving" they cover different parts of the cube J'.

Thus we only need to estimate $\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}(b_I \mathbf{1}_L), b^*_J \mathbf{1}_L \rangle_{\omega} + \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}(b_I \mathbf{1}_M), b^*_J \mathbf{1}_M \rangle_{\omega}$. Applying

one more time random surgery to the first term we get that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{N}(I)} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{L} \right), b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{L} \right\rangle_{\omega} E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right| \\ \lesssim \quad \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sqrt{\sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{N}(I)} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left(\int_{\partial \eta_{1} I' \cap J'} \left| b_{J}^{*} \right|^{2} d\omega \right) \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|^{2}} \end{split}$$

using (3.4.2) and the frame inequalities again. Then using Cauchy-Schwarz on the expectation $E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}}$, this is dominated by

$$E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sqrt{\sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} \left(\frac{E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{2^{-\mathbf{r}n} |I| < |J| \le |I| \\ I \in \mathcal{D}: \ 2^{-\mathbf{r}n} |I| < |J| \le |I| \\ d(J,I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \\ I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I)} \right) \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right) \right|^{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sqrt{\sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)} 2^{\mathbf{r}} \left(\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}: |J'| \leq |I'| \leq 2^{\mathbf{r}} |J'|} \left| \partial_{\eta_{0}} I' \cap J' \right|_{\omega} \right) \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega, \flat, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|^{2} } \\ \lesssim \sqrt{\eta_{0}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \leq \sqrt{\lambda} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

where in the last line we have used $\eta_1^i \leq \eta_0$, and then

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{I' \in \mathcal{D}: |J'| \le |I'| \le 2^{\mathbf{r}} |J'|} \left| \partial_{\eta_0} I' \cap J' \right|_{\omega} \lesssim \eta_0 \left| J' \right|_{\omega}$$

as long as we choose $\eta_0 \ll 2^{-\mathbf{r}}$.

This leaves us to estimate the term $\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{M}), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{M}\rangle_{\omega}$. It is at this point that we will use the decomposition $M = \bigcup_{1 \leq s \leq B} K_{s}$ constructed above. We have

$$\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{M}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{M}\right\rangle_{\omega} = \sum_{s,s'=1}^{B} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{K_{s}}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}}\right\rangle_{\omega}$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{s=1}^{B} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}} \right\rangle_{\omega} + \left(\sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in K_{s'} \\ Sep}} K_{s'} + \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in J \\ Adj}} K_{s'} \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}} \right), b^{*}_{J} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right\rangle_{\omega}$$
(3.4.16)

where we call $K_s \underset{Sep}{\sim} K_{s'}$ the separated cubes, i.e. $3K_s \cap K_{s'} = \emptyset$, while by $K_s \underset{Adj}{\sim} K_{s'}$ are the adjacent cubes, i.e. $K_s \cap K_{s'} = \emptyset$ and $\overline{K_s} \cap \overline{K_{s'}} \neq \emptyset$. The separated terms sum can be estimated directly by $\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}}$. Indeed, as in the proof of Lemma 3.4.3,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{I}\mathbf{1}_{K_{s}}\right), b^{*}_{J}\mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}}\right\rangle_{\omega} &\lesssim \left(\int_{K_{s'}} \left(\int_{K_{s}} |x-y|^{\alpha-n} \left|b_{I}\left(y\right)\right| d\sigma\left(y\right)\right)^{2} d\omega\left(x\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{\left|K_{s'}\right|_{\omega}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus K_{s}} |x-x_{K_{s}}|^{2\alpha-2n} d\omega\left(x\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left|K_{s}\right|_{\sigma} \sqrt{\left|K_{s'}\right|_{\omega}} \\ &\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{\left|K_{s}\right|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{\left|K_{s'}\right|_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

thus,

$$\sum_{K_s} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{s'} \\ Sep}} K_{s'} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_I \mathbf{1}_{K_s} \right), b^*_J \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right\rangle_{\omega} \le C_{\mathbf{b}} \sum_{K_s} \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathcal{K}_{s'} \\ Sep}} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_2} \sqrt{|K_s|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{s'}|_{\omega}}$$
(3.4.17)

which plugged into (3.4.10) appropriately, we get the bound $B\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}}\sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$.

To deal with the adjacent cubes term in (3.4.16), we write

$$\begin{split} \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{\widetilde{Adj}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}} \right), b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right\rangle_{\omega} &= \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{\widetilde{Adj}} \left\langle b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} \left(b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right) \right\rangle_{\sigma} \\ &= \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{\widetilde{Adj}} \left\langle b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s} \cap (1+\delta)K_{s'}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} \left(b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right) \right\rangle_{\sigma} \\ &+ \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{\widetilde{Adj}} K_{s'} \left\langle b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s} \setminus (1+\delta)K_{s'}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} \left(b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right) \right\rangle_{\sigma} \\ &\equiv \widetilde{\mathbf{I}} + \widetilde{\mathbf{H}} \end{split}$$

For $\stackrel{\sim}{\mathrm{II}}$ we use Lemma 3.4.3 to get

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{II}} \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left(\sum_{s=1}^{B} |K_{s}|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{s=1}^{B} \left(\sum_{s' \ge s} \left| K_{s'} \right|_{\omega}^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} B \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$

$$(3.4.18)$$

while summing $\stackrel{\sim}{\rm I}$ over

$$\mathcal{T} = \{I \in \mathcal{D}, J \in \mathcal{N}(I), I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I), J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(J)\}$$

and using Cauchy-Schwarz, accretivity, taking averages and using Jensen, we get

$$(3.4.19)$$

$$E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathcal{T}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right| \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{Adj} K_{s'}^{\mathcal{K}_{s'}} \left\langle b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s} \cap (1+\delta)K_{s'}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} \left(b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s'}} \right) \right\rangle_{\sigma}$$

$$\lesssim E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathcal{T}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right| \sum_{K_{s}} \sum_{Adj} \mathcal{M}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{s} \cap (1+\delta)K_{s'}|\sigma} \sqrt{|K_{s'}|\omega}$$

$$\lesssim \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathcal{T}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right| \left(\sum_{s=1}^{B} |K_{s'}|\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\sum_{s\leq s'} \sqrt{|K_{s} \cap (1+\delta)K_{s'}|\sigma} \right)^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \mathfrak{M}_{T^{\alpha}} E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{\mathcal{T}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right| \sqrt{|J'|\omega} \cdot \left(\sum_{s\leq s'} |K_{s} \cap (1+\delta)K_{s'}|\sigma \cdot \sum_{s\leq s'} 1 \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \mathfrak{M}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{B} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left(\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right|^{2} 2^{n} \delta_{I'} |S_{S}|^{1} S_{S}|^{2} N_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{B} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{T}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right|^{2} 2^{n} \delta_{I'}|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\lesssim \mathfrak{M}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{B} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{T}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right|^{2} 2^{n} \delta_{I'}|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

because there are up to 2^n adjacent cubes $K_{s'}$ for a given K_s . The implied constant depends on **r** of the nearby form. Note that δ is independent of B or **r** and will later be chosen small enough so that the terms containing the norm inequality constant will be absorbed. Thus now we are left only with the first term of (3.4.16), i.e. we need to estimate

$$\sum_{s=1}^{B} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{I} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}} \right), b_{J}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{K_{s}} \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

Before proceeding further it will prove convenient to introduce some additional notation, namely we will write the energy estimate in the second display of the Energy Lemma as

$$|\langle T^{\alpha}\nu, \Psi_{J}\rangle_{\omega}| \lesssim C_{\gamma,\delta} \operatorname{P}^{\alpha}_{\delta} \mathsf{Q}^{\omega} (J, \upsilon) \|\Psi_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mu)} \quad \text{if } \int \Psi_{J} d\omega = 0 \text{ and } \gamma J \cap \operatorname{supp}\nu = \emptyset (3.4.20)$$

where

$$\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}_{\delta}\mathbf{Q}^{\omega}\left(J,\upsilon\right) \equiv \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\upsilon\right)}{|J|} \left\|\mathbf{Q}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} + \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}_{1+\delta}\left(J,\upsilon\right)}{|J|} \left\|x-m_{J}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}$$

The use of the compact notation $P^{\alpha}_{\delta} Q^{\omega}(J, v)$ to denote the complicated expression on the right hand side will considerably reduce the size of many subsequent displays.

We now consider the inner product $\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{K}\right), b_{B}^{*}\mathbf{1}_{K}\right\rangle_{\omega}$ and estimate the case when

$$K \in \mathcal{G}, \ K \subset I' \cap J', \ I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I), \ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J), \ I \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{A}}, \ J \in \mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{B}}, \ \ell(K) = 2^{-m-1}\ell(J').$$

For subsets $E,F\subset A\cap B$ and cubes $K\subset A\cap B$ we define

$$\{E,F\} \equiv \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{E}\right), b^{*}_{B}\mathbf{1}_{F}\right\rangle_{\omega} , \qquad (3.4.21)$$

and K_{in} the 2^n grandchildren of K that do not intersect the boundary of K while K_{out} the

rest $4^n - 2^n$ grandchildren of K that intersect its boundary i.e.

$$K_{in} = \left\{ K'' \in \mathfrak{C}^{(2)}(K) : \partial K'' \cap \partial K = \emptyset \right\}$$
$$K_{out} = \left\{ K'' \in \mathfrak{C}^{(2)}(K) : \partial K'' \cap \partial K \neq \emptyset \right\}$$

We can write

$$\{K, K\} = \{A, K_{in}\} - \{A \setminus K, K_{in}\} + \{K_{out}, K_{out}\} + \{K_{in}, K_{out}\}.$$
(3.4.22)

Note that the first two terms on the right hand side of (3.4.22) decompose the inner product $\{K, K_{in}\}$, which 'includes' one of the difficult symmetric inner product $\{K_{in}, K_{in}\}$, and where the other difficult symmetric inner products are contained in $\{K_{out}, K_{out}\}$, which can be handled recursively. Thus the difficult symmetric inner products are ultimately controlled by testing on the cube A to handle the 'paraproduct' term $\{A, K_{in}\}$, and by using the energy condition and a trick that resurrects the original testing functions $\{b_J^{*,orig}\}_{J \in \mathcal{G}}$, discarded in the corona constructions above, to handle the 'stopping' term $\{A \setminus K_{in}\}$. More precisely, these original testing functions $b_J^{*,orig}$ are the testing functions obtained after reducing matters to the case of bounded testing functions.

The first term on the right side of (3.4.22) satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} |\{A, K_{in}\}| &= \left\| \int_{K_{in}} \left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{A} \right) b^{*}_{B} d\omega \right\| \leq \left\| \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} b^{*}_{B} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} (3.4.23) \\ &\leq \left\| b^{*}_{B} \right\|_{\infty} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} . \end{aligned}$$

We now turn to the term $\{A \setminus K, K_{in}\}$. Decompose $\mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} b_B^*$ as

$$\mathbf{1}_{K_{in}}b_B^* = \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \left(b_B^* - \frac{1}{\left| K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega \right) + \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \frac{1}{\left| K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega,$$

and then apply the Energy Lemma to the function

$$k_{K_{in}}^{*} \equiv \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \left(b_{B}^{*} - \frac{1}{\left| K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega \right) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{2^{n}} k_{K_{in}}^{*,j}$$

which does indeed satisfy $\Box_{K'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}k_{Kin}^* = 0$ unless K' is a dyadic subcube of K that is contained in K_{in} . (Furthermore, we could even replace grandchildren by *m*-grandchildren in this argument in order that $\Box_{K'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}k_{Kin}^* = 0$ unless K' is a dyadic *m*-grandchild of K that is contained in K_{in} , but we will not need this.) We obtain

$$\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash K}\right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}}b^{*}_{B}\right\rangle_{\omega} = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash K}\right), k^{*}_{K_{in}}\right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash K}\right), \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}}\mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}}\left(\frac{1}{\left|K_{in}^{\ell}\right|_{\omega}}\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}}b^{*}_{B}d\omega\right)\right\rangle_{\omega}$$
(3.4.24)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), k^{*}_{K_{in}} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| &\leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), k^{*,\ell}_{K_{in}} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\leq C_{\eta_{0},n} \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}_{\delta} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(K^{\ell}_{in}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right) \right] \left\| k^{*}_{K_{in}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{aligned}$$

where the constant C_{η_0} depends on the constant C_{γ} in the statement of the Monotonicity Lemma with $\gamma = \frac{1}{1-\eta_0}$ since $\frac{1}{1-\eta_0}K_{in} \cap (A \setminus K) = \emptyset$, and where we have written $\left\{K_{in}^\ell\right\}_{\ell=1}^{2^n}$ with K_{in}^{ℓ} denoting the innner grandchildren of K.

Thus we see that $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ and $\mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ in the Energy Lemma can be taken to be pseudoprojection onto K_{in} , i.e. $\mathsf{P}_{K_{in}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} = \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J \subset K_{in}} \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ and $\mathsf{Q}_{K_{in}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} = \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ J \subset K_{in}} \bigtriangleup_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$, and we will see below that the cubes K_{in} that arise in subsequent arguments will be pairwise disjoint. Furthermore, the energy condition will be used to control these full pseudoprojections $\mathsf{P}_{K_{in}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ when taken over pairwise disjoint decompositions of cubes by subcubes of the form K_{in} .

However, the second line of (3.4.24) remains problematic because we cannot use any type of testing in K_{in}^{ℓ} with b_B^* since K_{in}^{ℓ} does not necessarily belong to \mathcal{C}_B , and this is our point in which we exploit the original testing functions $b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig}$.

3.4.2.1 Return to the original testing functions

From the discussion above, we recall the identity (3.4.24) and the estimate (3.4.25). We also have the analogous identity and estimate with $b_{K_{in}}^{*,orig}$ in place of $\mathbf{1}_{K_{in}}b_B^*$:

$$\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$= \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} \left(b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} - \frac{1}{\left| K^{\ell}_{in} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K^{\ell}_{in}} b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} d\omega \right) \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$+ \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} \left(\frac{1}{\left| K^{\ell}_{in} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K^{\ell}_{in}} b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} d\omega \right) \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$(3.4.25)$$

and

$$\left\| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} \left(b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} - \frac{1}{\left| K^{\ell}_{in} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K^{\ell}_{in}} b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} d\omega \right) \right\rangle_{\omega} \right\|$$

$$\lesssim \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}_{\delta} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(K^{\ell}_{in}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right) \left\| \mathbf{1}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} \left(b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} - \frac{1}{\left| K^{\ell}_{in} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K^{\ell}_{in}} b^{*,orig}_{K^{\ell}_{in}} d\omega \right) \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$
(3.4.26)

for $1 \le \ell \le 2^n$, where the implied constants depend on L^{∞} norms of testing functions and the constant in the Energy Lemma. Using the notation

$$\left\{K_{out}, K_{in}^{\ell}\right\}^{orig} \equiv \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_A \mathbf{1}_{K_{out}}, b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*, orig} \right\rangle_{\omega} \text{ for } 1 \le \ell \le 2^n.$$

note that

$$\{A \setminus K, K_{in}\} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega} \right) \left\{ K_{out}, K_{in}^{\ell} \right\}^{orig}$$

$$= \{A \setminus K, K_{in}\} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega} \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$+ \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega} \right) \left[\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A} \right), b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} \right\rangle_{\omega} - \left\langle b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} \right\rangle_{\sigma} \right]$$

$$= \mathbf{B} + \mathbf{C}$$

Now for \mathbf{B} , using Energy Lemma to the function

$$\Psi_{J}^{\ell} = \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}}\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}}b_{B}^{*}d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}}\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}}b_{B}^{*,orig}d\omega}\right)b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} - \left(\frac{1}{\left|K_{in}^{\ell}\right|_{\omega}}\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}}b_{B}^{*}d\omega\right)\mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}}$$

for $1 \le \ell \le 2^n$ we have

$$\begin{split} |\mathbf{B}| &= \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} b_{B}^{*} \right\rangle_{\omega} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{1}{\left| K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &+ O \Big[\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} (K_{in}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma)}{|K_{in}|} \left| \left| \mathbf{Q}_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right| \right|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} \right) \Big] \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \\ &+ O \Big[\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha} (K_{in}^{\ell} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma)}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|} \left| \left| x - m_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \right| \right|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \right) \Big] \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \\ \lesssim & \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \mathbf{P}_{\delta}^{\alpha} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(K_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right) \right] \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

having used the triangle inequality to get

$$\left|\left|\Psi_{J}^{\ell}\right|\right|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \lesssim \left|\frac{\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega}{\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega}\right| \sqrt{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} + \sqrt{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \lesssim \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}}, \quad 1 \le \ell \le 2^{n}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} b_{B}^{*} \right\rangle_{\omega} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{1}{\left| K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} P_{\delta}^{\alpha} \mathsf{Q}^{\omega} \left(K_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right) \right] \left\| \mathbf{1}_{K_{\ell}^{\prime\prime}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(b_{B}^{*} - \frac{1}{\left| K_{l}^{\prime\prime} \right|_{\omega}} \int_{k_{\ell}^{\prime\prime}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega \right) \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ \lesssim \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} P_{\delta}^{\alpha} \mathsf{Q}^{\omega} \left(K_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right) \right] \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we used accretivity and triangle inequality. We turn our attention in term C. We have that

$$\begin{split} \left| \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|\omega} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|\omega} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega} \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{A} \right), b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \sqrt{\int_{K_{\ell}^{\prime\prime}} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A}|^{2} d\omega} \sqrt{\int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} \left| b_{K_{\ell}^{\prime\prime\prime}}^{*,orig} \right|^{2} d\omega} \\ \lesssim \sqrt{\int_{K_{in}} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A}|^{2} d\omega} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

Also,

$$\left|\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*} d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_{B}^{*,orig} d\omega}\right) \left\langle b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha,*} b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} \right\rangle_{\sigma} \right| \equiv \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II} + \mathbf{III}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I} &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega} \right) \left\langle b_A \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}}, \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}^{\ell}} T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*, orig} \right\rangle_{\sigma} \\ \mathbf{II} &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega} \right) \left\langle b_A \mathbf{1}_{K_{in} \setminus (1+\delta) K_{in}^{\ell}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*, orig} \right\rangle_{\sigma} \\ \mathbf{III} &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega} \right) \left\langle b_A \mathbf{1}_{(K_{in} \setminus K_{in}^{\ell}) \cap (1+\delta) K_{in}^{\ell}}, T_{\omega}^{\alpha, *} b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*, orig} \right\rangle_{\sigma} \end{split}$$

The first term I is bounded using the dual testing condition. Indeed,

$$\mathbf{I} \leq \left| \left| b_A \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} \right| \right|_{L^2(\sigma)} \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \mathfrak{T}^* C_{\mathbf{b}^*} \sqrt{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}} \leq 2^n \mathfrak{T}^* C_{\mathbf{b}^*} \left| \left| b_A \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} \right| \right|_{L^2(\sigma)} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}}$$

The second term II is bounded using Lemma 3.4.3. Indeed,

$$II \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{in} \setminus (1+\delta)K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{in}^{\ell}|_{\omega}}$$
$$\leq 2^{n} \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\sigma}}$$

Finally,

$$\begin{aligned} \text{III} &\leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left\| T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{\left(K_{in} \setminus K_{in}^{\ell}\right) \cap (1+\delta) K_{in}^{\ell}} \right) \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left\| b_{K_{in}^{\ell}}^{*,orig} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}} \left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left| (K_{in} \setminus K_{in}^{\ell}) \cap (1+\delta) K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \\ &\equiv \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}} C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}} \cdot \mathbf{\Delta}(K) \end{aligned}$$

where we have defined

$$\boldsymbol{\Delta}(K) = \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left| (K_{in} \setminus K_{in}^{\ell}) \cap (1+\delta) K_{in}^{\ell} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}}$$

This last term will be iterated and a final random surgery will give us the desired bound.

3.4.2.2 A finite iteration and a final random surgery.

Letting

$$\Phi^{A,B}(K_{in}) = \left\| \left| \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}(b_{A}) \right| \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} P^{\alpha}_{\delta} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(K^{\ell}_{in}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right) \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} + \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\alpha} + \mathfrak{T}^{\alpha,*} + \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \right) \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}}$$
(3.4.27)

and simplifying more our notation

$$\{K_{out}, K_{in}\}^{orig} \equiv \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^n} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|\omega} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^* d\omega}{\frac{1}{|K_{in}^{\ell}|\omega} \int_{K_{in}^{\ell}} b_B^{*,orig} d\omega}\right) \left\{K_{out}, K_{in}^{\ell}\right\}^{orig}$$

we have so far that (3.4.22) is written as

$$\{K, K\} = \{K_{out}, K_{in}\}^{orig} + \{K_{out}, K_{out}\} + \{K_{in}, K_{out}\} + O(\Phi^{A,B}(K_{in}) + \mathbf{\Delta}(K))$$

Now

$$\{K_{out}, K_{out}\} = \sum_{\ell} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{\ell}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} = \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\} + \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \}$$

where $K_{out}^{\ell}, 1 \leq \ell \leq 4^n - 2^n$, are the outer grandchildren of K. For the second sum above, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^m \cap K_{out}^{\ell} = \emptyset}} \{ K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^m \} \right| &\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sum_{\ell} \sqrt{|K_{out}^{\ell}|_{\sigma}} \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^m \cap K_{out}^{\ell} = \emptyset}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\omega}} \\ &\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\omega}} \end{aligned}$$

where the implied constant depends on dimension and the accretivity of functions involved and since $dist(K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}) \ge \ell(K_{out}^{\ell})$ there is no δ . For the third sum, we need to use random surgery again. Using Lemma 3.4.3,

$$\begin{split} &|\{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{m}\}| = \left|\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{K_{out}^{\ell}}\right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{out}^{m}}b_{B}^{*}\right\rangle_{\omega}\right| \\ &\leq \left|\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{K_{out}^{\ell}\setminus(1+\delta)K_{out}^{m}}\right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{out}^{m}}b_{B}^{*}\right\rangle_{\omega}\right| + \left|\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{K_{out}^{\ell}\cap(1+\delta)K_{out}^{m}}\right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{out}^{m}}b_{B}^{*}\right\rangle_{\omega}\right| \\ &\leq \delta^{\alpha-n}\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\sqrt{|K_{out}^{\ell}|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|K_{out}^{m}|_{\omega}} + \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\sqrt{|K_{out}^{m}|_{\omega}}\sqrt{|K_{out}^{\ell}\cap(1+\delta)K_{out}^{m}|_{\sigma}} \end{split}$$

Thus, summing

$$\sum_{\substack{\ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset \\ \lesssim \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\omega}} + \mathfrak{N}_{T} \alpha \sum_{\substack{\ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\omega}} + \mathfrak{N}_{T} \alpha \sum_{\substack{\ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap K_{out}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset}} \left(\sum_{\substack{m \neq \ell \\ K_{out}^{m} \cap (1 + \delta) K_{out}^{m}|_{\sigma}}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\omega}}$$

Let

$$\mathbf{E}(K) = \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{\ell} \left(\sum_{m \neq \ell} |K_{out}^{\ell} \cap (1+\delta) K_{out}^{m}|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\omega}}$$

We will iterate this term below and we will the necessary bound. We now turn to $\{K_{in}, K_{out}\}$ and we have

$$\begin{split} &|\{K_{in}, K_{out}\}| \\ \leq \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{K_{out} \setminus (1+\delta)K_{in}} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} b^{*}_{B} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| + \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(b_{A} \mathbf{1}_{K_{out} \cap (1+\delta)K_{in}} \right), \mathbf{1}_{K_{in}} b^{*}_{B} \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim \delta^{\alpha - n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} + \mathfrak{N}_{T} \alpha \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \sqrt{|K_{out} \cap (1+\delta)K_{in}|_{\sigma}} \end{split}$$

and similarly $|\{K_{out}, K_{in}\}^{orig}|$ is bounded by

$$\lesssim \ \delta^{\alpha-n} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{out}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} + \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}} \sqrt{|K_{out} \cap (1+\delta)K_{in}|_{\sigma}}$$

Let

$$\mathbf{F}(K) = \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K_{out} \cap (1+\delta)K_{in}|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K_{in}|_{\omega}}$$

Using the bounds we found above we have from (3.4.22),

$$\begin{split} |\{K,K\}| &\lesssim \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^n-2^n} |\{K_{out}^{\ell}, K_{out}^{\ell}\}| + O\left(\Phi^{A,B}(K_{in})\right) \\ &+ \mathbf{\Delta}(K) + \mathbf{E}(K) + \mathbf{F}(K) + C_{\delta,\eta_0,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^*} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K|_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

Iterating the first term above a *finite* number of times, using again the norm inequality and a final random surgery we get the bound we need. Indeed, for $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$

$$|\{K,K\}| \leq \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}} |\{M,M\}| + O\left(\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}} \left[\Phi^{A,B}(M_{in})\right] + \Delta(M) + \mathbf{E}(M) + \mathbf{F}(M)\right) + C_{\delta,\eta_{0},\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^{*}} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}} \sqrt{|M|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|M|_{\omega}} \\ \equiv A(K) + B(K) + C(K) = A_{(I',J')}(K) + B_{(I',J')}(K) + C_{(I',J')}(K) (3.4.29)$$

where the collections of cubes $\mathcal{M}_{\nu} = \mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K)$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\nu}^* = \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^*(K)$ are defined recursively by

$$\mathcal{M}_{0} \equiv \{K\},$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{k+1} \equiv \bigcup_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{k}} \left\{ M_{out}^{\ell} \right\}, \quad k \ge 0,$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*} \equiv \bigcup_{k=0}^{\nu} \mathcal{M}_{k}.$$

We will include the subscript (I', J') in the notation when we want to indicate the pair (I', J') that are defined after (3.4.13). Now the term C(K) can be estimated by

$$C(K) = C_{\delta,\eta_0,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^*} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^*} \sqrt{|M|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|M|_{\omega}} \le \nu C_{\delta,\eta_0,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^*} \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}} \sqrt{|K|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K|_{\omega}} \quad (3.4.30)$$

where ν is chosen below depending on η_0 . For the first term A(K), we will apply the norm inequality and use probability, namely

$$\begin{aligned} |A(K)| &\leq \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}} \sqrt{|M|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|M|_{\omega}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}} |M|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}} |M|_{\omega}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sqrt{\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}} |M|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|K|_{\omega}}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^*}}$ is an upper bound for the testing functions involved, followed by

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\left(\sum_{M\in\mathcal{M}_{\nu}}|M|_{\sigma}\right)\leq\varepsilon\left|I'\right|_{\sigma},$$

for a sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$, where *roughly speaking*, we use the fact that the cubes $M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}$ depend on the grid \mathcal{G} and form a relatively small proportion of I', which captures only a small amount of the total mass $|I'|_{\sigma}$ as the grid is translated relative to the grid \mathcal{D} that contains I'.

Here are the details. Recall that the cubes K are taken from the set of consecutive cubes $\{K_i\}_{i=1}^B$ that lie in $I' \cap J'$, that the cubes $M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K_i)$ have length $\frac{1}{4^{n\nu}}\ell(K_i)$, and that there are $(4^n - 2^n)^{\nu}$ such cubes in $\mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K_i)$ for each *i*. Thus we have

$$\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K)} |M| = \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K)} \frac{1}{4^{n\nu}} |K| = (4^n - 2^n)^{\nu} \frac{1}{4^{n\nu}} |K|$$

and $\left(\frac{4^n - 2^n}{4^n}\right)^{\nu} \to 0$ as $\nu \to \infty$, which implies

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{B}\sum_{M\in\mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K_{i})}|M|_{\sigma}\right)\leq B\left(\frac{4^{n}-2^{n}}{4^{n}}\right)^{\nu}|I'|_{\sigma}\leq\varepsilon\left|I'\right|_{\sigma}$$

where we have used that the variable B is at most 2^{nm} and where the final inequality holds if ν is chosen large enough such that $B\left(\frac{4^n-2^n}{4^n}\right)^{\nu} \leq \varepsilon$. Then we have by Cauchy-Schwarz applied first to $\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K_i)}$ and then to $E_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}$,

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{B}|A(K_{i})|\right) \leq \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{B}\sum_{M\in\mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K_{i})}|M|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}} \\
\leq \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\sqrt{\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}}\sum_{i=1}^{B}\sum_{M\in\mathcal{M}_{\nu}(K_{i})}|M|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}} \\
\leq \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\sqrt{\varepsilon|I'|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}} = \sqrt{C_{\mathbf{b}}C_{\mathbf{b}^{*}}}\sqrt{\varepsilon}\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}\sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}},$$

as required.

Now we turn to summing up the remaining terms

$$B(K) = C \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{V}}^{*}} \Phi^{A,B}(M_{in}) + \mathbf{\Delta}(M) + \mathbf{E}(M) + \mathbf{F}(M) \text{ above. In the case when the cube}$$

I' is a *natural* child of I, i.e. $I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I)$ so that $I' \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{A}}$, we have

$$\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{M_{in}} T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} = \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} \int_{M_{in}} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A}|^{2} d\omega \leq \int_{I'} |T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A}|^{2} d\omega \lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{2} |I'|_{\sigma}$$

by the weak testing condition for I' in the corona \mathcal{C}_A . Also,

$$\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} |M_{in}|_{\omega} \le |K|_{\omega} \le |J'|_{\omega}$$

because of the crucial fact that the cubes $\{M_{in}\}_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^*(K)}$ form a pairwise disjoint subdecomposition of $K \subset I' \cap J'$ (for any $\nu \geq 1$). Of course, this implies

$$\left(\sum_{M\in\mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} (\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}} + \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha})^{2} |M_{in}|_{\sigma}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{M\in\mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} |M_{in}|_{\omega}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha,*}} + \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}\right) \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma} |J'|_{\omega}}$$

and using the definition of $\mathbf{P}_{\delta}^{\alpha}\mathsf{Q}^{\omega}\left(J,\upsilon\right)$ in (3.4.2),

$$\begin{split} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \mathbf{P}_{\delta}^{\alpha} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(M_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right)^{2} \\ \lesssim \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(M_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A} \sigma \right)}{\left| M_{in}^{\ell} \right|} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{M_{in}^{\ell}} \right\|_{L^{2} \left(\mathbf{1}_{M_{in}^{\ell}} \omega \right)} \\ \lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha} \right) \left| I' \right|_{\sigma} \end{split}$$

upon using the stopping energy condition for I' in the corona \mathcal{C}_A , i.e. the failure of (3.1.28),

in the corona \mathcal{C}_A with the subdecomposition

$$I' \supset \bigcup_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} \bigcup_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} M_{in}^{\ell}$$

Combining these four bounds together with the definition of $\Phi^{A,B}$ in (3.4.27), after applying Cauchy-Schwarz, gives

$$\sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)} \Phi^{A,B}(M_{in}) \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \cdot \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma} |J'|_{\omega}}$$

In particular then, if we now sum over *natural* children I' of $I \in C_A$ and the associated children J' of $J \in \mathcal{N}(I)$, where

$$\mathcal{N}(I) \equiv \left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) < \ell(J) \le \ell(I) \text{ and } d(J,I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \right\}.$$

we obtain the following corona estimate, using the collection of K that is defined after

(3.4.13),

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ J \in \mathcal{N}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I) \& J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J) \\ K \in \mathcal{K}\left(I',J'\right)}} \left| \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \right) \right| \left| B_{\left(I',J'\right)} \left(K \right) \right| \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right) \right| \\ \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \cdot B \cdot \mathcal{N}\mathcal{T}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ J \in \mathcal{N}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| E_{J'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \right) \right| \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma} |J'|_{\omega}} \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right) \right| \\ \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \cdot B \cdot \mathcal{N}\mathcal{T}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} \left(\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ I \in \mathfrak{C}_{A}}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| I'|_{\sigma} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \right) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \\ \cdot \left(\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(J) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| J'|_{\omega} \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \cdot B \cdot \mathcal{N}\mathcal{T}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega}nearbyg \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},nearby} = \bigcup_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \mathcal{N}(I)$, and the final line uses (3.4.2) to obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(I)} |I'|_{\sigma} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right|^{2} &= \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \left\| \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \leq \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \end{split}$$

and similarly for the sum in J and J', once we note that given $J \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},nearby}$, there are only boundedly many $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$ for which $J \in \mathcal{N}(I)$.

In order to deal with this sum in the case when the child I' is broken, we must take the estimate one step further and sum over those broken cubes I' whose parents belong to the corona \mathcal{C}_A , i.e. $\{I' \in \mathcal{D} : I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I) \text{ for some } I \in \mathcal{C}_A\}$. Of course this collection is precisely the set of \mathcal{A} -children of A, i.e.

$$\left\{I' \in \mathcal{D} : I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}\left(I\right) \text{ for some } I \in \mathcal{C}_A\right\} = \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}\left(A\right).$$
(3.4.33)

To obtain the same corona estimate when summing over broken I', we will exploit the fact that the cubes $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ are pairwise disjoint. But first we note that when I' is a broken child, neither weak testing nor stopping energy is available. But if we sum over such broken I', and use (3.4.33) to see that the broken children are pairwise disjoint, we obtain the following estimate where for convenience we use the notation $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu} \equiv \bigcup_{K \in \mathcal{K}(I',J')} \mathcal{M}_{\nu}^{*}(K)$:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ J \in \mathcal{N}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{E}_{brok}(I) \& J' \in \mathfrak{E}(J) \\ K \in \mathcal{K}\left(I',J'\right)}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,b,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \right| \left| B_{\left(I',J'\right)}(K) \right| \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,b,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right) \right| \\ \lesssim \delta^{\alpha-n} \cdot B \cdot \mathcal{N}\mathcal{T}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ J \in \mathcal{N}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{E}_{brok}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{E}(J)}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,b,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \right| \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}} \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,b,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right) \right| \cdot \\ \cdot \left(\sum_{\substack{M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{M_{in}} T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{\substack{M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \mathbf{P}_{\delta}^{\alpha} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(M_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A} \sigma \right)^{2} + \sum_{\substack{M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} |M_{in}|_{\sigma} \right)^{1/2} \\ \lesssim B \delta^{\alpha-n} \mathcal{N}\mathcal{T}\mathcal{V}_{\alpha} \left(\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ I' \in \mathfrak{E}_{brok}(I) J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \sum_{\substack{M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} \sum_{\substack{M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{M_{in}} T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \\ \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ I' \in \mathfrak{E}_{brok}(I) J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \mathbf{P}_{\delta}^{\alpha} \left\| \left\| \mathbf{1}_{M_{in}} T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \\ \sum_{\substack{M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} \mathbf{P}_{\delta}^{\alpha} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(M_{in}^{\ell}, \mathbf{1}_{A} \sigma \right)^{2} |M_{in}|_{\sigma} \right\} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \\ \cdot \left(\frac{1}{|A|_{\sigma}} \int_{A} |f| \, d\sigma \right) \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ J \in \mathfrak{C}_{J}, \quad I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{A} : J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J) \quad I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \int_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{A}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} \left| J' \right|_{\omega} \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,b,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{split}$$

which gives that

$$(3.4.34)$$

$$\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ J \in \mathcal{N}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I) \& J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J) \\ K \in \mathcal{K}(I',J')}} \left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| \left| B_{\left(I',J'\right)} \left(K \right) \right| \left| E_{J'}^{\omega} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{J}^{\omega,\flat,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right) \right|$$

$$\lesssim \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \sqrt{|A|_{\sigma} \left(\frac{1}{|A|_{\sigma}} \int_{A} |f| \, d\sigma \right)^{2}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega} \mathsf{nearby} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star}$$

because

$$\left| E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| = \left| \frac{1}{\int_{I} b_{I} d\sigma} \int_{I} f d\sigma \right| \lesssim \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_{I} |f| \, d\sigma \lesssim \frac{1}{|A|_{\sigma}} \int_{A} |f| \, d\sigma$$

if $I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)$ and $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$, and because

$$\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \\ I' \in \mathfrak{E}_{brok}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ M \in \mathcal{M}_{\nu}}} \left\{ \left\| \mathbf{1}_{M_{in}} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{A} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{2^{n}} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}_{\delta} \mathbf{Q}^{\omega} \left(M^{\ell}_{in}, \mathbf{1}_{A} \sigma \right)^{2} + |M_{in}|_{\sigma} \right\}$$

$$\lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} + \mathfrak{E}^{\alpha}_{2} + 1 \right)^{2} |A|_{\sigma}$$

$$(3.4.35)$$

Indeed, in this last inequality (3.4.35), we have used first the testing condition,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_A} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ M \in \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_{\nu}}} & \left\| \mathbf{1}_{M_{in}} T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_A \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 & \leq \ \mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_A \\ I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{N}(I) \\ J' \in \mathfrak{C}(J)}} |I|_{\sigma} \\ & \leq \ \mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_A \\ I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)}} |I|_{\sigma} \leq \mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} |A|_{\sigma} \end{split}$$

where in the first inequality we used the fact that the M_{in} that appear are all disjoint and form a subdecomposition of $I' \subset I$ and then used testing. On the second inequality we used the bounded overlap of J for any given I, since we are in the case of nearby cubes, and we get the last inequality because the $I \in C_A$, which have a broken child I', are disjoint and form a subdecomposition of A. The same argument can be applied for the second sum of (3.4.35) upon using the energy condition for all $I \in C_A$ which have a broken child I' and using the finite repetition again since we are in the nearby form.

The inequality (3.4.34) is a suitable estimate since

$$\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \sqrt{|A|_{\sigma} \left(\frac{1}{|A|_{\sigma}} \int_{A} |f| \, d\sigma\right)^{2}} \left\| \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}, nearby}_{A}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}$$

by quasiorthogonality and the frame inequalities (3.1.40) and (3.1.51), together with the bounded overlap of the 'nearby' coronas $\left\{ \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},nearby} \right\}_{A \in \mathcal{A}}$. We are left with estimating $\Delta, \mathbf{E}, \mathbf{F}$ that we get after the iteration.

Let us first deal with Δ . By $K_{i,\ell}^j$ we mean a grandchild of a cube K_i^j and K_i^j comes from K_i after having iterated j times, so $K_{i,\ell}^j$ is a (2j+2)-child of K_i . We have

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \Delta(K_{i,\ell}^{j}) \\ &\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^{*},\nu} \sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \left(\sum_{q=1}^{2^{n}} \left| \left(K_{i,\ell,in}^{j} \setminus K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q}\right) \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|K_{i,\ell}^{j}|_{\omega}} \\ &\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^{*},\nu} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{q=1}^{2^{n}} \left| \left(K_{i,\ell,in}^{j} \setminus K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q}\right) \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

where $K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q}$ is one of the inner grandchildren of $K_{i,\ell,in}^{j}$. Now fixing $q = q_0$ and taking

averages over the grid \mathcal{G} we get

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \left| \left(K_{i,\ell,in}^{j} \backslash K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q} \right) \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,in}^{j,q} \right|_{\sigma} \le C_{n} \delta |I|_{\sigma}$$

the constant depends on dimension since for the same i, j we can have intersection as ℓ moves. Adding the different q we get finally

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \boldsymbol{\Delta}(K_{i,\ell}^{j}) \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^{*},\nu,n} \sqrt{\delta} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}.$$
(3.4.36)

For \mathbf{F} we get,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \mathbf{F}(K_{i,\ell}^{j}) \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^{*}} \bigg(\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j} \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,in}^{j} \right|_{\sigma} \bigg)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$

and again averaging over grids \mathcal{G} , we get the bound

$$\boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \mathbf{F}(K_{i,\ell}^{j}) \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} C_{\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}^{*}} \sqrt{\delta} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$
(3.4.37)

Note here that upon choosing δ small enough there is no repetition in the different terms

that arise. Finally, for \mathbf{E} , we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \mathbf{E}(K_{i,\ell}^{j}) \qquad (3.4.38)$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{q=1}^{n} \left(\sum_{r>q} \left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,q} \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,r} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{\left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j} \right|_{\omega}}$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{q=1}^{n} \sum_{r>q} \left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,q} \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,r} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{q=1}^{n} \sum_{r>q} \left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,q} \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,r} \right|_{\omega} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cdot \left(\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{q=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{r>q} \left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,q} \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,r} \right|_{\omega} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$

$$\leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \cdot C_{n,\nu} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{q=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \sum_{r>q} \left| K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,q} \cap (1+\delta) K_{i,\ell,out}^{j,r} \right|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$

Taking averages,

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{i=1}^{B} \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \sum_{\ell=1}^{4^{n}-2^{n}} \mathbf{E}(K_{i,\ell}^{j}) \leq \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \cdot C_{n,\nu} \sqrt{\delta} \sqrt{|I'|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{|J'|_{\omega}}$$

The constant $C_{n,\nu}$ comes from the intersection of the sets $K_{i,\ell,out}^j$.

Recall that after splitting in the cases of δ -seperated and δ -close cubes, we got the bound (3.4.7) in the separated case and after an initial application of random surgery, we reduced the proof of Proposition 3.4.1 to establishing inequality (3.4.11). Then using the bounds in (3.4.12), (3.4.14), (3.4.15), (3.4.16), (3.4.17), (3.4.18) we reduced P(I, J) to getting a bound for $\{K, K\}$ in the notation used in (3.4.21). Then using the estimates in (3.4.30), (3.4.31), (3.4.32) and (3.4.34) together with (3.4.29), (3.4.36), (3.4.37) and (3.4.38) establishes probabilistic control of the sum of all the inner products $\{K, K\}$ taken over appropriate cubes K, yielding (3.4.11) as required if we choose $\varepsilon, \lambda, \eta_0$ and δ sufficiently small. And combining

all the above bounds we proved proposition 3.4.1, namely we got the bound

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ 2^{-\mathbf{r}n} |I| < |J| \le |I| \\ d(J,I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| & \lesssim \\ & \left(C_{\theta} \mathcal{N} \mathcal{T} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha} + \sqrt{\theta} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \right) \quad \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

3.5 Main below form

Now we turn to controlling the main below form (3.2.17),

$$\Theta_2^{good}\left(f,g\right) = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{J^{\mathbf{A}} \subsetneq I: \ \ell(J) \le 2^{-\rho} \ell(I)} \int \left(T_{\sigma} \Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f\right) \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g d\omega.$$

To control $\Theta_2^{good}(f,g) \equiv \mathsf{B}_{\in\rho}(f,g)$ we first perform the canonical corona splitting of $\mathsf{B}_{\in\rho}(f,g)$ into a diagonal form and a far below form, namely $\mathsf{T}_{diagonal}(f,g)$ and $\mathsf{T}_{farbelow}(f,g)$ as in [48]. This canonical splitting of the form $\mathsf{B}_{\in\rho}(f,g)$ involves the corona pseudoprojections $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$ acting on f and the shifted corona pseudoprojections $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{B}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}$ acting on f and the shifted corona pseudoprojections $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{B}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}$ acting on g, where B is a stopping cube in \mathcal{A} . The stopping cubes \mathcal{B} constructed relative to $g \in L^2(\omega)$ play no role in the analysis here, except to guarantee that the frame and weak Riesz inequalities hold for g and $\{\Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\}_{J\in\mathcal{G}}$. Here the shifted corona $\mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ is defined to include those cubes $J \in \mathcal{G}$ such $J^{\mathbf{F}} \in \mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{D}}$. Recall that the parameters τ and ρ are fixed to satisfy

$$\tau > \mathbf{r} \text{ and } \rho > \mathbf{r} + \tau,$$

where \mathbf{r} is the goodness parameter already fixed in (3.2.16).

Definition 3.5.1. For $B \in \mathcal{A}$ we define the shifted \mathcal{G} -corona by

$$\mathcal{C}_{B}^{\mathcal{G},shift} = \left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J^{\mathbf{F}} \in \mathcal{C}_{B}^{\mathcal{D}} \right\}.$$

We will use repeatedly the fact that the shifted coronas $\mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ are pairwise disjoint in B:

$$\sum_{B \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{G}, shift}} (J) \le \mathbf{1}, \qquad J \in \mathcal{D}.$$
(3.5.1)

The forms $\mathsf{B}_{\subseteq \rho,\varepsilon}(f,g)$ are no longer linear in f and g as the 'cut' is determined by the coronas $\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_A$ and $\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G},shift}_B$, which depend on f as well as the measures σ and ω . However, if the coronas are held fixed, then the forms can be considered bilinear in f and g. It is convenient at this point to introduce the following shorthand notation:

$$\left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_{A}} f \right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift} g \right\rangle^{\Subset\rho,\varepsilon}_{\omega} \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift}_{I \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift} : J^{\mathbf{A}}_{\mathcal{G}} \left(\Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} .$$

$$(3.5.2)$$

Caution One must not assume, from the notation on the left hand side above, that the function $T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}f\right)$ is simply integrated against the function $\mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift}g$. Indeed, the sum on the right hand side is taken over pairs (I, J) such that $J^{\bigstar} \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_{B}$ and $J^{\bigstar} \subsetneqq I$ and $\ell(J) \leq 2^{-\rho}\ell(I)$.

3.5.1 The canonical splitting and local below forms

We then have the canonical splitting determined by the coronas $\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_{A}$ for $A \in \mathcal{A}$ (the stopping times \mathcal{B} play no explicit role in the canonical splitting of the below form, other than to guarantee the weak Riesz inequalities for the dual martingale pseudoprojections $\Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*}$)

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{B}_{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon}\left(f,g\right) & (3.5.3) \\ = & \sum_{A,B\in\mathcal{A}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{C_{A}}f\right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift}g \right\rangle_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon} \\ = & \sum_{A\in\mathcal{A}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{C_{A}}f\right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{A},shift}g \right\rangle_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon} + \sum_{\substack{A,B\in\mathcal{A}\\B\subsetneqq A}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{C_{A}}f\right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift}g \right\rangle_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon} \\ & + \sum_{\substack{A,B\in\mathcal{A}\\B\subsetneqq A}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{C_{A}}f\right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift}g \right\rangle_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon} + \sum_{\substack{A,B\in\mathcal{A}\\B\subsetneq A}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{C_{A}}f\right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{B},shift}g \right\rangle_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon} \\ & = & \mathsf{T}_{diagonal}\left(f,g\right) + \mathsf{T}_{farbelow}\left(f,g\right) + \mathsf{T}_{farabove}\left(f,g\right) + \mathsf{T}_{disjoint}\left(f,g\right). \end{aligned}$$

Now the final two terms $\mathsf{T}_{farabove}(f,g)$ and $\mathsf{T}_{disjoint}(f,g)$ each vanish since there are no pairs $(I,J) \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_A \times \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G},shift}_B$ with both (i) $J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneqq I$ and (ii) either $B \subsetneqq A$ or $B \cap A = \emptyset$. The far below form $\mathsf{T}_{farbelow}(f,g)$ requires functional energy, which we discuss in a moment.

Next we follow this splitting by a further decomposition of the diagonal form into local below forms $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset\rho}(f,g)$ given by the individual corona pieces

$$\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset\rho,\varepsilon}\left(f,g\right) \equiv \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(\mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}f\right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{A},shift}g\right\rangle_{\omega}^{\Subset\rho,\varepsilon}$$
(3.5.4)

and prove the following estimate:

$$\left|\mathsf{B}_{\Subset\rho,\varepsilon}^{A}\left(f,g\right)\right| \lesssim \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \left(\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}\left(A\right)\sqrt{|A|_{\sigma}} + \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{\ast}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

This reduces matters to the local forms since we then have from Cauchy-Schwarz that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left| \mathsf{B}^{A}_{\mathfrak{S},\rho,\varepsilon} \left(f,g \right) \right| &\lesssim \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \left(\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}} \left(A \right)^{2} |A|_{\sigma} + \left\| \mathsf{P}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{D}}_{A}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\cdot \left(\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{A}, shift} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \| f \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \| g \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \; . \end{split}$$

by the lower frame inequalities

$$\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \text{ and } \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \lesssim \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}$$

using also quasi-orthogonality $\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(f)^2 |A|_{\sigma} \lesssim ||f||_{L^2(\sigma)}^2$ in the stopping cubes \mathcal{A} , and the pairwise disjointedness of the shifted coronas $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$:

$$\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}} \leq \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{D}}.$$

From now on we will often write \mathcal{C}_A in place of $\mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{D}}$ when no confusion is possible.

Finally, the local forms $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset\rho,\varepsilon}(f,g)$ are decomposed into stopping $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop}(f,g)$, paraproduct $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{paraproduct}(f,g)$ and neighbour $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{neighbour}(f,g)$ forms. The paraproduct and neighbour terms are handled as in [48], which in turn follows the treatment originating in [38], and this leaves only the stopping form $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop}(f,g)$ to be bounded, which we treat last by adapting the bottom/up stopping time and recursion of M. Lacey in [26].

However, in order to obtain the required bounds of the above forms into which the below form $\mathsf{B}_{\Subset\rho}(f,g)$ was decomposed, we need functional energy. Recall that the vector-valued
function **b** in the accretive coronas 'breaks' only at a collection of cubes satisfying a Carleson condition. We define $\mathcal{M}_{(\mathbf{r},\varepsilon)-deep}(F)$ to consist of the maximal **r**-deeply embedded dyadic \mathcal{G} -subcubes of a \mathcal{D} -cube F - see (??) in Appendix B of [54] for more detail.

Definition 3.5.2. Let $\mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} = \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{G})$ be the smallest constant in the 'functional energy' inequality below, holding for all $h \in L^2(\sigma)$ and all σ -Carleson collections $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{D}$ with Carleson norm $C_{\mathcal{F}}$ bounded by a fixed constant C:

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{(\mathbf{r},1)-deep,\mathcal{D}}(F)} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}(M,h\sigma)}{|M|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift};M}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \leq \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} \|h\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}, \quad (3.5.5)$$

The main ingredient used in reducing control of the below form $\mathsf{B}_{\in\rho}(f,g)$ to control of the functional energy \mathfrak{F}_{α} constant and the stopping form $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop}(f,g)$, is the Intertwining Proposition from [48]. The control of the functional energy condition by the energy and Muckenhoupt conditions must also be adapted in light of the *p*-weakly accretive function **b** that only 'breaks' at a collection of cubes satisfying a Carleson condition, but this poses no real difficulties. The fact that the usual Haar bases are orthonormal is here replaced by the weaker condition that the corresponding broken Haar 'bases' are merely frames satisfying certain lower and weak upper Riesz inequalities, but again this poses no real difference in the arguments. Finally, the fact that goodness for J has been replaced with weak goodness, namely $J^{\mathfrak{K}} \subsetneq I$, again forces no real change in the arguments.

We then use the paraproduct / neighbour / stopping splitting mentioned above to reduce

boundedness of $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset\rho,\varepsilon}(f,g)$ to boundedness of the associated stopping form

$$\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right) \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift}: \ J^{\mathbf{H}} \subseteq I \\ \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\rho}\ell(I)}} \left(E_{I_{J}}^{\sigma} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{J}} b_{A}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$
(3.5.6)

where f is supported in the cube A and its expectations $E_I^{\sigma} |f|$ are bounded by $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ for $I \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\sigma}$, the dual martingale support of f is contained in the corona \mathcal{C}_A^{σ} , and the dual martingale support of g is contained in $\mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},shift}$, and where I_J is the \mathcal{D} -child of I that contains J.

3.5.2 Diagonal and far below forms

Now we turn to the *diagonal* and the *far below* terms $\mathsf{T}_{diagonal}(f,g)$ and $\mathsf{T}_{farbelow}(f,g)$, where in [48] the far below terms were bounded using the Intertwining Proposition and the control of functional energy condition by the energy conditions, but of course under the restriction there that the cubes J were good. Here we write

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{T}_{farbelow}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{\substack{A,B\in\mathcal{A}\\B\subsetneqq A}} \sum_{\substack{I\in\mathcal{C}_A \text{ and } J\in\mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{G},shift}\\J^{\mathbf{H}}\subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J)\leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right), \left(\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g\right)\right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= \sum_{B\in\mathcal{A}} \sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}: \ B\subsetneqq I} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right), \sum_{\substack{J\in\mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{G},shift}\\\ell(J)>2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &- \sum_{B\in\mathcal{A}} \sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}: \ B\gneqq I} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right), \sum_{\substack{J\in\mathcal{C}_B^{\mathcal{G},shift}\\\ell(J)>2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}g\right\rangle_{\ell(J)>2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)} \\ &= \mathsf{T}_{farbelow}^{1}\left(f,g\right) - \mathsf{T}_{farbelow}^{2}\left(f,g\right). \end{aligned}$$

since if $I \in C_A$ and $J \in C_B^{\mathcal{G},shift}$, with $J^{\mathbf{F}} \subsetneqq I$ and $B \subsetneqq A$, then we must have $B \gneqq I$. First, we note that expectation of the second sum $\mathsf{T}^2_{farbelow}(f,g)$ is controlled by (3.4.1) in Proposition 3.4.1, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \left| \sum_{B \in \mathcal{A}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ B \subsetneqq I} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{C}_{B}^{\mathcal{G}, shift} \\ \ell(J) > 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I)}} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle \right| \\ \lesssim \quad \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I) < \ell(J) \le \ell(I) \\ d(J,I) \le 2\ell(J)^{\mathcal{E}} \ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ \lesssim \quad \left(C_{\theta} \mathcal{N} \mathcal{T} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha} + \sqrt{\theta} \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \right) \| f \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \| g \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} . \end{split}$$

The form $\mathsf{T}_{farbelow}^{1}\left(f,g\right)$ can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{T}_{farbelow}^{1}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{B\in\mathcal{A}}\sum_{I\in\mathcal{D}:\ B\subsetneqq I}\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right),g_{B}\right\rangle_{\omega};\\ \text{where }g_{B} &\equiv \sum_{J\in\mathcal{C}_{B}^{\mathcal{G},shift}}\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}*}g = \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}*}g \end{aligned}$$

and the Intertwining Proposition 3.5.7 can now be applied to this latter form to show that it is bounded by $\mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} + \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha}$. Then Proposition ?? can be applied to show that $\mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} \leq \mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha} + \mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha}$, which completes the proof that

$$\left|\mathsf{T}_{farbelow}\left(f,g\right)\right| \lesssim \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\|g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} .$$

$$(3.5.8)$$

3.5.3 Intertwining Proposition

First we adapt the relevant definitions and theorems from [48].

Definition 3.5.3. A collection \mathcal{F} of dyadic cubes is σ -Carleson if

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}: F \subset S} |F|_{\sigma} \le C_{\mathcal{F}} |S|_{\sigma}, \qquad S \in \mathcal{F}.$$

The constant $C_{\mathcal{F}}$ is referred to as the Carleson norm of \mathcal{F} .

Definition 3.5.4. Let \mathcal{F} be a collection of dyadic cubes in a grid \mathcal{D} . Then for $F \in \mathcal{F}$, we define the shifted corona $\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ in analogy with Definition 3.5.1 by

$$\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift} = \left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J^{\mathbf{F}} \in \mathcal{C}_{F} \right\}.$$

Note that the collections $\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ are pairwise disjoint in F. Let $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F)$ denote the set of \mathcal{F} -children of F. Given any collection $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{G}$ of cubes, a family \mathbf{b}^* of dual testing functions, and an arbitrary cube $K \in \mathcal{P}$, we define the corresponding dual pseudoprojection $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ and its localization $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{H}:K}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ to K by

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{H}} \Delta_{H}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} \text{ and } \mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{H};K}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{H}: \ H \subset K} \Delta_{H}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} .$$
(3.5.9)

Recall from Definition 3.5.2 that $\mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} = \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{G}) = \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha}^{\mathbf{b}^*}(\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{G})$ is the best constant in (3.5.5), i.e.

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{M}_{(\mathbf{r},1)-deep, \mathcal{D}^{(F)}}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}(M, h\sigma)}{|M|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}; M}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \leq \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} \|h\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}$$

Remark 3.5.5. If in (3.5.5), we take $h = \mathbf{1}_I$ and \mathcal{F} to be the trivial Carleson collection $\{I_r\}_{r=1}^{\infty}$ where the cubes I_r are pairwise disjoint in I, then we obtain the deep energy condition in Definition ??, but with $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift};M}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}$ in place of $\mathsf{P}_{J}^{weakgood,\omega}$. However, the pseudoprojection $\mathsf{P}_{J}^{weakgood,\omega}$ is larger than $\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift};J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}$, and so we just miss obtaining the deep energy condition as a consequence of the functional energy condition. Nevertheless, this near miss with $h = \mathbf{1}_{I}$ explains the terminology 'functional' energy.

We will need the following 'indicator' version of the estimates proved above for the disjoint form.

Lemma 3.5.6. Suppose T^{α} is a standard fractional singular integral with $0 \leq \alpha < 1$, that $\rho > \mathbf{r}$, that $f \in L^2(\sigma)$ and $g \in L^2(\omega)$, that $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{D}^{\sigma}$ and $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{D}^{\omega}$ are σ -Carleson and ω -Carleson collections respectively, i.e.,

$$\sum_{F' \in \mathcal{F}: F' \subset F} |F'|_{\sigma} \lesssim |F|_{\sigma}, \quad F \in \mathcal{F}, \text{ and } \sum_{G' \in \mathcal{G}: G' \subset G} |G'|_{\omega} \lesssim |G|_{\omega}, \quad G \in \mathcal{G},$$

that there are numerical sequences $\{\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)\}_{F\in\mathcal{F}}$ and $\{\beta_{\mathcal{G}}(G)\}_{G\in\mathcal{G}}$ such that

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)^2 |F|_{\sigma} \le ||f||_{L^2(\sigma)}^2 \text{ and } \sum_{G \in \mathcal{G}} \beta_{\mathcal{G}}(G)^2 |G|_{\sigma} \le ||g||_{L^2(\sigma)}^2 , \qquad (3.5.10)$$

Then

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \le \ell(F) \\ d(J,F) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(F)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\mathbf{1}_{F} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}} \left(F \right) \right), \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$$

$$+ \sum_{G \in \mathcal{G}} \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{D}: \ell(I) \le \ell(G) \\ d(I,G) > 2\ell(I)^{\varepsilon} \ell(G)^{1-\varepsilon}}} \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \mathbf{1}_{G} \beta_{\mathcal{G}} \left(G \right) \right\rangle_{\omega} \right|$$

$$\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}.$$

$$(3.5.11)$$

The proof of this lemma is similar to those of Lemmas 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 in Section 3.3 above, using the square function inequalities for $\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$, $\nabla_{I,\mathcal{F}}^{\sigma}$ and $\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}$, $\nabla_{J,\mathcal{G}}^{\omega}$.

Proposition 3.5.7 (The Intertwining Proposition). Let \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} be grids, and suppose that **b** and **b**^{*} are ∞ -weakly σ -accretive families of cubes in \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} respectively. Suppose that $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{D}$ is σ -Carleson and that the \mathcal{F} -coronas

$$\mathcal{C}_{F} \equiv \left\{ I \in \mathcal{D} : I \subset F \text{ but } I \not\subset F' \text{ for } F' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \right\}$$

satisfy

$$E_I^{\sigma} |f| \lesssim E_F^{\sigma} |f| \text{ and } b_I = \mathbf{1}_I b_F, \quad \text{for all } I \in \mathcal{C}_F \ , \ F \in \mathcal{F}.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{I: \ I \gneqq F} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f, \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \lesssim \\ \left(\mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} + \mathfrak{T}_{T}^{\mathbf{b}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \delta^{\alpha - n} + \delta \mathfrak{N}_{T}^{\alpha} \right) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}, \end{split}$$

where the implied constant depends on the σ -Carleson norm $C_{\mathcal{F}}$ of the family \mathcal{F} .

Proof. We write the sum on the left hand side of the display above as

$$\begin{split} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{I: \ I \supseteq F} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f, \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F}, shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega} &= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\sum_{I: \ I \supseteq F} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F}, shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(f^{*}_{F} \right), g_{F} \right\rangle_{\omega}; \end{split}$$

where $f_F^* \equiv \sum_{I: \ I \rightleftharpoons F} \Box_I^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f$ and $g_F \equiv \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}_F^{\mathcal{G}, shift} g}$.

Note that g_F is supported in F. By the telescoping identity for $\Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}$, the function f_F^*

satisfies

$$\mathbf{1}_F f_F^* = \sum_{I: \ I_\infty \supset I \supseteq F} \Box_I^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f = \mathbb{F}_F^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f - \mathbf{1}_F \mathbb{F}_{I_\infty}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f = b_F \frac{E_F^{\sigma} f}{E_F^{\sigma} b_F} - \mathbf{1}_F b_{I_\infty} \frac{E_{I_\infty}^{\sigma} f}{E_{I_\infty}^{\sigma} b_{I_\infty}} \ .$$

where I_{∞} is the starting cube for corona constructions in \mathcal{D} . However, we cannot apply the testing condition to the function $\mathbf{1}_F b_{I_{\infty}}$, and since $E_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma} f$ does not vanish in general, we will instead add and subtract the term $\mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f$ to get

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(f_{F}^{*} \right), g_{F} \rangle_{\omega} = \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\sum_{I: \ I_{\infty} \supset I \supseteq F} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F} shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I_{\infty}} f + \sum_{I: \ I_{\infty} \supset I \supseteq F} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F} shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

$$- \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I_{\infty}} f \right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F} shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega},$$
(3.5.12)

where the second sum on the right hand side of the identity satisfies

$$\mathbf{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right), \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}}^{\omega} g_{s, shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \delta^{\alpha - n} + \delta \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \right) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

Indeed, as

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I_{\infty}} f \right), \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F}, shift} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ = \left[\int_{I_{\infty} \cap J_{\infty}} + \int_{J_{\infty} \cap ((1+\delta)I_{\infty} \setminus I_{\infty})} + \int_{J_{\infty} \setminus (1+\delta)I_{\infty}} \right] \left(\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \mathsf{P}^{\omega}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{F}, shift} g \right) T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I_{\infty}} f \right) d\omega \\ \equiv A_{1} + A_{2} + A_{3}$$

by Cauchy-Schwarz and Riesz inequalities, the term A_1 is controlled by testing, the term A_3 by Muckenhoupt's condition using lemma 3.4.3 and finally

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{E}_{\Omega}^{\mathcal{D}} A_{2} &\leq \left(C\delta \int_{I_{\infty}} \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}}^{\omega} g \right|^{2} d\omega \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \int |f|^{2} d\sigma \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \sqrt{C\delta \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \; . \end{split}$$

The advantage now is that with

$$f_F \equiv \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f + f_F^* = \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f + \sum_{I: \ I_{\infty} \supset I \rightleftharpoons F} \Box_I^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f$$

then in the first term on the right hand side of (3.5.12), the telescoping identity gives

$$\mathbf{1}_F f_F = \mathbf{1}_F \left(\mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f + \sum_{I: \ I_{\infty} \supset I \stackrel{\supset}{\neq} F} \Box_I^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) = \mathbb{F}_F^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f = b_F \frac{E_F^{\sigma} f}{E_F^{\sigma} b_F},$$

which shows that f_F is a controlled constant times b_F on F.

The cubes I occurring in this sum are linearly and consecutively ordered by inclusion, along with the cubes $F' \in \mathcal{F}$ that contain F. More precisely we can write

$$F \equiv F_0 \subsetneqq F_1 \gneqq F_2 \subsetneqq \dots \subsetneqq F_n \gneqq F_{n+1} \gneqq \dots F_N = I_\infty$$

where $F_m = \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^m F$ for all $m \ge 1$. We can also write

$$F = F_0 \equiv I_0 \subsetneqq I_1 \gneqq I_2 \subsetneqq \dots \subsetneqq I_k \gneqq I_{k+1} \gneqq \dots \gneqq I_K = F_N = I_\infty$$

where $I_k = \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^k F$ for all $k \ge 1$. There is a (unique) subsequence $\{k_m\}_{m=1}^N$ such that

$$F_m = I_{km}, \quad 1 \le m \le N.$$

Then we have

$$f_F(x) \equiv \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f(x) + \sum_{\ell=1}^{K} \Box_{I_{\ell}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f(x) \quad \text{and} \quad g_F \equiv \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_F^{\mathcal{G}, shift}} \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g.$$

Assume now that $k_m \leq k < k_{m+1}$. We denote by $\theta(I)$ the $2^n - 1$ siblings of I, i.e. $\tilde{I} \in \theta(I)$ implies $\tilde{I} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(\pi_{\mathcal{D}}I) \setminus \{I\}$. There are two cases to consider here:

$$\tilde{I}_k \notin \mathcal{F} \text{ and } \tilde{I}_k \in \mathcal{F}.$$

We first note that in either case, using a telescoping sum, we compute that for

$$x \in \tilde{I}_k \subset F_{m+1} \backslash F_m,$$

we have the formula

$$\begin{split} f_F(x) &= \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) + \sum_{\ell=k+1}^{K} \Box_{I_{\ell}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \\ &= \mathbb{F}_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) - \mathbb{F}_{I_{k+1}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) + \sum_{\ell=k+1}^{K-1} \left(\mathbb{F}_{I_{\ell}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) - \mathbb{F}_{I_{\ell}+1}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x)\right) + \mathbb{F}_{I_{\infty}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \\ &= \mathbb{F}_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f(x) \ . \end{split}$$

Now fix $x \in \tilde{I}_k$. If $\tilde{I}_k \notin \mathcal{F}$, then $\tilde{I}_k \in \mathcal{C}_{F_{m+1}}$, and we have

$$|f_F(x)| = \left| \mathbb{F}_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f(x) \right| \lesssim \left| b_{\tilde{I}_k}(x) \right| \frac{E_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma} |f|}{\left| E_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma} b_{\theta}(I_k) \right|} \lesssim E_{F_{m+1}}^{\sigma} |f| , \qquad (3.5.13)$$

since the testing functions $b_{\tilde{I}_k}$ are bounded and accretive, and $E^{\sigma}_{\tilde{I}_k} |f| \lesssim E^{\sigma}_{F_{m+1}} |f|$ by hypothesis. On the other hand, if $\tilde{I}_k \in \mathcal{F}$, then $I_{k+1} \in \mathcal{C}_{F_{m+1}}$ and we have

$$|f_F(x)| = \left| \mathbb{F}_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f(x) \right| \lesssim E_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma} |f|$$
.

Note that $F^{c} = \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \theta(I_{k})$. Now we write

 $f_F = \varphi_F + \psi_F,$

$$\begin{split} \varphi_F &\equiv \sum_{k \geq 0} \sum_{\substack{\tilde{I}_k \in \theta(I_k) \\ \tilde{I}_k \in \mathcal{F}}} \mathbb{F}_{\tilde{I}_k}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_F = f_F - \varphi_F \ ; \\ &\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} f_F, g_F \rangle_{\omega} \quad = \quad \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \varphi_F, g_F \rangle_{\omega} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \psi_F, g_F \rangle_{\omega} \ , \end{split}$$

and note that $\varphi_F = 0$ on F, and $\psi_F = b_F \frac{E_F^{\sigma} f}{E_F^{\sigma} b_F}$ on F. We can apply the first line in (3.5.11) using $\tilde{I}_k \in \mathcal{F}$ to the first sum above since $J \in \mathcal{C}_F^{\mathcal{G}, shift}$ implies $J \subset J^{\mathbf{R}} \subset F \subset I_k$, which implies that $d(J, \tilde{I}_k) > 2\ell (J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(\tilde{I}_k)^{1-\varepsilon}$. Thus we obtain after substituting F' for \tilde{I}_k below,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \varphi_{F}, g_{F} \rangle_{\omega} \right| &= \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\sum_{k \geq 0} \sum_{\tilde{I}_{k} \in \theta(I_{k})} \mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{\tilde{I}_{k}} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle \\ &\leq \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}} \sum_{k \geq 0} \sum_{\tilde{I}_{k} \in \theta(I_{k})} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{\tilde{I}_{k}} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{F' \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{G}: \ \ell(J) \leq \ell(F') \atop d(J, F') > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(F')^{1-\varepsilon}} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{F'} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \| f \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \| g \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} . \end{aligned}$$

Turning to the second sum, we note that for $k_m \leq k < k_{m+1}$ and $x \in \tilde{I}_k$ with $\tilde{I}_k \notin \mathcal{F}$, we have

$$\left|\psi_{F}\left(x\right)\right| \lesssim \left|b_{\tilde{I}_{k}}\right| E_{\tilde{I}_{k}}^{\sigma}\left|f\right| \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}_{k}}\left(x\right) \lesssim \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}\left(F_{m+1}\right) \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}_{k}}\left(x\right)$$

Note that for σ -almost all $x \in I_{\infty}$ there exists a unique $F \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $x \in F \setminus \bigcup_{\substack{F' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \\ F' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F)}} F'$ since the family \mathcal{F} is a Carleson family. Also from the stopping criteria we have $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F')$ for $F' \subset F$. Hence we get the following inequality for $x \notin F$,

$$\left|\psi_{F}\left(x\right)\right| \lesssim \Phi\left(x\right) \ \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}}\left(x\right) \ , \tag{3.5.14}$$

where we have defined

$$\Phi \equiv \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F) \, \mathbf{1}_{F \setminus \cup \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}(F)}$$

Now we write

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \psi_F, g_F \rangle_{\omega} = \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_F \psi_F \right), g_F \rangle_{\omega} + \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_F c \psi_F \right), g_F \rangle_{\omega} \equiv \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II}.$$

Then by cube testing,

$$|\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{F}\mathbf{1}_{F}\right),g_{F}\rangle_{\omega}|=|\langle \mathbf{1}_{F}T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\left(b_{F}\mathbf{1}_{F}\right),g_{F}\rangle_{\omega}|\lesssim\mathfrak{T}_{T}\alpha\sqrt{|F|_{\sigma}}\,\|g_{F}\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

and so quasi-orthogonality, together with the fact that on F, $\psi_F = b_F \frac{E_F^{\sigma} f}{E_F^{\sigma} b_F}$ is a constant $c = \frac{E_F^{\sigma} f}{E_F^{\sigma} b_F}$ times b_F , where |c| is bounded by $\alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)$, give

$$|\mathbf{I}| = \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{F} c b_{F} \right), g_{F} \rangle_{\omega} \right| \lesssim \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}} (F) \left| \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{F}, g_{F} \rangle_{\omega} \right|$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}} (F) \mathfrak{T}_{T} \alpha \sqrt{|F|_{\sigma}} \|g_{F}\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$
$$\lesssim \mathfrak{T}_{T} \alpha \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left[\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \|g_{F}\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Now $\mathbf{1}_{F}c\psi_{F}$ is supported outside F, and each J in the dual martingale support $\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ of $g_{F} = \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}}^{\omega}g_{,shift}g$ is in particular good in the cube F, and as a consequence, each such cube J as above is contained in some cube M for $M \in \mathcal{W}(F)$. This containment will be used in the analysis of the term Π_{G} below.

In addition, each J in the dual martingale support $\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ of $g_{F} = \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}},shift}^{\omega}g$ is $\left(\left[\frac{3}{\varepsilon}\right],\varepsilon\right)$ -deeply embedded in F, i.e. $J \Subset \left[\frac{3}{\varepsilon}\right],\varepsilon$ F the definition of $\mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$. As a consequence, each such cube J as above is contained in some cube M for $M \in \mathcal{M}_{\left(\left[\frac{3}{\varepsilon}\right],\varepsilon\right)-deep,\mathcal{D}}(F)$. This containment will be used in the analysis of the term II_{B} below.

Notation 3.5.8. Define $\rho \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \frac{3}{\varepsilon} \end{bmatrix}$, so that for every $J \in \mathcal{C}_F^{\mathcal{G}, shift}$, there is $M \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)-deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)$ such that $J \subset M$.

The collections $\mathcal{W}(F)$ and $\mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)-deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)$ used here, and in the display below, are defined in (??) in Appendix B of [54]. Finally, since the cubes $M \in \mathcal{W}(F)$, as well as the cubes $M \in \mathcal{M}_{\left(\left[\frac{3}{\varepsilon}\right],\varepsilon\right)-deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)$, satisfy $3M \subset F$, we can apply (3.1.54) in the Monotonicity Lemma 3.1.23 using (3.5.14) with $\mu = \mathbf{1}_{F^c} \psi_F$ and J' in place of J there, to obtain

ī

$$\begin{split} |\mathrm{II}| &= \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} \psi_{F} \right), g_{F} \rangle_{\omega} \right| = \left| \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} \psi_{F} \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J'} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\lesssim \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \frac{P^{\alpha} \left(J', \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} | \psi_{F} | \sigma \right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \Delta^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J'} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J'} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &+ \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_{F}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \frac{P^{\alpha}_{1+\delta} \left(J', \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} | \psi_{F} | \sigma \right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J'} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J'} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{W}(F)} \frac{P^{\alpha} \left(M, \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} \Phi \sigma \right)}{|M|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| Q^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}_{F;M}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} \left\| g_{F;M} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &+ \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho, \varepsilon), \mathcal{G}}(F)} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_{F;J}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \frac{P^{\alpha}_{1+\delta} \left(J', \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} | \psi_{F} | \sigma \right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m_{J'} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J'}\omega)} \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J'} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &= \Pi_{G} + \Pi_{B} \,. \end{split}$$

where $g_{F;M}$ denotes the pseudoprojection $g_{F;M} = \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_F^{\mathcal{G}, shift}: J' \subset M} \Box_{J'}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g.$

Note: We could also bound II_G by using the decomposition $\mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)-deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)$ of F into certain maximal \mathcal{G} -cubes, but the 'smaller' choice $\mathcal{W}(F)$ of \mathcal{D} -cubes is needed for II_G in order to bound it by the corresponding functional energy constant \mathfrak{F}_{α} , which can then be controlled by the energy and Muckenhoupt constants in Appendix B of [54].

Then from Cauchy-Schwarz, the functional energy condition, and

$$\left\|\Phi\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \leq \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}}(F)^{2} |F|_{\sigma} \lesssim \left\|f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2},$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathrm{II}_{\mathrm{G}}| \leq & \left(\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{M} \in \mathcal{W}(F)} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(M, \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} \Phi \sigma \right)}{|M|} \right)^{2} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\mathcal{C}_{F;M}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} & \left(\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{M} \in \mathcal{W}(F)} \left\| g_{F;M} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \lesssim \left\| \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} \left\| \Phi \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left[\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \left\| g_{F} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \left\| \mathfrak{F}_{\alpha} \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}, \end{aligned}$$

by the pairwise disjointedness of the coronas $\mathcal{C}_{F;M}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ jointly in F and M, which in turn follows from the pairwise disjointedness (3.5.1) of the shifted coronas $\mathcal{C}_F^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ in F, together with the pairwise disjointedness of the cubes M. Thus we obtain the pairwise disjointedness of both of the pseudoprojections $P_{\mathcal{C}_{F;M}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ and $Q_{\mathcal{C}_{F;M}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ jointly in F and M. In term II_B the quantities $||x - m_{J'}||_{L^2(\mathbf{1}_{J'}\omega)}^2$ are no longer additive except when the

cubes J' are pairwise disjoint. As a result we will use (3.1.58) in the form,

$$\sum_{J' \subset J} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}(J',\nu)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J'}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J'})}^{2} \lesssim \frac{1}{\gamma^{2\delta'}} \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}(J,\nu)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \sum_{J'' \subset J} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J''}^{\omega} x \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ \lesssim \left(\frac{P_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}(J,\nu)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J})}^{2} ,$$

and exploit the decay in the Poisson integral $\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}_{1+\delta'}$ along with weak goodness of the cubes J. As a consequence we will be able to bound II_B directly by the strong energy condition (3.1.8), without having to invoke the more difficult functional energy condition. For the decay we compute that for $J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)-deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)$

$$\frac{P_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{F^{c}}|\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \int_{F^{c}} \frac{|J|^{\frac{\delta'}{n}}}{|y-c_{J}|^{n+1+\delta'-\alpha}} |\psi_{F}|\left(y\right) d\sigma$$

$$\leq \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \int_{\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t+1}F \setminus \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F} \left(\frac{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(c_{J},\left(\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F\right)^{c}\right)}\right)^{\delta'} \frac{|\psi_{F}|\left(y\right)}{|y-c_{J}|^{n+1-\alpha}} d\sigma$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(c_{J},\left(\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F\right)^{c}\right)}\right)^{\delta'} \frac{P^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t+1}F \setminus \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}},$$

and then use the weak goodness inequality and the fact that $J \subset F$

dist
$$\left(c_J, \left(\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^t F\right)^c\right) \ge 2\ell \left(\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^t F\right)^{1-\varepsilon} \ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ge 2 \cdot 2^{t(1-\varepsilon)}\ell(F)^{1-\varepsilon} \ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ge 2^{t(1-\varepsilon)+1}\ell(J),$$

to conclude that

$$\left(\frac{\Pr_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{F^{c}}|\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \lesssim \left(\sum_{t=0}^{\infty} 2^{-t\delta'(1-\varepsilon)} \frac{\Pr^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t+1}F\setminus\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F}^{\dagger}|\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} (3.5.16)$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} 2^{-t\delta'(1-\varepsilon)} \left(\frac{\Pr^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t+1}F\setminus\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F}^{\dagger}|\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2}.$$

where in the last inequality we used the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality. Now we again apply

Cauchy-Schwarz and (3.5.16) to obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{B}} &= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon),\mathcal{G}}^{deep}(F)} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_{F;J}^{\mathcal{G},shift}} \frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J', \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \|x - m_{J'}\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J'}\omega\right)} \left\| \Box_{J'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon),\mathcal{G}}^{deep}(F)} \sum_{J' \in \mathcal{C}_{F;J}^{\mathcal{G},shift}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J',\mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J'}\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{J'}\omega\right)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \left(\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \|g_{F}\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)-deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)} \left(\frac{\mathbf{P}_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ &= \sqrt{\Pi_{energy}} \|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}, \end{split}$$

and it remains to estimate II_{energy} . From (3.5.16) and the strong energy condition (3.1.8),

we have

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{\text{energy}} &= \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon) - deep,\mathcal{G}}(F)} \left(\frac{\Pr_{1+\delta'}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{F^{c}} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon),\mathcal{G}}^{deep}} \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} 2^{-t\delta'(1-\varepsilon)} \left(\frac{\Pr_{\alpha}\left(J, \mathbf{1}_{\pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t+1}F \setminus \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &= \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} 2^{-t\delta'(1-\varepsilon)} \sum_{G \in \mathcal{F}} \sum_{F \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}^{(t+1)}(G)J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon),\mathcal{G}}^{deep}(F)} \left(\frac{\Pr_{\alpha}\left(J, \mathbf{1}_{G \setminus \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F} |\psi_{F}|\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} 2^{-t\delta'(1-\varepsilon)} \sum_{G \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}} \left(G\right)^{2} \sum_{F \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{F}}^{(t+1)}(G)} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{M}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)}^{deep}(F)} \left(\frac{\Pr_{\alpha}\left(J, \mathbf{1}_{G \setminus \pi_{\mathcal{F}}^{t}F} \sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} 2^{-t\delta'(1-\varepsilon)} \sum_{G \in \mathcal{F}} \alpha_{\mathcal{F}} \left(G\right)^{2} \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha}\right)^{2} |G|_{\sigma} \lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha}\right)^{2} \|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2}. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of the Intertwining Proposition 3.5.7.

The task of controlling functional energy is taken up in Appendix B of [54] below.

3.5.4 Paraproduct, neighbour and broken forms

In this subsection we reduce boundedness of the local below form $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset \mathbf{r},\varepsilon}(f,g)$ defined in (3.5.4) to boundedness of the associated stopping form

$$\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right) \equiv \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift\\ J^{\mathbf{F}} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \left(E_{I_{J}}^{\sigma} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{J}} b_{A}\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\rangle_{\omega} , \quad (3.5.17)$$

where the modified difference $\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}$ must be carefully chosen in order to control the corresponding paraproduct form below. Indeed, below we will decompose

$$\mathsf{B}_{\Subset\mathbf{r},\varepsilon}^{A}\left(f,g\right)=\mathsf{B}_{paraproduct}^{A}\left(f,g\right)-\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right)+\mathsf{B}_{neighbour}^{A}\left(f,g\right)+\mathsf{B}_{brok}^{A}\left(f,g\right),$$

and we will show that

$$\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left| \mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset \mathbf{r}, \varepsilon} \left(f, g \right) + \mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop} \left(f, g \right) \right| \lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \right) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

and the bound of $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop}\left(f,g\right)$ will be the main subject of the next section.

Note that the modified dual martingale differences $\Box_I^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}$ and $\widehat{\Box}_I^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}$,

$$\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \equiv \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f - \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f = b_{A} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(I)} \mathbf{1}_{I'} E_{I'}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) = b_{A}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f,$$

satisfy the following telescoping property for all $K \in (\mathcal{C}_A \setminus \{A\}) \cup \left(\bigcup_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_A(A)} A'\right)$ and $L \in \mathcal{C}_A$ with $K \subset L$:

$$\sum_{I: \ \pi K \subset I \subset L} E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_I^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}} f \right) = \begin{cases} -E_L^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_L^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f & \text{if} \quad K \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}} (A) \\ E_K^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_K^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f - E_L^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_L^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f & \text{if} \quad K \in \mathcal{C}_A \end{cases}$$

Fix $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$ for the moment. We will use

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{1}_I &= \mathbf{1}_{I_J} + \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta \left(I_J \right)} \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \ , \\ \mathbf{1}_{I_J} &= \mathbf{1}_A - \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_J} \ , \end{aligned}$$

where $\theta(I_J)$ denotes the $2^n - 1 \mathcal{D}$ -children of I other than the child I_J that contains J. We begin with the splitting

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f, \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{J}} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} + \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta(I_{J})} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{J}} \Box^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} + \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{J}} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{F}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I'} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ + \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta(I_{J})} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ \equiv \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II} + \mathbf{III} \,. \end{split}$$

From (3.1.47) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I} &= \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{J}} \Box^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left[b_{A} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{J}} \widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \right], \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= E^{\sigma}_{I_{J}} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{J}} b_{A} \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= E^{\sigma}_{I_{J}} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{A}, \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} - E^{\sigma}_{I_{J}} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{J}} b_{A} \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \end{split}$$

Since the function $\mathbb{F}_{I_J}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$ is a constant multiple of b_{I_J} on I_J , we can define $\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I_J}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \equiv \frac{1}{b_{I_J}}\mathbb{F}_{I_J}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f$ and then

$$II = \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{IJ} \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(I)} \mathbb{F}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I'} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)}(I_J) E^{\sigma}_{IJ} \left(\widehat{\mathbb{F}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{IJ} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{IJ}, \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$

where the presence of the indicator function $\mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)}(I_J)$ simply means that term II vanishes

unless I_J is an \mathcal{A} -child of A. We now write these terms as

$$\begin{split} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f, \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} &= E^{\sigma}_{IJ} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{A}, \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &- E^{\sigma}_{IJ} \left(\widehat{\Box}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{A \setminus IJ} b_{A} \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &+ \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta(I_{J})} \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{\{I_{J} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)\}} E^{\sigma}_{IJ} \left(\widehat{\mathbb{F}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}_{IJ} f \right) \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} b_{IJ}, \Box^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} , \end{split}$$

where the four lines are respectively a paraproduct, stopping, neighbour and broken term.

The corresponding NTV splitting of $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{\Subset \mathbf{r},\varepsilon}(f,g)$ using (3.5.4) and (3.5.2) becomes

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{B}_{\Subset\mathbf{r},\varepsilon}^{A}\left(f,g\right) &= \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma}f\right), \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega}g_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\beta}hift}g\right\rangle_{\omega}^{\Subset\mathbf{r},\varepsilon} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{I\in\mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J\in\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift \\ J^{\bigstar}\subseteq I \text{ and } \ell(J)\leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I) \\ \end{array} \\ &= \mathsf{B}_{paraproduct}^{A}\left(f,g\right) - \mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right) + \mathsf{B}_{neighbour}^{A}\left(f,g\right) + \mathsf{B}_{brok}^{A}\left(f,g\right), \end{split}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{B}_{paraproduct}^{A}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ J^{\bigstar} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} E_{IJ}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}}f\right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\mathbf{b}_{A}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega}} \\ \mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ J^{\bigstar} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} E_{I}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}}f\right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\mathbf{1}_{A \setminus IJ}b_{A}\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega}} \\ \mathsf{B}_{neighbour}^{A}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ J^{\bigstar} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \mathcal{H}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift}} \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \mathcal{H}_{A} \in \mathcal{H}_{J}^{\mathcal{G},shift}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}}\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega}} \end{split}$$

correspond to the three original NTV forms associated with 1-testing, and where

$$\mathsf{B}_{brok}^{A}\left(f,g\right) \equiv \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ J^{\mathbf{A}} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \mathbf{1}_{\left\{I_{J} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)\right\}} E_{I_{J}}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I_{J}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}b_{I_{J}}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} (3.5.18)$$

"vanishes" since $J^{\mathbf{A}} \subsetneqq I$ and $I_J \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ imply that $J^{\mathbf{A}} \notin \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}$, contradicting $J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$.

Remark 3.5.9. The inquisitive reader will note that the pairs (I, J) arising in the above sum with $J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneq I$ replaced by $J^{\mathbf{H}} = I$ are handled in the probabilistic estimate (3.2.15) for the bad form $\Theta_2^{\text{bad}\natural}$ defined in (3.2.12).

3.5.4.1 The paraproduct form

The paraproduct form $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{paraproduct}(f,g)$ is easily controlled by the testing condition for T^{α} together with weak Riesz inequalities for dual martingale differences. Indeed, recalling the telescoping identity (3.1.48), and that the collection $\{I \in \mathcal{C}_A : \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I)\}$ is tree connected for all $J \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}, shift}_A$, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{B}_{paraproduct}^{A}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} E_{I_{J}}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,b,\mathbf{b}}f\right)\left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}b_{A}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ A}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}b_{A}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}: \ J^{\mathbf{H}} \lneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} E_{I_{J}}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,b,\mathbf{b}}f\right)\right\} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ A}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}b_{A}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\left\{J:I^{\natural}(J)_{J} \in \mathcal{C}_{A}\right\}} E_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma} \widetilde{F}_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f - E_{A}^{\sigma} \widetilde{F}_{A}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\} \\ &= \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}b_{A}, \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\left\{J:I^{\natural}(J)_{J} \in \mathcal{C}_{A}\right\}} E_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma} \widetilde{F}_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f - E_{A}^{\sigma} \widetilde{F}_{A}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\} \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \right\} \end{split}$$

where $I^{\natural}(J)$ denotes the smallest cube $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$ such that $J^{\mathbf{P}} \subsetneqq I$ and $\ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I)$, and of course $I^{\natural}(J)_J$ denotes its child containing J. Note that by construction of the modified difference operator $\Box_I^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}$, the only time the average $\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I^{\natural}(J)_J}^{\sigma} f$ appears in the above sum is when $I^{\natural}(J)_J \in \mathcal{C}_A$, since the case $I^{\natural}(J)_J \in \mathcal{A}$ has been removed to the broken term. This is reflected above with the inclusion of the indicator $\mathbf{1}_{\{J:I^{\natural}(J)_J \in \mathcal{C}_A\}}$. It follows that we have the bound

$$\left|\mathbf{1}_{\left\{J:I^{\natural}(J)_{J}\in\mathcal{C}_{A}\right\}}E_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right|+\left|E_{A}^{\sigma}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{A}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right|\lesssim E_{A}^{\sigma}\left|f\right|\leq\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}\left(A\right)$$

Thus from Cauchy-Schwarz, the upper weak Riesz inequalities for the pseudoprojections $\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \text{ and the bound on the coefficients } \lambda_{J} \equiv \left(\mathbf{1}_{\left\{J:I^{\natural}(J)_{J}\in\mathcal{C}_{A}\right\}}E_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f - E_{A}^{\sigma}\widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{A}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right)$ given by $|\lambda_{J}| \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathsf{B}_{paraproduct}^{A}\left(f,g\right) \right| &= \qquad (3.5.19) \\ & \left| \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A}, \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \left\{ \left(\mathbf{1}_{\left\{J: I^{\natural}(J)_{J} \in \mathcal{C}_{A}\right\}} E_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{I^{\natural}(J)_{J}}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f - E_{A}^{\sigma} \widehat{\mathbb{F}}_{A}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right) \right\} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ & \leq \| \mathbf{1}_{A} T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A} \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \left\| \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \lambda_{J} \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ & \lesssim \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \| \mathbf{1}_{A} T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} b_{A} \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \\ & \leq \mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}^{\mathbf{b}} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \sqrt{|A|_{\sigma}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}. \end{aligned}$$

3.5.4.2 The neighbour form

Next, the neighbour form $\mathsf{B}^A_{neighbour}(f,g)$ is easily controlled by the \mathfrak{A}^{α}_2 condition using the pivotal estimate in Energy Lemma 3.1.25 and the fact that the cubes $J \in \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G},shift}_A$ are good in I and beyond when the pair (I, J) occurs in the sum. In particular, the information encoded in the stopping tree \mathcal{A} plays no role here, apart from appearing in the corona projections on the right hand side of (3.5.25) below. We have

$$\mathsf{B}_{neighbour}^{A}\left(f,g\right) = \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \\ J^{\mathbf{A}} \subsetneqq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}}\ell(I)}} \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta(I_{J})} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\rangle_{\omega}$$
(3.5.20)

where we keep in mind that the pairs $(I, J) \in \mathcal{D} \times \mathcal{G}$ that arise in the sum for $\mathsf{B}^A_{neighbour}(f, g)$ satisfy the property that $J^{\mathbf{P}} \subsetneqq I$, so that J is good with respect to all cubes K of size at least that of $J^{\mathbf{P}}$, which includes I. Recall that I_J is the child of I that contains J, and that $\theta(I_J)$ denotes its $2^n - 1$ siblings in I, i.e. $\theta(I_J) = \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \setminus \{I_J\}$. Fix (I, J) momentarily, and an integer $s \ge \mathbf{r}$. Using $\Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} = \Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}} + \Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}}$ and the fact that $\Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}} f$ is a constant multiple of $b_{\tilde{I}}$ on the cube \tilde{I} , we have the estimates

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right| &= \left| \left(E_{\tilde{I}}^{\sigma} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) b_{\tilde{I}} \right| \leq C_{\mathbf{b}} \left| E_{\tilde{I}}^{\sigma} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|, \\ \left| \mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right| &\leq \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)}(\tilde{I}) \left| E_{\tilde{I}}^{\sigma} \left| f \right|, \end{split}$$

and hence

$$\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}}\left|\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right| \leq C\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}}\left(\left|E_{\tilde{I}}^{\sigma}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}}f\right| + \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)}(\tilde{I}) \ E_{\tilde{I}}^{\sigma}\left|f\right|\right),\tag{3.5.21}$$

which will be used below after an application of the Energy Lemma. We can write $\mathsf{B}^A_{neighbour}\left(f,g\right)$ as

$$\sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_A \& J \in \mathcal{G}_{(\kappa(I_J,J),\varepsilon)-good \cap \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},shift} \& J^{\mathbf{H}} \subseteq I}} \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta(I_J)} \sum_{\tilde{I} \in \theta(I_J)} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha} \left(\mathbf{1}_{\tilde{I}} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g \right\rangle_{\omega}} d\left(J, \tilde{I}\right) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell\left(\tilde{I}\right)^{1-\varepsilon} \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\mathbf{r}} \ell(I)}$$

where we have included the conditions

$$J \in \mathcal{G}_{(\kappa(I_J,J),\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$$
 and $d(J,\tilde{I}) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ell(\tilde{I})^{1-\varepsilon}$

in the summation since they are already implied the remaining four conditions, and will be used in estimates below.

We will also use the following fractional analogue of the Poisson inequality in [58].

Lemma 3.5.10. Suppose $0 \le \alpha < 1$ and $J \subset I \subset K$ and that $d(J, \partial I) > 2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon}\ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon}$ for some $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1-\alpha}$. Then for a positive Borel measure μ we have

$$\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(J,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\setminus I}) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell(J)}{\ell(I)}\right)^{1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha)} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(I,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\setminus I}).$$
(3.5.22)

Proof. We have

$$\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\backslash I}\right) \approx \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-k} \frac{1}{\left|2^{k}J\right|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \int_{\left(2^{k}J\right)\cap\left(K\backslash I\right)} d\mu,$$

and $(2^k J) \cap (K \setminus I) \neq \emptyset$ requires

$$d\left(J, K \setminus I\right) \le c 2^k \ell\left(J\right),$$

for some dimensional constant c > 0. Let k_0 be the smallest such k. By our distance assumption we must then have

$$2\ell(J)^{\varepsilon}\ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \le d(J,\partial I) \le c2^{k_0}\ell(J),$$

or

$$2^{-k_0+1} \le c \left(\frac{\ell(J)}{\ell(I)}\right)^{1-\varepsilon}$$

Now let k_1 be defined by $2^{k_1} \equiv \frac{\ell(I)}{\ell(J)}$. Then assuming $k_1 > k_0$ (the case $k_1 \leq k_0$ is similar) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\backslash I}\right) &\approx \left\{\sum_{k=k_{0}}^{k_{1}}+\sum_{k=k_{1}}^{\infty}\right\} 2^{-k} \frac{1}{\left|2^{k}J\right|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \int_{\left(2^{k}J\right)\cap\left(K\backslash I\right)} d\mu \\ &\lesssim \left.2^{-k_{0}} \frac{\left|I\right|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}{\left|2^{k_{0}}J\right|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \left(\frac{1}{\left|I\right|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \int_{\left(2^{k_{1}}J\right)\cap\left(K\backslash I\right)} d\mu\right) + 2^{-k_{1}}\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(I,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\backslash I}\right) \\ &\lesssim \left.\left(\frac{\ell\left(J\right)}{\ell\left(I\right)}\right)^{\left(1-\varepsilon\right)\left(n+1-\alpha\right)} \left(\frac{\ell\left(I\right)}{\ell\left(J\right)}\right)^{n-\alpha} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(I,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\backslash I}\right) + \frac{\ell\left(J\right)}{\ell\left(I\right)}\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(I,\mu\mathbf{1}_{K\backslash I}\right), \end{split}$$

which is the inequality (3.5.22).

Now fix $I_0 = I_J, I_\theta \in \theta(I_J)$ and assume that $J \Subset_{\mathbf{r},\varepsilon} I_0$. Let $\frac{\ell(J)}{\ell(I_0)} = 2^{-s}$ in the pivotal estimate from Energy Lemma 3.1.25 with $J \subset I_0 \subset I$ to obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \rangle_{\omega} \not\lesssim \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \left| \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right| \sigma \right) \\ \lesssim \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \cdot 2^{-(1 - \varepsilon (n + 1 - \alpha))s} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(I_{0}, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \left| \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right| \sigma \right) \\ \lesssim \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \cdot 2^{-(1 - \varepsilon (n + 1 - \alpha))s} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(I_{0}, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \mathbf{E}^{\sigma}_{I_{\theta}} f \cdot \sigma \right) \end{split}$$

Here we are using (3.5.22) in the third line, which applies since $J \subset I_0$, and we have used (3.5.21) in the fourth line and the shorthand notation

$$\mathbf{E}_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} f \equiv \left| E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right| + \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} \left(I_{\theta} \right) E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} \left| f \right|$$

where the cube I on the right hand side is determined uniquely by the cube $I_{\theta} \in \theta(I_J)$.

In the sum below, we keep the side lengths of the cubes J fixed at 2^{-s} times that of I_0 , and of course take $J \subset I_0$. We also keep the underlying assumptions that $J \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},shift}$ and that $J \in \mathcal{G}_{(\kappa(I_J,J),\varepsilon)-good}^{\mathcal{D}}$ in mind without necessarily pointing to them in the notation. Matters will shortly be reduced to estimating the following term:

$$\begin{split} A(I, I_0, I_{\theta}, s) &\equiv \sum_{J : 2^{s+1}\ell(J) = \ell(I) : J \subset I_0} \left| \langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \left(\mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \Box^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}}_{I} f \right), \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \rangle_{\omega} \right| \\ &\leq 2^{-(1 - \varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \Big(\mathbf{E}^{\sigma}_{I_{\theta}} f \Big) \operatorname{P}^{\alpha}(I_0, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \sigma) \sum_{\substack{J : J \subset I_0 \\ 2^{s+1}\ell(J) = \ell(I)}} \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*}_{J} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)} \sqrt{|J|_{\omega}} \\ &\leq 2^{-(1 - \varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \Big(\mathbf{E}^{\sigma}_{I_{\theta}} f \Big) \operatorname{P}^{\alpha}(I_0, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}} \sigma) \sqrt{|I_0|_{\omega}} \Lambda(I, I_0, I_{\theta}, s) \end{split}$$

where $\Lambda(I, I_0, I_{\theta}, s)^2 \equiv \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G}, shift} : 2^{s+1}\ell(J) = \ell(I): J \subset I_0} \left\| \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2.$

The last line follows upon using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the fact that $J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift}$. We also note that since $2^{s+1}\ell(J) = \ell(I)$,

$$\sum_{I_0 \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I)} \Lambda(I, I_0, I_{\theta}, s)^2 \equiv \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G}, shift}: 2^{s+1}\ell(J) = \ell(I): J \subset I} \left\| \Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2 (3.5.23)$$

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_A} \sum_{I_0 \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I)} \Lambda(I, I_0, I_{\theta}, s)^2 \leq \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G}, shift}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\star 2}$$

Using (3.4.2) we obtain

$$\left| E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| \leq \sqrt{E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} \left| \widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right|^{2}} \lesssim \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star} \left| I_{\theta} \right|_{\sigma}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(3.5.24)

and hence

$$\mathbf{E}_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} f \equiv \left| E_{I_{\theta}(I_{J})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b},\mathbf{b}} f \right| + \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} (I_{\theta}) E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} |f|$$

$$\lesssim \left(\left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} + \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} (I_{\theta}) |I_{\theta}|_{\sigma}^{\frac{1}{2}} E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} |f| \right) |I_{\theta}|_{\sigma}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

and thus $A(I,I_0,I_\theta,s)$ is bounded by

$$2^{-(1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \left(\left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} + \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)}\left(I_{\theta}\right) \left|I_{\theta}\right|_{\sigma}^{\frac{1}{2}} E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma}\left|f\right| \right) \cdot \left(I_{I},I_{0},I_{\theta},s\right) \left|I_{\theta}\right|_{\sigma}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(I_{0},\mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}}\sigma)\sqrt{\left|I_{0}\right|_{\omega}} \\ \lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}2^{-(1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \left(\left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} + \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)}\left(I_{\theta}\right) \left|I_{\theta}\right|_{\sigma}^{\frac{1}{2}} E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma}\left|f\right| \right) \Lambda(I,I_{0},I_{\theta},s)$$

since $\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(I_0, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}}\sigma) \lesssim \frac{|I_{\theta}|_{\sigma}}{|I_{\theta}|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}}$ shows that

$$|I_{\theta}|_{\sigma}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{P}^{\alpha}(I_{0}, \mathbf{1}_{I_{\theta}}\sigma) \sqrt{|I_{0}|_{\omega}} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{|I_{\theta}|_{\sigma}}\sqrt{|I_{0}|_{\omega}}}{|I_{\theta}|^{1-\frac{\alpha}{n}}} \lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}$$

where the implied constant depends on α and the dimension. An application of Cauchy-

Schwarz to the sum over I using (3.5.23) then shows that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \sum_{I_{0}, I_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I)} A(I, I_{0}, I_{\theta}, s) \\ &\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} 2^{-(1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \sqrt{\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star 2}} + \sum_{I_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} |I_{\theta}|_{\sigma} \left(E_{I_{\theta}}^{\sigma} |f| \right)^{2} \cdot \\ &\cdot \sqrt{\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \left(\sum_{I_{0}, I_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \\ I_{0} \neq I_{\theta}} \Lambda(I, I_{0}, I_{\theta}, s) \right)^{2}} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \lesssim & \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} 2^{-(1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \sqrt{\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2}} + \sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} |A'|_{\sigma} \left(E_{A'}^{\sigma} |f| \right)^{2}} \cdot \\ & \cdot \sqrt{\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \left(\sum_{\substack{I_{0} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(I) \\ I_{0} \neq I_{\theta}}} \Lambda(I, I_{0}, I_{\theta}, s) \right)^{2}} \\ \lesssim & \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} 2^{-(1-\varepsilon(n+1-\alpha))s} \left(\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} + \sqrt{\sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} |A'|_{\sigma} \left(E_{A'}^{\sigma} |f| \right)^{2}} \right) \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega, \mathfrak{b}^{*}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \end{split}$$

This estimate is summable in $s \ge \mathbf{r}$ since $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1-\alpha}$, and so the proof of

$$\left| \mathsf{B}_{neighbour}^{A}\left(f,g\right) \right| \leq \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \sum_{I_{0} \text{ and } I_{\theta} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}\left(I\right)} \sum_{s=\mathbf{r}}^{\infty} A(I,I_{0},I_{\theta},s)$$

$$\lesssim \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \left(\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} + \sqrt{\sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{A}(A)} |A'|_{\sigma} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}} (A')^{2}} \right) \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

$$(3.5.25)$$

is complete since $E_{A'}^{\sigma} |f| \lesssim \alpha_{\mathcal{A}} (A').$

Now if we sum in $A \in \mathcal{A}$ the inequalities (3.5.19), (3.5.25) and (3.5.18) we get

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left| \mathsf{B}^{A}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mathsf{T}},\mathfrak{c}}\left(f,g\right) + \mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop}\left(f,g\right) \right| \\ &\lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \right) \sqrt{\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{\mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G}}_{A}, shift} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}} \cdot \\ &\cdot \sqrt{\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\{ \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}\left(A\right)^{2} |A|_{\sigma} + \left\| \mathsf{P}^{\sigma}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2}} + \sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}\left(A'\right)^{2} |A'|_{\sigma} \right\}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\mathfrak{T}^{\mathbf{b}}_{T^{\alpha}} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}^{\alpha}_{2}} \right) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

The stopping form is the subject of the following section.

3.6 The stopping form

Here we deal with the stopping form. We modify the adaptation of the argument of M. Lacey in to apply in the setting of a Tb theorem for an α -fractional Calderón-Zygmund operator T^{α} in \mathbb{R}^n using the Monotonicity Lemma 3.1.23, the energy condition, and the weak goodness of Hytönen and Martikainen [24]. We directly control the pairs (I, J) in the stopping form according to the \mathcal{L} -coronas (constructed from the 'bottom up' with stopping times involving the energies $\left\| \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^2$) to which I and $J^{\mathbf{F}}$ are associated. However, due to the fact that the cubes I need no longer be good in any sense, we must introduce an additional top/down 'indented' corona construction on top of the bottom/up construction of M. Lacey, and in connection with this we introduce a Substraddling Lemma. We then control the stopping form by absorbing the case when both I and $J^{\mathbf{F}}$ belong to the same \mathcal{L} -corona, and by using the Straddling and Substraddling Lemmas, together with the Orthogonality Lemma, to control the case when I and $J^{\mathbf{x}}$ lie in different coronas, with a geometric gain coming from the separation of the coronas. This geometric gain is where the new 'indented' corona is required.

Apart from this change, the remaining modifications are more cosmetic, such as

- the use of the weak goodness of Hytönen and Martikainen [24] for pairs (I, J) arising in the stopping form, rather than goodness for all cubes J that was available in [26], [49], [51] and [52]. For the most part definitions such as admissible collections are modified to require J[♥] ⊂ I;
- the pseudoprojections $\Box_I^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}, \Box_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*}$ are used in place of the orthogonal Haar projections, and the frame and weak Riesz inequalities compensate for the lack of orthogonality.

Fix grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} . We will prove the bound

$$\left|\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right)\right| \lesssim \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar},\qquad(3.6.1)$$

where we recall that the nonstandard 'norms' are given by,

$$\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}}} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2},$$
$$\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}},shift}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \equiv \sum_{J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}},shift} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2},$$

and that the stopping form is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift \\ J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\rho}\ell(I) }} \left(E_{I_{J}}^{\sigma}\widehat{\Box}_{I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I_{J}}\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{I: \ \pi I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift \\ J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneqq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-(\rho-1)}\ell(I)}} \left(E_{I}^{\sigma}\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega} \end{split}$$

where we have made the 'change of dummy variable' $I_J \to I$ for convenience in notation (recall that the child of I that contains J is denoted I_J). Changing $\rho - 1$ to ρ we have:

$$\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A}\left(f,g\right) = \sum_{\substack{I: \ \pi I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G}}, shift \\ J^{\mathbf{H}} \subsetneq I \text{ and } \ell(J) \leq 2^{-\rho}\ell(I)}} \left(E_{I}^{\sigma}\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega},$$

For $A \in \mathcal{A}$ recall that we have defined the *shifted* \mathcal{G} -corona by

$$\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \equiv \left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J^{\mathbf{L}} \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D}} \right\},\,$$

and also defined the *restricted* \mathcal{D} -corona by

$$\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D},restrict} \equiv \mathcal{C}_{A} \setminus \{A\} \equiv \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}.$$

Definition 3.6.1. Suppose that $A \in \mathcal{A}$ and that $\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{D},restrict} \times \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},shift}$. We say that the collection of pairs \mathcal{P} is A-admissible if

- (good and (ρ, ε) -deeply embedded) For every $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$, and $J^{\mathbf{A}} \subset I \subsetneqq A$.
- (tree-connected in the first component) if $I_1 \subset I_2$ and both $(I_1, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ and $(I_2, J) \in \mathcal{P}$,

then $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ for every I in the geodesic $[I_1, I_2] = \{I \in \mathcal{D} : I_1 \subset I \subset I_2\}.$

From now on we often write C_A and C'_A in place of $C^{\mathcal{D}}_A$ and $C^{\mathcal{D},restrict}_A$ respectively when there is no confusion. The basic example of an admissible collection of pairs is obtained from the pairs of cubes summed in the stopping form $\mathsf{B}^A_{stop}(f,g)$,

$$\mathcal{P}^{A} \equiv \left\{ (I,J) : I \in \mathcal{C}'_{A} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathcal{D}}_{(\rho,\varepsilon)-good} \cap \mathcal{C}^{\mathcal{G},shift}_{A} \text{ where } J \Subset_{\rho,\varepsilon} I \right\}.$$
(3.6.2)

Definition 3.6.2. Suppose that $A \in \mathcal{A}$ and that \mathcal{P} is an A-admissible collection of pairs. Define the associated stopping form $\mathsf{B}^{A,\mathcal{P}}_{stop}$ by

$$\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) \equiv \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} \left(E_{I}^{\sigma}\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f \right) \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\left(b_{A}\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\right), \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\rangle_{\omega} \ .$$

Proposition 3.6.3. Suppose that $A \in \mathcal{A}$ and that \mathcal{P} is an A-admissible collection of pairs. Then the stopping form $\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A,\mathcal{P}}$ satisfies the bound

$$\left|\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A,\mathcal{P}}\left(f,g\right)\right| \lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star}$$
(3.6.3)

With the above proposition in hand, we can complete the proof of (3.6.1) by summing

over the stopping cubes $A \in \mathcal{A}$ with the choice \mathcal{P}^A of A-admissible pairs for each A:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left| \mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A,\mathcal{P}^{A}}(f,g) \right| \\ \lesssim &\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \right) \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ \lesssim & \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \right) \left(\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \lesssim & \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}} \right) \| f \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \| g \|_{L^{2}(\omega)} \end{split}$$

by the lower Riesz inequality $\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_A}^{\sigma, \mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^2, \text{ quasi-orthogonality}$ $\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}} \left(f \right)^2 |A|_{\sigma} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^2 \text{ in the stopping cubes } \mathcal{A}, \text{ and by the pairwise disjointedness of the shifted coronas } \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G}, shift} \colon \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G}}, shift} \leq \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{D}}.$

To prove Proposition 3.6.3, we begin by letting

$$\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P} \equiv \left\{ I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{D},restrict} : (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} \text{ for some } J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} \right\},\$$
$$\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P} \equiv \left\{ J \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{G},shift} : (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} \text{ for some } I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime} \right\},\$$

consist of the first and second components respectively of the pairs in \mathcal{P} , and writing

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) &= \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}} \left\langle T_{\sigma}^{\alpha}\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}}, \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\rangle_{\omega};\\ \text{where } \varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}} &\equiv \sum_{I\in\mathcal{C}_{A}':\ (I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} b_{A}E_{I}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \ \mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I} \text{ (since } b_{I}=b_{A} \text{ for } I\in\mathcal{C}_{A}) \end{split}$$

By the tree-connected property of \mathcal{P} , and the telescoping property of dual martingale differ-

ences, together with the bound $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ on the averages of f in the corona \mathcal{C}_A , we have

$$\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}}\right| \lesssim \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}\left(A\right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)},\tag{3.6.4}$$

where $I_{\mathcal{P}}(J) \equiv \bigcap \{I : (I, J) \in \mathcal{P}\}\$ is the smallest cube I for which $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$. It is important to note that J is good with respect to $I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)$ by our infusion of weak goodness above. Another important property of these functions is the sublinearity:

$$\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}}\right| \leq \left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}_{1}}\right| + \left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}_{2}}\right|, \qquad \mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_{1}\dot{\cup}\mathcal{P}_{2}.$$
 (3.6.5)

Now apply the Monotonicity Lemma 3.1.23 to the inner product $\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}\varphi_J, \Box^{\omega}_J g \rangle_{\omega}$ to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \left\langle T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} \varphi_{J}, \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\rangle_{\omega} \right| &\lesssim \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, |\varphi_{J}| \, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)} \sigma \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \bigtriangleup^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &+ \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}_{1+\delta} \left(J, |\varphi_{J}| \, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)} \sigma \right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| x - m^{\omega}_{J} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\| \Box^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}}_{J} g \right\|_{L^{2}}^{\bigstar} \end{aligned}$$

Thus we have

$$(3.6.6)$$

$$\left|\mathsf{B}_{stop}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g)\right| \leq \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,|\varphi_{J}|\,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

$$+ \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,|\varphi_{J}|\,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|x-m_{J}^{\omega}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}}^{\bigstar}$$

$$\equiv \left|\mathsf{B}\right|_{stop,1,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) + \left|\mathsf{B}\right|_{stop,1+\delta,\mathsf{P}^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g),$$

where we have dominated the stopping form by two sublinear stopping forms that involve the

Poisson integrals of order 1 and $1 + \delta$ respectively, and where the smaller Poisson integral $P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}$ is multiplied by the larger quantity $||x - m_J^{\omega}||_{L^2} (\mathbf{1}_J \omega)$. This splitting turns out to be successful in separating the two energy terms from the right hand side of the Energy Lemma, because of the two properties (3.6.4) and (3.6.5) above. It remains to show the two inequalities:

$$\left|\mathsf{B}\right|_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) \lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{\ast}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar},\tag{3.6.7}$$

for $f \in L^{2}(\sigma)$ satisfying where $E_{I}^{\sigma}|f| \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ for all $I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}$; and where $\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P}) \equiv \{\pi_{\mathcal{D}}I : I \in \Pi_{1}\mathcal{P}\}$; and

$$\left|\mathsf{B}\right|_{stop,1+\delta,\mathsf{P}^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) \lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$
(3.6.8)

where we only need the case $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}^A$ in this latter inequality as there is no recursion involved in treating this second sublinear form. We consider first the easier inequality (3.6.8) that does not require recursion.

3.6.1 The bound for the second sublinear inequality

Now we turn to proving (3.6.8), i.e.

$$|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,1+\delta,\mathsf{P}^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}\left(f,g\right) \lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

where since

$$|\varphi_J| = \left| \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}'_A: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}} E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \ b_A \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} \right| \leq \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}'_A: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}} \left| E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) b_A \ \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} \right|,$$

the sublinear form $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,1+\delta,\mathsf{P}^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}$ can be dominated and then decomposed by pigeonholing the ratio of side lengths of J and I:

$$\begin{aligned} &|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,1+\delta}^{A,\mathcal{P}}\left(f,g\right) \\ &= \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,|\varphi_{J}|\,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I\mathcal{P}}(J)^{\sigma}\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|x-m_{J}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\leq \sum_{(I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|E_{I}^{\sigma}\left(\Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right)\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|x-m_{J}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\equiv \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,1+\delta}^{A,\mathcal{P};s}\left(f,g\right); \end{aligned}$$

We will now adapt the argument for the stopping term starting on page 42 of [28], where the geometric gain from the assumed 'Energy Hypothesis' there will be replaced by a geometric gain from the smaller Poisson integral $P^{\alpha}_{1+\delta}$ used here.

First, we exploit the additional decay in the Poisson integral $\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}_{1+\delta}$ as follows. Suppose
that $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ with $\ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)$. We then compute

$$\frac{P_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,|b_{A}|\,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \int_{A\setminus I} \frac{|J|^{\frac{\delta}{n}}}{|y-c_{J}|^{n+1+\delta-\alpha}} \left|b_{A}\left(y\right)\right| d\sigma\left(y\right) \\
\leq \int_{A\setminus I} \left(\frac{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(c_{J},I^{c}\right)}\right)^{\delta} \frac{1}{|y-c_{J}|^{n+1-\alpha}} \left|b_{A}\left(y\right)\right| d\sigma\left(y\right) \\
\lesssim \left(\frac{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}{\operatorname{dist}\left(c_{J},I^{c}\right)}\right)^{\delta} \frac{P^{\alpha}\left(J,|b_{A}|\,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}},$$

and using the goodness of J in I,

$$d(c_J, I^c) \ge 2\ell(I)^{1-\varepsilon} \ell(J)^{\varepsilon} \ge 2 \cdot 2^{s(1-\varepsilon)} \ell(J),$$

to conclude, using accretivity, that

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,|b_{A}|\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right) \lesssim 2^{-s\delta(1-\varepsilon)}\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}}.$$
(3.6.9)

We next claim that for $s \ge 0$ an integer,

$$\left|\mathsf{B}\right|_{stop,1+\delta,\mathsf{P}^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P};s}(f,g) \lesssim 2^{-s\delta(1-\varepsilon)} \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

from which (3.6.8) follows upon summing in $s \ge 0$. Now using both

$$\begin{split} \left| E_{I}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right| \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \int_{I} \left| \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right| d\sigma &\leq \left\| \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}}}, \\ \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \left\| \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} &\lesssim \sum_{I \in \mathcal{D}} \left(\left\| \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \left\| \nabla_{\pi I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \right) \approx \| f \|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} , \end{split}$$

we apply Cauchy-Schwarz in the I variable above to see that

$$\left[\left| \mathsf{B} \right|_{stop,1+\delta,\mathsf{P}^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P};s}(f,g) \right]^{2} \\ \lesssim \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\mathcal{C}_{A}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left[\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}'} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{|I|_{\sigma}}} \sum_{J: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} \sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \right)^{2} \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Using the frame inequality for $\Box_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*}$ we can then estimate the sum inside the square brackets by

$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}'_{A}} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{J: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} \\ \ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right\}_{\substack{J: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} \\ \ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)}} \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2}$$
$$\lesssim \left\| \mathrm{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} A(s)^{2},$$

where

$$A(s)^{2} \equiv \sup_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \sum_{\substack{J: (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} \\ \ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)}} \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}_{1+\delta}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} \sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \|x - m_{J}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{J}\omega)}^{2}$$

Finally then we turn to the analysis of the supremum in last display. From the Poisson decay (3.6.9) we have

$$\begin{split} A(s)^2 &\lesssim \sup_{I \in \mathcal{C}'_A} \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} 2^{-2s\delta(1-\varepsilon)} \sum_{\substack{J: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} \\ \ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} \sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \|x - m_J\|_{L^2(\mathbf{1}_J \omega)}^2 \\ &\lesssim 2^{-2s\delta(1-\varepsilon)} \left[(\mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha})^2 + \mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha} \right], \end{split}$$

Indeed, from Definition 3.1.14, as $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$, we have that I is not a stopping cube in \mathcal{A} , and hence that (3.1.28) fails to hold, delivering the estimate above since $J \Subset_{\rho,\varepsilon} I$ good must be contained in some $K \in \mathcal{M}_{(\mathbf{r},\varepsilon)-deep}(I)$, and since $\frac{P^{\alpha}(J,|b_{I}|\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \frac{P^{\alpha}(K,|b_{I}|\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}\sigma)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}$. The terms $\|\mathsf{P}_{J}^{\omega}x\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2}$ are additive since the J's are pigeonholed by $\ell(J) = 2^{-s}\ell(I)$.

3.6.2 The bound for the first sublinear inequality

Now we turn to proving the more difficult inequality (3.6.7). Denote by $\mathfrak{N}^{A,\mathcal{P}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}$ the best constant in

$$|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) \le \mathfrak{N}_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}, \tag{3.6.10}$$

where $f \in L^2(\sigma)$ satisfies $E_I^{\sigma} |f| \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ for all $I \in \mathcal{C}_A$, and $g \in L^2(\omega)$ and $\pi(\Pi_1 \mathcal{P}) = \{\pi I : I \in \Pi_1 P\}$. We refer to $\mathfrak{N}_{stop, \bigtriangleup \omega}^{A, \mathcal{P}}$ as the *restricted* norm relative to the collection \mathcal{P} . Inequality (3.6.7) follows once we have shown that $\mathfrak{N}_{stop, \bigtriangleup \omega}^{A, \mathcal{P}} \lesssim \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}}$.

The following general result on mutually orthogonal admissible collections will prove very useful in establishing (3.6.7). Given a set $\{\mathcal{Q}_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$ of admissible collections for A, we say that the collections \mathcal{Q}_m are *mutually orthogonal*, if each collection \mathcal{Q}_m satisfies

$$\mathcal{Q}_m \subset igcup_{j=0}^\infty \left\{ \mathcal{A}_{m,j} imes \mathcal{B}_{m,j}
ight\}$$

where the sets $\{\mathcal{A}_{m,j}\}_{m,j}$ and $\{\mathcal{B}_{m,j}\}_{m,j}$ are each pairwise disjoint in their respective dyadic grids \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} :

$$\sum_{m,j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{A}_{m,j}} \leq \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{D}} \text{ and } \sum_{m,j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{B}_{m,j}} \leq \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{G}}$$

Lemma 3.6.4. Suppose that $\{\mathcal{Q}_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$ is a set of admissible collections for A that are

mutually orthogonal. Then $\mathcal{Q} \equiv \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{Q}_m$ is admissible, and the sublinear stopping form $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(f,g)$ has its restricted norm $\mathfrak{N}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}$ controlled by the supremum of the restricted norms $\mathfrak{N}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_m}$:

$$\mathfrak{N}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega} \leq \sup_{m\geq 0} \mathfrak{N}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_m}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}.$$

Proof. If $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{Q}_m$, then $\varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}} = \varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}_m}$ and $I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J) = I_{\mathcal{Q}_m}(J)$, since the collection $\{\mathcal{Q}_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$

is mutually orthogonal. Thus we have

$$\begin{split} |\mathsf{B}|^{A,\mathcal{Q}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &= \sum_{m\geq0} \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{m}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}m}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}m}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &= \sum_{m\geq0} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_{m}}\left(f,g\right), \end{split}$$

and we can continue with the definition of $\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_m}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}$ and Cauchy-Schwarz to obtain

$$\begin{split} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(f,g) &\leq \sum_{m\geq 0} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_m} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1\mathcal{Q}_m)}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_2\mathcal{Q}_m}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\leq \left(\sup_{m\geq 0} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_m} \right) \sqrt{\sum_{m\geq 0} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1\mathcal{Q}_m)}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2}} \sqrt{\sum_{m\geq 0} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_2\mathcal{Q}_m}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}} \\ &\leq \left(\sup_{m\geq 0} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_m} \right) \sqrt{\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^{\bigstar 2}} \sqrt{\left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_2\mathcal{Q}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} g \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}}. \end{split}$$

Now we turn to proving inequality (3.6.7) for the sublinear form $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g)$, i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}}\left(f,g\right) &\equiv \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,|\varphi_{J}|\,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\lesssim \left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha}+\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right) \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}; \end{aligned}$$

where
$$\varphi_J \equiv \sum_{I \in \mathcal{C}'_A: (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}} \left(E_I^{\sigma} \widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) b_A \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I}$$
 is supported in $A \setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)$

and $I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)$ denotes the smallest cube $I \in \mathcal{D}$ for which $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$. We recall the stopping energy from (3.1.30),

$$\mathbf{X}_{\alpha} \left(\mathcal{C}_{A} \right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}} \frac{1}{|I|_{\sigma}} \sup_{\substack{i \geq \bigcup J_{r} \\ I \supset \bigcup J_{r}}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(J_{r}, \mathbf{1}_{A} \sigma \right)}{|J_{r}|} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{J_{r}} \right\|_{L^{2} \left(\mathbf{1}_{J_{r}} \omega \right)}^{2} ,$$

where the cubes $J_r \in \mathcal{G}$ are pairwise disjoint in I.

What now follows is an adaptation to our sublinear form $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop, \bigtriangleup \omega}^{A, \mathcal{P}}$ of the arguments of M. Lacey in [26], together with an additional 'indented' corona construction. We have the following Poisson inequality for cubes $B \subset A \subset I$:

$$\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(A,\mathbf{1}_{I\setminus A}\sigma\right)}{|A|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \int_{I\setminus A} \frac{1}{\left(|y-c_{A}|\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} d\sigma\left(y\right) \tag{3.6.11}$$

$$\lesssim \int_{I\setminus A} \frac{1}{\left(|y-c_{B}|\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} d\sigma\left(y\right) \approx \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(B,\mathbf{1}_{I\setminus A}\sigma\right)}{|B|^{\frac{1}{n}}}$$

where the implied constants depend on n, α .

Fix $A \in \mathcal{A}$. Following [26] we will use a 'decoupled' modification of the stopping energy

 $\mathbf{X}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{C}_{A})$ to define a 'size functional' of an A-admissible collection \mathcal{P} . So suppose that \mathcal{P} is an A-admissible collection of pairs of cubes, and recall that $\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P}$ and $\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}$ denote the cubes in the first and second components of the pairs in \mathcal{P} respectively.

Definition 3.6.5. For an A-admissible collection of pairs of cubes \mathcal{P} , and a cube $K \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{P}$, define the projection of \mathcal{P} 'relative to K' by

$$\Pi_2^K \mathcal{P} \equiv \left\{ J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P} : \ J^{\mathbf{k}} \subset K \right\},\$$

where we have suppressed dependence on A.

Definition 3.6.6. We will use as the 'size testing collection' of cubes for \mathcal{P} the collection

$$\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \equiv \{ K \in \mathcal{D} : K \subset I \text{ for some } I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{P} \},\$$

which consists of all cubes contained in a cube from $\Pi_1 \mathcal{P}$.

Continuing to follow Lacey [26], we define two 'size functionals' of \mathcal{P} as follows. Recall that for a pseudoprojection $Q^{\omega}_{\mathcal{H}}$ on x we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} &= \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \\ &= \sum_{J \in \mathcal{H}} \left(\left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{2} + \inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{J' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(J)} \left| J' \right|_{\omega} \left(E_{J'}^{\omega} \left| x - z \right| \right)^{2} \right) \end{aligned}$$

Definition 3.6.7. If \mathcal{P} is A-admissible, define an initial size condition $\mathcal{S}_{initsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})$ by

$$\mathcal{S}_{initsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below}\mathcal{P}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \left\|\mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K}\mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar^{2}}.$$
 (3.6.12)

The following key fact is essential.

Key Fact #1:

If
$$K \subset A$$
 and $K \notin \mathcal{C}_A$, then $\Pi_2^K \mathcal{P} = \emptyset$. (3.6.13)

To see this, suppose that $K \subset A$ and $K \notin \mathcal{C}_A$. Then $K \subset A'$ for some $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_A(A)$, and so if there is $J' \in \Pi_2^K \mathcal{P}$, then $(J')^{\mathbf{F}} \subset K \subset A'$, which implies that $J' \notin \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},shift}$, which contradicts $\Pi_2^K \mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G},shift}$. We now observe from (3.6.13) that we may also write the initial size functional as

$$\mathcal{S}_{initsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \left\|\mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K} \mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}.$$
 (3.6.14)

However, we will also need to control certain pairs $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ using testing cubes Kwhich are strictly smaller than $J^{\mathbf{T}}$, namely those $K \in \mathcal{C}_A$ such that $K \subset J^{\mathbf{T}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} K$. For this, we need a second key fact regarding the cubes $J^{\mathbf{T}}$, that will also play a crucial role in controlling pairs in the indented corona below, and which is that J is always contained in one of the *inner* 2^n grandchildren of $J^{\mathbf{T}}$. For $M \in \mathcal{D}$, denote by $M_{\mathbf{V}}$ and $M_{\mathbf{V}}$ any of the inner and outer respectively grandchildren of M and by M_J and M^{\flat} the child and grandchild respectively of M that contains J, provided they exist.

Key Fact #2:

$$3J \subset J^{\flat}$$
 and J^{\flat} is an inner grandchild of J^{\bigstar} (3.6.15)

To see this, suppose that the child $J_J^{\mathbf{H}}$ of $J^{\mathbf{H}}$ contains $J(J_J^{\mathbf{H}}$ exists because J is good in

 $J^{\mathbf{H}}$). Then observe that J is by definition $\varepsilon - bad$ in $J_{J}^{\mathbf{H}}$, i.e.

$$\operatorname{dist}\left(J,\operatorname{body} J_{J}^{\mathbf{H}}\right) \leq 2 \left|J\right|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}} \left|J_{J}^{\mathbf{H}}\right|^{\frac{1-\varepsilon}{n}}$$

and so cannot lie in any of the $4^n - 2^n$ outermost grandchildren $J^{\mathbf{x}}_{\nearrow}$. Indeed, if $J \subset J^{\mathbf{x}}_{\nearrow}$, then

$$\operatorname{dist}\left(J, \operatorname{body} J^{\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}}\right) = \operatorname{dist}\left(J, \operatorname{body} J_{J}^{\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}}\right) \leq 2 |J|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}} \left|J_{J}^{\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}}\right|^{\frac{1-\varepsilon}{n}}$$
$$= 2^{\varepsilon} |J|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}} \left|J^{\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}}\right|^{\frac{1-\varepsilon}{n}} < 2 |J|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}} \left|J^{\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}}\right|^{\frac{1-\varepsilon}{n}}$$

contradicting the fact that J is $\varepsilon - good$ in $J^{\mathbf{A}}$. Thus we must have $J \subset J^{\flat}$, and of course we get that J^{\flat} is an inner grandchild of $J^{\mathbf{A}}$, (where the body of $J^{\mathbf{A}}$ does not intersect the interior of J^{\flat} , thus permitting J to be $\varepsilon - good$ in $J^{\mathbf{A}}$). Finally, the fact that J is $\varepsilon - good$ in $J^{\mathbf{A}}$ implies that $3J \subset J^{\flat}$.

This second key fact is what underlies the construction of the indented corona below, and motivates the next definition of augmented projection, in which we allow cubes K satisfying $J \subset K \subsetneqq J^{\mathbf{K}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} K$, as well as $K \in C_A$, to be tested over in the augmented size condition below.

Definition 3.6.8. Suppose \mathcal{P} is an A-admissible collection.

(1). For $K \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{P}$, define the augmented projection of \mathcal{P} relative to K by

$$\Pi_2^{K,aug} \mathcal{P} \equiv \left\{ J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P} : J \subset K \text{ and } J^{\mathbf{H}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} K \right\}.$$

(2). Define the corresponding augmented size functional $\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})$ by

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathbb{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|}\right)^{2} \left\| \mathbb{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug} \mathcal{P}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$$

We note that the augmented projection $\Pi_2^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}$ includes cubes J for which $J \subset K \subsetneq$ $J^{\mathbf{H}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} K$, and hence J need not be ε -good inside K. Then by the second key fact (3.6.15), and using that the boundaries of $J^{\mathbf{H}}_{\searrow}$ lie in the body of $J^{\mathbf{H}}$, we have two consequences,

$$K \in \left\{ J_J^{\bigstar}, J^{\flat} \right\}$$
 and $3J \subset J^{\flat} \subset 3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\bigstar}$ for $J \in \Pi_2^{K, aug} \mathcal{P}$,

which will play an important role below.

The augmented size functional $\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})$ is a 'decoupled' form of the stopping energy $\mathbf{X}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{C}_{A})$ restricted to \mathcal{P} , in which the cubes J appearing in $\mathbf{X}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{C}_{A})$ no longer appear in the Poisson integral in $\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})$, and it plays a crucial role in Lacey's argument in [26]. We note two essential properties of this definition of size functional:

- 1. Monotonicity of size: $\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right) \leq \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right)$ if $\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{Q}$,
- 2. Control by energy and Muckenhoupt conditions: $S_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P}) \lesssim \mathcal{E}_2^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_2^{\alpha}}$.

The monotonicity property follows from $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \subset \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{Q}$ and $\Pi_2^K \mathcal{P} \subset \Pi_2^K \mathcal{Q}$. The control property is contained in the next lemma, which uses the stopping energy control for the form $\mathsf{B}^A_{stop}(f,g)$ associated with A.

Lemma 3.6.9. If \mathcal{P}^A is as in (3.6.2) and $\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{P}^A$, then

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right) \leq \mathbf{X}_{\alpha}\left(\mathcal{C}_{A}\right) \lesssim \mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} + \sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}.$$

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2} &= \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K} \mathcal{P} \cup \Pi_{2}^{K}, aug} \mathcal{P}^{K} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{K \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{K} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{1}_{K}\omega)}^{2} \leq \mathbf{X}_{\alpha} \left(\mathcal{C}_{A}\right)^{2}, \end{split}$$

which is the first inequality in the statement of the lemma. The second inequality follows from (3.1.31).

There is an important special circumstance, introduced by M. Lacey in [26], in which we can bound our forms by the size functional, namely when the pairs all straddle a subpartition of A, and we present this in the next subsection. In order to handle the fact that the cubes in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ need no longer enjoy any goodness, we will need to formulate a Substraddling Lemma to deal with this situation as well. See **Remark on lack of usual goodness** after (3.6.41), where it is explained how this applies to the proof of (3.6.40). Then in the following subsection, we use the bottom/up stopping time construction of M. Lacey, together with an additional 'indented' top/down corona construction, to reduce control of the sublinear stopping form $|\mathsf{B}|^{A,\mathcal{P}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}(f,g)$ in inequality (3.6.7) to the three special cases addressed by the Orthogonality Lemma, the Straddling Lemma and the Substraddling Lemma.

3.6.3 bStraddling, Substraddling, Corona-Straddling Lemmas

We begin with the Corona-straddling Lemma in which the straddling collection is the set of \mathcal{A} -children of A, and applies to the 'corona straddling' subcollection of the initial admissible

collection \mathcal{P}^A - see (3.6.2). Define the 'corona straddling' collection \mathcal{P}^A_{cor} by

$$\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A} \equiv \bigcup_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \left\{ (I, J) \in \mathcal{P}^{A} : J \subset A' \subsetneqq J^{\mathbf{F}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} A' \right\}.$$
(3.6.16)

Note that \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A is an A-admissible collection that consists of just those pairs (I, J) for which $J^{\mathbf{F}}$ is either the \mathcal{D} -parent or the \mathcal{D} -grandparent of a stopping cube $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$. The bound for the norm of the corresponding form is controlled by the energy condition.

Lemma 3.6.10. We have the sublinear form bound

$$\mathfrak{N}^{A,\mathcal{P}^A_{cor}}_{stop,\triangle^\omega} \le C\mathcal{E}^\alpha_2.$$

Proof. The key point here is our assumption that $J \subset A' \subsetneqq J^{\mathbf{x}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}A'$ for $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A$, which implies that in fact $3J \subset A'$ since $J \cap \text{body}\left(\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}A'\right) = \emptyset$ because J is ε – good in $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}A'$. We start with

$$|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}(f,g) = \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J, \left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}\right| \mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I_{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

$$=\sum_{\substack{A'\in\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)}}\sum_{\substack{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}\\3J\subset A'}}\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I_{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}(J)^{\sigma}}\right)}{|J|}\left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}\left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

where

$$\varphi_J^{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^A} \equiv \sum_{I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A} b_A E_I^\sigma \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f\right) \ \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} \ .$$

If $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A$ and $J \subset A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$, then either $A' = J^{\flat}$ or $A' = J_J^{\bigstar}$ and we have

$$\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx \begin{cases} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(A',\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}}\sigma\right)}{|A'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \leq \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(A',\mathbf{1}_{A}\sigma\right)}{|A'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} & \text{if } A' = J^{\flat} \\ \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(A'_{J},\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}}\sigma\right)}{|A'_{J}|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \leq \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(A',\mathbf{1}_{A}\sigma\right)}{|A'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} & \text{if } A' = J_{J}^{\bigstar} \end{cases}$$

Since $\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}\right| \lesssim \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \mathbf{1}_{A}$ by (3.6.4), we can then bound $\left|\mathsf{B}\right|_{stop, \bigtriangleup \omega}^{A, \mathcal{P}_{cor}^{A}}(f, g)$ by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(A', \mathbf{1}_{A}\sigma\right)}{|A'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right) \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}_{cor};A'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x' \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}_{cor};A'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ & \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \left(\sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(A', \mathbf{1}_{A}\sigma\right)}{|A'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| x - m_{A'}^{\sigma} \right\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbf{1}_{A'}\sigma\right)}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \cdot \left(\sum_{A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}_{cor};A'}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar^{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \leq \mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha} \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \sqrt{|A|_{\sigma}} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}_{cor}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \end{aligned}$$

where in the last line we have used the strong energy constant \mathcal{E}_2^{α} in (3.1.8).

Definition 3.6.11. We say that an admissible collection of pairs \mathcal{P} is reduced if it contains no pairs from \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A , i.e.

$$\mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A = \emptyset.$$

Recall that in terms of J^{\flat} we rewrite

$$\Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P} = \left\{ J \in \Pi_{2} \mathcal{P} : J \subset K \text{ and } J^{\bigstar} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} K \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ J \in \Pi_{2} \mathcal{P} : J \subset K \text{ and } J^{\flat} \subset K \right\}$$

Definition 3.6.12. Given a reduced admissible collection of pairs \mathcal{Q} for A, and a subpartition $\mathcal{S} \subset \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ of pairwise disjoint cubes in A, we say that $\mathcal{Q} \triangleright$ straddles \mathcal{S} if for every pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{Q}$ there is $S \in \mathcal{S} \cap [J, I]$ with $J^{\flat} \subset S$. To avoid trivialities, we further assume that for every $S \in \mathcal{S}$, there is at least one pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{Q}$ with $J^{\flat} \subset S \subset I$. Here [J, I] denotes the geodesic in the dyadic tree \mathcal{D} that connects $J^{\mathcal{D}}$ to I, where $J^{\mathcal{D}}$ is the minimal cube in \mathcal{D} that contains J.

Definition 3.6.13. For any dyadic cube $S \in \mathcal{D}$, define the Whitney collection $\mathcal{W}(S)$ to consist of the maximal subcubes K of S whose triples 3K are contained in S. Then set $\mathcal{W}^*(S) \equiv \mathcal{W}(S) \cup \{S\}.$

The following geometric proposition will prove useful in proving the \flat Straddling Lemma 3.6.15 below. For $S \in \mathcal{S}$, let $\mathcal{Q}^S \equiv \left\{ (I, J) \in \mathcal{Q} : J^{\flat} \subset S \subset I \right\}$.

Proposition 3.6.14. Suppose Q is reduced admissible and \flat straddles a subpartition S of A. Fix $S \in S$. Define

$$\varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}^S}\left[h\right] \equiv \sum_{I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}^S \colon (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q}^S} b_A E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}h\right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} ,$$

assume that $h \in L^{2}(\sigma)$ is supported in the cube A, and that there is a cube $H \in \mathcal{C}_{A}$ with

$$E_I^{\sigma}|h| \leq C E_H^{\sigma}|h|, \quad \text{for all } I \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A \text{ with } I \supset S.$$

Then

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}: \ J^{\flat} \subset S} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(J, \left| \varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}} [h] \right| \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)} \sigma \right)}{|J|} \left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ & \lesssim \ \alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \left(H \right) \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(S, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma \right)}{|S|} \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ & + \alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \left(H \right) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{W}(S)} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right)}{|K|} \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} . \end{split}$$

The sum over Whitney cubes $K \in \mathcal{W}(S)$ is only required to bound the sum of those terms on the left for which $J^{\flat} \subset S''$ for some $S'' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}(S)$.

Proof. Suppose first that $J^{\flat} = S \in \mathcal{C}'_A$. Then $3S = 3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\bigstar} \subset I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)$ and using (3.6.4) with $\alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H)$ in place of $\alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} &\lesssim & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash J}\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \\ &\lesssim & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(S,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash J}\mathbf{\mathcal{H}}\sigma\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \leq & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(S,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash S}\sigma\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}}. \end{split}$$

Suppose next that $J^{\flat} = S' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(S)$. Then $3S' = 3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\bigstar} \subset I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)$ and (3.6.4) give

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} &\lesssim & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash J}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{K}}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \\ &\lesssim & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(S',\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash J}\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{K}}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)}{|S'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \\ &\leq & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(S',\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash S}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)}{|S'|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \approx & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(S,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash S}\boldsymbol{\sigma}\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}}. \end{split}$$

Thus in these two cases, by Cauchy-Schwarz, the left hand side of our conclusion is bounded by a multiple of

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(S, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in \Pi_{2} \mathcal{Q} \\ J^{\flat} \subset S}} \left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in \Pi_{2} \mathcal{Q} \\ J^{\flat} \subset S}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(S, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \mathrm{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathrm{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \end{aligned}$$

Finally, suppose that $J^{\flat} \subset S''$ for some $S'' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}(S)$. Then $J^{\bigstar} \subset S$, and Key Fact #2 in (3.6.15) shows that $3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\bigstar}$, so that $3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\bigstar} \subset S \subset I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)$. Thus we have $J^{\flat} \subset K = K[J]$ for some $K \in \mathcal{W}(S)$ and so by (3.6.4) again,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} &\lesssim & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash S}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \\ &\lesssim & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash S}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \leq & \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)\frac{\mathbf{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}. \end{split}$$

Now we apply Cauchy-Schwarz again, but noting that $J^{\flat} \subset K$ this time, to obtain that the

left hand side of our conclusion is bounded by a multiple of

$$\begin{split} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) & \sum_{K \in \mathcal{W}(S)} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in \Pi_{2} \mathcal{Q} \\ J^{\flat} \subset K}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in \Pi_{2} \mathcal{Q} \\ J^{\flat} \subset K}} \left\| \Box_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{W}(S)} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of Proposition 3.6.14.

Recall the family of operators $\left\{ \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \right\}_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A}}}$, where for $I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A}}$, the dual martingale difference $\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$ is defined in (3.1.41), and satisfies

$$\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f = \left[\sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}(I)}\mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f\right] - \mathbb{F}_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f = \sum_{I'\in\mathfrak{C}(I)}\mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma,b}f - \mathbb{F}_{I}^{\sigma,b}f$$

Since $\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$ is the transpose of $\triangle_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$ for $I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A}}$, the first line of Lemma 3.1.22 (where the superscript π is suppressed for convenience) shows that $\left\{ \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \right\}_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A}}}$ is a family of projections, and the second line of Lemma 3.1.22 shows it is an orthogonal family, i.e.

$$\Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}\Box_{K}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} = \begin{cases} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} & \text{if } I = K \\ 0 & \text{if } I \neq K \end{cases}, \quad I, K \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A}}$$

The orthogonal projections

$$\mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \equiv \sum_{I\in\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} = \sum_{I\in\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q}} \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}},$$

where $\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \{\pi_{\mathcal{D}}I : I\in\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q}\} \text{ and } \Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q}\subset \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A},'},$

thus satisfy the equalities

$$\Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f = \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f \text{ and } \widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f = \widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f$$
(3.6.17)

for $I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q} \subset \mathcal{C}_A^{Arestrict}$, which will permit us to apply certain projection tricks used for Haar projections in the proof of T1 theorems.

However, in our sublinear stopping form $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop, \bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A, \mathcal{Q}}$, the dual martingale projections in use in the function

$$\varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}S} \equiv \sum_{I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}^S: \ (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q}^S} b_A E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} , \qquad (3.6.18)$$

given in Proposition 3.6.14 above, are the modified pseudoprojections $\left\{\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}\right\}_{I\in\Pi_1\mathcal{Q}}$, where $\Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}$ differs from the orthogonal projection $\Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}$ for $I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}$ by

$$\begin{aligned} & \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma, \flat, \mathbf{b}} f - \Box_{\pi I}^{\sigma, \pi, \mathbf{b}} f \\ &= \left\{ \left(\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{nat}(\pi I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_A} f \right) - \mathbb{F}_{\pi I}^{\sigma, b_A} f \right\} - \left\{ \left(\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}(\pi I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_A} f \right) - \mathbb{F}_{\pi I}^{\sigma, b_A} f \right\} \\ &= - \sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(\pi I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_A} f. \end{aligned}$$

But the "box support" $Supp_{box}$ of this last expression $\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(\pi I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_A} f$ consists of the

broken children of πI , $\mathfrak{C}_{brok}(\pi I)$, and is contained in the set

$$\bigcup_{I \in \mathcal{C}'_{A}} \bigcup_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \cap \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(\pi I)} \{I'\}$$

$$\begin{aligned} Supp_{box} &\left(\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(\pi I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_A} f \right) \subset \left\{ I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A) : I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(\pi I) \text{ for some } I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}' \right\} \\ &= \bigcup_{I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}'} \bigcup_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A) \cap \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}(\pi I)} \left\{ I' \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

But $I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}^S \subset \mathcal{C}'_A$ is a *natural* child of πI , and so

$$I \cap Supp_{box} \left(\sum_{I' \in \mathfrak{C}_{brok}(\pi I)} \mathbb{F}_{I'}^{\sigma, b_A} f \right) = \emptyset$$

It now follows that we have

$$E_{I}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) = E_{I}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f\right), \quad \text{for } I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}$$
(3.6.19)

Returning to (3.6.18), we have from (3.6.17) and (3.6.19) the identity

$$\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}S} \equiv \sum_{I \in \Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q}^{S}: (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q}^{S}} b_{A} E_{I}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f\right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I}$$

$$= \sum_{I \in \Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q}^{S}: (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q}^{S}} b_{A} E_{I}^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \left(\mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f\right)\right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I}$$
(3.6.20)

which will play a critical role in proving the following bStraddling and Substraddling lemmas. The bStraddling Lemma is an adaptation of Lemmas 3.19 and 3.16 in [26].

Lemma 3.6.15. Let \mathcal{Q} be a reduced admissible collection of pairs for A, and suppose that $\mathcal{S} \subset \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ is a subpartition of A such that \mathcal{Q} betraddles \mathcal{S} . Then we have the

i.e.

restricted sublinear norm bound

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}} \leq C_{\mathbf{r}} \sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \leq C_{\mathbf{r}} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right), \qquad (3.6.21)$$

where $S_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}$ is an S-localized size condition with an S-hole given by

$$\mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{K \in \mathcal{W}^{*}(S) \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{Q}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$$
(3.6.22)

Proof. We begin by using that the reduced collection \mathcal{Q} betraddles \mathcal{S} to write

$$\begin{split} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}\left(f,g\right) &= \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &= \sum_{S\in\mathcal{S}}\sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}^{S,aug}\mathcal{Q}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J,\left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{Q}^{S}}\right|\mathbf{1}_{A\backslash I_{\mathcal{Q}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \end{split}$$

where
$$\varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}^S} \equiv \sum_{I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}^S: (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q}^S} b_A E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I}$$
.

At this point we invoke the identity (3.6.20),

$$\varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}S} = \sum_{I \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}^S \colon (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q}^S} b_A E_I^{\sigma} \left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} \left(\mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1 \mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f \right) \right) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I} ,$$

so that

$$|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(f,g) = |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(h,g), \quad \text{where } h \equiv \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f.$$

We will treat the sublinear form $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(h,g)$ with $h = \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f$ using a small variation on the corresponding argument in Lacey [26]. Namely, we will apply a Calderón-Zygmund stopping time decomposition to the function $h = \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_1\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f$ on the cube A with 'obstacle' $S \cup \mathfrak{C}_A(A)$, to obtain stopping times $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{C}_A$ with the property that for all $H \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{A\}$ we have

$$H \in \mathcal{C}_A$$
 is not strictly contained in any cube from \mathcal{S} ,
 $E_H^{\sigma} |h| > \Gamma E_{\pi_{\mathcal{H}}H}^{\sigma} |h|$,
 $E_{H'}^{\sigma} |h| \leq \Gamma E_{\pi_{\mathcal{H}}H}^{\sigma} |h|$ for all $H \subsetneqq H' \subset \pi_{\mathcal{H}}H$ with $H' \in \mathcal{C}_A$.

More precisely, define generation 0 of \mathcal{H} to consist of the single cube A. Having defined generation n, let generation n + 1 consist of the union over all cubes M in generation n of the maximal cubes M' in \mathcal{C}_A that are contained in M with $E_{M'}^{\sigma}|h| > \Gamma E_M^{\sigma}|h|$, but are not strictly contained in any cube S from S or contained in any cube A' from $\mathfrak{C}_A(A)$ - thus the construction stops at the obstacle $S \cup \mathfrak{C}_A(A)$. Then \mathcal{H} is the union of all generations $n \ge 0$.

Denote by

$$\mathcal{C}_{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \left\{ H' \in \mathcal{C}_{A} : H' \subset H \text{ but } H' \not\subset H'' \text{ for any } H'' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \right\}$$

the usual \mathcal{H} -corona associated with the stopping cube H, but restricted to \mathcal{C}_A , and let $\alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) = E_H^{\sigma} |f|$ as is customary for a Calderón-Zygmund corona. Since these coronas $\mathcal{C}_H^{\mathcal{H}}$ are all contained in \mathcal{C}_A , we have the stopping energy from the \mathcal{A} -corona \mathcal{C}_A at our disposal, which is crucial for the argument. Furthermore, we denote by

$$\mathcal{Q}_{H} \equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{Q} : J \in \mathcal{C}_{H}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \right\}, \quad \text{with } \mathcal{C}_{H}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \equiv \left\{ J \in \Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q} : J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{H}^{\mathcal{H}} \right\} \quad (3.6.23)$$

the restriction of the pairs (I, J) in \mathcal{Q} to those for which J lies in the flat shifted \mathcal{H} -corona $\mathcal{C}_{H}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift}$. Since the \mathcal{H} -stopping cubes satisfy a σ -Carleson condition for Γ chosen large enough, we have the quasiorthogonal inequality

$$\sum_{H \in \mathcal{H}} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}} \left(H \right)^2 |H|_{\sigma} \lesssim \|h\|_{L^2(\sigma)}^2 \,, \tag{3.6.24}$$

which below we will see reduces matters to proving inequality (3.6.21) for the family of reduced admissible collections $\{Q_H\}_{H \in \mathcal{H}}$ with constants independent of H:

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_{H}} \leq C_{\mathbf{r}} \sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}_{H}\right) \leq C_{\mathbf{r}} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}_{H}\right), \qquad H \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Given $S \in \mathcal{S}$, define $H_S \in \mathcal{H}$ to be the minimal cube in \mathcal{H} that contains S, and then define

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}} \equiv \{H_S \in \mathcal{H} : S \in \mathcal{S}\}.$$

Note that a given $H \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}$ may have many cubes $S \in \mathcal{S}$ such that $H = H_S$, and we denote the collection of these cubes by $\mathcal{S}_H \equiv \{S \in \mathcal{S} : H_S = H\}$. We will organize the straddling cubes \mathcal{S} as

$$\mathcal{S} = \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \bigcup_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{H}} S$$

where each $S \in S$ occurs exactly once in the union on the right hand side, i.e. the collections $\{S_H\}_{H \in \mathcal{H}_S}$ are pairwise disjoint.

We now momentarily fix $H \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}$, and consider the reduced admissible collection \mathcal{Q}_H , so that its projection onto the second component $\Pi_2 \mathcal{Q}_H$ of \mathcal{Q}_H is *contained* in the corona $\mathcal{C}_H^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift}$. Then the collection \mathcal{Q}_H \flat straddles the set $\mathcal{S}_H = \{S \in \mathcal{S} : H_S = H\}$. Moreover, $\mathcal{Q}_H = \bigcup_{S \in \mathcal{S} : S \subset H} \mathcal{Q}_H^S$ and $\Pi_2 \mathcal{Q}_H^S = \Pi_2^{S,aug} \mathcal{Q}_H$.

Recall that a Whitney cube K was required in the right hand side of the conclusion of Proposition 3.6.14 only in the case that $J^{\flat} \subset S''$ for some $S'' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}(S)$, which of course implies $3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\bigstar} \subset S$. In this case we claim that $K \in \mathcal{C}_A$. Indeed, suppose in order to derive a contradiction, that $K \notin \mathcal{C}_A$. Then $J^{\bigstar} \notin K$, and hence $3J^{\bigstar} \notin S$. Since $J^{\bigstar} \subset S$, it follows that J^{\bigstar} shares a common part of the boundary with S (since if not, then $3J^{\bigstar} \subset S$, a contradiction). Now Key Fact #2 in (3.6.15) implies that the inner grandchild containing J, J^{\flat} , is contained in K where $K \notin \mathcal{C}_A$. This then implies that the pair (I, J) belongs to the corona straddling subcollection \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A , contradicting the assumption that \mathcal{Q} is reduced.

Thus we have $S \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ and $K \in \mathcal{W}(S) \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ and we can use Proposition (3.6.14) with $H = H_S$ to bound $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(f,g)$ by first summing over $H \in \mathcal{H}_S$ and then over $S \in \mathcal{S}_H$. Indeed, \mathcal{Q}_H betraddles $\mathcal{S}_H \equiv \{S \in \mathcal{S} : H_S = H\}$, so that $\left|\varphi_J^{\mathcal{Q}_H}\right| \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus I_{\mathcal{Q}_H}(J)}$ by (3.6.4), and so the sum over $S \in \mathcal{S}_H$ of the first term on the right side of the conclusion of Proposition (3.6.14) is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{H}} \sqrt{|S|_{\sigma}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|S|_{\sigma}}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(S, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right) \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &\leq \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \left\{ \sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{H}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{|S|_{\sigma}}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(S, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma\right)}{|S|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right) \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} \right\} \cdot \\ &\quad \cdot \sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{H}} \sqrt{|S|_{\sigma}} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{S, aug} \mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &\leq \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \left\{ \sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{H}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha, A; S}(\mathcal{Q}_{H}) \right\} \sqrt{|H|_{\sigma}} \left\| \mathbf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \end{aligned}$$

where $\Pi_2^{K,aug} \mathcal{Q}_H$ is as in Definition 3.6.8, and the corresponding sum over $S \in \mathcal{S}_H$ of the second term is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) &\sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{H}K \in \mathcal{W}(S) \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}'} \sum_{\sqrt{|K|_{\sigma}}} \frac{\mathbb{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus S} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\| \mathbb{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug}\mathcal{Q}_{H}^{S}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{\Pi_{2}^{K, aug}\mathcal{Q}_{H}^{S}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &\lesssim \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{H}}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha, A; S}\left(\mathcal{Q}_{H}\right) \left(\sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{W}(S)} |K|_{\sigma} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{H}}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha, A; S}\left(\mathcal{Q}_{H}\right) \right\} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}(H) \sqrt{|H|_{\sigma}} \left\| \mathbb{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{\mathcal{H}}}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\star} \end{aligned}$$

Using the definition of $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop, \bigtriangleup}^{A, \mathcal{Q}}(f, g)$, we now sum the previous inequalities over the cubes $H \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}$ to obtain the following string of inequalities (explained in detail after the

display)

$$\begin{split} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}(f,g) &\leq \left\{ \sup_{S\in\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \right\} \sum_{H\in\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right) \sqrt{|H|_{\sigma}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sup_{S\in\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \right\} \sqrt{\sum_{H\in\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \alpha_{\mathcal{H}}\left(H\right)^{2} |H|_{\sigma}} \sqrt{\sum_{H\in\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sup_{S\in\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \right\} \|h\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \sqrt{\sum_{H\in\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar^{2}} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sup_{S\in\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \right\} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sup_{S\in\mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \right\} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \end{split}$$

where in the first line we have used $\mathcal{Q} = \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \mathcal{Q}_{H}$, which follows from the fact that each J^{\flat} is contained in a unique $S \in \mathcal{S}$; in the third line we have used the quasiorthogonal inequality (3.6.24); in the fourth line we have used that the sets $\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H} \subset \mathcal{C}_{H}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift}$ are pairwise disjoint in H and have union $\Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q} = \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{S}}} \Pi_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{H}$. In the final line, we have used first the equality (3.1.43), second the fact that the functions $\Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}}f$ have pairwise disjoint supports, third the upper weak Riesz inequality and fourth the estimate (3.1.44) - which relies on the reverse

Hölder property for children in Lemma 3.1.9 - to obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{n},\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} &= \left\| \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f - \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \left\| \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \left\| \Box_{I,brok}^{\sigma,\pi,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \left\| \Box_{I}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} + \sum_{I \in \pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})} \left\| \nabla_{I}^{\sigma} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{2} \quad (3.6.25) \\ &\lesssim \left\| \mathsf{P}_{\pi(\Pi_{1}\mathcal{Q})}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}} f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\star 2} \end{split}$$

We now use the fact that the supremum in the definition of $\mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}(\mathcal{Q})$ is taken over $K \in \mathcal{W}^*(S) \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ to conclude that

$$\sup_{S \in \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right) \leq \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right),$$

and this completes the proof of Lemma 3.6.15.

In a similar fashion we can obtain the following Substraddling Lemma.

Definition 3.6.16. Given a reduced admissible collection of pairs \mathcal{Q} for A, and a \mathcal{D} -cube L contained in A, we say that \mathcal{Q} substraddles L if for every pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{Q}$ there is $K \in \mathcal{W}(L) \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ with $J \subset K \subset 3K \subset I \subset L$.

Lemma 3.6.17. Let L be a \mathcal{D} -cube contained in A, and suppose that \mathcal{Q} is an admissible

collection of pairs that substraddles L. Then we have the sublinear form bound

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}} \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right)$$

Proof. We will show that \mathcal{Q} betraddles the subset \mathcal{W}_L of Whitney cubes for L given by

$$\mathcal{W}^{\mathcal{Q}}(L) \equiv \left\{ K \in \mathcal{W}(L) \cap \mathcal{C}'_{A} : J \subset K \subset 3K \subset I \subset L \text{ for some } (I, J) \in \mathcal{Q} \right\}$$

It is clear that $\mathcal{W}^{\mathcal{Q}}(L) \subset \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{Q} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ is a subpartition of A. It remains to show that for every pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{Q}$ there is $K \in \mathcal{W}^{\mathcal{Q}}(L) \cap [J, I]$ such that $J^{\flat} \subset K$. But our hypothesis implies that there is $K \in \mathcal{W}^{\mathcal{Q}}(L)$ with $J \subset K \subset 3K \subset I \subset L$. We now consider two cases.

Case 1: If $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(3)}K \subset L$, then since K is maximal Whitney cube, it is contained in an *outer* grandchild of $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(3)}K$ and $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(1)}K$ has to share an endpoint with L. Then so does $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(3)}K$. Recall, from Key Fact #2 in (3.6.15), $3J \subset J^{\flat}$, an *inner* grandchild of J^{\bigstar} . We thus have $J^{\bigstar} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}K$ (If not; $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}K \subset J^{\bigstar}$ which implies that J^{\flat} has the same endpoint as L, a contradiction). This implies that $J^{\flat} \subset K$.

Case 2: If $\pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(3)}K \not\supseteq L$, then $K \subset 3K \subset I \subset L$ implies that $I = L = \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}K$. Thus we have $J^{\mathbf{k}} \subset I = \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)}K$, which again gives $J^{\flat} \subset K$.

Now that we know \mathcal{Q} betraddles the subset $\mathcal{W}^{\mathcal{Q}}(L)$, we can apply Lemma 3.6.15 to obtain the required bound $\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega} \leq C \mathcal{S}^{\alpha,A}_{augsize}(\mathcal{Q})$.

3.6.4 The bottom/up stopping time argument of M. Lacey

Before introducing Lacey's stopping times, we note that the Corona-straddling Lemma 3.6.10 allows us to remove the 'corona straddling' collection \mathcal{P}_{cor}^A of pairs of cubes in (3.6.16) from the collection \mathcal{P}^{A} in (3.6.2) used to define the stopping form $\mathsf{B}^{A}_{stop}(f,g)$. The collection $\mathcal{P}^{A} \setminus \mathcal{P}^{A}_{cor}$ is of course also A-admissible.

We assume for the remainder of the proof that all admissible collections \mathcal{P} are reduced, i.e.

$$\mathcal{P}^A \cap \mathcal{P}^A_{cor} = \emptyset$$
, as well as $\mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{P}^A_{cor} = \emptyset$ for all *A*-admissible \mathcal{P} . (3.6.26)

For a cube $K \in \mathcal{D}$, we define

$$\mathcal{G}[K] \equiv \{J \in \mathcal{G} : J \subset K\}$$

to consist of all cubes J in the other grid \mathcal{G} that are contained in K. For an A-admissible collection \mathcal{P} of pairs, define two atomic measures $\omega_{\mathcal{P}}$ and $\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}}$ in the upper half space \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ by

$$\omega_{\mathcal{P}} \equiv \sum_{J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P}} \left\| \triangle_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \delta_{\left(c_J \mathbf{F}, \ell\left(J^{\mathbf{F}}\right)\right)}$$
(3.6.27)

and

$$\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \equiv \sum_{J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P}} \left\| \triangle_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \delta_{\left(c_{J^{\flat}}, \ell\left(J^{\flat}\right)\right)}, \tag{3.6.28}$$

where J^{\flat} is the inner grandchild of J^{\bigstar} that contains J

Note that each cube $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P}$ has its 'energy' $\left\| \bigtriangleup_J^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\mathbf{a}^2}$ in the measure $\omega_{b\mathcal{P}}$ assigned to exactly one of the 2^n points $\left(c_{J^{\flat}}, \frac{1}{4} \ell \left(J^{\mathbf{A}} \right) \right)$ in the upper half plane \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ since J is contained in one of $J_{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathbf{A}}$, namely in J^{\flat} , by Key Fact #2 in (3.6.15). Note also that the atomic measure $\omega_{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{P}}$ differs from the measure μ in (??) in Appendix B of [54] - which is used there to control the functional energy condition - in that here we bundle together all the J's having a common J^{\flat} . This is in order to rewrite the *augmented* size functional in terms of the measure $\omega_{b\mathcal{P}}$. We can get away with this here, as opposed to in Appendix B of [54], due to the 'smaller and decoupled' nature of the augmented size functional to which we will relate $\omega_{b\mathcal{P}}$.

Define the tent $\mathbf{T}(L)$ over a cube L to be the convex hull of the cube $L \times \{0\}$ and the point $(c_L, \ell(L)) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$. Then for $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{P}$ we have $J \in \Pi_2^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}$ iff $\{J \subset K \text{ and } J^{\mathbf{F}} \subset \pi_{\mathcal{D}}^{(2)} K\}$ iff $J^{\flat} \subset K$ iff $(c_{J^{\flat}}, \ell(J^{\flat})) \in \mathbf{T}(K)$. We can now rewrite the augmented size functional of \mathcal{P} in Definition 3.6.8 as

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\right).$$
(3.6.29)

It will be convenient to write

$$\Psi^{\alpha}(K;\mathcal{P})^{2} \equiv \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \omega_{\flat\mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\right),$$

so that we have simply

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2} = \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}'} \frac{\Psi^{\alpha}\left(K;\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}}{|K|_{\sigma}}.$$

Remark 3.6.18. The functional $\omega_{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{P}}(\mathbf{T}(K))$ is increasing in K, while the functional

$$\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \text{ is `almost decreasing' in } K: \text{ if } K_{0} \subset K \text{ then}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} = \int_{A\setminus K} \frac{d\sigma\left(y\right)}{\left(|K|^{\frac{1}{n}} + |y - c_{K}|\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \\
\lesssim \int_{A\setminus K} \frac{(\sqrt{n})^{n+1-\alpha}d\sigma\left(y\right)}{\left(|K_{0}|^{\frac{1}{n}} + \left|y - c_{K_{0}}\right|\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} \\
\leq \int_{A\setminus K_{0}} \frac{C_{\alpha,n} \ d\sigma\left(y\right)}{\left(|K_{0}|^{\frac{1}{n}} + \left|y - c_{K_{0}}\right|\right)^{n+1-\alpha}} = C_{\alpha,n} \frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K_{0},\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus K_{0}}\sigma\right)}{|K_{0}|^{\frac{1}{n}}}$$

since $|K_0| + |y - c_{K_0}| \le |K| + |y - c_K| + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{diam}(K)$ for $y \in A \setminus K$.

Recall that if \mathcal{P} is an admissible collection for a dyadic cube A, the corresponding sublinear form in (3.6.7) is given by

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) &\equiv \sum_{J\in\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}} \frac{\mathsf{P}^{\alpha}\left(J, \left|\varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}}\right| \mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I_{\mathcal{P}}(J)}\sigma\right)}{|J|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \left\|\bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}x\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\Box_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}; \\ \text{where } \varphi_{J}^{\mathcal{P}} &\equiv \sum_{I\in\mathcal{C}_{A}^{\prime}: \ (I,J)\in\mathcal{P}} b_{A}E_{I}^{\sigma}\left(\widehat{\Box}_{\pi I}^{\sigma,\flat,\mathbf{b}}f\right) \mathbf{1}_{A\setminus I}. \end{aligned}$$

In the notation for $|\mathsf{B}|_{stop, \bigtriangleup}^{A, \mathcal{P}}$, we are omitting dependence on the parameter α , and to avoid clutter, we will often do so from now on when the dependence on α is inconsequential.

Recall further that the 'size testing collection' of cubes $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P}$ for the initial size testing functional $\mathcal{S}_{initsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})$ is the collection of all subcubes of cubes in $\Pi_1 \mathcal{P}$, and moreover, by Key Fact #1 in (3.6.13), that we can restrict the collection to $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$. This latter set is used for the augmented size functional.

Assumption

We may assume that the corona C_A is finite, and that each A-admissible collection \mathcal{P} is a finite collection, and hence so are $\Pi_1 \mathcal{P}$, $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ and $\Pi_2 \mathcal{P}$, provided all of the bounds we obtain are independent of the cardinality of these latter collections.

Consider $0 < \varepsilon < 1$, where $\rho = 1 + \varepsilon$ will be chosen later in (3.6.37). Begin by defining the collection \mathcal{L}_0 to consist of the *minimal* dyadic cubes K in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ such that

$$\frac{\Psi^{\alpha}\left(K;\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}}{|K|_{\sigma}} \geq \varepsilon \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}.$$

where we recall that

$$\Psi^{\alpha}(K;\mathcal{P})^{2} \equiv \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus K}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)^{2} \omega_{\flat\mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\right).$$

Note that such minimal cubes exist when $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ because $\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})^2$ is the supremum over $K \in \prod_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ of $\frac{\Psi^{\alpha}(K;\mathcal{P})^2}{|K|_{\sigma}}$. A key property of the minimality requirement is that

$$\frac{\Psi^{\alpha}\left(K';\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}}{\left|K'\right|_{\sigma}} < \varepsilon \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}, \qquad (3.6.30)$$

whenever there is $K' \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ with $K' \subsetneqq K$ and $K \in \mathcal{L}_0$.

We now perform a stopping time argument 'from the bottom up' with respect to the atomic measure $\omega_{\mathcal{P}}$ in the upper half space. This construction of a stopping time 'from the bottom up', together with the subsequent applications of the Orthogonality Lemma and the Straddling Lemma, comprise the key innovations in Lacey's argument [26]. However, in our situation the cubes I belonging to $\Pi_1^{below}\mathcal{P}$ are no longer 'good' in any sense, and we must include an additional top/down stopping criterion in the next subsection to accommodate this lack of 'goodness'. The argument in [26] will apply to these special stopping cubes, called 'indented' cubes, and the remaining cubes form towers with a common endpoint, that are controlled using all three straddling lemmas.

We refer to \mathcal{L}_0 as the initial or level 0 generation of stopping cubes. Set

$$\rho = 1 + \varepsilon. \tag{3.6.31}$$

As in [49], [51] and [52], we follow Lacey [26] by recursively defining a finite sequence of generations $\{\mathcal{L}_m\}_{m\geq 0}$ by letting \mathcal{L}_m consist of the *minimal* dyadic cubes L in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ that contain a cube from some previous level \mathcal{L}_ℓ , $\ell < m$, such that

$$\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(L \right) \right) \ge \rho \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\bigcup_{\substack{L' \in \bigcup_{\ell=0}^{m-1} \mathcal{L}_{\ell}: \ L' \subset L}} \mathbf{T} \left(L' \right) \right).$$
(3.6.32)

Since \mathcal{P} is finite this recursion stops at some level M. We then let \mathcal{L}_{M+1} consist of all the maximal cubes in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ that are not already in some \mathcal{L}_m with $m \leq M$. Thus \mathcal{L}_{M+1} will contain either none, some, or all of the maximal cubes in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P}$. We do not of course have (3.6.32) for $A' \in \mathcal{L}_{M+1}$ in this case, but we do have that (3.6.32) fails for subcubes K of $A' \in \mathcal{L}_{M+1}$ that are not contained in any other $L \in \mathcal{L}_m$ with $m \leq M$, and this is sufficient for the arguments below.

We now decompose the collection of pairs (I, J) in \mathcal{P} into collections $\mathcal{P}^{\flat small}$ and $\mathcal{P}^{\flat big}$ according to the location of I and J^{\flat} , but only after introducing below the indented corona \mathcal{H} . The collection $\mathcal{P}^{\flat big}$ will then essentially consist of those pairs $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ for which there are $L', L \in \mathcal{H}$ with $L' \subsetneqq L$ and such that $J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{H}}$ and $I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}$. The collection $\mathcal{P}^{\flat small}$ will consist of the remaining pairs $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ for which there is $L \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $J^{\flat}, I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}$, along with the pairs $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ such that $I \subset I_0$ for some $I_0 \in \mathcal{L}_0$. This will cover all pairs (I, J) in $\mathcal{P} \subset \mathcal{P}_A$, since for such pairs, $I \in \mathcal{C}_A'$ and $J \in \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{G}shift}$, which in turn implies $I \in \mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H}}$ and $J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{H}}$ for some $L, L' \in \mathcal{H}$. But a considerable amount of further analysis is required to prove (3.6.7).

First recall that $\mathcal{L} \equiv \bigcup_{m=0}^{M+1} \mathcal{L}_m$ is the tree of stopping $\omega_{\mathcal{P}}$ -energy cubes defined above. By the construction above, the maximal elements in \mathcal{L} are the maximal cubes in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$. For $L \in \mathcal{L}$, denote by $\mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{L}}$ the *corona* associated with L in the tree \mathcal{L} ,

$$\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L}} \equiv \left\{ K \in \mathcal{D} : K \subset L \text{ and there is no } L' \in \mathcal{L} \text{ with } K \subset L' \subsetneqq L \right\},\$$

and define the \flat shifted \mathcal{L} -corona by

$$\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift} \equiv \left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L}} \right\}.$$

Now the parameter m in \mathcal{L}_m refers to the level at which the stopping construction was performed, but for $L \in \mathcal{L}_m$, the corona children L' of L are *not* all necessarily in \mathcal{L}_{m-1} , but may be in \mathcal{L}_{m-t} for t large. At this point we introduce the notion of geometric depth d in the tree \mathcal{L} by defining

$$\mathcal{G}_{0} \equiv \{L \in \mathcal{L} : L \text{ is maximal}\}, \qquad (3.6.33)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{1} \equiv \{L \in \mathcal{L} : L \text{ is maximal wrt } L \subsetneqq L_{0} \text{ for some } L_{0} \in \mathcal{G}_{0}\},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{d+1} \equiv \{L \in \mathcal{L} : L \text{ is maximal wrt } L \subsetneqq L_{d} \text{ for some } L_{d} \in \mathcal{G}_{d}\},$$

$$\vdots$$

We refer to \mathcal{G}_d as the d^{th} generation of cubes in the tree \mathcal{L} , and say that the cubes in \mathcal{G}_d are at depth d in the tree \mathcal{L} (the generations \mathcal{G}_d here are *not* related to the grid \mathcal{G}), and we write $d_{geom}(L)$ for the geometric depth of L. Thus the cubes in \mathcal{G}_d are the stopping cubes in \mathcal{L} that are d levels in the *geometric* sense below the top level. While the geometric depth d_{geom} is about to be superceded by the 'indented' depth d_{indent} defined in the next subsection, we will return to the geometric depth in order to iterate Lacey's bottom/up stopping criterion when proving the second line in (3.6.36) in Proposition 3.6.19 below.

3.6.5 The indented corona construction

Now we address the lack of goodness in $\Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$. For this we introduce an additional top/down stopping time \mathcal{H} over the collection \mathcal{L} . Given the initial generation

$$\mathcal{H}_0 = \{ \text{maximal } L \in \mathcal{L} \} = \left\{ \text{maximal } I \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \right\},\$$

define subsequent generations \mathcal{H}_k as follows. For $k \geq 1$ and each $H \in \mathcal{H}_{k-1}$, let

$$\mathcal{H}_k(H) \equiv \{ \text{maximal } L \in \mathcal{L} : 3L \subset H \}$$

consist of the next \mathcal{H} -generation of \mathcal{L} -cubes below H, and set $\mathcal{H}_k \equiv \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{H}_{k-1}} \mathcal{H}_k(H)$. Finally

set $\mathcal{H} \equiv \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_k$. We refer to the stopping cubes $H \in \mathcal{H}$ as *indented* stopping cubes since $3H \subset \pi_{\mathcal{H}} H$ for all $H \in \mathcal{H}$ at indented generation one or more, i.e. each successive such His 'indented' in its \mathcal{H} -parent. This property of indentation is precisely what is required in order to generate geometric decay in indented generations at the end of the proof. We refer to k as the *indented depth* of the stopping cube $H \in \mathcal{H}_k$, written $k = d_{indent}(H)$, which is a refinement of the geometric depth d_{geom} introduced above. We will often revert to writing the dummy variable for cubes in \mathcal{H} as L instead of H. For $L \in \mathcal{H}$ define the \mathcal{H} -corona $\mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H},bshift}$ and \mathcal{H} -bshifted corona $\mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H},bshift}$ by

$$\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \equiv \left\{ I \in \mathcal{D} : I \subset L \text{ and } I \not\subset L' \text{ for any } L' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L) \right\},\$$
$$\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \equiv \left\{ J \in \mathcal{G} : J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \right\}.$$

We will also need recourse to the coronas $\mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H}}$ restricted to cubes in \mathcal{L} , i.e.

$$\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{L}) \equiv \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \cap \mathcal{L} = \left\{ T \in \mathcal{L} : T \subset L \text{ and } T \not\subset L' \text{ for any } L' \in \mathcal{H} \text{ with } L' \subsetneqq L \right\}.$$

and

$$\mathcal{T}(L) \equiv \mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H}, restrict}(\mathcal{L}) = \mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{L}) \backslash \{L\}$$

We emphasize the distinction 'indented generation' as this refers to the indented depth rather than either the level of initial stopping construction of \mathcal{L} , or the geometric depth. The point of introducing the tree \mathcal{H} of indented stopping cubes, is that the inclusion $3L \subset \pi_{\mathcal{H}}L$ for all $L \in \mathcal{H}$ with $d_{indent}(L) \geq 1$ turns out to be an adequate substitute for the standard 'goodness' lost in the process of infusing the weak goodness of Hytönen and Martikainen in Subsection 3.2.1 above.

3.6.5.1 Flat shifted coronas

We now define the \flat shifted admissible collections of pairs $\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}$ using the coronas

$$\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \equiv \left\{ J \in \Pi_{2}\mathcal{P} : J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \right\} \text{ and } \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift} \equiv \left\{ J \in \Pi_{2}\mathcal{P} : J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L}} \right\}$$

In these flat shifted \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{L} coronas, we have effectively shift the cubes J two levels 'up' by requiring $J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L}}$, but because \mathcal{P} is admissible, we always have $J^{\bigstar} \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A},restrict}$. We define

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}, J \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \text{ for some } L' \in \mathcal{H}_{d_{indent}(L)+t}L' \subset L \right\}, \\ \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} &= \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \right\} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} &= \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-small} \dot{\cup} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big};\\ \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-small} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}: \text{there is no } L' \in \mathcal{T}(L) \text{ with } J^{\flat} \subset L' \subset I \right\}\\ &= \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}: I \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{L}} \setminus \left\{ L' \right\}, J \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift} \text{ for some } L' \in \mathcal{T}(L) \right\},\\ \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}: \text{there is } L' \in \mathcal{T}(L) \text{ with } J^{\flat} \subset L' \subset I \right\}, \end{split}$$

with one exception: if $L \in \mathcal{H}_0$ we set $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-small} \equiv \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}$ and $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-big} \equiv \emptyset$ since in this case L fails to satisfy (3.6.32) as pointed out above. Finally, for $L \in \mathcal{H}$ we further decompose $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-small}$ as

$$\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-small} = \bigcup_{\substack{L' \in \mathcal{T}(L)}} \mathcal{P}_{L',0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small}$$

where $\mathcal{P}_{L',0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{L}} \setminus \{L'\} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift} \right\}$

Then we set

$$\mathcal{P}^{\flat big} \equiv \left\{ \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} \right\} \bigcup \left\{ \bigcup_{t \ge 1} \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} \right\}; \qquad (3.6.34)$$
$$\mathcal{P}^{\flat small} \equiv \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{L}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L} - small}$$

We observed above that every pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ is included in either \mathcal{P}^{small} or \mathcal{P}^{big} , and it follows that every pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}$ is thus included in either \mathcal{P}^{bsmall} or \mathcal{P}^{bbig} , simply because the pairs (I, J) have been shifted up by two dyadic levels in the cube J. Thus the coronas $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{b\mathcal{L}-small}$ are now even *smaller* than the regular coronas $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\mathcal{L}-small}$, which permits the estimate (3.6.35) below to hold for the larger augmented size functional. On the other hand, the coronas $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{b\mathcal{H}-big}$ and $\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{b\mathcal{H}}$ are now bigger than before, requiring the stronger straddling lemmas above in order to obtain the estimates (3.6.36) below. More specifically, we will see that stopping forms with pairs in \mathcal{P}^{bbig} will be estimated using the \flat Straddling and Substraddling Lemmas (Substraddling applies to part of $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{b\mathcal{H}-big}$ and \flat Straddling applies to the remaining part of $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{b\mathcal{H}-big}$ and to $\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{b\mathcal{H}}$), and it is here that the removal of the coronastraddling collection \mathcal{P}_{cor}^{d} is essential, while forms with pairs in \mathcal{P}^{bsmall} will be absorbed.
3.6.6 Size estimates

Now we turn to proving the *size estimates* we need for these collections. Recall that the *restricted* norm $\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}$ is the best constant in the inequality

$$|\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}(f,g) \leq \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{1}\mathcal{P}}^{\sigma,\mathbf{b}}f\right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}^{\bigstar} \left\|\mathsf{P}_{\Pi_{2}\mathcal{P}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{\ast}}g\right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar}$$

where $f \in L^{2}(\sigma)$ satisfies $E_{I}^{\sigma}|f| \leq \alpha_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$ for all $I \in \mathcal{C}_{A}$, and $g \in L^{2}(\omega)$.

Proposition 3.6.19. Suppose ρ in (3.6.31) is greater than 1, and \mathcal{P} is a reduced admissible collection of pairs for a dyadic cube A. Let $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}^{\flat big} \dot{\cup} \mathcal{P}^{\flat small}$ be the decomposition satisfying above, *i.e.*

$$\mathcal{P} = \left\{ \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} \right\} \bigcup \left\{ \bigcup_{t \ge 1} \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} \right\} \ \bigcup \ \left(\bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{L}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L} - small} \right)$$

Then all of these collections $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small}$, $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-big}$ and $\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}$ are reduced admissible, and we have the estimate

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \right)^2 \le (\rho - 1) \, \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P} \right)^2, \qquad L \in \mathcal{L}$$
(3.6.35)

and the localized norm bounds,

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A, \bigcup \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}} \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P}), \qquad (3.6.36)$$

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A, \bigcup \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}} \leq C\rho^{-\frac{t}{2}}\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P}), \quad t \ge 1.$$

Using this proposition on size estimates, we can finish the proof of (3.6.7), and hence the

proof of (3.6.1).

Corollary 3.6.20. The sublinear stopping form inequality (3.6.7) holds.

Proof. Recall that $\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{P}}$ is the best constant in the inequality (3.6.10). Since $\left\{\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small}\right\}_{L\in\mathcal{L}}$ is a mutually orthogonal family of *A*-admissible pairs, the Orthogonality Lemma 3.6.4 implies that

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\ \bigcup \ \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small}} \leq \sup_{L\in\mathcal{L}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small}}$$

Using this, together with the decomposition of \mathcal{P} and (3.6.36) above, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{P}} &\leq \sup_{L\in\mathcal{H}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\bigcup} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} + \sum_{t=1}^{M+1} \sup_{L\in\mathcal{H}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\bigcup} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} + \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{L\in\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \\ &\leq \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}\right) + \left(\sum_{t=1}^{M+1} \rho^{-\frac{t}{2}}\right) \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}\right) + \sup_{L\in\mathcal{L}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{b\mathcal{L}-small}} \end{aligned}$$

Since the admissible collection \mathcal{P}^A in (3.6.2) that arises in the stopping form is finite, we can define \mathfrak{L} to be the best constant in the inequality

 $\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}} \leq \mathfrak{LS}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right) \text{ for all } A\text{-admissible collections } \mathcal{P}.$

Now choose \mathcal{P} so that

$$\frac{\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}}}{\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)} > \frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{L} = \frac{1}{2} \sup_{\mathcal{Q} \text{ is } A\text{-admissible}} \frac{\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{Q}}}{\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right)} \ .$$

Then using
$$\sum_{t=1}^{M+1} \rho^{-\frac{t}{2}} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}-1}$$
 we have

$$\mathfrak{L} < 2 \frac{\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}}}{\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})} \leq \frac{C \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}-1} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P}) + C \sup_{L \in \mathcal{L}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small}}}{\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})}$$

$$\leq C \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}-1} + C \sup_{L \in \mathcal{L}} \mathfrak{L} \frac{\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small}\right)}{\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}(\mathcal{P})} \leq C \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}-1} + C \mathfrak{L} \sqrt{\rho}-1$$

where we have used (3.6.35) in the last line. If we choose $\rho > 1$ so that

$$C\sqrt{\rho - 1} < \frac{1}{2},\tag{3.6.37}$$

then we obtain $\mathfrak{L} \leq 2C \frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}-1}$. Together with Lemma 3.6.9, this yields

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{P}} \leq \mathfrak{LS}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right) \leq 2C\frac{1}{\sqrt{\rho}-1}\left(\mathcal{E}_{2}^{\alpha}+\sqrt{\mathfrak{A}_{2}^{\alpha}}\right)$$

as desired, and completes the proof of inequality (3.6.7).

Thus, in view of Conclusion 3.6.4, it remains only to prove Proposition 3.6.19 using the Orthogonality and Straddling and Substraddling Lemmas above, and we now turn to this task.

Proof of Proposition 3.6.19. We split the proof into three parts.

Proof of (3.6.35): To prove the inequality (3.6.35), suppose first that $L \notin \mathcal{L}_{M+1}$. In the case that $L \in \mathcal{L}_0$ is an initial generation cube, then from (3.6.30) and the fact that every

 $I \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small}$ satisfies $I \subsetneqq L$, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \right)^{2} &= \sup_{\substack{K' \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \cap \mathcal{C}'_{A}}} \frac{\Psi^{\alpha} \left(K'; \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \right)^{2}}{|K'|_{\sigma}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\substack{K' \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_{A}: \ K' \subsetneqq L}} \frac{\Psi^{\alpha} \left(K'; \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \right)^{2}}{|K'|_{\sigma}} \\ &\leq \varepsilon \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P} \right)^{2} \end{split}$$

Now suppose that $L \notin \mathcal{L}_0$ in addition to $L \notin \mathcal{L}_{M+1}$. Pick a pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small}$. Then I is in the restricted corona $\mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{L},'}$ and J is in the \flat shifted corona $\mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift}$. Since $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small}$ is a finite collection, the definition of $\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \right)$ shows that there is an cube $K \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \cap \mathcal{C}_A'$ so that

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \right)^2 = \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \right).$$

Note that $K \subsetneq L$ by definition of $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small}$. Now let t be such that $L \in \mathcal{L}_t$, and define

$$t' = t'(K) \equiv \max\left\{s : \text{there is } L' \in \mathcal{L}_s \text{ with } L' \subset K\right\},\$$

and note that $0 \le t' < t$. First, suppose that t' = 0 so that K does not contain any $L' \in \mathcal{L}$. Then it follows from the construction at level $\ell = 0$ that

$$\frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|} \right)^{2} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\right) < \varepsilon \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha, A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}$$

and hence from $\rho = 1 + \varepsilon$ we obtain

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \right)^2 < \varepsilon \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P} \right)^2 = (\rho - 1) \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P} \right)^2$$

Now suppose that $t' \ge 1$. Then K fails the stopping condition (3.6.32) with m = t' + 1, since otherwise it would contain a cube $L'' \in \mathcal{L}_{t'+1}$ contradicting our definition of t', and so

$$\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \right) < \rho \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \right) \text{ where } \mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \equiv \bigcup_{\substack{L' \in \bigcup_{\ell=0}^{t'} \mathcal{L}_{\ell}: \ L' \subset K}} \mathbf{T} \left(L' \right).$$

Now we use the crucial fact that the positive measure $\omega_{\flat P}$ is *additive* and finite to obtain from this that

$$\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \setminus \mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \right) = \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \right) - \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \right) \le \left(\rho - 1 \right) \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \right).$$
(3.6.38)

Now recall that

$$\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{Q}\right)^{2} \equiv \sup_{K \in \Pi_{1}^{below} \mathcal{Q} \cap C_{A}^{\prime}} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \left\| \mathbf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{Q}}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}.$$

We claim it follows that for each $J \in \Pi_2^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small}$ the support $\left(c_{J^{\flat}}, \ell\left(J^{\flat}\right)\right)$ of the atom $\delta_{\left(c_{J^{\flat}}, \ell\left(J^{\flat}\right)\right)}$ is contained in the set $\mathbf{T}(K)$, but not in the set

$$\mathbf{V}(K) \equiv \bigcup \left\{ \mathbf{T}(L') : L' \in \bigcup_{\ell=0}^{t'} \mathcal{L}_{\ell} : L' \subset K \right\}.$$

Indeed, suppose in order to derive a contradiction, that $(c_{J^{\flat}}, \ell(J^{\flat})) \in \mathbf{T}(L')$ for some $L' \in \mathcal{L}_{\ell}$ with $0 \leq \ell \leq t'$. Recall that $L \in \mathcal{L}_{t}$ with t' < t so that $L' \subsetneq L$. Thus $(c_{J^{\flat}}, \ell(J^{\flat})) \in \mathbf{T}(L')$ implies $J^{\flat} \subset L'$, which contradicts the fact that

$$J \in \Pi_2^K \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \subset \Pi_2 \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} = \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : I \in \mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{L}} \setminus \{L\} \text{ and } J \in \mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift} \right\}$$

implies $J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L}}$ - because $L' \notin \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{L}}$.

Thus from the definition of $\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}}$ in (3.6.28), the 'energy' $\left\| \mathsf{Q}_{\Pi_{2}^{K,aug}\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}-small} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\ast \mathcal{L}}$ is at most the $\omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}}$ -measure of $\mathbf{T}(K) \setminus \mathbf{V}(K)$. Using now

$$\omega_{\mathfrak{P}_{L,0}^{\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{L}-small}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\right) = \omega_{\mathfrak{P}_{L,0}^{\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{L}-small}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\setminus\mathbf{V}\left(K\right)\right) \le \omega_{\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\setminus\mathbf{V}\left(K\right)\right)$$

and (3.6.38), we then have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \right)^2 &\leq \\ \sup_{K \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \cap \mathcal{C}_A'} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \omega_{\flat\mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \setminus \mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \right) \\ &\leq (\rho-1) \sup_{K \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{L}-small} \cap \mathcal{C}_A'} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \omega_{\flat\mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{V} \left(K \right) \right) \end{split}$$

and we can continue with

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{L}-small} \right)^2 &\leq (\rho-1) \sup_{K \in \Pi_1^{below} \mathcal{P} \cap \mathcal{C}'_A} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^2 \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \right) \\ &\leq (\rho-1) \, \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P} \right)^2. \end{aligned}$$

In the remaining case where $L \in \mathcal{L}_{M+1}$ we can include L as a testing cube K and the same reasoning applies. This completes the proof of (3.6.35).

To prove the other inequality (3.6.36) in Proposition 3.6.19, we will use the \flat Straddling and Substraddling Lemmas to bound the norm of certain 'straddled' stopping forms by the augmented size functional $S_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}$, and the Orthogonality Lemma to bound sums of 'mutually orthogonal' stopping forms. Recall that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{P}^{\flat big} &= \left\{ \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} \right\} \bigcup \left\{ \bigcup_{t \ge 1} \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} \right\} \equiv \mathcal{Q}_{0}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} \bigcup \mathcal{Q}_{1}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big}; \\ \mathcal{Q}_{0}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} &\equiv \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{L}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big}, \quad \mathcal{Q}_{1}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} \equiv \bigcup_{t \ge 1} \mathcal{P}_{t}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big}, \quad \mathcal{P}_{t}^{\flat \mathcal{H} - big} \equiv \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} \end{aligned}$$

Proof of the second line in (3.6.36): We first turn to the collection

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{Q}_{1}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &= \bigcup_{t\geq 1} \bigcup_{L\in\mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} = \bigcup_{t\geq 1} \mathcal{P}_{t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big};\\ \mathcal{P}_{t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &\equiv \bigcup_{L\in\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}, \quad t\geq 1, \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} = \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}, J \in \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \text{ for some } L' \in \mathcal{H}_{d_{indent}(L)+t}, L' \subset L \right\}.$$

We now claim that the second line in (3.6.36) holds, i.e.

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_t^{b\mathcal{H}-big}} \le C\rho^{-\frac{t}{2}} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right), \qquad t \ge 1,$$
(3.6.39)

which recovers the key geometric gain obtained by Lacey in [26], except that here we are

only gaining this decay relative to the indented subtree \mathcal{H} of the tree \mathcal{L} .

The case t = 1 can be handled with relative ease since decay is not relevant here. Indeed, $\mathcal{P}_{L,1}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}$ straddles the collection $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$ of \mathcal{H} -children of L, and so the localized \flat Straddling Lemma 3.6.15 applies to give

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,1}^{\flat}\mathcal{H}} \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}_{L,1}^{\flat}\right) \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right),$$

and then the Orthogonality Lemma 3.6.4 applies to give

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{1}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}} \leq \sup_{L\in\mathcal{H}} \mathfrak{N}_{stop,\bigtriangleup^{\omega}}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,1}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}} \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right),$$

since $\left\{\mathcal{P}_{L,1}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}\right\}_{L \in \mathcal{L}}$ is mutually orthogonal as $\mathcal{P}_{L,1}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} \subset \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} \times \mathcal{C}_{L'}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift}$ with $L \in \mathcal{H}_k$ and $L' \in \mathcal{H}_{k+1}$ for indented depth k = k(L). The case t = 2 is equally easy.

Now we consider the case $t \geq 2$, where it is essential to obtain geometric decay in t. We remind the reader that all of our admissible collections $\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{H}}$ are *reduced* by Conclusion 3.6.4. We again apply Lemma 3.6.15 to $\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{H}}$ with $\mathcal{S} = \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$, so that for any $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{H}}$, there is $H' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$ with $J^{\mathfrak{b}} \subset H' \subsetneq I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}$. But this time we must use the stronger localized bounds $\mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;S}$ with an S-hole, that give

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}} &\leq C \sup_{H' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)} \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;H'} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} \right), \quad t \geq 0; \\ \mathcal{S}_{locsize}^{\alpha,A;H'} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} \right)^2 &= \sup_{K \in \mathcal{W}^*(H') \cap \mathcal{C}'_A} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha} \left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus H'} \sigma \right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)_{J \in \Pi_2^{K,aug}} \frac{\left\| \bigtriangleup_J^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^*} x \right\|_{L^2(\omega)}^{\bigstar^2}}{L^2(\omega)} \end{split}$$

It remains to show that

$$\sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \leq \rho^{-(t-2)} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \right),$$
(3.6.40)
for $t \geq 2, \ K \in \mathcal{W}^{*} \left(H' \right) \cap \mathcal{C}_{A}', \ H' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}} \left(L \right)$

so that we then have

$$\frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus H'^{\sigma}}\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K, aug} \mathcal{P}_{L, t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}} \left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$$

$$\leq \rho^{-(t-2)} \frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{P}^{\alpha}\left(K, \mathbf{1}_{A \setminus K^{\sigma}}\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}} \right)^{2} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(K\right)\right) \leq \rho^{-(t-2)} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha, A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right)^{2}$$

by (3.6.29), and hence conclude the required bound for $\mathfrak{N}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{b\mathcal{H}}}$, namely that

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat\mathcal{H}}} \tag{3.6.41}$$

$$\leq C \sup_{H'\in\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)} \sup_{K\in\mathcal{W}^{*}(H')\cap\mathcal{C}_{A}'} \sqrt{\frac{1}{|K|_{\sigma}} \left(\frac{\mathbb{P}^{\alpha}\left(K,\mathbf{1}_{A\setminus H'}\sigma\right)}{|K|^{\frac{1}{n}}}\right)_{J\in\Pi_{2}^{K,aug}}^{2} \sum_{\mu\in\mathcal{H}_{L,t}^{\omega,b^{*}}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\bullet,2} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bullet,2}$$

$$\leq C\sqrt{\rho^{-(t-2)}} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}\right) = C'\rho^{-\frac{t}{2}} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}\right).$$

Remark on lack of usual goodness: To prove (3.6.40), it is essential that the cubes $H^{k+2} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+2}$ at the next indented level down from $H^{k+1} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$ are each contained in one of the Whitney cubes $K \in \mathcal{W}(H^{k+1}) \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ for some $H^{k+1} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$. And this is the reason we introduced the indented corona - namely so that $3H^{k+2} \subset H^{k+1}$ for some

 $H^{k+1} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$, and hence $H^{k+2} \subset K$ for some $K \in \mathcal{W}(H^{k+1})$. In the argument of Lacey in [26], the corresponding cubes were good in the usual sense, and so the above triple property was automatic.

So we begin by fixing $K \in \mathcal{W}^*(H^{k+1}) \cap \mathcal{C}'_A$ with $H^{k+1} \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H}}(L)$, and noting from the above that each $J \in \Pi_2^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}$ satisfies

$$J^{\flat} \subset H^{k+t} \subset H^{k+t-1} \subset \ldots \subset H^{k+2} \subset K$$

for $H^{k+j} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+j}$ uniquely determined by J^{\flat} . Thus for $t \geq 2$ we have

$$\sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} = \sum_{\substack{H^{k+t} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+t} \\ H^{k+t} \subset K}} \sum_{\substack{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}} \\ J^{\flat} \subset H^{k+t}}} \left\| \bigtriangleup_{J}^{\omega, \mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{H^{k+t} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+t} \\ H^{k+t} \subset K}} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(H^{k+t} \right) \right)$$

In the case t = 2 we are done since the final sum above is at most $\omega_{b\mathcal{P}}(\mathbf{T}(K))$.

Now suppose $t \ge 3$. In order to obtain geometric gain in t, we will apply the stopping criterion (3.6.32) in the following form,

$$\sum_{L' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{L}}(L_0)} \omega_{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(L' \right) \right) = \omega_{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{P}} \left(\bigcup_{L' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{L}}(L_0)} \mathbf{T} \left(L' \right) \right) \leq \frac{1}{\rho} \omega_{\mathfrak{b}\mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(L_0 \right) \right), \quad \text{for all } L_0 \in \mathcal{L}$$

$$(3.6.42)$$

where we have used the fact that the maximal cubes L' in the collection

$$\bigcup_{\ell=0}^{m-1} \left\{ L' \in \mathcal{L}_{\ell} : L' \subset L_0 \right\}$$

for $L_0 \in \mathcal{L}_m$ (that appears in (3.6.32)) are precisely the \mathcal{L} -children of L_0 in the tree \mathcal{L} (the cubes L' above are strictly contained in L_0 since $\rho > 1$ in (3.6.32)), so that

$$\bigcup_{L'\in\Gamma} L' = \bigcup_{L'\in\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{L}}(L_0)} L' \text{ where } \Gamma \equiv \bigcup_{\ell=0}^{m-1} \left\{ L'\in\mathcal{L}_{\ell}: \ L'\subset L_0 \right\}.$$

In order to apply (3.6.42), we collect the pairwise disjoint cubes $H^{k+t} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+t}$ such that $H^{k+t} \subset H^{k+2} \subset K$, into groups according to which cube $L^{k'+t-2} \in \mathcal{G}_{k'+t-2}$ they are contained in, where $k' = d_{geom} \left(H^{k+2} \right)$ is the geometric depth of H^{k+2} in the tree \mathcal{L} introduced in (3.6.33). It follows that each cube $H^{k+t} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+t}$ is contained in a unique cube $L^{dgeom} \left(H^{k+2} \right) + t-2 \in \mathcal{G}_{dgeom} \left(H^{k+2} \right) + t-2^{*}$. Thus we obtain from the previous inequality that

$$\sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}} \left\| \Delta_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \leq \sum_{\substack{H^{k+t} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+t} \\ H^{k+t} \subset K}} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(H^{k+t} \right) \right)$$

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{H^{k+2} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+2} \\ H^{k+2} \subset K}} \sum_{\substack{L^{k'+t-2} \in \mathcal{G}_{k'+t-2} \\ L^{k'+t-2} \subset H^{k+2} \\ Where k' = d_{geom} \left(H^{k+2} \right)}$$

and this last expression is equal to

$$\sum_{\substack{H^{k+2}\in\mathcal{H}_{k+2}\\H^{k+2}\subset K\\where k'=dgeom(H^{k+2})\\H^{k+2}\subset K\\H^{k+2}\subset K\\Where k'=dgeom(H^{k+2})} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{L^{k'+t-2}\in\mathcal{G}_{k'+t-2}\\L^{k'+t-2}\subset L^{k'+t-3}\\where k'=dgeom(H^{k+2})\\Where k'=dgeom(H^{k+2})} \left\{ \frac{1}{\rho}\omega_{\flat\mathcal{P}}\left(\mathbf{T}\left(L^{k'+t-3}\right)\right) \right\} \right\}$$

where in the last line we have used (3.6.42) with $L_0 = L^{k'+t-3}$ on the sum in braces. We then continue (if necessary) with

$$\begin{split} \sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}} \left\| \triangle_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} &\leq \frac{1}{\rho} \sum_{\substack{H^{k+2} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+2} \\ H^{k+2} \subset K \\ H^{k+2} \subset K \\ L^{k'+t-3} \subset H^{k+2} \\ Where \ k' = dgeom\left(H^{k+2}\right)} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\rho^{2}} \sum_{\substack{H^{k+2} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+2} \\ H^{k+2} \subset K \\ H^{k+2} \subset K \\ L^{k'+t-4} \subset H^{k+2} \\ L^{k'+t-4} \subset H^{k+2} \\ Where \ k' = dgeom\left(H^{k+2}\right)} \end{split}$$

$$\stackrel{:}{\leq} \frac{1}{\rho^{t-2}} \sum_{\substack{H^{k+2} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+2} \\ H^{k+2} \subset K}} \sum_{\substack{L^{k'} \in \mathcal{G}_{k'}: \ L^{k'} \subset H^{k+2} \\ \text{where } k' = d_{geom}(H^{k+2})}} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(L^{k'} \right) \right)$$

Since $L^{k'} \subset H^{k+2}$ implies $L^{k'} = H^{k+2}$, we now obtain

$$\sum_{J \in \Pi_{2}^{K,aug} \mathcal{P}_{L,t}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}} \left\| \triangle_{J}^{\omega,\mathbf{b}^{*}} x \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}^{\bigstar 2} \leq \frac{1}{\rho^{t-2}} \sum_{H^{k+2} \in \mathcal{H}_{k+2}: H^{k+2} \subset K} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(H^{k+2} \right) \right)$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\rho^{t-2}} \omega_{\flat \mathcal{P}} \left(\mathbf{T} \left(K \right) \right)$$

which completes the proof of (3.6.40), and hence that of (3.6.41). Finally, an application of the Orthogonality Lemma 3.6.4 proves (3.6.39).

Proof of the first line in (3.6.36): At last we turn to proving the first line in (3.6.36). Recalling that $\mathcal{T}(L) = \mathcal{C}_L^{\mathcal{H}}(\mathcal{L}) \setminus \{L\}$, we consider the collection

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}_{0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &= \bigcup_{L\in\mathcal{H}} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} \\ \text{where} \qquad \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &= \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} : \text{there is } L' \in \mathcal{T}(L) \,, J^{\flat} \subset L' \subset I \right\}, L \in \mathcal{H} \\ \text{and} \qquad \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}} &= \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}} J \in \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift} \text{ for some } L \in \mathcal{H} \right\}, L \in \mathcal{H} \end{aligned}$$

and begin by claiming that

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\Delta\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}} \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}\right) \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right), \qquad L \in \mathcal{H}.$$
(3.6.43)

To see this, we fix $L \in \mathcal{H}$ and order the cubes of $\mathcal{T}(L) = \left\{L^{k,i}\right\}_{k,i}$, where $1 \leq i \leq n_k$ where $L^0 = L$ and $L^{1,i}$ are the maximal cubes in L^0 and then $L^{k+1,i}$ are the maximal cubes inside a cube $L^{k,j}$ of some previous generation. Then $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-big}$ can be decomposed as follows, remembering that $J^{\flat} \subset I \subset L$ for $(I, J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-big} \subset \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}}$:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &= \bigcup_{k,i} \left\{ \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} \stackrel{\circ}{\cup} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} \stackrel{\circ}{\cup} \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} \right\} \\ &= \left(\bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} \right) \stackrel{\circ}{\cup} \left(\bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} \right) \stackrel{\circ}{\cup} \left(\bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} \right) ; \\ \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \subset L_{out,in}^{k,i} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \subset L_{out,out}^{k,i} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} &\equiv \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \subset L_{out,out}^{k,i} \right\}, \\ &= \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} : I \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \cap L^{k,i} = \emptyset \right\} \\ &= \left\{ (I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} : I = L^{k-1,i} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \text{ and } J^{\flat} \cap L_{out}^{k-1,i} = \emptyset, \right\}, \end{split}$$

where by $L_{in}^{k,i}$ we denote the union of the children of $L^{k,i}$ that do not touch the boundary of L, by $L_{out,in}^{k,i}$ the union of the grandchildren of $L^{k,i}$ that do not touch the boundary of L while their father does, and by $L_{out,out}^{k,i}$ the grandchildren of $L^{k,i}$ that touch the boundary of L and where in the last line we have used the fact that if $I, J^{\flat} \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}}$ and there is $L' \in \mathcal{T}(L)$ with $J^{\flat} \subset L' \subset I$, then we must have $I = L^{k-1,i}$. All of the pairs $(I,J) \in \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-big}$ are included in either $\mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}, \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ or $\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ for some k, since if $J^{\flat} \supset L^{k,i}$, then J^{\flat} shares boundary with L, which contradicts the fact that $3J^{\flat} \subset J^{\mathbf{K}} \subset I \subset L$.

We can easily deal with the 'in' collection $\mathcal{Q}^{in} \equiv \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ by applying a *trivial* case of the bStraddling Lemma to $\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ with a single straddling cube, followed by an application of the Orthogonality Lemma to \mathcal{Q}^{in} . More precisely, every pair $(I, J) \in \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ satisfies $J^{\flat} \subset L^{k-1,i} = I$, so that the reduced admissible collection $\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ bstraddles the trivial choice $S = \{L^{k-1,i}\}$, the singleton consisting of just the cube $L^{k-1,i}$. Then the inequality

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop, \bigtriangleup \omega}^{A, \mathcal{R}_{in}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}} \leq C \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha, A} \left(\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k, i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}} \right),$$

follows from \flat Straddling Lemma 3.6.15. The collection $\left\{ \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}} \right\}_{k,i}$ is mutually orthogonal since

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{R}_{L_{kn}^{k,i}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}} &\subset \ \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}} \times \mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}}} &\leq \mathbf{1} \text{ and } \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L},\flat shift}} \leq \mathbf{1}. \end{split}$$

Since $\bigcup_{k,i}^{\cdot} \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ is reduced and admissible (each $J \in \Pi_2 \left(\bigcup_{k,i}^{\cdot} \mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}} \right)$ is paired with a single I, namely the top of the \mathcal{L} -corona to which J^{\flat} belongs), the Orthogonality Lemma 3.6.4 applies to obtain the estimate

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\bigcup_{k,i}\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}}} \leq \sup_{\substack{1\leq k\\1\leq i\leq n_k}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}}} \leq C \sup_{\substack{1\leq k\\1\leq i\leq n_k}} \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{R}_{L_{in}^{k,i}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}}\right) \leq C \mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}\right)$$
(3.6.44)

Now we turn to estimating the norm of the 'out-in' collection $\mathcal{Q}^{out,in} \equiv \bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$. First we note that $L_{out,in}^{k,i} \in \mathcal{C}_{A}^{\mathcal{A},restrict}$ if $(I,J) \in \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ since $\mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ is reduced, i.e. doesn't contain any pairs (I,J) with $J^{\flat} \subset A'$ for some $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$. Next we note that $\mathcal{Q}^{out,in}$ is admissible since if $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{Q}^{out,in}$, then $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ for a unique index (k,i), and of course $\mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ is admissible, so that the cubes I that are paired with J are tree-connected. Thus we can apply the Straddling Lemma 3.6.15 to the reduced admissible collection $\mathcal{Q}^{out,in}$ with the 'straddling' set $\mathcal{S} \equiv \left(\bigcup_{k,i} \bigcup_{L' \in L^{k,i}} L'\right) \cap \mathcal{C}_A^{\mathcal{A}, restrict}$ to obtain the estimate

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty}\mathcal{R}_{L_{out,in}^{k,i}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}}} = \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}^{out,in}} \le C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{Q}^{out,in}\right) \le C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}\right) \quad (3.6.45)$$

 $\begin{array}{c} A, \bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}} \\ As \text{ for the remaining 'out-out' form } |\mathsf{B}|_{stop,\bigtriangleup} \\ \mathsf{B}_{stop,\bigtriangleup}^{\flat \mathcal{L}} \\ \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}, \text{ then either } J^{\flat} \subset L' \in L_{out,out}^{k,i} \subsetneqq J^{\bigstar} \text{ or } J^{\bigstar} \subset L' \in L_{out,out}^{k,i}. \text{ But } J^{\flat} \subset L' \subsetneqq J^{\bigstar} \\ \mathsf{I}_{out,out}^{k,i}, \\ \mathsf{implies that either } J^{\flat} = L' \subsetneqq J^{\bigstar} \subset I \subset L, \text{ which is impossible since } J^{\flat} \text{ cannot share} \\ \mathsf{an endpoint with } L, \text{ or that } J^{\flat} = L'' \in L_{in}' \text{ and } J^{\bigstar} = L^{k,i}. \text{ So we conclude that if} \\ (I,J) \in \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}, \\ \mathsf{then} \\ \mathsf{then} \\ \mathsf{L}_{out,out}' \\ \mathsf{then} \\ \end{array}$

either
$$J^{\mathbf{K}} \subset L^{k,i}_{out,out}$$
 or $\{J^{\mathbf{K}} = L^{k,i} \text{ and } J \subset L^{k,i}_{out,out}\}.$ (3.6.46)

In either case in (3.6.46), there is a unique cube $K[J] \in \mathcal{W}(L)$ that contains J. It follows that there are now two remaining cases:

Case 1: $K[J] \in \mathcal{C}'_A$,

Case 2: $K[J] \subset A' \subsetneqq I$ for some $A' \in \mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{A}}(A)$.

However, since $J^{\flat} \subset K[J]$, as K[J] is the maximal cube whose triple is contained in L, and since $\mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ is reduced, the pairs (I, J) in **Case 2** lie in the 'corona straddling' collection P_{cor}^A that was removed from all A-admissible collections in (3.6.26) of Conclusion 3.6.4 above, and thus there are no pairs in **Case 2** here. Thus we conclude that $K[J] \in \mathcal{C}'_A$.

We now claim that $3K[J] \subset I$ for all pairs $(I, J) \in \bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$. To see this, suppose that $(I, J) \in \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ for some $k \geq 1, 1 \leq i \leq n_k$. Then by (3.6.46) we have both that $K[J] \subset L_{out,out}^{k,i}$ and $L^{k,i} \subsetneq I$. But then $K[J] \subset L_{out,out}^{k,i}$ implies that $3K[J] \subset L^{k,i} \subset I$ as claimed.

Now the 'out-out' collection $\mathcal{Q}^{out,out} \equiv \bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}^{k,i}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$ is admissible, since if $J \in \Pi_2 \mathcal{Q}^{out,out}$ and $I_j \in \Pi_1 \mathcal{Q}^{out,out}$ with $(I_j, J) \in \mathcal{Q}^{out,out}$ for j = 1, 2, then $I_j \in \mathcal{C}_{L^{k_j-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}}$ for some k_j and i and all of the cubes $I \in [I_1, I_2]$ lie in one of the coronas $\mathcal{C}_{L^{k-1,i}}^{\mathcal{L}}$ for k between k_1 and k_2 . And of course for those coronas we have $J \in L_{out,out}^{k,i}$. Thus $(I, J) \in \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}} \subset \mathcal{Q}^{out,out}$ and we have proved the required connectedness. From the containment $3K[J] \subset I \subset L$ for all $(I, J) \in \bigcup_{k,i} \mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat \mathcal{L}}$, we now see that the reduced admissible collection $\mathcal{Q}^{out,out}$ substraddles the cube L. Hence the Substraddling Lemma 3.6.17 yields the bound

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\bigcup_{k,i}\mathcal{R}_{L_{out,out}}^{\flat\mathcal{L}}} = \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\triangle\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}^{out,out}} \le C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{Q}^{out,out}\right) \le C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A} \left(\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}\right).$$

$$(3.6.47)$$

Combining the bounds (3.6.44), (3.6.45) and (3.6.47), we obtain (3.6.43).

Finally, we observe that the collections $\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat \mathcal{H}-big}$ themselves are *mutually orthogonal*, namely

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big} &\subset \mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}\times\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift}, \qquad L\in\mathcal{H} \\ \sum_{L\in\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H}}} &\leq \mathbf{1} \text{ and } \sum_{L\in\mathcal{H}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{C}_{L}^{\mathcal{H},\flat shift}}\leq\mathbf{1}. \end{split}$$

Thus an application of the Orthogonality Lemma 3.6.4 shows that

$$\widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{Q}_{0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}} \leq \sup_{L\in\mathcal{L}} \widehat{\mathfrak{N}}_{stop,\bigtriangleup\omega}^{A,\mathcal{P}_{L,0}^{\flat\mathcal{H}-big}} \leq C\mathcal{S}_{augsize}^{\alpha,A}\left(\mathcal{P}\right).$$

Altogether, the proof of Proposition 3.6.19 is now complete.

This finishes the proofs of the inequalities (3.6.7) and (3.6.1).

3.7 Finishing the proof

At this point we have controlled, either directly or probabilistically, the norms of all of the forms in our decompositions - namely the disjoint, nearby, far below, paraproduct, neighbour, broken and stopping forms - in terms of the Muckenhoupt, energy and *functional energy* conditions, along with an arbitrarily small multiple of the operator norm. Thus it only remains to control the functional energy condition by the Muckenhoupt and energy conditions, since then, using $\int (T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} f) g d\omega = \Theta(f,g) + \Theta^*(f,g)$ with the further decompositions above, we will have shown that for any fixed tangent line truncation of the operator T^{α}_{σ} we have

$$\left| \int \left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} f \right) g d\omega \right| = \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{D}}_{\Omega} \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{G}}_{\Omega} \left| \int \left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma} f \right) g d\omega \right| \quad \leq \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{D}}_{\Omega} \mathbf{E}^{\mathcal{G}}_{\Omega} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\left| \Theta_{i} \left(f, g \right) \right| + \left| \Theta^{*}_{i} \left(f, g \right) \right| \right) \\ \leq \left(C_{\eta} \mathcal{N} \mathcal{T} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha} + \eta \mathfrak{N}_{T} \alpha \right) \left\| f \right\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)} \left\| g \right\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}$$

for $f \in L^2(\sigma)$ and $g \in L^2(\omega)$, for an arbitrarily small positive constant $\eta > 0$, and a correspondingly large finite constant C_{η} . Note that the testing constants $\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha}}$ and $\mathfrak{T}_{T^{\alpha},*}$ in \mathcal{NTV}_{α} already include the supremum over all tangent line truncations of T^{α} , while the operator norm $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}$ on the left refers to a *fixed* tangent line truncation of T^{α} . This gives

$$\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} = \sup_{\|f\|_{L^{2}(\sigma)}=1} \sup_{\|g\|_{L^{2}(\omega)}=1} \left| \int \left(T^{\alpha}_{\sigma}f\right) g d\omega \right| \leq C_{\eta} \mathcal{N} \mathcal{T} \mathcal{V}_{\alpha} + \eta \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}},$$

and since the truncated operators have finite operator norm $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}$, we can absorb the term $\eta \mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}}$ into the left hand side for $\eta < 1$ and obtain $\mathfrak{N}_{T^{\alpha}} \leq C'_{\eta} \mathcal{NTV}_{\alpha}$ for each tangent line truncation of T^{α} . Taking the supremum over all such truncations of T^{α} finishes the proof of Theorem 3.1.5.

The task of controlling functional energy is taken up in Appendix B of [54], after first

establishing weak frame and weak Riesz inequalities for martingale and dual martingale differences (except for the lower weak Riesz inequality for the martingale difference $\triangle_Q^{\mu, \mathbf{b}}$).

Chapter 4

Refined constants for the averaging Hardy operator

4.1 Introduction

Let μ be a non-atomic measure on $(0, \infty)$. We define the μ -averaging Hardy operator as

$$A_{\mu}f(x) = \frac{1}{\mu(0,x)} \int_{(0,x)} f(t)d\mu(t), \quad x \in (0,\infty)$$
(4.1.1)

for any non-negative function f. If \mathcal{L} is the Lebesgue measure, (4.1.1) becomes

$$A_{\mathcal{L}}f(x) = \frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f(t)dt$$

and the classical Hardy inequality holds:

$$\|A_{\mathcal{L}}f\|_{L^{p}} \le \frac{p}{p-1} \|f\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(4.1.2)

for all non-negative $f \in L^p((0,\infty))$ and the constant $\frac{p}{p-1}$ is sharp. This result is due to Hardy [15] in the course of attempts to simplify the proof of Hilbert's double series theorem. This inequality has been studied a lot and a complete discussion is included in [25] and [42]. More recently, Nikolidakis [40] improved inequality (4.1.2) by proving a sharp integral inequality valid for non-negative functions defined [0, 1] with given L^1 norm:

Theorem A. Let $f : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}^+$ be in $L^p([0,1])$, p > 1 with $\int_0^1 f dt = \phi$. Then for any $1 \le q \le p$,

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{x} \int_{0}^{x} f dt\right)^{p} dx < \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right)^{q} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{1}{x} \int_{0}^{x} f dt\right)^{p-q} f(x)^{q} dx - \frac{q}{p-1} \phi^{p}$$
(4.1.3)

Moreover, inequality (4.1.3) is sharp in the sense that, the constant $(\frac{p}{p-1})^q$ cannot be decreased, while the constant $\frac{q}{p-1}$ cannot be increased for any fixed ϕ .

Meanwhile, Melas [31] calculated the Bellman function

$$\mathcal{D}_p(\phi,\Phi) := \sup\left\{\int_X (M_{\mathcal{T}}f)^p d\mu : f \in L^p(X,\mu), \ \int_X f d\mu = \phi, \ \int_X f^p d\mu = \Phi\right\}$$

where (X, μ) is a non-atomic probability space, $0 < \phi^p \leq \Phi$ and $M_{\mathcal{T}}$ a tree like maximal operator, and showed that

$$\mathcal{D}_p(\phi, \Phi) = \psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\Phi$$

where $\psi_p(z) = pz^{p-1} - (p-1)z^p$. Melas [32] also showed that

$$\mathcal{D}_p(\phi, \Phi) = \sup_{\substack{f:(0,1]\to\mathbb{R}^+\\\text{decreasing}\\\text{continuous}}} \left\{ \int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f dt\right)^p dx : \int_0^1 f dx = \phi, \int_0^1 f^p dx = \Phi \right\}$$

via a symmetrization principle of dyadic maximal operator with respect to the averaging Hardy operator. Finally, Nikolidakis [41] characterized the extremal sequences of functions for the latter expression of \mathcal{D}_p related to the averaging Hardy operator. In this note, we calculate

$$\mathcal{B}_{p}(\mu,\phi,\Phi) := \sup_{f \ge 0} \left\{ \int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f(x)|^{p} d\mu : \int_{(0,\infty)} f d\mu = \phi, \int_{(0,\infty)} f^{p} d\mu = \Phi \right\}$$

where $((0, \infty), \mu)$ is a non-atomic probability space.

Definition 4.1.1. Let $1 . A pair of two positive numbers <math>(\phi, \Phi)$ is called padmissible if $\phi^p \leq \Phi$.

Let (X, μ) be a probability space and (ϕ, Φ) a *p*-admissible pair. We may write

$$L^{p}(X,\mu) = \bigcup_{\substack{(\phi,\Phi)\\p-\text{admissible}}} \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi,\Phi}(X,\mu)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi} = \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}(X,\mu) = \left\{ f \in L^p(X,\mu) : \int |f| d\mu = \phi \text{ and } \int |f|^p d\mu = \Phi \right\}.$$

In these smaller classes of functions we have refined bounds:

Theorem 4.1.2. Let μ be a non-atomic probability Radon measure on $(0, \infty)$. For any non-negative $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}((0, \infty), \mu)$,

$$||A_{\mu}f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)} \le \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right)||f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)}$$

where $\psi_p(z) = pz^{p-1} - (p-1)z^p$. Moreover, the inequality is sharp.

Corollary 4.1.3. ([32]) For non-negative $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,1),\mathcal{L})$, we have the sharp inequality:

$$\|A_{\mathcal{L}}f\|_{L^{p}((0,1))} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}((0,1))}.$$

On the other hand, it is known that the dyadic maximal function M_d satisfies the following sharp special weak type (1,1) inequality

$$\mathcal{L}\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |M_d f(x)| > \lambda\} \le \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\{|M_d f| > \lambda\}} |f(x)| dx$$

for every $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and every $\lambda > 0$, from which is easy to get the inequality

$$||M_d f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \frac{p}{p-1} ||f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$

for every p > 1 and $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The constant $\frac{p}{p-1}$ is the best possible [4, 5, 59]. Melas' result [31] refines this inequality when restricted to functions on $[0, 1]^n$.

Being inspired from that, let T be an operator defined on a space (X, μ) that satisfies the special weak type inequality

$$\mu\{x \in X : |Tf(x)| > \lambda\} \le \frac{[\mu]}{\lambda} \int_{\{|Tf| > \lambda\}} |f(x)| d\mu(x)$$
(4.1.4)

for any $\lambda > 0$ and $f \in L^1(X, \mu)$. By $[\mu]$ denote the best possible constant in (4.1.4). Then, we easily conclude,

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{p}(X,\mu)} \leq \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1} \|f\|_{L^{p}(X,\mu)}$$
(4.1.5)

for every $1 and every <math>f \in L^p(X, \mu)$ provided that $\int |Tf|^p d\mu < \infty$. Inequality (4.1.5) can be refined as the following theorem shows. To state it we need to define a function on $(0, \infty)$:

$$A \mapsto k_{p,f,T}(A) = \frac{[\mu]pA^{p-1} \int_{\{|Tf| > A\}} |f|d\mu - (p-1)A^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu}.$$

Theorem 4.1.4. Let (X, μ) be a non-atomic probability space and T be an operator satisfying (4.1.4). Then for $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}(X, \mu)$,

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{p}(X,\mu)} \leq \tilde{\psi}_{p}^{-1}\left(\max_{A>0} k_{p,f,T}(A)\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}(X,\mu)}, \qquad (4.1.6)$$

provided that $\int |Tf|^p d\mu < \infty$. Here $\tilde{\psi}_p(z) = [\mu]pz^{p-1} - (p-1)z^p$ defined on $[[\mu], \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}]$. In the special case that $|Tf(x)| > [\mu]\phi$ for all $x \in X$, then

$$||Tf||_{L^{p}(X,\mu)} \le \tilde{\psi}_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{[\mu]^{p}\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right) ||f||_{L^{p}(X,\mu)}$$

Moreover,

$$[\mu] \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} \left(\frac{[\mu]^p \phi^p}{\Phi} \right) \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} \left(\max_{A>0} k_{p,f,T}(A) \right) \le \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}.$$

Theorem 4.1.2 and Corollary 4.1.3 easily follow now from Theorem 4.1.4.

We also have a result for the two-weight setting, which is an application of Theorem 4.1.4 but it is not anywhere near as developed as the one-weight case. In particular,

Theorem 4.1.5. Suppose two non-atomic Radon measures ω, μ satisfy the special weak type inequality

$$\omega\{x\in(0,\infty):\ A_{\mu}f(x)>\lambda\}\leq \frac{K}{\lambda}\int_{\{x\in(0,\infty):\ A_{\mu}f(x)>\lambda\}}f(t)d\mu(t),$$

with μ being a probability measure. If $L=\omega(0,\infty),$ then for every non-negative $f\in$

$$\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}\big((0,\infty),\mu\big),$$
$$\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f(x)|^p d\omega \le \left(K\left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^p - (K-L)\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\int_{(0,\infty)} f^p d\mu.$$

4.2 Proof Of Theorem 4.1.4

The idea of the proof has been used in [33], [12] and [41].

Proof. Let $0 < \int |f|^p d\mu < \infty$. For A to be determined later, using (4.1.4) we have,

Set $E_A = \{|Tf| > A\}$. Using Hölder's inequality with exponents p and $\frac{p}{p-1}$, we obtain

$$\int |Tf|^p d\mu \le A^p + \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1} \left(\int |f|^p d\mu \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int |Tf|^p d\mu \right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} - \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1} A^{p-1} \int_{E_A} |f| d\mu$$

Dividing both sides by $\int |f|^p d\mu$ and rearranging we obtain,

$$\frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}A^{p-1}\frac{\int_{E_A} |f|d\mu}{\int |f|^p d\mu} - \frac{A^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \le \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1} \left(\frac{\int |Tf|^p d\mu}{\int |f|^p d\mu}\right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} - \frac{\int |Tf|^p d\mu}{\int |f|^p d\mu}$$

or equivalently,

$$\frac{[\mu]pA^{p-1}\int_{E_A}|f|d\mu - (p-1)A^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \le [\mu]p \left(\frac{\int |Tf|^p d\mu}{\int |f|^p d\mu}\right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} - (p-1)\frac{\int |Tf|^p d\mu}{\int |f|^p d\mu}$$
(4.2.1)

Consider for any p > 1 the function

$$\tilde{\psi}_p(z) = [\mu]pz^{p-1} - (p-1)z^p, \quad z > 0.$$

Notice that $\tilde{\psi}'_p(z) = p(p-1)z^{p-2}([\mu]-z)$. Thus, $\psi_p(z) \leq [\mu]^p$ for all z > 0. Set

$$k_{p,f,T}(A) = \frac{[\mu]pA^{p-1}\int_{E_A} |f|d\mu - (p-1)A^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu}$$

Rewriting inequality (4.2.1), we have, for all A > 0,

$$k_{p,f,T}(A) \le \tilde{\psi}_p \left(\frac{\|Tf\|_{L^p(\mu)}}{\|f\|_{L^p(\mu)}} \right).$$
(4.2.2)

By (4.1.5), we may assume that $\frac{\|Tf\|_{L^{p}(\mu)}}{\|f\|_{L^{p}(\mu)}} \in \left[[\mu], \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}\right]$ since otherwise we have nothing to prove. Here is the place where $\int |Tf|^{p} d\mu$ has to be finite, because the proof of (4.1.5) requires it. Note that

$$k_{p,f,T}(A) = \tilde{\psi}_p \left(\frac{A}{\int_{E_A} |f| d\mu}\right) \frac{\left(\int_{E_A} |f| d\mu\right)^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \le [\mu]^p \frac{\left(\int_{E_A} |f| d\mu\right)^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \le [\mu]^p$$

and that the restriction $\tilde{\psi}_p: \left[[\mu], \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}\right] \to [0, [\mu]^p]$ is strictly decreasing and onto. Since the

inverse of $\tilde{\psi}_p, \, \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} : [0, [\mu]^p] \to \left[[\mu], \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1} \right]$, is also strictly decreasing,

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{p}(\mu)} \leq \tilde{\psi}_{p}^{-1}\left(k_{p,f,T}(A_{0})\right)\|f\|_{L^{p}(\mu)}$$

where A_0 is chosen so that $0 < k_{p,f,T}(A_0) \le [\mu]^p$ and $k_{p,f,T}(A_0)$ is maximum.

It is easy to see that

$$k_{p,f,T}(A) \le L_{p,f}(A) := \frac{[\mu]pA^{p-1} \int |f| d\mu - (p-1)A^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu},$$

and the function $A\mapsto L_{p,f}(A)$ is increasing on $\left[0,[\mu]\int |f|d\mu\right]$ with

$$L_{p,f}\left([\mu]\int |f|d\mu\right) = \frac{\left([\mu]\int |f|d\mu\right)^p}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \text{ and } L_{p,f}(0) = 0.$$

In the special case that $E_{A_1} = X$, for some $A_1 > 0$, let $A_0 = \sup\{A : |Tf(x)| > A$, for all $x \in X\}$, thus $k_{p,f,T}(A_0) = L_{p,f}(A_0)$. If $A_0 < [\mu] \int |f| d\mu$, since ψ^{-1} is decreasing and $0 < L_{p,f}(A) \leq [\mu]^p$, inequality (4.2.2) implies

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{p}(\mu)} \leq \tilde{\psi}_{p}^{-1} \left(L_{p,f}(A_{0}) \right) \|f\|_{L^{p}(\mu)},$$

while if $A_0 \ge [\mu] \int |f| d\mu$, we have $\{|Tf| > [\mu] \int |f| d\mu\} = X$ and inequality (4.2.2) implies

$$\|Tf\|_{L^{p}(\mu)} \leq \tilde{\psi}_{p}^{-1} \left(\frac{[\mu]^{p} (\int |f| d\mu)^{p}}{\int |f|^{p} d\mu}\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}(\mu)}$$

 г			
	 _	_	_

Remark 4.2.1. Inequality (4.1.4) together with Hölder's inequality imply that

$$\mu\{x \in X : |Tf(x)| > \lambda\} \le \frac{[\mu]}{\lambda^q} \int_{\{|Tf| > \lambda\}} |f(x)|^q d\mu(x)$$

for $1 \leq q < p$. Using this in the proof of Theorem 4.1.4, one can show that for $1 \leq q < p$, we have

$$\left(\int |Tf|^p d\mu\right)^{1/p} \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1}\left(k_{p,q,f,T}(A_0)\right) \left(\int |f|^p d\mu\right)^{1/p}$$

for some $A_0 > 0$ and a function $k_{p,q,f,T}$ that depends on k, p, q, f and T. Moreover,

$$[\mu] \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} \left(\frac{q[\mu]^{p/q} \left(\int |f|^q d\mu \right)^{p/q}}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \right) \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} \left(k_{p,q,f,T}(A_0) \right) \le \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}.$$

Remark 4.2.2. If we assume the special weak type (r, q) inequality

$$\mu\{x \in X : |Tf(x)| > \lambda\} \le \frac{[\mu]}{\lambda^q} \left(\int_{\{|Tf| > \lambda\}} |f(x)|^r d\mu(x) \right)^{q/r}$$

for $1 \leq r \leq q < p$, then again we have

$$\left(\int |Tf|^p d\mu\right)^{1/p} \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1}\left(k_{p,q,f,T}(A_0)\right) \left(\int |f|^p d\mu\right)^{1/p}$$

for some $A_0 > 0$ and a function $k_{p,q,f,T}$ that depends on k, p, q, f and T. Moreover,

$$[\mu] \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} \left(\frac{q[\mu]^{p/q} \left(\int |f|^q d\mu \right)^{p/q}}{\int |f|^p d\mu} \right) \le \tilde{\psi}_p^{-1} \left(k_{p,q,f,T}(A_0) \right) \le \frac{[\mu]p}{p-1}.$$

4.3 Applications

Lemma 4.3.1. For any Radon measure μ on $(0, \infty)$, $1 and <math>f \ge 0$, we have

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f(x)|^p d\mu(x) < \infty.$$

Proof. First of all note that inequality (4.1.4) is satisfied. Indeed, the set $E_{\lambda} = \{x \in (0, \infty) : A_{\mu}f(x) > \lambda\}$ is open for any $\lambda > 0$, because of the regularity of μ . This implies that E_{λ} can be written as $E_{\lambda} = \bigcup I_j$, where I_j are maximal pairwise disjoint open intervals. It follows that

$$\mu(E_{\lambda}) = \sum_{j} \mu(I_{j}) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \sum_{j} \int_{I_{j}} f d\mu = \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\cup I_{j}} f d\mu = \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{E_{\lambda}} f d\mu$$

Let N > 0 and $f_N = \min(f, N)$. Then, by (4.1.4)

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} (A_{\mu}f_N)^p d\mu = \int_0^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-2} \int_{\{A_{\mu}f_N > \lambda\}} f_N d\mu d\lambda$$
$$= \frac{p}{p-1} \int_{(0,\infty)} f_N (A_{\mu}f_N)^{p-1} d\lambda d\mu$$
$$\leq \frac{p}{p-1} \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} (f_N)^p d\mu \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} (A_{\mu}f_N)^p d\mu \right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$$

With the left-hand side being positive and finite, this inequality gives

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} (A_{\mu} f_N)^p d\mu \le \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right)^p \int_{(0,\infty)} (f_N)^p d\mu$$

Letting $N \to \infty$, the conclusion follows by the monotone convergence theorem.

Now, recall the distribution function of f with respect to μ is the function $\mu_f(\lambda)$:

 $[0,\infty) \to (0,\infty]$ defined by

$$\mu_f(\lambda) = \mu\{x \in X : |f(x)| > \lambda\}$$

and the *decreasing rearrangement* of f is the function $f^*: [0, \infty) \to (0, \infty]$ defined by

$$f^*(t) = \inf\{\lambda \ge 0 : \mu_f(\lambda) \le t\}$$

The functions f and f^* are equimeasurable, that is,

$$\mu\{x \in X : |f(x)| > \lambda\} = \mathcal{L}\{t > 0 : f^*(t) > \lambda\}$$

for any $\lambda > 0$.

For a probability space (X, μ) define the quantities

$$\mathcal{B}(\mu,\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}) = \sup\left\{\int_X |A_\mu f(x)|^p d\mu : 0 \le f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}(X,\mu)\right\}.$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}) = \sup\left\{\int_X |A_\mu f(x)|^p d\mu : 0 \le f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}(X, \mu), \text{ decreasing}\right\}.$$

Lemma 4.3.2. For any non-negative decreasing $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,1),\mathcal{L})$,

$$\|A_{\mathcal{L}}f\|_{L^{p}((0,1))} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}(0,1)},$$

where $\psi_p(z) = p z^{p-1} - (p-1) z^p$. Moreover, if $E_p(f) = 1 - \phi^p / \Phi$,

$$\left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(1 - \mathcal{E}_p(f)\right)\right]^p < \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right)^p - \frac{p}{p-1}\left(1 - \mathcal{E}_p(f)\right).$$
(4.3.1)

Proof. It is easy to see that

$$\mathcal{L}\{x \in (0,1) : A_{\mathcal{L}}f(x) > \lambda\} = \frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\{A_{\mathcal{L}}f > \lambda\}} f(x)d\mu(x)$$

Let f be a decreasing function. Then, $A_{\mathcal{L}}f(x) \ge \int_0^1 f(t)dt$ for all $x \in (0,1)$ and Theorem 4.1.4 and Lemma 4.3.1 imply

$$\|A_{\mathcal{L}}f\|_{L^{p}((0,1))} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1} \left(1 - \mathcal{E}_{p}(f)\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}((0,1))}$$

Now, consider the decreasing function $f_{\alpha}(x) = \frac{\phi}{\alpha} x^{-1+\frac{1}{\alpha}}$. For $\alpha = \psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)$, it is easy to see that

$$\int_0^1 f_\alpha dx = \phi \quad \text{and} \quad \int_0^1 f_\alpha^p dx = \frac{\phi^p}{\psi_p(\alpha)} = \Phi$$

An easy calculation shows that

$$\int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f_\alpha dt\right)^p dx = \left(\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right)^p \int_0^1 f_\alpha^p dx.$$

Thus we have shown that $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}) = \left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^p \Phi.$

To obtain (4.3.1), consider the function

$$g(y) = \left[\psi_p^{-1} (1-y)\right]^p - \left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right)^p + \frac{p}{p-1}(1-y),$$

for $0 \le y < 1$. Then

$$g'(y) = \frac{-\psi_p^{-1} (1-y)}{(p-1) \left(1 - \psi_p^{-1} (1-y)\right)} - \frac{p}{p-1} > 0$$

which implies that g is strictly increasing on (0, 1). Since $\lim_{y \to 1^{-}} g(y) = 0$ and g is continuous at 0, we proved (4.3.1) for $0 \leq E_p(f) < 1$.

Proof of Corollary 4.1.3. Due to Lemma 4.3.2 and the inequality

$$\int_{0}^{t} f(x)dx \le \int_{0}^{t} f^{*}(x)dx, \qquad t \in (0,1)$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \int_0^1 (A_{\mathcal{L}} f^*)^p dt &= \int_0^\infty p \lambda^{p-1} \mathcal{L} \left\{ t \in (0,1) : \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f^* dx > \lambda \right\} d\lambda \\ &\geq \int_0^\infty p \lambda^{p-1} \mathcal{L} \left\{ t \in (0,1) : \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f dx > \lambda \right\} d\lambda \\ &= \int_0^1 (A_{\mathcal{L}} f)^p dt \end{aligned}$$

which implies that $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}) = \tilde{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}) = \left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^p \Phi$, and we have calculated the sharp constant of Corollary 4.1.3.

To the best of our knowledge, the proof of Corollary 4.1.3 as a consequence of Theorem 4.1.4 is the simplest.

If we restrict Theorem A to $\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,1),\mathcal{L})$ and let q = p, Corollary 4.1.3 provides a better bound. Indeed, set

$$\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi} = 1 - \mathcal{E}_p(f)$$

where $0 \leq E_p(f) < 1$ (by Hölder's inequality). Then, inequality (4.1.3) can be rewritten as

$$\int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{x} \int_0^x f dt\right)^p dx < \left[\left(\frac{p}{p-1}\right)^p - \frac{p}{p-1}(1 - \mathcal{E}_p(f))\right] \int_0^1 f^p dt.$$

and inequality (4.3.1) provides an improvement to (4.1.3).

Lemma 4.3.3. Let μ be a non-atomic probability Radon measure on $(0, \infty)$. Then

$$\|A_{\mu}f\|_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right)\|f\|_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)}$$

for decreasing $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,\infty),\mu)$.

Proof. Let f be a decreasing function. Then $A_{\mu}f(x) \ge \int_{(0,\infty)} f(t)d\mu(t)$ for all $x \in (0,\infty)$. Theorem 4.1.4 and Lemma 4.3.1 give

$$||A_{\mu}f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right)||f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)},$$

which implies that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}(0, \infty)) \leq \left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^p \Phi = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}).$$

Proof of Theorem 4.1.2. Now consider a decreasing function $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,1),\mathcal{L})$. For every $t \in (0,1)$, let

$$S_t := \{ x \in (0, \infty) : \mu(0, x) = t \}.$$

For $\lambda \geq 0$ and for all $t \in (0,1)$ and $x \in S_t$, define a non-negative function g on $(0,\infty)$ with

the property

$$\mu_g^x(\lambda) := \mu\{y \in (0,x) : g(y) > \lambda\} = \mathcal{L}\{y \in (0,t) : f(y) > \lambda\}$$

Then, for every $x \in S_t$,

$$\int_{(0,x)} g d\mu = \int_0^\infty \mu_g^x(\lambda) d\lambda = \int_0^\infty \mathcal{L}\{y \in (0,t) : f(y) > \lambda\} d\lambda = \int_0^t f(y) dy.$$

and

$$\frac{1}{\mu(0,x)} \int_{(0,x)} g(u) d\mu(u) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f(u) du, \text{ for } f \ge 0,$$

Notice that for any $\lambda > 0$,

$$\mathcal{L}\left\{t\in(0,1):\frac{1}{t}\int_0^t f(u)du>\lambda\right\}=\mathcal{L}(0,t_\lambda)=t_\lambda$$

for some $t_{\lambda} \in (0, 1)$. From the discussion above we obtain that for all $x \in S_{t_{\lambda}}$,

$$\mu\left\{x\in S_{t_{\lambda}}:\frac{1}{\mu(0,x)}\int_{(0,x)}gd\mu>\lambda\right\}=\mu(0,\sup S_{t_{\lambda}})=t_{\lambda}$$

This implies that

$$\begin{split} \int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}g|^{p} d\mu &= \int_{0}^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-1}\mu \left\{ y \in (0,\infty) : \frac{1}{\mu(0,y)} \int_{(0,y)} g d\mu > \lambda \right\} d\lambda \\ &\geq \int_{0}^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-1} t_{\lambda} d\lambda \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-1} \mathcal{L} \left\{ y \in (0,1) : \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} f dx > \lambda \right\} d\lambda \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} f(x) dx \right|^{p} dt \end{split}$$

Additionally, $g \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}(\mu)$ as $\int_{(0,\infty)} gd\mu = \int_0^1 f dy = \phi$ and $\int_{(0,\infty)} g^p d\mu = \int_0^1 f^p dy = \Phi$. This shows that $\mathcal{B}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}(0,\infty)) \geq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}).$

For every $x \in (0, \infty)$, there exists $t \in (0, 1)$ such that $\mu(0, x) = t$. Notice that there could exist $y \neq x$, such that $\mu(0, y) = t$ (which means that $\mu(x, y) = 0$ in the case that x < y). Let $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}((0, \infty), \mu)$. Then from the well-known inequality

$$\frac{1}{\mu(0,x)} \int_{(0,x)} f(t) d\mu(t) \le \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t f^*(u) du, \text{ for } f \ge 0$$
(4.3.2)

we get

$$\mu\left\{x\in(0,\infty):\frac{1}{\mu(0,x)}\int_{(0,x)}fd\mu>\lambda\right\}\leq\mu(0,x_{\lambda})\leq t_{\lambda}$$

where $x_{\lambda} = \sup\{x : \frac{1}{\mu(0,x)} \int_{(0,x)} f d\mu > \lambda\}$ and $t_{\lambda} = \mathcal{L}\left\{t \in (0,1) : \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} f^{*}(u) du > \lambda\right\}$. This implies that $\mathcal{B}\left(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi, \Phi}(0, \infty)\right) \leq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi, \Phi}).$

On the other hand, trivially $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}(0, \infty)) \leq \mathcal{B}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}(0, \infty))$. Now take a function $h \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}((0, \infty), \mu)$ and let $G(x) = \int_{(0, x)} d\mu$. Then the pushforward measure

$$G_{\#}\mu(E) := \mu(G^{-1}(E))$$

for any $E \subset (0,1)$ is equal to Lebesgue measure of E. Indeed, let $(c,d) \subset (0,1)$. Since $\mu(0,\infty) = 1$, there exist $\alpha, \beta \in (0,\infty)$ such that $\mu(0,\alpha) = c$ and $\mu(0,\beta) = d$. In other words, $G(\alpha) = c$ and $G(\beta) = d$. Then $G^{-1}((c,d)) = (\alpha,\beta)$ and

$$\mu\left(G^{-1}((c,d))\right) = \mu(\alpha,\beta) = \mu(0,\beta) - \mu(0,\alpha) = d - c = \mathcal{L}(c,d).$$

Since (c, d) is an arbitrary interval, the pushforward measure $G_{\#}\mu$ is the Lebesgue measure

on (0, 1).

Notice that G is increasing and onto (0, 1), but it may not be invertible. However, G has an inverse, G^{-1} , when restricted on $\operatorname{supp} \mu$. Since $G((0, \infty) \setminus \operatorname{supp} \mu)$ is an at most countable set, say $\{x_1, x_2, \ldots\}$, the function $h \circ G^{-1}$ is defined on $(0, 1) \setminus \{x_1, x_2, \ldots\}$ and by changing variables

$$\int_{\mathrm{supp}\,\mu} h d\mu = \int_{\mathrm{supp}\,\mu} (h \circ G^{-1}) \circ G d\mu = \int_{(0,1) \setminus \{x_1, x_2, \dots\}} h \circ G^{-1} dx$$

Let $(h \circ G^{-1})^*$ be the decreasing rearrangement of $h \circ G^{-1}$. Notice that

$$\mu\{h > \lambda\} = |\{h \circ G^{-1} > \lambda\}| = |\{(h \circ G^{-1})^* > \lambda\}| = \mu\{(h \circ G^{-1})^* \circ G > \lambda\}|,$$

thus, $(h \circ G^{-1})^* \circ G$ is decreasing and equimeasurable to h with respect to μ . Notice also that for every $x \in S_t$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{(0,x)} h d\mu &= \int_{(0,t) \setminus \{x_1, x_2, \dots\}} h \circ G^{-1} dx &\leq \int_{(0,t) \setminus \{x_1, x_2, \dots\}} (h \circ G^{-1})^* dx \\ &= \int_{(0,x)} (h \circ G^{-1})^* \circ G d\mu \end{split}$$

Therefore, we obtain $\mathcal{B}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi, \Phi}) \leq \tilde{\mathcal{B}}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi, \Phi}).$ These imply $\mathcal{B}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi, \Phi}) = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_{p}^{\phi, \Phi}) = \left[\psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right)\right]^{p} \Phi.$

Remark 4.3.4. (i) Let us point out that the supremum with respect to any probability measure is attained and is equal to

$$\sup \mathcal{B}(\mu, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}) = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}|_{(0,1)}, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi})$$
where the supremum is taken over all probability measures μ .

(ii) If $\mu(0,\infty) = L < \infty$, then the measure $\sigma = \mu/L$ is a probability measure. By Theorem 4.1.2,

$$\|A_{\sigma}f\|_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\sigma)} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{(\int_{(0,\infty)} f d\sigma)^{p}}{\int_{(0,\infty)} f^{p} d\sigma}\right) \|f\|_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\sigma)},$$

which implies that for $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}((0, \infty), \mu)$,

$$||A_{\mu}f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)} \leq \psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{L^{p-1}\Phi}\right)||f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)}.$$

(iii) If $\mu(0,\infty) = \infty$ for a σ -finite measure μ , we consider the measure $\frac{\mathbf{1}_{(0,N)}}{N}\mu$, and letting

 $N \to \infty$, we get

$$||A_{\mu}f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)} \leq \frac{p}{p-1} ||f||_{L^{p}((0,\infty),\mu)}$$

Here we point out that

$$\sup_{f \in L^p((0,\infty),\mu)} \frac{\left\|A_{\mu}f\right\|_{L^p((0,\infty),\mu)}}{\|f\|_{L^p((0,\infty),\mu)}} \le \frac{p}{p-1} = \sup_{f \in L^p(0,\infty)} \frac{\|A_{\mathcal{L}}f\|_{L^p(0,\infty)}}{\|f\|_{L^p(0,\infty)}}$$

Corollary 4.3.5 ([31]). Let (X, μ) be a non-atomic probability space and $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}(X, \mu)$. Then

$$\|M_{\mathcal{T}}f\|_{L^p(X,\mu)} \le \psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right) \|f\|_{L^p(X,\mu)}$$

where $M_{\mathcal{T}}$ is the dyadic-like maximal function defined by

$$M_{\mathcal{T}}\phi(x) = \sup_{x \in I \in \mathcal{T}} \frac{1}{\mu(I)} \int_{I} |\phi| d\mu$$

for every $\phi \in L^1(X, \mu)$ where \mathcal{T} is a family of measurable subsets of X such that

- (a) $X \in \mathcal{T}$ and for every $I \in \mathcal{T}$ we have $\mu(I) > 0$.
- (b) For every I ∈ T there corresponds an at most countable subset C(I) ⊂ T containing at least two elements such that the elements of C(I) are pairwise disjoint subsets of I and I = ∪C(I).

(c)
$$\mathcal{T} = \bigcup_{m \ge 0} \mathcal{T}_{(m)}$$
 where $\mathcal{T}_{(0)} = \{X\}$ and $\mathcal{T}_{(m+1)} = \bigcup_{I \in \mathcal{T}_{(m)}} \mathcal{C}(I)$.

(d) $\lim_{m\to\infty} \sup_{I\in\mathcal{T}(m)} \mu(I) = 0.$

The operator $M_{\mathcal{T}}$ satisfies (4.1.4) with $[\mu] = 1$ and the result follows from Theorem 4.1.4. The sharpness of the constant has been proven by Melas [31], by calculating a Bellman function.

4.4 Two Weights

Now we turn our attention to inequalities of two measures. We will need the following lemmas whose proofs are provided in [23].

Lemma 4.4.1. For any $t \in \mathbb{R}$, any measure w on $[t, \infty)$ and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, we have

$$\int_{[t,\infty)} w[x,\infty)^{-\alpha} dw(x) \le \frac{w[t,\infty)^{1-\alpha}}{1-\alpha}.$$

Lemma 4.4.2. For any $t \in \mathbb{R}$, any measure σ on (0, t] and $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, we have

$$\int_{(0,t]} \sigma(0,x]^{-\alpha} d\sigma(x) \le \frac{\sigma(0,t]^{1-\alpha}}{1-\alpha}.$$

Definition 4.4.3. Let μ be a measure. We define the μ -Hardy operator as

$$H_{\mu}f(x) \equiv H(\mu f) = \int_{(0,x]} f(t)d\mu(t), \quad f \ge 0.$$

Theorem 4.4.4. The two-measure $(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega)$ Hardy inequality, for $1 \leq p < \infty$,

$$\left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |H(\tilde{\sigma}g)|^p d\omega\right)^{1/p} \le N_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |g|^p d\tilde{\sigma}\right)^{1/p}, \quad g \ge 0 \tag{4.4.1}$$

holds if and only if

$$G_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) \equiv \sup_{r>0} \left(\omega[r,\infty)^{1/p} \ \tilde{\sigma}(0,r]^{1/p'} \right) < \infty$$

Moreover, $G_p(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega) \leq N_p(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega) \leq p^{1/p}(p')^{1/p'}G_p(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega)$, for $1 while <math>G_1(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega) = N_1(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega)$.

The proof is essentially due to [35], while the proof for p = 2 is written in [23]. We write it here for general p for completeness.

Proof. For $1 and <math>h(t) = \left(\int_{(0,t]} (\int_{(0,x]} d\tilde{\sigma}) d\tilde{\sigma}(x)\right)^{\frac{1}{pp'}}$ we have,

$$\begin{split} \int_{(0,\infty)} |H(g\tilde{\sigma})|^p d\omega &= \int_{(0,\infty)} \left(\int_{(0,x]} g(t) d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \right)^p d\omega(x) \\ &= \int_{(0,\infty)} \left(\int_{(0,x]} g(t) h(t) h(t)^{-1} d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \right)^p d\omega(x) \\ &\leq \int_{(0,\infty)} \left(\int_{(0,x]} g(t)^p h(t)^p d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \right) \left(\int_{(0,x]} h(t)^{-p'} d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \right)^{p/p'} d\omega(x) \\ &= \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p \left[\int_{[t,\infty)} \left(\int_{(0,x]} h(t)^{-p'} d\tilde{\sigma} \right)^{p-1} d\omega(x) \right] d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \end{split}$$

By Lemma 4.4.2 and definition of G_p ,

$$\begin{split} \int_{(0,\infty)} |H(g\tilde{\sigma})|^p d\omega &\leq \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p \left[\int_{[t,\infty)} \left(p' \left\{ \int_{(0,x]} d\tilde{\sigma} \right\}^{1/p'} \right)^{p-1} d\omega(x) \right] d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \\ &\leq \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p \left[\int_{[t,\infty)} \left(p' G_p \cdot \omega[x,\infty)^{-1/p} \right)^{p-1} d\omega(x) \right] d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \\ &= G_p^{p-1} (p')^{p-1} \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p \left[\int_{[t,\infty)} \omega[x,\infty)^{-1/p'} d\omega(x) \right] d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \end{split}$$

By Lemma 4.4.1 and definition of G_p ,

$$\begin{split} \int_{(0,\infty)} |H(g\tilde{\sigma})|^p d\omega &\leq G_p^{p-1}(p')^{p-1} p \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p \omega[t,\infty)^{-1/p} d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \\ &\leq G_p^p(p')^{p-1} p \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p \left(\int_{(0,t]} d\tilde{\sigma}\right)^{-1/p'} d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \\ &= G_p^p(p')^{p-1} p \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p h(t)^p h(t)^{-p} d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \\ &= G_p^p(p')^{p-1} p \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)^p d\tilde{\sigma}(t) \end{split}$$

Thus, $N_p(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega) \leq p^{1/p}(p')^{1/p'} G_p(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega)$. For p = 1, by changing the order of integration,

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} H(g\tilde{\sigma})d\omega \leq \sup_{r>0} \omega[r,\infty) \int_{(0,\infty)} g(t)d\tilde{\sigma}(t)$$

So, $N_1 \leq G_1$.

Conversely, for $1 \leq p < \infty$, letting $g(t) = \mathbf{1}_{(0,r]}(t)$ and since for $x \geq r$, $H(g\tilde{\sigma})(x) \geq r$

$$\begin{split} H(g\tilde{\sigma})(r) &= \int_{(0,r]} d\tilde{\sigma}, \\ \left(\int_{(0,r]} d\tilde{\sigma}\right)^{p-1} \int_{[r,\infty)} d\omega \int_{(0,r]} d\tilde{\sigma} \ &= \left(\int_{(0,r]} d\tilde{\sigma}\right)^p \int_{[r,\infty)} d\omega \leq \int_{(0,\infty)} |H(g\tilde{\sigma})|^p d\omega \\ &\leq N_p^p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) \int_{(0,\infty)} |g|^p d\tilde{\sigma} = N_p^p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) \int_{(0,r]} |g|^p d\tilde{\sigma} \end{split}$$

which implies that $\left(\int_{(0,r]} d\tilde{\sigma}\right)^{p-1} \int_{[r,\infty)} d\omega \leq N_p^p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega)$. Taking supremum over all r > 0,

$$G_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) \le N_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega).$$

4.4.1 A three-weight norm inequality

Now consider the inequality

$$\left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |H_{\mu}f(x)\rangle|^p d\omega(x)\right)^{1/p} \le K_p(\mu,\sigma,\omega) \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |f(x)|^p d\sigma(x)\right)^{1/p}, \quad (4.4.2)$$

for $f \ge 0$ and the three measures μ, σ, ω .

It is easy to check that (4.4.2) holds only if $d\mu(t) = m(t)d\sigma(t)$ and so it implies that

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} \left| \int_{(0,x]} f(t)m(t)d\sigma(t) \right|^p d\omega(x) \le K_p^p(\mu,\sigma,\omega) \int_{(0,\infty)} |f(x)|^p d\sigma(x).$$

Setting $f(t)m(t)d\sigma(t) = g(t)d\tilde{\sigma}$ and $f(x)^p d\sigma = g(x)^p d\tilde{\sigma}$, which imply that

$$d\tilde{\sigma} = \frac{f(t)m(t)}{g(t)}d\sigma(t) = \frac{f(t)^p}{g(t)^p}d\sigma(t) \text{ and } m(t) = \frac{f(t)^{p-1}}{g(t)^{p-1}},$$

we have that (4.4.2) is equivalent to the two measure $(\tilde{\sigma}, \omega)$ Hardy inequality (4.4.1). Moreover,

$$G_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) \le K_p(\mu,\sigma,\omega) \le p^{1/p}(p')^{1/p'}G_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega).$$

where $G_p(\tilde{\sigma},\omega) = \sup_{r>0} \left(\omega[r,\infty)^{1/p} \tilde{\sigma}(0,r]^{1/p'} \right) = \sup_{r>0} \left[\omega[r,\infty)^{1/p} \left(\int_{(0,r]} m^{p'} d\sigma \right)^{1/p'} \right].$

Corollary 4.4.5. ([35]) If ω and σ are Borel measures and $1 \leq p < \infty$, then

$$\left(\int_{(0,\infty)} \left| \int_0^x f(t) dt \right|^p d\omega(x) \right)^{1/p} \le C \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |f(x)|^p d\sigma(x) \right)^{1/p}, \quad f \ge 0$$

if and only if

$$B = \sup_{r>0} \left[\omega[r,\infty)^{1/p} \left(\int_{(0,r]} m^{p'} d\sigma \right)^{1/p'} \right] < \infty,$$

where $dx = m(x)d\sigma(x)$. Moreover, $B \le C \le p^{1/p}(p')^{1/p'}B$, for 1 while <math>B = C for p = 1.

Corollary 4.4.6. The inequality

$$\left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f(x)\rangle|^p d\omega(x)\right)^{1/p} \le M_p(\mu,\sigma,\omega) \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} |f(x)|^p d\sigma(x)\right)^{1/p}, \quad f \ge 0 \quad (4.4.3)$$

holds if and only if

$$G_p \equiv \sup_{r>0} \left[\int_{[r,\infty)} \frac{d\omega(x)}{\left(\int_{(0,x]} m(t)d\sigma(t)\right)^p} \right]^{1/p} \left(\int_{(0,r]} m^{p'} d\sigma \right)^{1/p'} < \infty$$

where $d\mu(t) = m(t)d\sigma(t)$. Moreover, $G_p \leq M_p(\mu, \sigma, \omega) \leq p^{1/p}(p')^{1/p'}G_p$.

Proof. The inequality (4.4.3) is equivalent to the two-measure (τ, ν) Hardy inequality (4.4.1) for $d\tau = m^{p'} d\sigma$ and $d\nu = d\omega / (\int_{(0,x]} m d\sigma)^{p}$. The result then follows from Theorem 4.4.4.

In the special case that $\omega = \sigma = \mu$ with $d\mu(x) = m(x)dx$ for $m \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mu)$,

$$\int_{[r,\infty)} \mu(0,x]^{-p} d\mu(x) = \int_{[r,\infty)} \frac{g'(x)}{g(x)^p} dx = \frac{g(r)^{1-p}}{p-1} = \frac{\mu(0,r]^{1-p}}{p-1}$$

where $g(x) = \int_0^x m(t) dt$, we have that $G_p = \frac{1}{(p-1)^{1/p}}$ and the (4.4.3) becomes

$$\left(\int_0^\infty |A_\mu f(x))|^p d\mu(x)\right)^{1/p} \le \frac{p}{p-1} \left(\int_0^\infty |f(x)|^p d\mu(x)\right)^{1/p}, \quad f \ge 0$$

Thus, the inequality of Corollary 4.1.2 is a refinement of this.

Theorem 4.4.7. Let ω, μ be two Radon measures on $(0, \infty)$ and define

 $s := \inf\{x \in (0, \infty) : \mu \text{ charges the interval } (0, x)\}.$

The following are equivalent:

(i) For $\lambda > 0$ and $f \ge 0$, the special weak type (1,1)

$$\omega\{x \in (0,\infty): A_{\mu}f(x) > \lambda\} \le \frac{K}{\lambda} \int_{\{x \in (0,\infty): A_{\mu}f(x) > \lambda\}} f(t)d\mu(t)$$
(4.4.4)

(ii) For any collection of open intervals $\{(a_j, b_j)\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ in (s, ∞) ,

$$\sum_{j} \omega(a_j, b_j) \le K \sum_{j} \mu(a_j, b_j).$$
(4.4.5)

(iii) The restriction $\omega|_{(s,\infty)}$ of ω at (s,∞) is absolutely continuous with respect to μ and the density $\frac{d\omega|_{(s,\infty)}}{d\mu} \in L^{\infty}$ with $\left\| \frac{d\omega|_{(s,\infty)}}{d\mu} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mu)} \leq K.$ *Remark*: The definition of s is not needed to show the equivalence of the conditions (ii) and (iii) but it is important to circumvent the cases where the measures are not absolutely continuous and satisfy (4.4.4) trivially. For example, $d\omega = \mathbf{1}_{(0,1)}dx$ and $d\mu = \mathbf{1}_{(2,\infty)}dx$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, assume that s = 0, that is, μ charges every open interval of the form $(0, \delta)$. Let us show first that (ii) implies (iii). Let A be a Borel set such that $\mu(A) = 0$. As μ is regular, for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exists an open set $E \supset A$ such that $\mu(E) < \epsilon$. Since E is open, it can be written as a union of open intervals, i.e. $E = \bigcup_j (a_j, b_j)$. Thus, $\sum_j \mu(a_j, b_j) < \epsilon$. The hypothesis implies that $\sum_j \omega(a_j, b_j) < K\epsilon$, or equivalently, $\omega(E) < K\epsilon$. Since ϵ is arbitrary, $\omega(A) = 0$. Thus, $\omega \ll \mu$ and $\omega(A) = \int_A m(t)d\mu(t)$ for some non negative function m and any Borel set A. If we assume that there exists a Borel set Asuch that $\mu(A) > 0$ and m(t) > K, for all $t \in A$, then using Borel regularity, we cover A by open intervals (a_j, b_j) such that $\sum_j \mu(a_j, b_j) = \mu(A) + \epsilon$ and we obtain

$$\sum_{j} \omega(a_j, b_j) \ge \omega(A) = \int_A m(t) d\mu(t) > K\mu(A) = K \left\lfloor \sum_{j} \mu(a_j, b_j) - \epsilon \right\rfloor.$$

As ϵ is arbitrary, we have a contradiction.

Now we show that (iii) implies (ii). By the hypothesis, there exists a non negative function m such that for any measurable set A, $\omega(A) = \int_A m(t)d\mu(t)$ with $||m||_{L^{\infty}(\mu)} \leq K$. Consider any collection of open intervals $\{(a_j, b_j)\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$. Then

$$\sum_{j} \omega(a_j, b_j) = \sum_{j} \int_{(a_j, b_j)} m(t) d\mu(t) \le K \sum_{j} \mu(a_j, b_j)$$

To prove that (ii) implies (i), notice that the set $E_{\lambda} = \{x \in (0, \infty) : A_{\mu}f(x) > \lambda\}$ is open for any $\lambda > 0$. Thus, $E_{\lambda} = \bigcup I_j$ where I_j are maximal pairwise disjoint open intervals

$$\omega\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} = \sum_{j} \omega(I_{j}) \le K \sum_{j} \mu(I_{j}) = \frac{K}{\lambda} \sum_{j} \int_{I_{j}} f(t) d\mu(t)$$
$$= \frac{K}{\lambda} \int_{\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\}} f(t) d\mu(t).$$

Finally, we prove that (i) implies (ii). It is enough to show (4.4.4) implies (4.4.5) for an interval (a, b). Because then, for any $N \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{j=1}^N \omega(a_j, b_j) \le K \sum_{j=1}^N \mu(a_j, b_j) \le K \sum_{j=1}^\infty \mu(a_j, b_j)$$

and letting $N \to \infty$, we obtain (4.4.5).

Fix $\lambda > 0$. Given an interval (a, b) with $\mu(a, b) \neq 0$, we find a function f and an interval $J \supset (a, b)$ such that $J = \{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\}$ and $\mu(J) = \mu(a, b) + \delta$, for $\delta \ge 0$. As a first case, suppose that μ charges the subintervals (a, a + c) and (b - c, b) for some 0 < c < b - a. Consider the function

$$f = \lambda \mathbf{1}_{(0,a)} + (\lambda + \eta) \mathbf{1}_{(a,t)} + (\lambda - 2\eta) \mathbf{1}_{(t,k)} + \lambda \mathbf{1}_{(k,b)} ,$$

where a < t < k < b, $0 < 2\eta < \lambda$ and $\int_{(a,t)} d\mu = 2 \int_{(t,k)} d\mu$. Then, f satisfies the conditions

$$\int_0^a f d\mu = \lambda \int_0^a d\mu, \quad \int_0^b f d\mu = \lambda \int_0^b d\mu, \text{ and } \int_0^x f d\mu > \lambda \int_0^x d\mu$$

for all $x \in (a, b)$ with the reverse inequality holding otherwise. Thus, $\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} = (a, b)$

291

and

and

$$\omega(a,b) = \omega\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} \leq \frac{K}{\lambda} \int_{\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\}} f d\mu = \frac{K}{\lambda} \int_{(a,b)} f d\mu = K\mu(a,b).$$

On the other hand, suppose that $\mu(a, a+c) = 0$ while $\mu(b-c, b) \neq 0$, for some 0 < c < b-a. By definition of p, there is a point $a_1 < a$ such that $\mu(a_1, a) = \epsilon$. Then, following the previous case, we construct a function f such that $\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} = (a_1, b)$ and

$$\omega(a,b) \le \omega(a_1,b) \le K\mu(a_1,b) = K\big(\mu(a,b) + \epsilon\big)$$

As ϵ is arbitrary, we obtain (4.4.5).

In the case that $\mu(a, a + c) \neq 0$ while $\mu(b - c, b) = 0$, for some 0 < c < b - a, either there is f such that $\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} = (a, \infty)$, when $\mu(b, \infty) = 0$, or there is f such that $\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} = (a, b_1)$, where $b_1 > b$ with $\mu(b, b_1) = \epsilon$. Thus, $\omega(a, b) \leq K\mu(a, b)$.

Finally, if $\mu(a, b) = 0$, as above, we find an open interval $J \supset (a, b)$ and a function f such that $\{A_{\mu}f > \lambda\} = J$ and $\mu(J) = \epsilon$. This implies that $\omega(a, b) = 0$.

For measures ω, μ that satisfy (4.4.4), define

$$\mathcal{B}_p(\mu,\omega,\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}) = \sup\left\{\int |A_\mu f(x)|^p d\omega : 0 \le f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}\big((0,\infty),\mu\big)\right\}$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_p(\mu,\omega,\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}) = \sup\left\{\int |A_\mu f(x)|^p d\omega : 0 \le f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}\big((0,\infty),\mu\big) \text{ decreasing}\right\}$$

Theorem 4.4.8. Suppose two non-atomic Radon measures ω, μ on $(0, \infty)$ satisfy the special

weak type inequality (4.4.4), where μ is a probability measure and $L = \omega(0, \infty)$. Then for every non-negative $f \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}((0, \infty), \mu)$,

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f(x)|^p d\omega \le \left(K \left[\psi_p^{-1} \left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi} \right) \right]^p - (K - L) \frac{\phi^p}{\Phi} \right) \int_{(0,\infty)} f^p d\mu.$$
(4.4.6)

There is a decreasing function $g \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}((0, \infty), \mu)$ such that the equality in (4.4.6) is attained if and only if $\omega = K\mu$.

Proof. First, let f be a decreasing function. Notice that if L = K, by (4.4.5), $\omega = K\mu$. Let us assume that $\omega(0, \infty) = L < K$. For A, such that $\{A_{\mu}f > A\} = (0, \infty)$ to be determined later and using (4.4.4), we have

$$\begin{split} \int |A_{\mu}f|^{p}d\omega &= \int_{0}^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-1}\omega\{|A_{\mu}f| > \lambda\}d\lambda \\ &\leq LA^{p} + \int_{A}^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-1}\omega\{|A_{\mu}f| > \lambda\}d\lambda \\ &\leq LA^{p} + K\int_{A}^{\infty} p\lambda^{p-2}\int_{\{|A_{\mu}f| > \lambda\}} fd\mu d\lambda \\ &= LA^{p} + Kp\int f\int_{A}^{|A_{\mu}f|} \lambda^{p-2}d\lambda d\mu \\ &= LA^{p} + \frac{Kp}{p-1}\int f\Big(|A_{\mu}f|^{p-1} - A^{p-1}\Big)d\mu \\ &= LA^{p} + \frac{Kp}{p-1}\int f|A_{\mu}f|^{p-1}d\mu - \frac{Kp}{p-1}A^{p-1}\int fd\mu \end{split}$$

Using Hölder's inequality with exponents p and $p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$, we obtain

$$\int |A_{\mu}f|^{p} d\omega \le LA^{p} + \frac{Kp}{p-1} \left(\int f^{p} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int |A_{\mu}f|^{p} d\mu\right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} - \frac{Kp}{p-1} A^{p-1} \int f d\mu$$

Dividing both sides by $\int f^p d\mu$ and rearranging we obtain,

$$(p-1)\frac{\int |A_{\mu}f|^{p}d\omega}{\int f^{p}d\mu} + \frac{KpA^{p-1}\int fd\mu - L(p-1)A^{p}}{\int f^{p}d\mu} \le Kp\left(\frac{\int |A_{\mu}f|^{p}d\mu}{\int f^{p}d\mu}\right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$$
(4.4.7)

Now, by Corollary 4.1.2, the right hand side is bounded by

$$Kp\left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^{p/p'}$$

and as $A \mapsto \frac{KpA^{p-1}\int fd\mu - L(p-1)A^p}{\int f^pd\mu}$ is increasing on $\left[0, \frac{K}{L}\int fd\mu\right]$, inequality (4.4.7)

gives

$$(p-1)\frac{\int |A_{\mu}f|^{p}d\omega}{\int f^{p}d\mu} + \frac{(Kp - Lp + L)(\int fd\mu)^{p}}{\int f^{p}d\mu} \le Kp\left[\psi_{p}^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi}\right)\right]^{p/p'}$$

for $A = \int f d\mu$ (we choose this A, as $\{A_{\mu}f(x) > A\} = (0, \infty)$ since f decreasing). This implies

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f|^{p} d\omega \leq \frac{Kp}{p-1} \left[\psi_{p}^{-1} \left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi} \right) \right]^{p/p'} \int_{(0,\infty)} f^{p} d\mu - \frac{Kp - Lp + L}{p-1} \left(\int_{(0,\infty)} f d\mu \right)^{p} \\ = \left(Kp' \left[\psi_{p}^{-1} \left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi} \right) \right]^{p/p'} - \frac{Kp - Lp + L}{p-1} \frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi} \right) \int_{(0,\infty)} f^{p} d\mu \qquad (4.4.8)$$

We claim that

$$p'\left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^{p/p'} - \frac{1}{p-1}\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi} = \left[\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)\right]^p$$

Indeed, consider the function

$$g(y) = p' \left[\psi_p^{-1} \left(1 - y \right) \right]^{p/p'} - \frac{1}{p-1} (1-y) - \left[\psi_p^{-1} \left(1 - y \right) \right]^p, \quad 0 \le y < 1$$

Then, for 0 < y < 1,

$$g'(y) = \frac{-p \left[\psi_p^{-1}(1-y)\right]^{p-2}}{p(p-1) \left[\psi_p^{-1}(1-y)\right]^{p-2} \left(1-\psi_p^{-1}(1-y)\right)} + \frac{1}{p-1} + \frac{\psi_p^{-1}(1-y)}{(p-1) \left(1-\psi_p^{-1}(1-y)\right)}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{p-1} + \frac{1}{p-1} = 0$$

which implies that g is constant and as g is continuous at 0, we obtain that $g \equiv 0$ on [0, 1). Thus, inequality (4.4.8) gives

$$\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}f|^{p} d\omega \leq \left(K \left[\psi_{p}^{-1} \left(\frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi} \right) \right]^{p} - (K-L) \frac{\phi^{p}}{\Phi} \right) \int_{(0,\infty)} f^{p} d\mu$$

Thus, $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_p(\mu, \omega, \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi, \Phi}) \le \left(K \left[\psi_p^{-1} \left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi} \right) \right]^p - (K - L) \frac{\phi^p}{\Phi} \right) \Phi.$

To obtain equality in (4.4.6), notice that $\omega = K\mu$ if and only if there is a decreasing function g such that $\omega\{A_{\mu}g > \lambda\} = \frac{K}{\lambda} \int_{\{A_{\mu}g > \lambda\}} gd\mu$. Choose g to be the extremizer of Theorem 4.1.2.

Finally, if $h \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,\infty),\mu)$ is such that $\mathcal{B}_p(\mu,\omega,\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi})$ is attained, following the proof of Theorem 4.1.2, we obtain a decreasing function $g \in \mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}((0,\infty),\mu)$ such that $\int_{(0,x)} hd\mu \leq \int_{(0,x)} gd\mu$. This implies that $\int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}g|^p d\omega \geq \int_{(0,\infty)} |A_{\mu}h|^p d\omega$ which in turn gives $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_p(\mu,\omega,\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi}) = \mathcal{B}_p(\mu,\omega,\mathfrak{F}_p^{\phi,\Phi})$.

Conjecture 4.4.9. Suppose two non-atomic Radon measures (ω, μ) satisfy the special weak type inequality (4.4.4), μ is a probability measure and $\omega(0, \infty) = L \leq K$. For the p-admissible pair (ϕ, Φ) ,

$$\left(K\psi_p^{-1}\left(\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)^p - (K-L)\frac{\phi^p}{\Phi}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le p^{1/p}(p')^{1/p'} \sup_{r>0} \left[\int_{[r,\infty)} \frac{d\omega(x)}{\left(\int_{(0,x]} d\mu\right)^p}\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{(0,r]} d\mu\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}$$

If $\omega = K\mu$ is absolutely continuous, the conjecture is true.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] M. A. ALFONSECA, P. AUSCHER, A. AXELSSON, S. HOFMANN, AND S. KIM, Analyticity of layer potentials and L^2 solvability of boundary value problems for divergence form elliptic equations with complex L^{∞} coefficients, arXiv:0705.0836v1.
- [2] AUSCHER, P., HOFMANN, S., LACEY, M., MCINTOSH, A., AND TCHAMITCHIAN, P., The Solution of the Kato Square Root Problem for Second Order Elliptic Operators on Rⁿ, Ann. of Math. 156 (2002), 633–654.
- [3] P. AUSCHER, S. HOFMANN, C. MUSCALU, T. TAO, AND C. THIELE, Carleson measures, trees, extrapolation, and T(b) theorems, Publ. Mat. 46 (2002), no. 2, 257–325.
- [4] BURKHOLDER D.L. Martingales and Fourier analysis in Banach spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol 1206, Springer (1986)
- [5] BURKHOLDER D.L. Explorations in martingale theory and its applications, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XIX — 1989 (pp.1-66)
- [6] CHRIST, M., A T(b) theorem with remarks on analytic capacity and the Cauchy integral, Colloq. Math. 60/61 (1990), 601–628.
- [7] R. R. COIFMAN AND C. L. FEFFERMAN, Weighted norm inequalities for maximal functions and singular integrals, Studia Math. 51 (1974), 241-250.
- [8] DAVID, G., Unrectifiable 1-sets have vanishing analytic capacity, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 14 (2) (1998), 369-479.
- [9] DAVID, G., Analytic capacity, Calderón-Zygmund operators, and rectifiability, Publ. Mat. 43 (1) (1999), 3-25.
- [10] DAVID, GUY, JOURNÉ, JEAN-LIN, A boundedness criterion for generalized Calderón-Zygmund operators, Ann. of Math. (2) 120 (1984), 371–397, MR763911 (85k:42041).
- [11] DAVID,G.,JOURNÉ,J.-L.,AND SEMMES,S.,Opérateurs de Calderón-Zygmund, fonctions para-accrétives et interpolation. Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 1 (1985), 1–56.

- [12] DELIS A., Nikolidakis E., Sharp and general estimates for the Bellman function of three integral variables related to the dyadic maximal operator, Colloq. Math. 153 (2018), no. 1, 27-37.
- [13] GRIGORIADIS C., PAPARIZOS M. Counterexample to the Hytöonen's off-testing condition in two dimensions, arXiv:2004.06207 (To appear in Coloq. Math.).
- [14] GRIGORIADIS C., PAPARIZOS M., SAWYER E., SHEN C-Y, URIARTE-TUERO I. A two weight local Tb theorem for n-dimensional fractional singular integrals, arXiv:2011.05637.
- [15] HARDY, G.H., Note on a theorem of Hilbert, Math. Z. 6 (1920), 314–317.
- [16] HOFMANN, S., A proof of the local Tb theorem for standard Calderón-Zygmund operators, arXiv:0705.0840v1.
- [17] HOFMANN, S., Local Tb theorems and applications in PDE. International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. II, 1375–1392, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2006.
- [18] HOFMANN, S., LACEY, M., AND MCINTOSH, A., THE SOLUTION OF THE KATO PROBLEM FOR DIVERGENCE FORM ELLIPTIC OPERATORS WITH GAUSSIAN HEAT KER-NEL BOUNDS. Ann. of Math. 156 (2002), 623–631.
- [19] HOFMANN, S., AND MCINTOSH, A., The solution of the Kato problem in two dimensions, In Proceedings of the Conference on Harmonic Analysis and PDE (El Escorial, 2000), Publ. Mat. Extra Vol. (2002), 143–160.
- [20] R. HUNT, B. MUCKENHOUPT AND R. L. WHEEDEN, Weighted norm inequalities for the conjugate function and the Hilbert transform, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 176 (1973), 227-251.
- [21] HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS, On Petermichl's dyadic shift and the Hilbert transform, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 346 (2008), MR2464252.
- [22] HYTÖNEN T., The two-weight inequality for the Hilbert transform with general measures. Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society (2013). 10.1112/plms.12136.
- [23] HYTÖNEN T., The two weight inequality for the Hilbert transform with general measures, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. Vol 117, 483-526, 2018.

- [24] HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS AND H. MARTIKAINEN, On general local Tb theorems, arXiv:1011.0642v1.
- [25] KUFNER A., MALIGRANDA L. AND PERSSON L.-E., The Hardy inequality: about its history and some related results, Praha: Vydavatelsk'y servis, 2007, pp. 161
- [26] LACEY, MICHAEL T., Two weight inequality for the Hilbert transform: A real variable characterization, II, Duke Math. J. Volume 163, Number 15 (2014), 2821-2840.
- [27] M. T. LACEY AND H. MARTIKAINEN, Local Tb theorem with L² testing conditions and general measures: Calderón-Zygmund operators, arXiv:1310.08531v1.
- [28] LACEY, MICHAEL T., SAWYER, ERIC T., URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A Two Weight Inequality for the Hilbert transform assuming an energy hypothesis, Journal of Functional Analysis, Volume 263 (2012), Issue 2, 305-363.
- [29] M. LACEY, E. SAWYER., C. SHEN, I. URIARTE-TUERO, Two weight inequality for the Hilbert transform: A real variable characterization I, Duke Math. J, Volume 163, Number 15 (2014), 2795.
- [30] LACEY, MICHAEL T., WICK, BRETT D., Two weight inequalities for Riesz transforms: uniformly full dimension weights, arXiv:1312.6163v1,v2,v3.
- [31] MELAS A., The Bellman function of dyadic-like maximal operators and related inequalities, Advances in Mathematics 192 (2005), 310-340.
- [32] MELAS A., Sharp general local estimates for dyadic-like maximaloperators and related Bellman functions, Advances in Mathematics 220 (2009) 367–426.
- [33] MELAS A., NIKOLIDAKIS E. A sharp integral rearrangement inequality for the dyadic maximal operator and applications, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 38 (2015), no. 2, 242-261.
- [34] MATTILA, P., MELNIKOV, M., AND VERDERA, J., The Cauchy integral, analytic capacity, and uniform rectifiability, Ann. of Math. (2) **144** (1) (1996), 127–136.
- [35] MUCKENHOUPT B. Hardy's inequality with weights, Studia Mathematica T.XLIV (1972)

- [36] F. NAZAROV, S. TREIL AND A. VOLBERG, The Bellman function and two weight inequalities for Haar multipliers, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 12 (1999), 909-928, MR{1685781 (2000k:42009)}.
- [37] NAZAROV, F., TREIL, S. AND VOLBERG, A., The Tb-theorem on non-homogeneous spaces, Acta Math. 190 (2003), no. 2, MR 1998349 (2005d:30053).
- [38] NAZAROV, F., TREIL, S., AND VOLBERG, A., Accretive system Tb-theorems on nonhomogeneous spaces, Duke Math. J. 113 (2) (2002), 259–312.
- [39] F. NAZAROV, S. TREIL AND A. VOLBERG, Two weight estimate for the Hilbert transform and corona decomposition for non-doubling measures, preprint (2004) arxiv:1003.1596
- [40] NIKOLIDAKIS E., A Hardy inequality and applications to reverse Holder inequalities for weights on ℝ, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 70 (2018), no.1, 141-152.
- [41] NIKOLIDAKIS E., Extremal Sequences for the Bellman Function of the Dyadic Maximal Operator and Applications to the Hardy Operator, Canadian Journal of Mathematics, 69(6), 1364-1384, (2017)
- [42] PACHPATTE B. G., *Mathematical Inequalities*, North Holland Mathematical Library, Vol 67, (2005).
- [43] E. SAWYER, A characterization of two weight norm inequalities for fractional and Poisson integrals, Trans. A.M.S. 308 (1988), 533-545, MR{930072 (89d:26009)}.
- [44] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A two weight theorem for α -fractional singular integrals with an energy side condition, arXiv:1302.5093v8.
- [45] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A geometric condition, necessity of energy, and two weight boundedness of fractional Riesz transforms, arXiv:1310.4484v1.
- [46] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A note on failure of energy reversal for classical fractional singular integrals, IMRN, Volume 2015, Issue 19, 9888-9920.
- [47] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A two weight theorem for α -fractional singular integrals with an energy side condition and quasicube testing, arXiv:1302.5093v10.

- [48] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A two weight theorem for α -fractional singular integrals with an energy side condition, quasicube testing and common point masses, arXiv:1505.07816v2,v3.
- [49] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A two weight theorem for α-fractional singular integrals with an energy side condition, Revista Mat. Iberoam. 32 (2016), no. 1, 79-174.
- [50] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, The two weight T1 theorem for fractional Riesz transforms when one measure is supported on a curve, arXiv:1505.07822v4.
- [51] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A two weight fractional singular integral theorem with side conditions, energy and k-energy dispersed, arXiv:1603.04332v2.
- [52] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A good- λ lemma, two weight T1 theorems without weak boundedness, and a two weight accretive global Tb theorem.
- [53] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, Energy counterexamples in two weight Calderón-Zygmund theory, IMRN Vol 2019.
- [54] SAWYER, ERIC T., SHEN, CHUN-YEN, URIARTE-TUERO, IGNACIO, A two weight local Tb theorem for the Hilbert transform, to appear in Revista Mat. Iberoam 2021.
- [55] E. M. STEIN, Harmonic Analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1993.
- [56] E. M. STEIN, G. WEISS Interpolation of operators with change of measures, Trans. Amer. Soc. 87 (1958), 159-182.
- [57] TOLSA, X., Painlevé's problem and the semiadditivity of analytic capacity, Acta Math. 190 (1) (2003), 105–149.
- [58] A. VOLBERG, Calderón-Zygmund capacities and operators on nonhomogeneous spaces, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics (2003), MR{2019058 (2005c:42015)}.
- [59] WANG G. Sharp Maximal Inequalities for Conditionally Symmetric Martingales and Brownian Motion, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 112, no. 2, 1991, pp. 579–586